
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Joint Chief Executive 

Rob Barlow 
 

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 

 

22 March 2022 
 
TO: ALL MEMBERS OF THE CABINET 
 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE CABINET 

 
Dear Councillor 
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Cabinet on 
Wednesday, 30th March, 2022 at 6.30 pm 

In the Committee Room, Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston PE21 8QR 

 

 
ROB BARLOW 
Joint Chief Executive 
 
Membership: 
 
Leader of the Council – Councillor Paul Skinner 
Deputy Leaders – Councillor Nigel Welton 
Councillors Tracey Abbott, Richard Austin BEM, Deborah Evans, Martin Griggs and 
Jonathan Noble 

 

A G E N D A 
 
PART I - PRELIMINARIES 
 

A   MINUTES (Pages 1 - 10) 
 

 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting 
 

B   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence 
 

C   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 To receive declarations of interest from any Members in respect of any item on the 
agenda. 

Public Document Pack



 

D   PUBLIC QUESTIONS  
 

 To answer any written questions received from members of the public no later than 
5 p.m. two clear working days prior to the meeting – for this meeting the deadline 
is 5 p.m. on Friday 25th March 2022 
 

PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 

1   RECOMMENDATIONS FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY  
 

 Standing Item 
 

2   RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE BOSTON TOWN AREA COMMITTEE (BTAC)  
 

 Standing Item 
 

3   SELCP COMMUNITY LOTTERY SCHEME (Pages 11 - 24) 
 

 A report by Emily Spicer, Assistant Director – Wellbeing and Community 
Leadership  
 

4   EXTENSION OF LINCOLNSHIRE HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH SLEEPER 
STRATEGIES (Pages 25 - 30) 
 

 A report by Jason Oxby, Service Manager - Housing and Support Solutions  
 

5   NET ZERO ACTION PLAN (Pages 31 - 112) 
 

 A report by Heather Prescott, Climate Change and Environment Officer 
 

6   ADOPTION OF CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY (Pages 113 - 152) 
 

 A report by Sarah Baker, Climate Change & Environment Manager 
 

7   GREEN HOME GRANTS (Pages 153 - 164) 
 

 A report by Sarah Baker, Climate Change & Environment Manager  
 

8   Q3 PERFORMANCE, FINANCE AND RISK (Pages 165 - 196) 
 

 A report by Suzanne Rolfe, Insights and Transformation Manager  
 

9   BOSTON LEISURE PROJECT - FULL BUSINESS CASE FOR TOWNS FUND 
(Pages 197 - 334) 
 

 A report by Mike Guildersleeves, Assistant Director – Planning and Strategic 
Infrastructure 
 

10   TOWNS FUND BUSINESS CASE (Pages 335 - 470) 
 

 A report by Lydia Rusling, Assistant Director Economic Growth  
 

 



 
* In accordance with the Constitution, recommendations of Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees referred to Cabinet (if any) shall be included at this point in the 
agenda (unless they have been considered in the context of the Cabinet 
deliberations on a substantive item on the agenda) within six weeks of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee completing its report / recommendations. 

 
Call-In –any decision taken by the Cabinet concerning an item on this agenda can be 
‘called in’ in accordance with the Constitution, within 5 working days of the decision 
notice being published.  It is expected that the decision notice will be published on                                                
.  Subject to this publication, the deadline for calling in a decision is 5 p.m. on Friday                               
. 
 

This meeting may be subject to being recorded 
 

Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting as observers except during 
the consideration of exempt or confidential items. 

 

Emergency ProceduresIn the event of a fire alarm sounding all attendees are 
asked to leave the building via the nearest emergency exit and make their way to 

the Fire Assembly Point located in the car park at the rear of the Municipal 
Buildings. 

 
Alternative Versions - Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format 
such as larger text, Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on 
direct dial (01205) 314227 
 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Lorraine Bush, 
Democratic Services Manager, Municipal Buildings, Boston Tel. no: 01205 314224  e-mail 
lorraine.bush@boston.gov.uk 



This page is intentionally left blank



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
NOTICE OF DECISIONS TAKEN BY CABINET ON 23 FEBRUARY 2022 

 
DATE OF PUBLICATION: FRIDAY, 25 FEBRUARY 2022 

 
DEADLINE FOR CALL-IN: FRIDAY, 4 MARCH 2022 

 
NOTES: 
 
MINUTE XX, BEING A STARRED MINUTE, WILL BE REFERRED TO THE MEETING 
OF FULL COUNCIL ON 7 MARCH 2022. 
 
A COPY OF THE CABINET AGENDA HAS BEEN PREVIOUSLY CIRCULATED TO 
ALL MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL.  IF YOU REQUIRE ANY FURTHER 
INFORMATION ON ANY ISSUE PLEASE CONTACT, IN THE FIRST INSTANCE, THE 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER OR OFFICER NAMED IN THE RIGHT HAND COLUMN. 
 

 
MEETING OF THE CABINET 23 February 2022 
 
 
Present: 
Councillor Paul Skinner, in the Chair 
Councillors Tracey Abbott, Richard Austin BEM, Deborah Evans, Martin Griggs, 
Jonathan Noble and Nigel Welton 
 
Officers –  
Deputy Chief Executive (Growth) and Democratic Services Delivery Manager 
 
44   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 8 December 2021 were agreed and signed 
by the Chairman. 
 
45   APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies for absence were received from the Chief Executive. 
 
46   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

 
None  
 
47   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

 
There was one question from a member of the public, Mr Darron Abbott: 
 

“I attach 2 photographs of very similar occurrences of fly-tipping where garden waste 
was placed in a ditch.  

Page 1

Agenda Item A



One the council fined the culprit £300 for the offence. The other offence the Council 
turned a blind eye despite this being the perpetrators 5 reported offence with the 
previous ones being ignored as well.  

Could Councillor Evans please explain the council’s policy on this matter.” 

 
Response by Councillor Deborah Evans, Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services: 
 
“The Council replied to your complaint on 5th June 2020. The Council takes 
proportionate action against those fly tipping where sufficient evidence is secured and 
where it is in the public interest.” 
 
Supplementary question asked by Mr. Darron Abbott: 
 
“At this point I would normally thank the Councillor for the answer to my question.  I am 
afraid I cannot do that as you have not answered the question, but I do have to 
compliment you on how quickly you have become a proper politician and have learnt 
how to treat the public with contempt. 
 
Let us go through this, indeed Christian Allen did write to me on 5th June 2020, I am sure 
you have read the letter that you mention and have a copy in front of you, I will come 
back to that. 
 
I assume you are relying on the evidence as an excuse for not prosecuting in this case, 
so I have made things easy for you by sending you several photographs earlier today. 
 
On 3rd August 2021 (please accept all dates are 2021) there is a screen shot of a family 
answering the call from the culprit to help clear the football pitch of grass, this family 
dumped the grass behind the pavilion, then there is a photograph of the grass that had 
been dumped that was sent to you on 4th August.  You replied to me at 13.25 on 4th 
August ‘brought up at a meeting, it is getting moved’. 
 
20th August yourself and Adrian Sibley met with the culprit at the site of the fly tipping.  
You assured me that grass would be cleared shortly.  On 7th September the grass was 
then dumped in the dyke.  I informed you of this fact and your response was that the 
culprit had had to put the grass in the dyke because they had found baby hedgehogs 
and could not move them.  So you had an admission from someone, is that not enough 
evidence. 
 
This is another case of what is going on within this building ‘it’s a case of who you know’, 
are you not disappointed with yourself that you are actually condoning discrimination 
after all of your proclamations of no one is above the law?  Finally perhaps you would 
like to refer to the last paragraph of Mr. Allen’s letter at this point. 
 
I hope you are taking notice of this Leader.” 
 
Response by Councillor Deborah Evans: 
 
“I was confident in the decision taken at the time and remain so.” 
 

Page 2



Cabinet 
23 February 2022 

 

 
 

48   RECOMMENDATIONS FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY (STANDING 
ITEM)* 
 

Recommendations from the Scrutiny Committees were reported as part of the 
presentation of the reports. 
 
49*  RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE BOSTON TOWN AREA COMMITTEE 

(BTAC) (STANDING ITEM) 
 

None  
 
50   BUDGET AND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

 

 

DECISION 

 

Recommendation to Full Council that: 
 
1. The Revenue Estimates for the General Fund for 2022/23 (Appendix A) 

be approved. 

2. That the Council Tax for a Band A property in 2022/23 be set at £135.24 

(£3.30 per annum increase on 2021/22 levels) and Band D £202.86 for 

2022/23 (a £4.95 per annum increase on 2021/22 levels). 

3. The Boston Town Area Committee (BTAC) special expenses for a Band 

A property be set at £50.91 (previously £50.23 in 2021/22) and Band D 

£76.36 for 2022/23, (previously £75.34 in 2021/22) 

4. The Medium Term Financial Strategy (at Appendices A,1 and 2) be 

approved. 

5. That the Capital Programme (Appendix A) be approved. 

6. The Fees and Charges for 2022/23 (at Appendix 4) be approved. 

7. The use of Reserves detailed at Appendix 5 be approved. 

8. That the Treasury Management Statement and Strategy, including the 

Minimum Revenue Provision policy and Investment Strategy be 

approved. (Appendix 6). 

9. That the South and East Lincolnshire Council’s Annual Delivery Plan 

2022/23 (Appendix 7) be approved. 

10. That delegated authority be given to the Deputy Chief Executive 

Corporate Development (S151) to use the Covid budget pressures 

smoothing reserve during the 2022/23 financial year, to smooth any 

fluctuations in income the Council may still be experiencing as a result of 

the consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

11. That delegated authority be given to the Deputy Chief Executive 
Corporate Development (S151), in consultation with the Portfolio Holder 

Portfolio 

Holders 

and 

Officer 

 

JN / CM 

 

Page 3



for Finance, to make any necessary amendments to the budget prior to 
Council due to late notifications. 

 

 
 

REASON FOR DECISION  

 
Councillor Jonathan Noble, Portfolio Holder for Finance, introduced a report by the Deputy 

Chief Executive (Corporate Development) and S151 Officer, setting out the Council’s 

proposed Revenue and Capital Budgets for 2022/23 and onwards, the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy (MTFS) to 2026/27 and associated financial documentation for approval, 

including the Treasury Management Strategy and the setting of fees and charges. 

 

The report stated that the draft Local Government Settlement announced on 16 December 

2021 had been finalised and provided additional detail of continuing and additional one off 

support to councils, including confirmation of allocations of Revenue Support Grant, Rural 

Services Delivery Grant and New Homes Bonus (NHB).  

 

An additional one year allocation of New homes Bonus would be received for 2022/23 due 

to delays in implementing a replacement scheme, however this was likely to be for one year 

only with no further legacy payments expected in future years.  Some NHB (£414,000) was 

supporting the base in 2022/23 and plans would need to be taken forward to address the 

situation for future years, depending on what future schemes emerged.  

 

A Fair Funding Review had been expected to set new baseline funding allocations for all 

local authorities, to simplify the existing system and to provide an up to date assessment of 

authorities relative needs and resources.  Early consultation had been undertaken by the 

Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, but there was insufficient 

information todate for informed estimates to be made.  It was likely that any changes would 

be transitioned to mitigate the immediate impact on authorities (positive or negative).  The 

proposed budget assumed no financial changes from the review and when details became 

available Members would be updated. 

 

As part of its response to Government in response to the settlement, the Council had made 

further representations regarding the Drainage Board Levy.  In particular its impact on the 

Councils ability to make use of the Council Tax that it raised through housing number 

increases and annual Council Tax rises to support services, rather than offset the annual 

levy charge increase. 

 

 

The key elements of the final 2022/23 Budget and MTFS were summarised in the report and 

set out in detail in the appendices attached to the report. 

 

• The 2022/23 revenue and capital estimates for the General Fund (Appendix A) 

• The Medium Term Financial Strategy for the General Fund (Appendix A) 

• A scheduled of movements in Council reserves (Appendix 5) 

• General Fund Capital Programme (Appendix A) 

• Treasury Management Strategy (Appendix 6) 

• Proposed Fees and Charges for 2022/23 (Appendix 4) 

Page 4



Cabinet 
23 February 2022 

 

 
 

• Treasury Management Strategy, MRP Policy and Annual Investment Plan 2022/23 

(Appendix 6) 

• The South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership Annual Delivery Plan 2022/23 

(Appendix 7) 

 

Key assumptions made within the current 5 year MTFS included:- 

 

• An annual increase in Council Tax of £4.95; 

• Maximising income generation through investment and growth and looking at new 

opportunities into the medium term; 

• Allowance for unavoidable growth on services (i.e. new statutory obligations and pay 

and contractual inflation) but no allowance for any increase in general inflation; 

• Ongoing budget challenge to ensure that budgets were aligned with corporate 

priorities; 

• An annual delivery plan as part of the new South and East Lincolnshire Councils 

Partnership to look at areas for future sharing and efficiency. 

 

The budget showed an efficiency target requirement for 2022/23 of £282,000.  Future years 

figures were highly volatile due to the level of uncertainty around future funding 

arrangements.  During the development of the budget numerous savings and income 

generating opportunities had and were being explored in order to address the savings 

requirement.  Many of the opportunities would be related to the South and East Lincolnshire 

Councils Partnership through partnership working and maximising the opportunities these 

arrangements presented.  

 

The General Fund Specific Reserves were budgeted to reduce by £5.167m (net) in 2022/23, 

predominantly to fund the NNDR deficit through carried forward s31 grant.  The figure could 

change as a result of the outturn for 2021/22.  

 

The five year General Fund Capital Programme focused on the core principles of capital 

investment and included provision for investment and growth linked to the Council’s 

strategic objectives.  Final decisions on the individual projects would be subject to approval 

and detailed business cases.   The main schemes included in the 2022/23 General Fund 

Programme related to Towns Fund Projects, capitalised enhancements and disabled 

facilities grants.  

 

The Treasury Management Strategy had been presented to the Audit and Governance 

Committee on 7 February 2022, and updated to reflect the final budget accompanying the 

report.  

 

The proposed budget had been subject to a public consultation process, and consideration 

by the Audit and Governance Committee and the Corporate and Community Committee.   

 

Copies of the Consultation Report were circulated and Members expressed disappointment 

at the low number of responses received, 16 in total.  It was commented that this 

represented a failure in the methods being utilised for consultation and for future years 

alternative channels should be considered e.g. radio or engaging with schools, to raise 

awareness and engage with the public, promotion through Local Democracy Week etc. 

Page 5



 

Of the 16 responses received 86% were opposed to any increase in the Council Tax levels, 

which raised questions on the weight placed on the consultation as part of the budget 

setting process as an increase was being proposed.  There was a need to increase the 

public understanding of where the council tax was spent and the public bodies which 

received part of the funding from each bill issued. 

 

The Portfolio Holder responded that the consultation was a legal requirement of the budget 

setting process.  As only 16 responses had been received this was not reflective of the 

public view as a whole.  However, information was being included in the council tax bills to 

show how little of the total amount the Council actually received and what it was spent on.  It 

was hoped this would increase public appreciation that the Borough Council only received 

48p in every £10 of council tax. 

 

In summing up Cabinet thanked the s151 Officer and the Finance Team for all their hard 

work in preparing a prudent, cautious and balanced budget in challenging times and 

commended the proposed budget and MTFS to Council for approval. 

 

 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

 
None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

 

Page 6



Cabinet 
23 February 2022 

 

 
 

 
 
51   BENEFITS VERIFICATION POLICY 

 

 

DECISION 

 

1. That the Benefits Verification Policy for implementation with effect 
from 1 April 2022 be approved, replacing the current Risk Based 
Verification Policy. 
 

2. That subsequent reviews and revisions be delegated to the Section 
151 Officer and Portfolio Holder for Finance.  
 

Portfolio 

Holders and 

Officer 

 

JN / SK 

 

 

 
 

REASON FOR DECISION  

 
Councillor Jonathan Noble, Portfolio Holder for Finance, introduced a report by the Assistant 
Director – Finance setting out proposals for the introduction of a Benefits Verification Policy 
from 1 April 2022, to replace the current Risk Based Verification Policy.  
 
The report stated that since 2012 verification of evidence for new Housing Benefit claims 
and Council Tax Support applications made to Boston Borough Council had been 
administered under a Risk Based Verification Policy.  
 
Risk Based Verification was extended to local authorities on a voluntary basis, with clear 
requirements and expectations set out by the Department for Works and Pensions for 
authorities that had chosen to adopt that approach.   The adoption of RBV allowed for 
resources to be targeted towards those cases with greater risk of fraud and error.  
 
The review of the approach to the verification process was timely as:- 
 

• The changed profile of work type and claimant base, since the introduction of 
universal credit in 2018, had substantially reduced the earlier benefits of RBV. 

• There were now fewer new claims for Housing Benefit as claimants moved to 
Universal Credit.  The administration and governance required under a RBV policy 
was now disproportionate to the original benefits. 

• Should the risk based approach to verification be continued the policy would need to 
be overhauled to ensure it was fit for purpose for the current times, and to ensure 
appropriate operational and governance processes and procedures were in place as 
necessary to satisfy the Department for Work and Pensions expectations in relation 
to Housing Benefit, which would be tested through the subsidy audit process. 

• Currently, different standards of verification applied to new claims and changes in 
circumstances; new claims were subject to RBV but changes were not, which 
resulted in different evidence requirements. The review would simplify the 
requirements into a single policy and standardise the approach. 

• The South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership (S&ELCP) provided the 
opportunity to align and standardise a single approach and policy for all three 
councils, delivered by the Public Sector Partnership Services Ltd (PSPS).  South 

Page 7



Holland Dc and East Lindsey DC had replaced their risk-based approach to 
verification of HB claims and CTS applications in 2019. 

• In line with the digital and transformational aspirations of the Council and PSPS, it 
was anticipated electronic forms would be introduced in the future that enabled 
customers to carry out their business online.  A standard approach to evidence 
requirements would help simplify the administrative process for the customer 
experience.  

 
The review had considered the type and nature of evidence that was acceptable and the 
verification that was required to ensure processes and controls remained robust to prevent 
fraud and error, but at the same time balanced the need for ease of access for the 
customer, and efficiency in the processing and decision making of claims. 
 
For the reasons set out above, it was proposed that the current Risk Based Verification 
Policy should be replaced from 1 April 2022 with the Benefits Verification Policy attached at 
Appendix A of the report, which had been considered and endorsed by the Lincolnshire 
County Council Interim Principal Auditor.  
 
An assurance was sought that claimants without access to technology would still have equal 
access to the benefit system and the opportunity to speak to Officers face to face. It was 
confirmed that claimants would not be required to use the electronic route and the system 
would not be live when the new policy was introduced from 1 April 2022.  
 
Comments were also raised regarding the lack of implications identified in the report, which 
was becoming common place with reports to Cabinet and Committees. Whilst the 
implications may be set out in the body of the report it was important that they were also 
included in the implications section for the ease of the public who may read them.  The 
Deputy Chief Executive – Corporate Development agreed to take this away as an officer 
action. 
 

 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

 
Retain a risk based approach to verification. 
 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

 
 
 

Page 8



Cabinet 
23 February 2022 

 

 
 

The Meeting ended at 7.20pm 
 

 

Signed by the Chief Executive 
 
 
 

FRIDAY, 25 FEBRUARY 2022 

 
 

 
 

 
These decisions will come into force (and may then be implemented) on the expiry of 
five clear working days after the date of this notice UNLESS the decisions are 
subjected to the Call-In procedure or are starred minutes requiring Full Council 
approval.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

REPORT TO: CABINET 

DATE: 30 March 2022 

 

SUBJECT: 

 

Proposal to set up a South and East Lincolnshire Councils 

Partnership Community Lottery scheme to support community-

based initiatives and programmes. 

PURPOSE: 

 

 

To propose the set-up of a S&ELCP Community Lottery to raise 

funding for community-based initiatives and partnership 

opportunities with the Voluntary and Community Sector in the sub-

region of Lincolnshire. 

KEY DECISION 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

YES 

Portfolio Holder – Housing & Communities, Councillor Martin 

Griggs, Boston Borough Council  

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

Nathan Elvery, Deputy Chief Executive - Communities  

Emily Spicer, Assistant Director – Wellbeing and Community 

Leadership 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: ALL 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 

This report sets out proposals for a Community Lottery Scheme for the S&ELCP which enables 

additional funding to be raised for community-based initiatives and partnership opportunities 

with the Voluntary and Community Sector across the sub-region of Lincolnshire.  

South Holland District Council will procure the service on behalf of the sovereign councils within 

the Partnership and this will form part of the Wellbeing and Community Leadership portfolio 

within the Communities Department of the Partnership Political and Officer structure and 

responsibilities.  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That: 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



1. Working with South Holland District Council and East Lindsey District Council  as our 

partners in a South and East Lincolnshire Council Partnership (S&ELCP), a Community 

Lottery Scheme to raise money for local good causes across the sub-region, in 

accordance with the provisions of this report be established. 

2. The appointment of Gatherwell as the external lottery management company (ELM) to 

provide the day to day management and operation of the lottery on behalf of the 

Councils be approved. 

3. Delegated authority be given to the Deputy Chief Executive - Communities, in 

consultation with the Portfolio Holders, to agree final arrangements for process and 

criteria for the inclusion of ‘good causes’ that would benefit from proposed the scheme. 

4. The Deputy Chief Executive - Communities and the Assistant Director – Wellbeing and 

Community Leadership are nominated to be the Personal License holders for the S&ELCP 

Community Lottery Scheme.  

5. Agree that a one off payment of £2,800 is allocated from the Transformation Reserve  

reserves to enable to the initial set up of the scheme.  

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

The recommendations propose the creation of a Community Lottery Scheme for the partner 

councils in S&ELCP which will enable additional funding to be raised for local community-based 

initiatives and in addition partnership opportunities with the Voluntary and Community Sector 

(VCS) in the sub-region of Lincolnshire.  

The initiative will enable the Partnership, through each of the partnership Councils, to support 

the priorities of local communities by working in partnership with our residents. 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

1) Not to establish a partnership lottery scheme 

2) Deliver the lottery in-house  

 

1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 The sub region of Lincolnshire has a thriving Voluntary and Community Sector, providing 

valuable services of support, advice and activities for their communities. These services 

significantly benefit the health and wellbeing of residents, providing opportunities for 

active citizenship and helping people meet their aspirations and live the lives that they 

want.  

 

1.2       Funding for these organisations and their services has often relied on external funding 

sources, either through small grant schemes or fundraising. Regrettably, over the past few 

years opportunities for fundraising activities have declined. At the same time demand on 

the sector has substantially increased, compounded by the impacts of Covid-19. 

 

1.3        Covid-19 has highlighted the critical importance of local government to their places and 

communities. Forging deep connections of understanding and relationship building, local 

Page 12



government organisations are required to ensure community cohesion, resilience and 

community identity is nurtured, developed and well supported at a local level.  

 

1.4       With the ability to combine resources and deliver cross-cutting community responses, the 

S&ELCP is best placed to align resources to address common challenges which face our 

communities. For the Voluntary and Community Sector, seeking to address the funding 

challenges as a partnership will have greater impact.  

 

1.5       Each sovereign council of the S&ELCP has set out the importance of its communities within 

their individual corporate plans. Enabling the Voluntary and Community Sector further will 

in turn provide additional opportunities for the communities that they assist. 

 

1.6 In November 2015 Aylesbury Vale District Council (AVDC) launched the very first Local 

Authority lottery. This was created directly in response to the pressure on the community 

funds budgets and to help the Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) gain access to new 

funding streams.  

 

• AVDC raised £70,000 for good causes in its first year of operation.  

• AVDC use an External Lottery Manager (ELM) to administer the lottery on its behalf. 

• There is no cost to the Council for this service, but the ELM is funded from a share of 

the ticket cost.  

 

1.7 Other authorities have subsequently developed their own lotteries based on a External 

Lottery Manager model including Essex County Council, Portsmouth City Council, 

Gloucester City Council, Tunbridge Wells Borough Council, Peterborough City Council, North 

Lincolnshire Council, South Kesteven District Council, Blaby District Council, Melton 

Borough Council, Mendip Borough Council, Taunton Deane Borough Council, London 

Borough of Barking & Dagenham, Chiltern District Council, South Northampton Council, 

Torbay Council, Wycombe District Council, Rushmoor Borough Council, South Bucks District 

Council, Newcastle-Under-Lyme Borough Council, South Staffordshire Council, Corby 

Borough Council, Hart District Council and Borough of Broxbourne.  Gatherwell Ltd support 

of 90 local authority lotteries across the country including 4 in Lincolnshire. 

 
1.8 Establishing a Community Lottery Scheme across the S&ELCP could raise £119,376 annually 

to support our local communities. This is based on experiences in findings from other 

council areas and is a prudent estimation. 

 

1.9 There are a number of different External Lottery Managers in operation. Each provides a 

different model in relation to pricing, prize structures, and apportionment of the ticket 

price.  

 

1.10 If Members agree the development of a Community Lottery Scheme, South Holland District 

Council would, on behalf of the partnership; 

 

a) contract with Gatherwell to provide external lottery management and  

b) apply for the appropriate license and memberships. 

 

 
Page 13



2. REPORT 

 

2.1 This section of the report sets out an overview of how the Community Lottery Scheme 

would work based on an External Lottery Managers (ELM) model.  

 
Operating Principles 

 
2.2 This section of the report sets out the operating principles of the schemes which have been 

established by other local authorities.  
 
2.3  Table 2 shows how the cost of the Ticket is distributed to support local communities and to 

ensure that there is no cost to the Partnership in operating a Community Lottery Scheme. 
 
 Table 2 – Ticket cost/benefit distribution 

 

Ticket Sale Cost/Benefit Distribution % 

£1   

 Contribution for Local Communities  60 

 Prizes 20 

 ELM  17 

 VAT 3 

 
2.4 In relation to the Contribution for Local Communities, 50% is a contribution to the 

individual cause selling the ticket and 10% to the central fund which can be used by the 
Partnership. 

 
2.5 The odds of winning a prize is 1 in 50 with prizes ranging from 3 free tickets for 2 numbers 

matched, £25 for 3 numbers, £250 for 4 numbers, £2,000 for 5 numbers and the top prize 
of £25,000 for all 6 numbers. 

 
2.6 In addition to the main cash prizes, the ELM scheme can offer the ability to add ‘Bolt-on’ 

prizes, these can be used at any time to encourage participation or promotion of the 
Community Lottery Scheme.  

 
2.7 As part of ethical lottery management, tickets are available online only and payment for 

tickets is made by Direct Debit or payment card upfront. The ticket purchaser can choose 
which good cause to support, or they can support the central fund.  

 
Responsibilities between the Partnership and the ELM 

 
2.8 The responsibilities for the Community Lottery Scheme is shared between the Partnership 

and the ELM as follows: 
 
 Local Authority 

• Define eligibility criteria – set the criteria for good causes to join the lottery. 

• Approve new causes – on a regular basis approve (or reject) new cause 
applications. 

• Authorise payments – authorise payments to the good causes (monthly) and 
authorise the Lottery return forms (quarterly). 

• Marketing – promote the central fund and the lottery to good causes. 

• Licence holder – apply for Local Authority Lottery licence and nominate staff to 
oversee the scheme.  

Page 14



 
ELM 

• Website – operate a bespoke website designed in partnership with the Local 
Authority. 

• Marketing – provide high resolution marketing materials, maintain regular 
updates, bespoke good causes, provide marketing assistance for other 
compaigns. 

• Running the lottery – payments, player engagement, player retention and lottery 
management. 

• Support – providing dedicated support for supporters and good causes. 

• Your lottery expert – to provide support to help the Local Authority with 
everything and anything related to the lottery.  

 
2.9 Each good cause that is supported by the lottery has its own page within the lottery website 

and is provided with their own bespoke marketing material by the ELM. Each good cause is 
incentivised to promote the lottery by encouraging supporters to buy tickets and select 
them as the good cause to support.  

 
2.10 The Local Authority is responsible for establishing the criteria for inclusion in the scheme.  

Appendix A contains the criteria which could be used based on schemes which are 
successful in other areas, these can be specific or could be more general in nature. These 
will be as simple as possible whilst ensuring that a level of quality assurance is in place for 
safeguarding and basic governance.  If good causes would like to be part of the scheme and 
are without the necessary assurances to be eligible, they will be provided support and 
assistance to get these in place if they would like them. 

 
2.11 If Members agree to the development of Community Lottery Scheme, the Partnership will 

need to develop a process for accepting and signing up good causes. Based on other lottery 
schemes in operation this is not onerous and could be incorporated within existing 
resources. It is proposed that this work would be managed by the Partnership’s Wellbeing 
and Community Leadership Team. 

 
2.12 The Wellbeing and Community Leadership Team are best placed to develop appropriate 

criteria for signing up good causes, ensuring that the aims of the organisations have a 
strong alignment with Partnership’s strategic priorities, and that they are able to 
demonstrate the outcomes they have achieved. Additionally, when establishing the specific 
criteria, consideration will be given to the area benefitting from an organisation’s activities 
and the financial viability of the organisation. 

 
 Timescales 
 
2.13 The indicative timescale for delivering a Community Lottery Scheme would be within six 

months, and the start-up costs are approximately £8,400 in total for the Partnership. The 
process is broadly as follows: 
 

• Apply for licence from Gambling Commission  

• Launch the lottery for good causes 

• Launch the lottery for players 
 
 
 
 Page 15



Set up costs include; 

• £5,000 initial set-up fee for external lottery management  

• £800 Gambling Commission License 

• £410 application and membership to the Lotteries Council 

• £2190 initial marketing and launch prizes 
 

Set-up contribution for each Council would be £2,800. 
 

2.14 The two launches would each require a marketing campaign to be run. The first would 
target good causes which meet the criteria established by the Partnership for this purpose. 
The second would focus on promoting the lottery to residents to encourage ticket sales. 
This process would be supported by the good causes, who have an interest in getting 
lottery players to select their good cause when they buy a ticket. The ELM would manage 
the administration of the lottery, including ticket sales, conducting the draws and 
distributing prizes. 

 
3. CONCLUSION 
 
3.1 Local lottery schemes have been in operation for over 6 years, a range of Local Authorities 

across the country have successfully raised funding for good causes for their local areas. 

There is clearly an opportunity for the South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership to 

establish a Community Lottery Scheme to support community-based initiatives and 

programmes and in addition partnership opportunities with the Voluntary and Community 

Sector in the sub-region of Lincolnshire.  

4. EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

4.1 Whilst the amount raised through the Community Lottery Fund can not be guaranteed, 
projections have been made for the South and East Lincolnshire Council Partnership area as 
a region based on experience in other local authority community lottery schemes.  The 
estimated 16+ population of Boston Borough, East Lindsey District and South Holland 
District is 255,076. 

  
 Table 3 shows the estimated amount which could be achieved across the S&ELCP. 
  

Table 3 – Potential financial benefit for local community initiaitves and programmes  
  

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No. Players Population 
 

% 

Gross Return 
 

£ 

Central Fund 
(10%) 

£ 

Good causes 
(50%) 

£ 

638 0.25 59,688 5,969 29,844 

1275 0.5 119,376 11,938 59,688 

2551 1 238,751 23,875 119,376 

3826 1.5 358,127 35,813 179,063 

5102 2 477,502 47,470 238,751 

6377 2.5 596,878 59,688 298.439 

Page 16



4.2 Running a Community Lottery Scheme across the S&ELCP sub-region will enable smaller, 
local organisations to participate, the cost of which would otherwise be prohibitive for 
them. It will also enable residents to choose the cause they want to support within their 
communities, and provide a potential funding source for those organisations the 
Partnership can’t directly afford to support.   

 

IMPLICATIONS 

5. SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP 

5.1 Managing a Community Lottery Scheme as a Partnership approach will ensure resources 

are aligned for efficiencies, that our local knowledge will identify local beneficiaries within 

the Voluntary and Community Sector and promotion of the scheme is maximised. 

6. CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

6.1 The following Corporate Priorities are supported through the operation of a Community 

Lottery Scheme: 

• Boston Borough Council – ‘Priority 1 - People Focused’ 

• East Lindsey District Council – ‘Maximise health and active lives’ 

• South Holland District Council – ‘Your health and wellbeing’ 

7. STAFFING 

7.1 Utilisation of an ELM scheme would ensure that staffing resources across the partnership 

were minimalised however these would include contractual monitoring alongside payment 

authorisations to identified groups. Some additional promotion of the scheme would be 

required which can be incorporated within exiting resources.  

8. CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 The Council will be required to register a local authority lottery with the Gambling 
Commission and run under an operating licence in accordance with the Gambling Act 2005. 
 

8.2 A licensed local authority may then use an ELM to manage all, or part, of the lottery.  An 
ELM is defined in section 257 of the Act as someone that is a person or a body who makes 
arrangements for a lottery on behalf of a local authority but is not a member, officer, or 
employee of the authority.  
 

9. DATA PROTECTION 

9.1 All data would be managed by the ELM in line with their Privacy Policy.  

10. FINANCIAL 

10.1 As detailed in 2.13 the initial set up cost for the scheme across the partnership is £8,400.  
With a contribution from each of the three councils of £2,800.  The set up costs can be met 
from the Transformation Reserve.     

 
10.2 Total subsequent annual cost for the scheme is £1,181.  This consists of £796 for the 

Gambling Commission License and £385 for membership to the Lotteries Council.    
 

Page 17



10.3  As outlined in 4.1, 50% of the funds go directly to the good causes in the lottery scheme.  
There is an additional 10% available to the Councils which can be used to support annual 
costs and for the Council  to invest further into grant programmes or other projects.   

 
11. RISK MANAGEMENT 

11.1 There may be concerns that establishing a lottery could be seen as the Council encouraging 
gambling and creating a risk of people developing a gambling addiction. Others may have a 
moral or religious objection to establishing a lottery.  However, lotteries are considered 
very low risk gambling activity by the Gambling Commission, due to the lack of instant 
gratification, and the lower chances of winning compared to other gambling activity.  The 
motivation for playing community lotteries is to give to good causes. 

 
11.2 Gatherwell Ltd have ethical lottery management model has measures in place to mitigate 

the risk of problem gambling.  These measures include; 

• A maximum of 20 tickets can be purchased in any one transaction per supporter 

• There is no instant reward or gratification because; 

- Tickets cannot be purchased for the day of the draw  

- payment must be cleared before entry 

- one off single tickets cannot be purchased 

- play can only be through Direct Debit or card payment online (1/3/6/12 months 

upfront payment)  

• Players are able to set up a self-exclusion agreement – and reasonable steps will be 

taken to prevent further participation, including removing name and details from 

marketing databases. 

• Gatherwell have internal processes to identify anyone at risk and their team are trained 

to help identify signs of vulnerable players.  This includes contacting any supporter with 

a high-ticket yield to ensure they are fully aware of their purchase and lottery entries. 

• Links to the Gamble Aware organisation for help and support are available on 

community lottery websites.  

 
12. STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

12.1 The S&ELCP will determine the eligibility criteria that enables applications from the 
Voluntary and Community Sector. On sign off by the relevant delegated officer, Voluntary 
and Community organisations will be contacted to ensure they are aware of the scheme.  

 
12.2     It is anticipated that a Community Lottery Scheme can be in operation within 6 months 

from approval.  
 
13. REPUTATION 

13.1  A Community Lottery Scheme will have a positive impact on the reputation of the S&ELCP 
as it has the potential to support valuable organisations to continue their services.  

 
14. CONTRACTS 

14.1 On behalf of the partnership, South Holland District Council will contract with Gatherwell to 
provide external lottery management and this will be closely monitored. 

 

Page 18



14.2 Gatherwell Ltd are the principle ELM supporting local authorities across the country and 
have extensive experience and track record of success in the public sector.  Alternative ELM 
providers do operate but do not have the specialism of local authority run schemes or only 
deal with charities and not local good causes or do not provide the administration of the 
scheme  

 
14.3 Having completed research and established Gatherwell Limited as a suitable supplier of a 

lottery service, an exemption is required to appoint Gatherwell Limited as no tender 

process has been undertaken.  The Contract Procedure Rules allow Cabinet to waive the 

requirements of the Contract procedure Rules as follows: 

3.1 Except where the Public Contracts Regulations 2006 apply, the Cabinet has the power to 
waive any requirements within these Contract Procedure Rules for specific projects. An 
exemption under this Rule 3 allows a contract to be placed by direct negotiation with one 
or more suppliers rather than in accordance with Rule 9. (See the Log of Delegations to 
Officers for details of officers who may action this Rule.) 

  
The value of this contract is below the threshold for services (£213,477 incl. VAT) in the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (which have superseded the 2006 regulations quoted in 
the Contract Procedure Rules).  However, it is likely that the contract would fall under the 
definition of being a concession.  The Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 would apply 
to a contract such as this and are similar to the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015.  However, the value of this contract falls well below the threshold for concessions 
(£5,336,937 incl. VAT).   

  
Cabinet can therefore waive the requirements of the Contract Procedure Rules to allow a 
contract to be directly awarded to Gatherwell Limited.   

  
The contract with Gatherwell Limited has a minimum term of 1 year and then rolls on 
automatically with the Council able to then give three months’ notice to end the agreement 
at any time.  The agreement will be kept under review and officers will monitor the market 
to determine if there are other providers who enter the market that would allow a 
competitive process to be undertaken in the future.   

  
15. CRIME AND DISORDER 

15.1 None 
 

16. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

16.1 The establishment of a Community Lottery does not have any identified disproportionate 
impacts on groups with protected characteristics.  The following has been considered; 
Age of players 
Community lotteries can only be played by residents aged 16 or over. 

 
Good causes and groups 
The community lottery provides a platform for local groups, charities and good causes to 
raise funds, many of which will support residents across a number of protected 
characteristics. 

 
Religious Beliefs 

Page 19



Some groups within this protected characteristic do not support gambling.  Any complaints 
will be monitored and appropriate action taken.  In addition, further opportunities for 
supporting local groups to fundraise are being developed.   

 
16.2 The industry is tightly regulated and requires a demonstration of safeguarding policies and 

vetting process to gain approval and a license to run lotteries via the Gambling Commission.  
This includes specific measures to protect children and vulnerable people from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling.  This includes strong guidelines to prevent the marketing 
of lotteries to underage or vulnerable people. 

 
17. HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

17.1 Additional funding for the Voluntary and Community Sector via a Community Lottery 
Scheme will ensure the benefits of the sector continue to be realised by the communities 
that they assist.  

 
18. CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

18.1 There are opportunities to support local Voluntary and Community organisations across a 
range of specialisms. These may include environmental groups that support our 
communities.  

 
19. ACRONYMS 
 
19.1 S&ECLP – South and East Lincolnshire Council Partnership 
             ELM – External Lottery Manager 
             VCS – Voluntary and Community Sector  
 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Community Lottery Criteria 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report. 

 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body.    

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Emily Spicer – Assistant Director – Wellbeing and Community 

Leadership 

Page 20



Signed off by: Nathan Elvery – Deputy Chief Executive - Communities - 

Communities 

Approved for publication: Portfolio Holder – Housing & Communities, Councillor Martin 

Griggs, Boston Borough Council 

 

Page 21



Appendix A 

 
S&ELCP - Community Lottery Scheme Criteria 

 
We want to enable as many organisations as possible to join the good causes lottery 
under the South and East Lincolnshire Council’s Partnership Community Lottery Scheme. As you 
will be joining under our overall gambling license (Gambling Act 2005) we have to ensure that 
member organisations meet certain criteria. There is no application fee. 
 
Your organisation must: 
 

• Provide community activities or services within Boston, East Lindsey or South Holland, 
which are of benefit to the residents of Boston, East Lindsey or South Holland; 

• Have a formal constitution or set of rules; 

• Have a bank account requiring at least 2 unrelated signatories; and 

• Operate with no undue restrictions on membership.  

• Have safeguarding and health and safety policies 
 
And be either: 
 

• A constituted group with a volunteer management committee, with a minimum of three 
unrelated members, that meets on a regular basis (at least 3 times per year); or 

• A registered charity, with a board of trustees. 
 
Or : 
 

• A registered Community Interest Company, and provide copies of your Community Interest 
Statement, details of the Asset Lock included in your Memorandum and Articles of 
Association, and a copy of your latest annual community interest report. 

 
We will not permit applications to join the Lottery: 
 

• from groups promoting or lobbying for particular religious or political beliefs or campaigns 

• from organisations that do not do work within the boundaries of Boston, East Lindsey or 
South Holland 

• from individuals 

• from organisations which aim to distribute a profit 

• from organisations with no established management committee/board of trustees (unless a 
CIC) 

• that are incomplete 

• The Council reserves the right to reject any application for any reason. 

• The Council reserves the right to cease to license any organisation with a minimum of 7 
days notice for any reason. If fraudulent or illegal activity is suspected cessation will be 
immediate. 

 
  

Page 22



FINANCE PROFORMA 

PROFORMA FOR APPROVAL OF THE RELEASE OF RESOURCES 

(CAPITAL AND REVENUE BUDGETS) 

 

FROM:   

THIS PROFORMA PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED 

     
REPORT:   
REPORT DATE:  
 

OPTION 1 £ Year 1 £ Year 2 £ Year 3 £ Year 4 £ Year 5 
 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 
Revenue      
Set up cost 2,800 0 0 0 0 
Annual renewal 0 394 394 394 394 
      

Total Revenue Cost 2,800 394 394 394 394 

 
Funding required:   Considered by: Date: 
Total capital cost 
 

£  Enter committee here  

Revenue cost 
 

£  Enter Council or 
Cabinet/Executive here 

 

 
Financial Services Comments 
 
 
 
Risk 
 
 
 
Procurement 
 
 
Value for Money Efficiency 

 

 

 

 

 

This FP is valid for 3 months from 

FP date 

If this FP is no longer required please 

advise Finance 

If there are changes to the original report it 

may invalidate this document, it must be 

reviewed by Finance. 

   

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

REPORT TO: BBC Cabinet  

DATE: 30th March 2022 

SUBJECT: 

PURPOSE:  

Lincolnshire Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategies 

To seek approval for endorsing the countywide Lincolnshire 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategies for a further 12 
months. 

KEY DECISION: Yes 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Griggs 

REPORT OF: 

 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

Emily Spicer – Assistant Director – Wellbeing and Community 

Leadership 

Jason Oxby – Service Manager - Housing and Support Solutions 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: All 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY 

The Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 2017 - 2021 and the Lincolnshire Rough Sleeping 

Strategy 2019 – 2021 have both now expired.   It is a legal requirement to publish a revised 

homelessness strategy every five years.  Due to the delay in starting this work, Cabinet is asked 

to approve a one year extension of the current countywide strategies. 

The current homelessness strategy was approved November 2017 which allows time for the new 

combined strategy to be published within the 5 year requirement. 

The other Lincolnshire District Councils are in agreement with a new countywide strategy. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Approve a one year extension of the current countywide strategies 

Page 25

Agenda Item 4



Agree to the writing of a new countywide Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy rather 

than individual council or sub regional strategies 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

The extension is required to allow sufficient time for Lincolnshire Housing Authorities to jointly 

write and approve a new countywide homelessness and rough sleeping strategy.     

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

The Council could adopt its own individual strategy or a joint strategy across the South East 

Lincolnshire Councils Partnership but would still require an extension of the current strategies.   

Having individual council strategies or a SELCP strategy has been discounted because having a 

countywide strategy is seen as good practice, cost effective and has helped increase grant 

funding for countywide housing and homelessness initiatives. This is because it evidences the 

seven Lincolnshire Councils and where applicable Lincolnshire County Council can work together 

for the benefit of its residents.   

 

 

BACKGROUND 

The current Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy was approved in November 2017 and covered the 
period up to the end of 2021. The strategy has an action plan to underpin the priorities and is led by 
the Strategic Leads of the seven Local Authorities across Lincolnshire.  
 
The Lincolnshire Homelessness Prevention Programme Manager hosted by West Lindsey District 
Council had responsibility for co-ordinating the partnership and monitoring of the strategy. This 
later passed to the County Homelessness Partnerships Manager hosted at City of Lincoln Council 
whilst options for the post were explored by the District Housing Network (DHN). 
 
DHN approved the appointment of a Lincolnshire Housing Partnerships role in May 2021 to take on 
the duties of the previous postholder, but also include a wider remit linking in with DHN priorities 
relating to Housing, Health and Social Care. 
 
Recruitment was delayed but the postholder is now in post hosted by North Kesteven District Council 
and will be responsible for leading on writing the new strategy which will cover homelessness and 
rough sleeping. 
 
REPORT 

If the extension is agreed, a review of homelessness within Lincolnshire will take place to help 

formulate the content of the new strategy and help establish the priorities.  The review will be 

undertaken by the Lincolnshire Homelessness Prevention Programme Manager supported by the 

seven local housing authorities.  

 

Page 26



The purpose of a review is to:  

• establish the current level of homelessness across the county,  

• project its likely growth (or decline) in future years,  

• identify what is currently being done and by whom, and  

• identify what level of resources are available to prevent and tackle homelessness in the 
future, 

•   identify gaps and what needs to be done to ensure a robust response to homelessness. 

 

CONCLUSION 
 
The Homelessness and Rough Sleeper Strategies have already expired therefore there isn’t any 
other option than an extension to the current strategies. 
 
An extension would provide the required time to complete a review of Homelessness in Lincolnshire 
which is vital to ensure the priorities of the new strategy are accurate and the agreed actions have 
a positive effect on the prevention of homelessness and helping those that are already homeless. 
 
EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

Extending the strategies will ensure the partnership Councils are acting legally and reduce the risk 
of a legal challenge from not having a current strategy. 
 
Working in partnership with all seven Lincolnshire Housing Authorities increases the available 
resources and better enables all Councils to jointly have a stronger voice when discussing the 
provision of services which are required countywide.    Such services that require financial input are 
also more likely to be affordable when sharing the costs across Lincolnshire or the partnership.  
 
SELCP will ensure the key homelessness issues across the sub-region are included within the new 
countywide strategy and/or action plan.     A sub-regional action plan across the partnership will 
also be produced to ensure local issues specific to SELCP that are not within the countywide 
strategy are identified and actions agreed. 
 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP 

None 

 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

The extension of the current strategies will support the Council to meets its corporate priorities: 

• People – Invest and support growth to meet local housing needs  
 

STAFFING 

There are no staffing requirements for the extension of the strategy. 

Page 27



The required commitment to complete the review, write the strategy and action plan can be met 

within existing resources.  

 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

As set out in the report, the Homelessness Act 2002 Section 1 (1) requires all local authorities to 

complete a homelessness review and Section 1 (4) to have a Homelessness Strategy. 

The Council could be at risk of a legal challenge if it doesn’t have a current strategy.  When making 

homelessness case decisions the Council has to take account of the Homelessness Strategy and 

failing to do so could result in a judicial review 

 

DATA PROTECTION 

None 

FINANCIAL 

No financial requirements in respect of extending the term of the strategies 
 
Each Local Authority currently contributes to the post of Lincs Housing Partnerships Manager.  
 
Any costs of completing the review and producing the Strategy will be met from within the current 
Housing budget. 
 
Any financial commitments as a result of the new strategy/action plan would be met from Grant 
funding.  If this were not possible, a further report seeking funding would be submitted for 
consideration. 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 

Covered under legal implications 

STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

The Portfolio holder has been consulted and in agreement with the recommendation 

REPUTATION 

There is a reputational risk if the Council doesn’t have a current strategy.   DLUHC will expect the 

Council to have a current strategy 

CONTRACTS 

BBC currently provides grant funding to Centrepoint Outreach to support them with their activities 

to reduce homelessness.  BBC has a contract for the provision of emergency B&B accommodation 

however both of these arrangements are under review. 

 

     

Page 28



CRIME AND DISORDER 

Four of the five priorities of the current strategy have a positive impact on crime and disorder. 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

Protecting the most vulnerable from experiencing homelessness including tackling rough sleeping is 

a priority of the current strategy.   All people who are homeless are provided with a service. 

HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

The prevention of homelessness, provision of a decent home and referring people for support with 

health issues can have a positive effect on a household’s health and wellbeing. 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

ACRONYMS 

NA 

APPENDICES 

None 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Background papers used in the production of this report: 

 

BBC Cabinet 

report and 

attachment 2017 

https://democracy.boston.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cid=130&Mid=1155&Ver=4 

 

Lincolnshire 

Homelessness 

Strategy 2017-21 

Lincolnshire_Homelessness_Strategy_2017-2021.pdf (mybostonuk.com) 

Lincolnshire 

Rough Sleeping 

Strategy 2019-21 

Lincolnshire_Rough_Sleeping_Strategy_2019-2021.pdf (e-lindsey.gov.uk) 

 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

None 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Page 29

https://democracy.boston.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=1155&Ver=4
http://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Lincolnshire_Homelessness_Strategy_2017-2021.pdf
https://www.e-lindsey.gov.uk/media/15183/Lincolnshire-Rough-Sleeping-Strategy-2019-2021/pdf/Lincolnshire_Rough_Sleeping_Strategy_2019-2021.pdf?m=637147627074770000


Report author: Jason Oxby 
Service Manager – Housing and Support Solutions 
Jason.oxby@e-lindsey.gov.uk 
01507 613120 
 

 

Signed off by: Nathan Elvery 
Deputy Chief Executive 
Nathan.Elvery@sholland.gov.uk 
07540 707448 

 

Approved for publication: Name of Councillor (if required) 

 

 

 

Page 30

mailto:Jason.oxby@e-lindsey.gov.uk
mailto:Nathan.Elvery@sholland.gov.uk


 

 

 

 
 

REPORT TO: CABINET 

DATE: 30TH MARCH 2022 

SUBJECT: NET ZERO ACTION PLAN 

PURPOSE: TO ADOPT THE NET ZERO ACTION PLAN 

KEY DECISION: YES 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: CLLR PAUL SKINNER 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

CLIMATE CHANGE & ENVIRONMENT OFFICER 

HEATHER PRESCOTT 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: N/A 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 

In 2021, a Carbon Footprinting exercise was undertaken by the Carbon Trust for the Council’s 

own operations and a Carbon Reduction Plan was developed and agreed by Cabinet in January 

2022.  

Cabinet agreed to amend the previous net zero target to a more quantifiable and ambitious 

target to reduce carbon emissions to net zero by 2040 with a minimum reduction of 45% by 

2027, providing this can be achieved without the reduction or change in quality of services or 

adversely impacting on the revenues budget.  

A Net Zero Action Plan has now been produced to outline the programme of work needed to 

deliver the necessary reductions based on the Carbon Trust’s reports, with a view to providing a 

roadmap for carbon reduction measures and projects in the coming years to assist us in meeting 

our net zero ambition. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

The Cabinet are recommended to: 

1. Agree the Net Zero Action Plan in line with the Council’s commitment to reduce its 

carbon emissions by 45% by 2027 and to achieve net zero by 2040 in the line with the 

strategic aim of the Corporate Strategy. 

Page 31

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

To set out a delivery pathway to achieve the Councils net zero Carbon emissions target via a 

pipeline of projects and actions as set out in the Net Zero Action Plan. 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Cabinet could decide not to adopt the Net Zero Action Plan, however Local authorities have a 

legal obligation to produce plans and policies to adapt to and mitigate climate change in line 

with the provisions of the Climate Change Act 2008.  

The Council has also made a commitment to reduce its carbon emissions to net zero by 2040 

with a minimum emissions reduction of 45% by 2027 and this plan provides a roadmap to 

achieving these targets. 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

1.1 Climate Change is one of the greatest global challenges of our time and local authorities 

have a crucial role to play in driving forward change, leading by example to enable us to 

adapt to and mitigate Climate Change effectively and achieve a more sustainable future. 

Monitoring of our carbon emissions via an annual Carbon Footprint and producing plans 

such as the Carbon Reduction Plan and Net Zero Action Plan will guide us on our pathway to 

meet our target of becoming net zero by 2040. 

1.2 Following on from the recommendations put forward by the Carbon Trust in the adopted 

Carbon Reduction Plan, a Net Zero Action Plan has now been developed to set out the 

projects required to investigate the feasibility of these recommendations further and 

provide clear delivery timescales for the proposed actions. The Action Plan also 

encompasses other environmental initiatives identified by the Climate Change and 

Environment Team and lays out a more detailed pathway to net zero via the development 

of our current position in relation to carbon emissions. This will ensure that the most 

effective and viable pathways forward are taken in relation to our operations.  

1.3 The Carbon Footprint takes account of Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions falling under categories 

for gas, electrical, fleet, waste and business and commuter travel and these categories have 

therefore been used as a framework for the Net Zero Action Plan. Investigative and 

feasibility actions have been highlighted in grey with actions dependant on the outcome of 

these investigations highlighted in light grey for ease of visualisation.    

1.4 It is not currently possible, at this time, to provide costs or projected carbon savings for 

some of the projects identified in the Net Zero Action Plan. These details will be identified 

during the progression of the projects and where significant financial decisions will be 

required these proposals will be brought to Members for approval as appropriate.     

 

Page 32



2. REPORT 

 Fleet 

2.1 A free Government-funded fleet review is due to be undertaken by the Energy Saving Trust 

towards the end of the financial year. This will provide very valuable insights which will 

inform our future actions in relation to fleet and identify sites with the best potential for 

accommodating EV charging infrastructure. The actions currently identified in the Net Zero 

Action Plan will be subject to change dependant on the outcome of this review. 

2.2 In relation to Fleet, the Carbon Reduction Plan recommends an initial trial and later rollout 

of Compressed Natural Gas vehicles followed by a trial and roll out of electric Refuse 

Collection Vehicles once supply chains have become more established, technology is more 

reliable and capital costs reduce.  

2.3 The outcome of the EST Fleet Review will inform whether the currently proposed 

recommendations are taken forward or other alternatives are deemed more suitable for 

our consideration. Technological advancements are being made all the time and it is 

therefore crucial that we are at the forefront of identifying and assessing the viability of 

new ways of working.  

 Travel 

2.4 Achieving our net zero targets will not only be dependant on the recommended actions in 

this Action Plan but also on harnessing and maintaining reductions in carbon emissions 

caused by the impact of COVID19, this is particularly the case in relation to business and 

commuter travel.  

2.5 Training and Communications actions listed in the Action Plan will seek to encourage staff 

to reduce travel and to car share as much as possible in line with this approach. This will 

also assist us in maintaining reductions as working patterns begin to be re-established.  

 Operational Buildings 

2.6 We are looking to develop Decarbonisation Strategies for all the main operational buildings 

identified in the Net Zero Action Plan and these strategies will inform the future actions we 

take forward in relation to those premises. Funding and support options in relation to the 

development of these plans are currently being investigated and will be sought to finance 

this work.  

 Municipal Buildings 

2.7 Opportunities have been identified at the Municipal Buildings to upgrade fabric, HVAC and 

heating systems and install renewable energy measures in the short term, however there 

are challenges associated with these proposed upgrades. In the medium term, Building 

Management System upgrades and development of a solar car port are recommended. The 

payback timescales will be an important consideration at this site due to the long term 

recommendation to relocate to a more energy efficient building, which would allow for a 

more significant reduction to emissions. 

 Crematorium 

2.8 Potential fabric, glazing upgrades and solar opportunities at the Crematorium site have 

been identified in the short term. In the medium term it is recommended that a biogas 

Page 33



blend be considered to fuel the furnace and a move away from gas entirely to be 

considered in the longer term. It is important to note that as the electrical grid 

decarbonises, resultant emissions from electricity consumption will decrease whereas 

emissions from gas consumption are expected to remain constant.   

 Geoff Moulder Leisure Centre 

2.9 As a result of funding via the Towns Fund there are plans for the redevelopment of Geoff 

Moulder Leisure Centre. The Climate Change and Environment Team will liaise with the lead 

officers working on this proposal to ensure that the implementation of carbon reduction 

opportunities and green technologies are fully explored during the development of the 

plans to mitigate future financial retrofit challenges. Potential for a decarbonisation 

strategy to be developed for this site will be investigated at our earliest opportunity.      

3. CONCLUSION 

3.1 The Carbon Footprint for FY 2020/21 has shown significant strides towards our targets for 

reducing carbon emissions, however, it will continue to be extremely important that we 

harness the impact of COVID-19. It will be particularly important that newly established 

ways of working are maintained, particularly in relation to travel. It will also be vital that we 

embrace new green technologies as they become available and viable and identify new 

ways to reduce our emissions further over the coming years.  

3.2 The Net Zero Action Plan will guide us our pathway to net zero via a rollout of projects 

particularly focused over the next five years as we work towards the interim target of 2027, 

however, it is important to note that the Action Plan is based on the best options currently 

available to us and may be subject to change dependant on the outcomes of further 

feasibility assessment and technological advancements.  

3.3 Decarbonisation strategies will be developed for all operational Council buildings which will 

inform the actions we take forward in relation to those premises and will potentially lead to 

some amendments in the Action Plan.  

3.4 Funding will be sought for the development of these strategy documents and any resulting 

amendments to the Action Plan proposed will be brought to Members for approval as 

appropriate.     

 

4. EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

4.1 This plan provides a baseline and models a target pathway of recommendations and actions 
to enable achievement of our net zero aspirations.   

 
5. IMPLICATIONS 

6. SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP 

6.1 Our ambition seeks to align activity and action across the three sovereign councils to deliver 

financial benefits and shared learning for the benefit of the Partnership. 

 

7. CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

7.1 The Net Zero Action Plan will support us in achieving Priority 3 of the Corporate Strategy. 

Page 34



8. STAFFING 

8.1 None. 

9. CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 Local authorities have a legal obligation to produce plans and policies to adapt to and 

mitigate climate change in line with the provisions of the Climate Change Act 2008 and 

failure to do so could result in a legal challenge being made. 

10. DATA PROTECTION 

10.1 None. 

11. FINANCIAL 

11.1 Recommendations identified in the Net Zero Action Plan will require funding. External 
funding opportunities will be sought whilst ensuring that future expenditure within existing 
Council budgets seeks to include carbon savings as part of the procurement and delivery of 
services. 

 
11.2 The Council may seek to implement an invest to save fund for Carbon Reduction which can 

be used to support initiatives as well as provide match funding for external bids. 
 
12. RISK MANAGEMENT 

12.1 None.  

13. STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

13.1 Consultation with Key Officers and portfolio holder have been undertaken.  

14. REPUTATION 

14.1 Having an effective Net Zero Action Plan highlighting a pathway of actions to reduce our 

carbon emissions shows our commitment to meeting our net zero targets and enhances our 

reputation as a community leader, setting a positive example for others to follow. 

15. CONTRACTS 

15.1 None.  

16. CRIME AND DISORDER 

16.1 None.  

17. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

17.1 None.   

18. HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

18.1 The Net Zero Action Plan has the potential to not only reduce carbon emissions but also to 

deliver positive outcomes for the natural environment and the health and wellbeing of our 

communities. 

19. CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

Page 35



19.1 Commitment to achieving our net zero target will be crucial alongside the work of all other 

authorities, businesses and individuals in the global battle to reduce our carbon emissions 

and limit climate change to temperature increases of well below 2 ̊C in line with the Paris 

Agreement. Failure to do so would be catastrophic to the environment with extreme 

weather events expected to become more frequent and severe. Rising sea levels would also 

potentially create the need for mass migration inland and huge losses to biodiversity could 

lead to water and food shortages amongst many other negative impacts on life as we know 

it.  

19.2 It is a global problem of which we can only make a small contribution, but we must seek to 

reduce our operational footprint as far as possible. 

20. ACRONYMS 

20.1 None. 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Carbon Reduction Plan  

APPENDIX B Net Zero Action Plan  

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Corporate Strategy Our Plan for Your Future | Boston Borough Council 

(mybostonuk.com)  

Environment Policy https://www.mybostonuk.com/environmental-

protection-and-services/climate/  

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

Name of body Date 

Environment & Performance Committee  22nd March 2022  

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Heather Prescott  

Climate Change and Environment Officer 

Signed off by: Christian Allen 

Assistant Director Regulatory 

Approved for publication: Cllr Paul Skinner 

Page 36

https://www.mybostonuk.com/our-plan-for-your-future/
https://www.mybostonuk.com/our-plan-for-your-future/
https://www.mybostonuk.com/environmental-protection-and-services/climate/
https://www.mybostonuk.com/environmental-protection-and-services/climate/


FINANCE PROFORMA 

PROFORMA FOR APPROVAL OF THE RELEASE OF RESOURCES 

(CAPITAL AND REVENUE BUDGETS) 

 

FROM:   

THIS PROFORMA PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED 

     
REPORT:   
REPORT DATE:  
 

OPTION 1 £ Year 1 £ Year 2 £ Year 3 £ Year 4 £ Year 5 
 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 
Revenue      
      
      
      

Total Revenue Cost      

 
Funding required:   Considered by: Date: 
Total capital cost 
 

£  Enter committee here  

Revenue cost 
 

£  Enter Council or 
Cabinet/Executive here 

 

 
Financial Services Comments 
 
 
 
Risk 
 
 
 
Procurement 
 
 
Value for Money Efficiency 

 

 

 

 

 

This FP is valid for 3 months from 

FP date 

If this FP is no longer required please 

advise Finance 

If there are changes to the original report it 

may invalidate this document, it must be 

reviewed by Finance. 

   

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Carbon 
Reduction Plan

November 2021

Final

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

P
age 39



Contacts

2

Hector Wilson
Associate
Carbon Trust
Hector.Wilson@carbontrust.com

Hannah Cardiff
Analyst
Carbon Trust
Hannah.Cardiff@carbontrust.com

Sarah Baker
Climate Change and Environment Manager
Boston Borough Council
Sarah.Baker@e-lindsey.gov.uk

Heather Prescott
Climate Change and Environment Officer
Boston Borough Council
Heather.Prescott@e-lindsey.gov.uk

P
age 40



1. Executive summary

2. Context and introduction

3. Carbon footprint

4. Target setting

5. Carbon reduction commitments

6. Carbon reduction opportunities

Contents

7. Governance and engagement

8. Monitoring and reporting

9. Appendices

P
age 41



Executive summary

4

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 42



Executive summary

5

• This Carbon Reduction Plan is a key step in Boston
Borough Council’s (BBC) response to the climate crisis
and sets out a number of strategic actions that BBC
should work to implement to achieve their carbon
reduction target.

• This carbon reduction plan suggests a number of
projects that, alongside the decarbonisation of the UK
electricity grid, will contribute to the Council reducing
their carbon emissions.

• Emissions included within the carbon footprint and
targeted projects:

Scope 1 • Fleet fuel consumption • Gas consumption in 
the crematorium

Scope 2 • Electricity consumption in Municipal 
Buildings

• Electricity 
consumption in 
council operated 
buildings

Scope 3 • Employee commuting and business 
travel

P
age 43



Executive summary

6

• BBC’s carbon footprint for the financial year
2018/19 was calculated to be 3,858.6 tCO2e.
The footprint consists of 9 emissions
categories.

• Leased buildings make up the largest single
emissions source, representing 45% (1,739.9
tCO2e) of the total footprint.

• Operation of buildings and facilities by the
council is an emissions hotspot. Emissions
from electricity, gas and other fuel
consumption make up 27% of the total
footprint (1,050.1 tCO2e).

• Operation of the council’s fleet is also a major
contributor to the footprint, accounting for 15%
(558.4 tCO2e) of the total footprint.

• Emissions from supply of water, treatment of
wastewater, employee commuting and
business travel are only a small part of the
footprint – approximately 5% (187.0 tCO2e).

Carbon footprint summary

Scope 1
34%

Scope 2
8%

Scope 3
58%

FY18/19
3,858.6 tCO2e

361.8 850.1 23.6 690.1 37.9 9.2 1739.9 125.4 13.4
0

400

800

1200

1600

2000

Scope 1 Scope 2 Scope 3

P
age 44



Carbon reduction opportunities overview

7

• The following carbon reduction opportunities have been identified across Boston Borough Council’s operations, with relevant project
opportunities identified for each of the emissions areas detailed below. These projects will assist BBC on the pathway towards achieving its
carbon reduction targets.

• The projects identified in this plan have the potential to reduce Boston Borough Council’s total emissions from 3,859tCO2e tCO2e/yr to just
2,423tCO2e/year by 2050.

• The total estimated cost to implement the above projects is approximately £7.1mn not including any costs associated with large scale
construction or property rationalisation. The project proposals in this plan have been based on high level and remotely accessed information and
benchmarks. All projects will require full feasibility assessments to be undertaken to establish a detailed cost-benefit analysis.

Municipal Buildings

Upgrade fabric and 
heating systems. 
Install renewable 
energy measures.

Public Toilets

Install energy 
efficiency measures 
to reduce electricity 
consumption.

Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex

Relocate to new 
energy efficient site.

Crematorium

Install energy 
efficiency and 
renewable energy 
measures.

Fleet

Electrify vans in fleet. 
Trial and roll out 
electric RCVs.

Business Travel and Commuting

Encourage low 
carbon transport 
modes and mileage 
management.

P
age 45



Overview of Carbon Reduction Pathway

8

• 22 carbon reduction projects were 
modelled. The graph on the right shows 
the change in emissions with time. This 
only shows the scope 1 and scope 2 
emission sources which have been the 
focus of the carbon reduction 
opportunity analysis.

• Projects considered cover fabric, 
lighting, and heating and HVAC 
upgrades, as well as electrification of 
fleet vehicles and the installation of 
solar PV.

• If all projects outlined are implemented
then it can be expected that scope 1 and 
2 emissions could decrease by 74% by 
2030 and 87% by 2040 from a FY 
2018/19 baseline. This is equal to 1,013 
and 1,380 tCO2e respectively.

• It is expected that the total capital cost 
of all projects will equal approximately 
£7.1million.

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

Gas Electricity Biogas Fleet

-87%

P
age 46



Target

9

• Boston Borough Council has agreed to set a Net Zero 
2040 target. This is an ambitious target which is in 
keeping with the latest climate science.

• BBC has committed to reduce its emissions to Net Zero 
by 2040, with a minimum emissions reduction of 45% by 
2027 against a FY 2018/19 baseline.

• This would require year-on-year reduction of 4.55% each 
year. Annual reduction targets will be 5% to 2027 and 
4.23% from 2027 – 2040.

• The graph shows the pathway if all projects suggested in 
this report are implemented and the target line. If all 
projects are implemented in the order suggested here, 
BBC will have a gap-to-target across all emission scopes 
of 1,215tCO2e in 2027 and 2,478 tCO2e in 2040.

• When considering scope 1 and 2 emissions only, the gap 
to target in 2027 and 2040 are 197tCO2e and 215tCO2e 
respectively once projects have been implemented.

Net Zero 2040, with a minimum emissions reduction of 45% by 2027

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

4500

Projects implemented Target

P
age 47



Next steps

10

• Building on the analysis and project suggestions in this carbon reduction plan, BBC should now conduct further, more 
detailed feasibility assessments of individual project opportunities. This will ensure the Council is able to quantify 
costs and savings fully and be more confident in taking forward provisional project opportunities identified here.

• Considering the current emissions hotspots – operational buildings and facilities, and fleet – BBC should prioritise 
and coordinate efforts to reduce emissions in the first instance, using the contents of this Carbon Reduction Plan in 
the process.

• BBC should use the initial quantifications provided (energy, carbon and cost-saving potential) as a building block for 
the development of further detailed business cases going forward. The information shown in this plan, along with an 
explanation of the limitations, should be clearly communicated to stakeholders and shared with key decision makers 
across the organisation.

• Establishing an immediate action plan to build on the findings of this Carbon Reduction Plan will help to ensure 
carbon reduction remains a key part of the Council’s agenda going forward, allowing the necessary budgets and 
organisational/governance structures to be developed accordingly to support decarbonisation.

10

P
age 48



Context and 
introduction

11

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 49



Context

12

• Growing acknowledgement of the latest science and recommendations from the Committee on Climate Change have resulted in
unprecedented recognition of the global climate emergency and the need to act urgently. According to the IPCC’s Fifth
Assessment Report, unless there are immediate, rapid and large-scale reductions in emissions, limiting warming to close to 1.5
°C or even 2 °C will be beyond reach.

• The UK is already experiencing some of the effects of warming, such as sea level rise, increased flooding, warmer and wetter
winters, increased extreme weather events and storms. Continued warming is projected to magnify these impacts, and risks
relating to soil health, supply chains, public health and habitats will be exacerbated.

• The UK has recognised the scale of the problem and in 2019 declared a climate emergency, aiming to achieve Net Zero
emissions by 2050. Local authorities have also recognised the issue, with 230 declaring a climate emergency. Local authorities
have a crucial role to play in developing effective pathways towards reducing their emissions, which, if successfully achieved, will
help to reduce climate impacts at both the local and national scale as well as delivering public health co-benefits resulting from
cleaner air and leading more active lifestyles.

• Boston Borough Council declared a climate emergency in 2020 and environmental awareness and accountability are identified
as a priority in the Corporate Strategy. BBC is committed to addressing the impact of its operations and as part of this
commitment has agreed to produce a new Carbon Reduction Plan. The Carbon Reduction Plan will serve to engage and inform
key stakeholders on the level of ambition required to pursue decarbonisation across Boston Borough Council’s operations and
support future decision-making.

12

P
age 50



Introduction

13

• In the first stage of the project, the Carbon Trust calculated a carbon footprint for BBC. The footprint included scope 1, scope 2 
and selected scope 3 emissions. The footprint was calculated for three consecutive years: FY 18/19, FY 19/20 and FY 20/21. A 
footprint report was produced which provided an overview of the carbon footprint, methodology and GHG Protocol, as well as 
highlighting key emissions hotspots within the organisation. 

• Following this, a workshop was held with key stakeholders from the Council to present key findings from the carbon footprint 
calculation. A Business as Usual (BAU) emissions pathway was presented which captured overarching effects on emissions, 
such as grid decarbonisation. Options for carbon reduction targets were presented and compared to other local authorities in the
area. In this workshop, initial opportunities for carbon reduction projects within the Council’s operations were discussed and 
identified.

• Key personnel identified from the workshop were interviewed to gather more information and understand the potential for 
emissions reduction projects across the Council. The information provided supported analysis of carbon reduction pathways for
BBC.

• This report forms a Carbon Reduction Plan. It includes a summary of the baseline carbon footprint calculation, information 
surrounding target setting and analysis of projects which should be implemented to drive carbon reduction across BBC. These 
projects have been quantified and present a gap-to-target. BBC should take the findings of this report forwards to inform a more
detailed decarbonisation action plan. 

Project overview

P
age 51



Carbon footprint

14

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 52



Carbon footprint overview

15

The Carbon Trust has calculated BBC’s carbon footprint in accordance 
with the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocol – the most widely used and 
accepted methodology for GHG accounting.

The organisational boundary also helps to determine how to categorise 
each emissions source within the boundary.

Under the GHG Protocol, emissions are categorised into 3 scopes:

• Scope 1: Emissions directly emitted by the organization (i.e. gas 
burnt in a gas boiler, tail pipe emissions from a vehicle).

• Scope 2: Emissions indirectly emitted from the consumption of 
purchased electricity, heat or steam.

• Scope 3: All other indirect emissions, such as the extraction and 
production of purchased materials and fuels, transport-related 
activities in vehicles not owned or controlled by the reporting entity, 
water consumption, waste disposal, etc.

This section provides an inventory of BBC’s greenhouse gas emissions in the financial year 2018/19 – the 
‘baseline’ against which future progress will be evaluated

Above: Emission scopes, as defined by the GHG Protocol.

P
age 53



Carbon footprint methodology

16

Carbon emissions are calculated by taking activity data (e.g. kWh electricity consumed, litres of fuel) and applying an emissions 
factor.

• Where possible, primary activity data should be be collected throughout the reporting period for the carbon footprint calculation.

• Emission factors are updated annually and published by the UK Government’s department for Business, Energy and Industrial 
Strategy (BEIS).

• Where primary activity data is not available, appropriate benchmarks or proxies can be used to estimate emissions from that 
source. For example, typical electricity consumption per m2 of a building. 

kWh 
(utilities)

miles or km 
(transport)

£ (contract 
value)

BEIS factor 
(kgCO2e/unit)

Emission  
(tCO2e)Activity data

Emissions 
factor

proxy factor 
(kgCO2e/unit 

spend)

What is a carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e)?
CO2 is one of 7 GHGs covered by the Kyoto Protocol. 
Each gas has a global warming potential (GWP). By 

comparing each gas’s GWP to that of carbon dioxide 
we can derive a CO2 e value - the commonly used unit to 

report GHG emissions.
Although CO2 has the lowest GWP, it is also by far the 

most abundant GHG emission. Hence the focus on CO2
when discussing emissions reduction and climate 

change.

P
age 54



Emissions sources included

17

Scope 1
Direct Owned 

transport
Fuel 

combustion

Process and 
fugitive 

emissions

Scope 2
Indirect Purchased 

electricity

Purchased 
heating / 
cooling

Scope 3
Indirect

Purchased 
goods & 
services

Capital goods

Business 
travel

Fuel & energy 
related 

activities

Waste from 
operations

Upstream 
transport & 
distribution

Employee 
commuting

Upstream 
leased assets

Downstream 
leased assets

Investments Use of sold 
products

Franchises
Downstream 
transport & 
distribution

Processing of 
sold products

End of life 
treatment

Upstream Downstream

Emissions sources to be calculated within the chosen 
boundary of this assessment were agreed with BBC, 
and include relevant Scope 1 and 2 emissions and 
selected Scope 3 emissions. Relevance of each 
emissions source was determined using a qualitative 
assessment of a) perceived magnitude, b) data 
availability, and c) sphere of influence, alongside 
ability to achieve reductions through direct action. 

P
age 55



Boston Borough Council Footprint FY18/19

18

• The total footprint for BBC in FY 18/19 was 3,858.6 tCO2e.

• Over one third of emissions, 34% (1,318.2 tCO2e) were scope 1. These are operational emissions as a direct result of the 
combustion of fossil fuels within council buildings and fleet. 

• Only 8% (290.3 tCO2e) were scope 2. These are emissions that arise from operational electricity consumption. 

• Over half of emissions, 58% (2,250.1 tCO2e) arise from scope 3. The majority of these are attributed to emissions from energy 
consumption in leased buildings and WTT and T&D associated with scope 1 and scope 2 emissions.

Natural Gas 
Consumption

46%

Fleet
35%

Other Fuel 
Consumption

1%

Electricity 
Consumption

18%

Waste
<1%

Water
1% Commuting

6%

Business Travel -
Transport

2%

Leased Buildings
77%

WTT and T&D
14%

Scope 3
2,250.1 tCO2e

Scope 1 and 2
1,608.5 tCO2e

P
age 56



Hotspot – Operational buildings and facilities

19

• The chart (right) provides site level view of operational emissions (Gas
and Electricity) for FY 18/19.

• Operational emissions from all sites make up 27% (1050.1 tCO2e) of
the total footprint.1

• Emissions are dominated by the Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex and
the Crematorium. These two sites account for 73% of all operational
emissions.

• The majority of emissions arise from the use of natural gas, for space
and water heating functions. These emissions will not decrease with
time in line with UK grid decarbonisation. Reducing these emissions will
require energy efficiency measures and switching heating modes, e.g.
air source heat pumps.

• As a result of these measures, electricity consumption and costs
associated with Scope 2 emissions will increase over time. Due to the
rate of grid decarbonisation it is unlikely that scope 2 emissions
themselves will increase. Measures should therefore also be taken to
reduce electricity consumption across all operational sites.

Emissions from consumption of gas and electricity at BBC operated buildings and facilities

1 WTT and T&D is excluded from these numbers. It was found to be 182.4 tCO2e for 
operational emissions.

*Other contains temporary accommodation sites, leisure 
sites, power supply, depot and public toilets.

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Head Office Guildhall
Museum

Geoff Moulder
Leisure

Complex

Crematorium Other*

Scope 2 (Electricity) Scope 1 (Gas)

P
age 57



Hotspot – Fleet

20

• The BBC fleet contained 41 vehicles in FY 18/19. 35 of these were diesel fuelled maintenance vehicles, 1 diesel car and 5 pool
cars, assigned petrol fuel type. Maintenance vehicles include road sweepers, vans, refuse disposal vehicles and tractors.

• Emissions from fleet contributed 558.4 tCO2e*, equivalent to 15% to the total carbon footprint.

• Fuel consumption figures were provided by BBC. The total estimated fuel consumption for FY18/19 was 213,045 litres.

Emissions from fuel consumed in vehicles owned and operated by the council

Road Sweeper
5% Van

12%

Tractor
1%

Refuse Disposal
81%

Diesel Car
<1%

Pool Car
1%

FY18/19
558.4 tCO2e

*Figures excluding well-to-tank, WTT. An additional 131.7 tCO2e was associated with Scope 3 WTT emissions from fleet fuel consumption

P
age 58



Hotspot – Leased buildings

21

• Emissions from leased buildings were found to be 1,739.9 tCO2e, 45% of
the carbon footprint.

• 19.4 tCO2e is from consumption of biomass at the Princess Royal Sports
Arena and the Enterprise Centre.

• Where actual consumption data was not available, emissions were
estimated from the floor area and building type.

• The chart (right) provides a building category view of estimated electricity
and gas consumption FY 18/19.

• The majority of emissions arise from the use of natural gas, for space and
water heating functions. These emissions will not decrease with time in
line with UK grid decarbonisation. Reducing these emissions will require
energy efficiency measures and switching heating modes, e.g. air source
heat pumps.

• As a result of these measures, electricity consumption and costs
associated with Scope 2 emissions will increase over time. Due to the rate
of grid decarbonisation it is unlikely that scope 2 emissions themselves
will increase therefore measures should also be taken to reduce electricity
consumption across all operational sites.

• Leased building emissions are scope 3 and therefore BBC does not have
direct control over them. It is important that BBC influence and engage
with building occupants to adopt energy efficiency and fuel switching
measures.

Emissions from consumption of gas and electricity at BBC leased buildings

0

200000

400000

600000

800000

1000000

1200000

1400000

1600000

Total Electricity Consumption Total Gas Consumption

P
age 59



Other emissions sources

22

Scope Emissions Source Total emissions (tCO2e) Percentage of total (%)

1

Natural Gas Consumption 746.4 19%

Fleet 558.4 14%

Other Fuel Consumption 13.4 0.3%

2 Electricity Consumption 290.3 8%

3

Waste 9.2 0.2%

Water 23.6 0.6%

Commuting 125.4 3%

Business Travel - Transport 37.9 1%

Leased Buildings 1,739.9 45%

WTT and T&D 314.1 8%

Total 3,858.6 100.0%

• Other emissions sources (Waste output and processing, Water consumption, Employee commuting, Business travel (transport),
and WTT and T&D) made up around 14% of the footprint in FY 18/19.

• Although these emissions categories contribute less to the carbon footprint, reduction efforts should still be made via initiatives
such as increased recycling, installation of water saving measures, and encouragement of active and public transport use.

P
age 60



Target setting

23

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 61



Target setting

24

• Science-based target (SBT): Aligned to the 2015 Paris 
Agreement, targets are considered “science-based” if they 
reach the level of decarbonisation required to keep global 
temperature increase below 1.5°C. This target requires a 4.2% 
year on year reduction in emissions from the baseline.

• Net Zero target: A Net Zero organisation will set and pursue 
an ambitious 1.5°C aligned science-based target for its full 
value-chain emissions. Any remaining hard-to-decarbonise 
emissions can be compensated using certified greenhouse 
gas removal.

• Examples of both targets are illustrated in the graph to the 
right.

• In their Net Zero Strategy (2021), the UK government has 
committed to half direct emissions from the public sector by 
2032 (compared to 2017 levels) and aims to further reduce 
emissions from public sector buildings by 75% by 2037. They 
have also set a Net Zero 2050 target for the UK.

Setting ambitious emissions reduction targets drives momentum for change, can spark innovation and investment, 
and ensures reductions meet national commitments.

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

BAU Net Zero 2050 SBT 1.5 degrees

P
age 62



Target setting

25

• North Kesteven – Net zero by 2030; measured 
against a 2018/19 baseline.

• Lincoln City – Net zero by 2030; measured 
against a 2018/19 baseline.

• East Lindsey – 45% reduction in emissions by 
2027 and net zero by 2040; against a 2018/19 
baseline.

• Lincolnshire County – 20% reduction by 2023 
and then carbon neutral by 2050; measured 
against a 2016/17 baseline.

• South Kesteven – 30% reduction by 2030 and 
net zero before 2050; measured against a 
2018/19 baseline.

• West Lindsey – Net zero by 2050; against a 
2019/20 baseline.

Neighbouring targets and ambitions

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

South Kesteven West Lindsey East Lindsey
Lincolnshire Lincoln North Kesteven

P
age 63



Target setting

26

• Boston Borough Council has agreed to set a Net Zero 2040 target. 
This is an ambitious target which is in keeping with the latest 
climate science.

• BBC has committed to reduce its emissions to Net Zero by 2040, 
with a minimum emissions reduction of 45% by 2027 against a FY 
2018/19 baseline.

• This would require year-on-year reduction of 4.55% each year. 
Annual reduction targets will be 5% to 2027 and 4.23% from 2027 –
2040.

• Committee support is agreed provided the recommendations can be 
actioned without any reduction in the quality of services provided, 
the recommendations do not impact on the revenue budgets, nor do 
they impact on services.

• The graph shows the pathway if all projects suggested in this report 
are implemented and the target line. If all projects are implemented 
in the order suggested here, BBC will have a gap-to-target across all 
emission scopes of 1,215tCO2e in 2027 and 2,478 tCO2e in 2040.

• When considering scope 1 and 2 emissions only, the gap to target in 
2027 and 2040 are 197tCO2e and 215tCO2e respectively once 
projects have been implemented.

Net Zero 2040, with a minimum emissions reduction of 45% by 2027

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

4500

Projects implemented Target

P
age 64



Carbon reduction 
commitments

27

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 65



Carbon reduction commitments

28

• In order to support Boston Borough Council’s carbon reduction target it is important to state how the Council aims to 
achieve these.

• The subsequent section outlines direct actions that could be implemented in order to reduce carbon emissions. 
Alongside the actions, the Council should also outline the steps required within the wider strategy that are needed in 
order to decarbonise.

• This section of the report therefore outlines a series of commitments that the Council should aim to align with going 
forward that will focus decarbonisation activities and also provide a layer of accountability.

• The commitments have been developed based on UK Government ambitions, suggestions outlined within the 
committee on climate change’s update reports, and Carbon Trust’s own extensive knowledge of developing 
decarbonisation strategies and providing assistance to UK public sector bodies.

• It is suggested that the Council review these commitments and ensure they align with both their ambition and 
expectations. Going forward the commitments should be seen as steps to follow and a benchmark to report progress 
against.

• The commitments have been organised in four yearly intervals, to ensure regular action is taken, and enough time is 
given to move from commitment, to plan, to action.

P
age 66



Carbon reduction commitments

29

• Carbon reduction to be a high priority in business case decisions
• Carbon footprint to be calculated every year

o This should be expanded from the current baseline footprint to include all emission sources
• Any new builds or major developments will be designed and accredited to a net zero framework
• Energy audits of all council owned buildings will have been undertaken

o This will highlight carbon hotspots and detailed pipeline of costed projects to be implemented
• Waste heat strategy for the crematorium will be in place
• All lighting across council owned buildings will be LED
• Understanding of total renewable energy potential from solar PV will be known

o Feasibility studies of all council owned buildings, roof space, car parks and land assets should be carried out and 
summarised within a renewable strategy

• Engage with key suppliers to communicate importance of emissions reduction in procurement decisions
• Install water saving accessories across all operational facilities
• Waste tonnage and type data will be collected 

By 2024

P
age 67



Carbon reduction commitments

30

• Boston Borough Council will have reduced carbon emissions in line with target
• Low carbon heat plans will be in place

o An understanding of future heating options for all council owned buildings should be in place, including heat 
pumps, hydrogen, or other low carbon fuels

• All cars and LGVs will be battery electric where practically possible
• Charging infrastructure at main council buildings will have been installed
• Trial of CNG HGV will have been undertaken
• All buildings will have up-to-date, standardised, and effective building management systems (BMS)
• Boston Borough Council will have 50% of renewable energy potential installed

o Developed in line with the renewables strategy
• Supplier commitment to reducing emissions will be mandated within procurement contracts for major suppliers

By 2028

P
age 68



Carbon reduction commitments

31

• Boston Borough Council will have reduced carbon emissions in line with target
• Every building will have undergone a full energy efficient upgrade

o Including installation of low carbon heating options identified within the heating strategy
• Boston Borough Council will have 100% of renewable energy potential installed

o In line with the renewables strategy

• All HGVs, including waste refuse vehicles will be zero emission vehicles

• The crematorium will no longer use gas-fired furnaces in its operations

By 2032

By 2040

By 2036

P
age 69



Carbon reduction 
opportunities

32

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 70



Carbon reduction opportunities

33

• This section of the project has developed and quantified a list of carbon reduction opportunities that could be 
implemented by Boston Borough Council.

• The opportunities identified have been guided by the analysis of the carbon footprint hotspots, in order to make sure 
that projects with the greatest carbon saving potential are suggested.

• Furthermore, individual discussions with particular areas of the council have been carried out to ensure the projects 
suggested are ambitious, relevant, and realistic.

• The projects identified are relevant only to scope 1 and 2 emissions. This has been done to ensure there is a focus on 
emission sources that the council have a direct influence over and therefore are easiest to impact on.
• The largest scope 3 emission source is from leased buildings, it is therefore suggested that a strategy for 

decarbonising leased buildings is developed.
• The following pages outline the main focus areas for the carbon reduction opportunities as well as the quantified data 

of energy and carbon savings, potential capital cost, simple payback period and suggested year to implement.
• All opportunities identified should undergo a feasibility and technical assessment before implementation.

P
age 71



Summary of carbon reduction opportunities

34

• A total of 22 projects have been outlined across the Municipal Buildings, crematorium, Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex (GMLC), 
public toilets, Guildhall and fleet.

• These projects show a potential to reduce scope 1 and 2 emissions by 74% by 2030 and 87% by 2040 from a FY 2018/19 
baseline. 

• It is expected that the total capital cost of all projects will equal approximately £7.1million.

Short term (2021 – 2025)

Upgrade fabric, lighting, HVAC and heating system in the
Municipal Buildings, install LED lighting and lighting
controls in public toilets, upgrade building fabric in
crematorium and chapel, electrify fleet vans and trial CNG
RCVs.

Medium and longer term recommendations
are inherently subject to greater degrees of
uncertainty. These actions are made based
on the current state-of-play and should be
reviewed and updated as part of annual
reporting and governance. It is anticipated
that technology advancements, cost
reductions and policy support will create a
more favourable environment for action in the
medium/longer term and BBC should remain
agile and actively engaged with the market to
take advantage of favourable developments.

Mid term (2025 – 2030)

Municipal Buildings: BMS is upgraded, solar carport is
constructed in parking area to supplement electricity
consumption.

GMLC redevelopment is completed.

Crematorium and chapel: Solar PV is installed on the roof
of the chapel and a biogas blend is used to fuel the furnace
in the crematorium.

CNG RCVs are rolled-out across the fleet.

Long term (2030 – onwards) BBC move to new, energy efficient municipal building, novel
cremation technologies are in use at the crematorium,
electric RCVs are trialled and rolled-out.

P
age 72



UK electricity grid decarbonisation

35

• As the UK switches more of its energy production to renewable 
sources, less carbon dioxide will be produced by the generation of 
electricity. This means over time the grid electricity that is used by 
consumers will become less carbon intensive. 

• Between 2010 and 2020 the carbon intensity of grid electricity has 
decreased by over 50%. This has largely been driven by coal fired 
power plants being taken off-line and the large-scale rollout of 
offshore wind farms.

• The projections of the grid intensity in the future are produced by 
BEIS1. It is expected that the carbon intensity of grid electricity will be 
just 4% of 2010’s values.

• Other projections produced by national grid even have the carbon 
intensity becoming negative under certain scenarios – namely 
through the roll out of bioenergy carbon capture and storage.

• The emissions intensity of electricity is set to hit parity with the 
emissions intensity of natural gas in the immediate future and will 
thereon continue to reduce. This “greening of the grid” makes 
electrification of transport and heating an attractive option from a 
carbon reduction perspective and electrification should be a priority.

• The carbon savings potential of projects outlined in this report are 
reported in terms of savings today and savings in recommended 
implementation year. For projects which reduce electricity 
consumption, i.e energy efficiency projects, carbon savings potential 
will be lower if implemented in the future when the grid intensity is 
lower. 

0.00

0.10

0.20

0.30

0.40

0.50

0.60

2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050

Electricity Electricity projection Gas Gas projection

1 BEIS Green Book

P
age 73



Emission savings from electricity over time

36

• As a result of the decarbonisation of the UK electricity grid, the consumption of electricity will be less carbon intensive 
in the future compared to the baseline year.

• This means that the total reduction in emissions between the baseline year and the target year will be greater than the 
sum of all emission savings from just looking at the projects implemented; as there will be carbon reductions from 
projects plus the natural reduction from grid decarbonisation.

• When quantifying the carbon reduction potential of projects linked to the consumption of electricity, the year in which 
the project is implemented is very important:
• An energy efficiency project, ie. one that results in reduced consumption (such as installing LED lighting), will 

result in the same energy saving regardless of the year of installation. However, the carbon savings will be greater 
in the near term while the grid is still relatively carbon intensive.

• A fuel switching project, one that results in moving from a fossil fuel to electricity (such as fleet electrification), 
will result in greater carbon savings in the future compared to the present day – this is because the difference in 
emission factors between a fossil fuel and electricity will only increase as the grid decarbonises, meaning the 
carbon savings will be greater.

• The projects outlined in the following pages quote both the carbon savings that would be achieved in the baseline 
year and in the year of implementation. The baseline year carbon saving allows a like for like comparison of the 
carbon reduction potential of a project, whereas the savings quoted for the year of implementation are the likely 
estimated savings that will be achieved.

P
age 74



Municipal Buildings carbon reduction opportunities

37

• BBC operates its head office in the Municipal Buildings. A proportion of the 
building is rented to tenants who are charged service fees for consumption of 
electricity and natural gas. The Municipal Buildings are split into three distinct 
sites, which vary in age and fabric standard. The original building is a 1908, solid 
brick construction, with little to no existing insulation or glazing. A second 
building is also solid brick, with no insulation, but does have some glazing 
measures in place. Finally, the new structure has some insulation and glazing 
installed and is built to a higher specification.

• The Municipal Buildings make up 17% of all operational emissions. 62% of 
emissions from the Municipal Buildings arise from electricity consumption and 
38% from fuel used in building energy.

• It is expected the Council will remain in the Municipal Buildings in the mid-term (5 
– 10 years), however, are open to the possibility of moving premises due to the 
challenges associated with upgrading the fabric and heating systems at the site. 
Projects with a payback period within this lifetime should be prioritised. This will 
increase the value of the building if the decision is made to move.

• The projects recommended which directly impact the building are related to 
fabric, lighting, HVAC, BMS and heating system upgrades. Construction of a solar 
carport in the car parking area has also been recommended as a way to generate 
renewable energy on-site, given the incompatible roof style for rooftop solar PV. 
Finally, in the long term, BBC should consider moving office to a more energy 
efficient building. This would dramatically reduce emissions from the office site 
and improve the comfort and experience of building occupants. 

Above: Boston Borough Council Municipal Buildings

P
age 75



Municipal Buildings carbon reduction opportunities

38

ID Opportunity Description Energy saving 
(kWh)*

Baseline 
GHG saving 
(tCO2e)

Implementation 
year

Implementation 
year GHG 
saving (tCO2e)

CapEx Payback 
period (yr)

1 Loft insulation Installation of loft insulation in the Municipal 
Buildings

Gas: 6,346
Electricity: 2,965

1.9 2023 1.7 ~£9,000 17.5

2 LED lighting in 
‘new’ building

Installation of LED lighting in the newest 
section of the Municipal Buildings

Electricity: 32,729 7.6 2023 5.5 ~£21,000 5.9

3 Boiler upgrade for 
‘old’ building

Upgrading the boiler to a more efficient gas 
boiler in the old section of the Municipal 
Buildings

Gas: 58,118 10.7 2024 10.7 ~£20,000 11.5

4 HVAC service in 
the ‘new’ building

Carry out a full service of the HVAC system 
and replace any failing or faulty parts

Electricity: 20,880 4.9 2024 3.5 Contractor 
quote required

-

5 Upgrade BMS Upgrade the building management system 
across the Municipal Buildings

Gas: 36,808
Electricity: 38,433

13.4 2026 11.1 ~£162,000 32.8

6 Solar carport Construct a solar carport in the parking area of 
the Municipal Buildings. This will provide on-
site electricity generation and additional 
coverage for vehicles 

Electricity: 45,214 10.5 2026 7.8 ~£61,000 12.2

7 New office site Relocate office from the Municipal Buildings to 
a more energy efficient building

Gas: 368,079
Electricity: 86,830

88.0 2036 47.7 N/A -

The following actions have been recommended to reduce carbon emissions at the Municipal Buildings:

*     Energy savings quoted here assume they are installed in isolation, ie. do not consider the impact of demand reduction made possible from other opportunities
** All capital costs quoted here are estimates, these should not be taken as actual costs and consultation with a supplier/installer should be undertaken to better understand expected costs

P
age 76



Crematorium carbon reduction opportunities

39

• The crematorium is responsible for 22% of operational emissions. 
The majority of these emissions (87%) come from combustion of 
natural gas in the heating systems and cremator furnace. 13% of 
emissions for the crematorium are attributed to electricity 
consumption for lighting and technical equipment in the cremator 
furnace.

• The crematorium and chapel buildings are currently fairly poor
energy efficiency buildings. Recommendations centre around 
building fabric upgrades, such as installation of cavity wall and 
loft insulation in the chapel and glazing upgrades in the 
crematorium building. Opportunities to install rooftop Solar PV on 
the chapel roof should also be explored to supplement electricity 
consumption on-site. 

• Finally, running the furnace is the most energy intensive process 
at this site. There are few alternatives currently commercially 
available and BBC should continue to monitor the market as 
alternative cremation technologies become established. A biogas 
blend to fuel the furnace should be considered in the medium 
term, with more ambitious action to implement novel cremation 
alternatives, such as Resomation, considered in the longer term. Above: Boston Cemetery Drive

P
age 77



Crematorium carbon reduction opportunities

40

ID Opportunity Description Energy saving (kWh)* Baseline 
GHG saving 
(tCO2e)

Implementation 
Year

Implementation 
year GHG saving 
(tCO2e)

CapEx** Payback 
period 
(yr)

11 Glazing upgrade of 
crematorium 
building

Upgrade the glazing on all 
crematorium windows and glass 
corridor

Gas: 8394 1.5 2025 1.5 ~£9,000 36.7

12 Crematorium 
louvres

Louvres/brise soleils to be installed 
to the exterior of the glass corridor 
to reduce solar gain in the summer. 
No energy saving here but improved 
comfort levels.

N/A N/A 2025 N/A N/A N/A

13 Upgrade cavity 
wall insulation

Upgrade cavity wall insulation in the 
chapel as far as possible

Gas: 3,592 0.7 2025 0.7 ~£4,000 37.8

14 Loft insulation Install loft insulation in the chapel Gas: 1,734 0.3 2025 0.3 ~£1,300 25.8

15 Solar PV Install Solar PV on the chapel roof Electricity: 27,538 6.4 2027 5.2 ~£32,000 10.6

16 Use biogas blend 
in furnace

Switch fuel combusted in 
crematorium furnace from natural 
gas to a biogas blend

Gas: 110,644
Biogas: - 110,644

20.3 2028 20.3 N/A -

17 Introduce use of a 
new cremation 
method

Implement the usage of Resomation 
or alterative cremation processes

Gas: 442,580
Biogas: - 110,644
Electricity: - 110,644

55.6 2040 75.5 N/A -

The following actions have been recommended to reduce carbon emissions at the Crematorium:

*     Energy savings quoted here assume they are installed in isolation, ie. do not consider the impact of demand reduction made possible from other opportunities
** All capital costs quoted here are estimates, these should not be taken as actual costs and consultation with a supplier/installer should be undertaken to better understand expected costs

P
age 78



Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex carbon reduction opportunities

41

• The GMLC is responsible for 51% of operational 
emissions. The majority of these emissions, 77%, come 
from combustion of natural gas in the heating systems 
and pool heating. 23% of emissions for the leisure 
complex are attributed to electricity consumption.

• The Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex is expected to move 
to a new site with state of the art facilities, as a result of 
funding received through the Towns Fund.

Above: Geoff Moulder Leisure Pool Building

ID Opportunity Description Energy saving 
(kWh)*

Baseline GHG 
saving 
(tCO2e)

Implementation 
Year

Implementation 
year GHG savings 
(tCO2e)

CapEx** Payback 
period 
(yr)

10 Leisure centre 
redevelopment

Demolition of existing centre and replacement with 
electrically fuelled only state of the art centre that 
adheres to CIBSE good standard as a minimum

Gas: 2,235,782
Electricity: -848,319

213.5 2030 344.3 N/A -

*     Energy savings quoted here assume they are installed in isolation, ie. do not consider the impact of demand reduction made possible from other opportunities
*** All capital costs quoted here are estimates, these should not be taken as actual costs and consultation with a supplier/installer should be undertaken to better understand expected costs

P
age 79



Guildhall building

42

• The Guildhall building and museum is the fourth largest 
emitting site, with the majority of emissions from the 
consumption of natural gas for heating.

• Given the listed nature of the building, and discussions 
with the estates and facilities team it has been deemed 
that this site has limited potential for carbon reduction 
opportunities.

• Despite not being able to undergo any serious 
upgrades or retrofit, there are still some energy saving 
measures that can be put in place:
• Ensuring all electrical equipment is as efficient as 

possible
• Making sure that heating profiles are optimised

• Furthermore, it is recommended that a detailed energy 
audit is undertaken by a specialist consultant in listed 
buildings.

Above: Guildhall

P
age 80



Public toilets carbon reduction opportunities

43

• The public toilets operated by BBC are responsible for 1% of operational emissions. All these emissions are from 
consumption of electricity. Although these sites contribute very little to the total carbon footprint, there are simple 
energy efficiency measures that can be installed here at low cost to demonstrate BBCs intention to decarbonise.

• The following actions are recommended:

I
D

Opportunity Description Energy saving 
(kWh)*

Baseline 
GHG 
saving 
(tCO2e)

Implementation 
year

Implementation 
year GHG saving 
(tCO2e)

CapEx** Payback 
period 
(yr)

8 Installation of 
LEDs

Installation of LED lighting 
in all public toilet facilities

Electricity: 3,240 0.8 2025 0.5 ~£2,000 5.9

9 Installation of 
energy 
efficient hand 
dryers

Replacement of old hand 
dryers with energy efficient 
models in all public toilets

Electricity: 3,240 0.8 2025 0.5 ~£3,500 9.8

*     Energy savings quoted here assume they are installed in isolation, ie. do not consider the impact of demand reduction made possible from other opportunities
** All capital costs quoted here are estimates, these should not be taken as actual costs and consultation with a supplier/installer should be undertaken to better understand expected costs

P
age 81



Fleet carbon reduction opportunities

44

• BBC’s current fleet consists of 41 vehicles, the majority of which are diesel fuelled maintenance vehicles. Maintenance vehicles
include road sweepers, vans, refuse disposal vehicles and tractors. The fleet also contains one diesel car and 5 pool cars, assumed
to be petrol fuelled. Emissions from the fleet contributed 15% to the total carbon footprint. Vans contributed 12% of total fleet
emissions.

• In order to reduce emissions, the fleet must transition from fossil fuels to electric vehicles. Electrification of the fleet is the most
effective way to decarbonise this emissions category. Cost parity in the near future, and the resulting business case for electric
vehicles (EV), suggest that BBC should take up electric vans as soon as possible.1 As well as reducing emissions, co-benefits of EVs
such as reduced running costs, improved driver experience, and reduced air and noise pollution, make the use of EVs an attractive
option.2

• Since the emissions intensity of electricity in the UK is significantly lower than the emissions intensity of diesel, an emissions
reduction of over 50% for vans would be seen. As the UK grid continues to decarbonise, emissions would continue to decrease
significantly.

Vans

1 Break-up with combustion engines, BNEF (2021)
2 Benefits of electric vehicles, EDF Energy

ID Opportunity Description Energy saving* GHG savings 
(tCO2e)**

Implementation 
year

Implementation 
year GHG 
savings (tCO2e)

CapEx** Payback 
period (yr)

18 Electrification 
of vans

Replace diesel fleet 
vans with electric vans 

Diesel: 25,034 Lt
Electricity: - 110,644 kWh

51.3 2024 52.1 £414,000 14.0

*     Energy savings quoted here assume they are installed in isolation, ie. do not consider the impact of demand reduction made possible from other opportunities
** All capital costs quoted here are estimates, these should not be taken as actual costs and consultation with a supplier/installer should be undertaken to better understand expected costs. It is assumed the vehicle is                    
purchased outright and not leased, electric vehicle purchasing incentives have not been taken in to account.

P
age 82



Fleet carbon reduction opportunities

45

• 11 of the fleet’s 41 vehicles are diesel fuelled RCVs, responsible for 81% of fleet emissions.

• In order to reduce emissions, RCVs must transition from fossil fuels to electric vehicles. However, the price of electric RCVs could be a barrier
to procurement in the short to mid term. It is expected the price of electric RCVs will continue to fall as uptake increases and supply chains
become more established. As an interim strategy, BBC could immediately trial then rollout compressed natural gas (CNG) RCVs. During this
period, electric RCVs could be trialled with the aim of eventually converting the fleet from fossil fuelled to electric.

• It should be noted that many councils are currently trialling electric RCVs with success. Westminster City Council has partnered with Veolia to
roll out a fully electric fleet, from street sweepers to RCVs and Manchester City Council is set to replace half its current fleet of RCVs with
electric alternatives.1, 2

Refuse collection vehicles (RCV)

ID Opportunity Description Energy saving* GHG savings 
(tCO2e)

Implementation 
year

Implementation year 
GHG savings (tCO2e)

CapEx** Payback 
period (yr)

19 CNG RCV trial Trial use of compressed natural 
gas RCVs for a number of vehicles

Diesel: 14,728 Lt
Biogas: -5,841 kg

38.6 2024 38.6 ~£360,000 24.0

20 CNG RCV 
rollout

Transition whole RCV fleet to 
compressed natural gas

Diesel: 44,184 Lt
Biogas: -17,523 kg

115.8 2027 115.8 ~£1,080,000 24.0

21 Electric RCV 
trial

Trial use of electric RCVs for a 
number of vehicles

Diesel: 14,728 Lt
Electricity: -23,403 kWh

33.1 2030 35.0 ~£450,000 33.6

22 Electric RCV 
rollout

Transition whole RCV fleet to 
electric vehicles including 
previously CNG

Diesel: 88,368 Lt
Electricity: -234,030 kWh
Biogas: 23,364 kg

183.7 2032 201.9 ~£4,500,000 60.8

1 Westminster City Council and Veolia Electric Fleet, 2021
2 Manchester City Council invests £9.8m in electric refuse collection vehicles, 2020

*     Energy savings quoted here assume they are installed in isolation, ie. do not consider the impact of demand reduction made possible from other opportunities
** All capital costs quoted here are estimates, these should not be taken as actual costs and consultation with a supplier/installer should be undertaken to better understand expected costs. It is assumed the vehicle is                    
purchased outright and not leased, electric vehicle purchasing incentives have not been taken in to account.

P
age 83



Timeline of opportunity implementation

46

2023
• Loft insulation and LEDs at 

municipal building

2024
• New boiler and HVAC servicing 

at Municipal building
• Rollout of electric vans
• Trial of CNG waste refuse 

vehicle

2025
• Fabric and glazing upgrades at 

the crematorium
• Upgrade all public toilets with 

LEDs and hand dryers

2026
• Installation of solar carport 

and BMS system at municipal 
building

2027
• Installation of Solar PV at 

crematorium
• Rollout of 3 further CNG waste 

refuse vehicles

2028
• 20% biogas blend used at 

crematorium furnace

2030
• Opening of Geoff Moulder 

Leisure Centre redevelopment
• Electric waste refuse vehicle 

trial

2032
• Rollout of electric waste 

vehicles for remainder of fleet

2036
• Suggested relocation of 

operations from municipal 
building to new low carbon 
building

2040
• Resomation technology 

installed at crematorium to 
replace furnaces

P
age 84



0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

Gas Electricity Biogas Fleet Target

Carbon reduction potential

47

• If all projects outlined within the previous sections are 
implemented then it can be expected that scope 1 and 
2 emissions could decrease by 74% by 2030 and 87% 
by 2040 from a FY 2018/19 baseline.

• The graph (right) demonstrates the change in 
emissions with time. This only shows the scope 1 and 
scope 2 emission sources which have been the focus 
of the carbon reduction opportunity analysis.

• It is expected there will still be 582 tCO2e and 215
tCO2e emitted annually in 2030 and 2040 respectively.

• These residual emissions are largely expected to arise 
from electricity consumption within the new municipal 
building and the Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex 
redevelopment; fleet emissions are expected to be the 
other significant source of emissions in the future.

• These residual emissions could be reduced by further 
actions in energy efficiency, use of renewables, or 
through greenhouse gas removals/offsets.

-87%

P
age 85



Project finance and cashflow

48

• The graph (right) shows the total spend on projects 
outlined within this section on a year by year basis, as 
well as the expected annual energy cost savings from 
said projects.
• It is worth noting here that only projects where 

capital costs have been quoted are displayed, for 
example cost of and energy savings of the 
relocation of the municipal building offices have 
not been displayed.

• It is expected that the total capital cost of all projects 
will equal approximately £7.1million; once all projects 
are implemented annual energy costs are expected to 
be just over £200k less than they currently are. Overall, 
this means that Boston Borough Council will not have 
positive cash flow until 2063.

• Energy saving costs take in to account projected 
changes in fuel costs.

-£6.0

-£5.0

-£4.0

-£3.0

-£2.0

-£1.0

 £-

 £1.0

Annual energy cost saving Capex Net cash flow

P
age 86



Commuting and business travel carbon reduction opportunities

49

• The emissions associated with employee commuting and business travel made up 4% of the total carbon footprint.
Although this is a small proportion of the footprint, it is an area where rapid, low cost measures can be effectively
implemented. The following opportunities should be considered to reduce the total journeys and mileage carried out
through commuting and business travel:

Electric 
vehicle 

charging 
points

Video 
conferencing

Remote 
working

Public 
transport

Car sharing

Active travel

o Use of video conferencing tools to reduce face-
to-face meetings

o Car sharing schemes reduce miles driven in cars
at low capacity

o Remote working policy to establish when
employees need to travel to the office

o Encourage use of active and public transport as
low carbon alternatives to cars

o Install electric vehicle charging points to
encourage employees to own electric cars

P
age 87



The impact of remote working on emissions

50

During the Covid-19 pandemic, people were required to work from home for periods
of time. As a result, there was a dramatic reduction in emissions from transport, with
road traffic falling between 50 – 75%. However, domestic energy consumption
soared, with residential energy consumption jumping 15% at the start of lockdown in
the UK.1

A review of 39 teleworking studies suggested that teleworking reduces energy
usage, however differences in methodology, scope and assumptions between
studies make it difficult to estimate an ‘average’ energy saving. Despite the generally
positive verdict on teleworking as an energy-saving practice, there are numerous
uncertainties and ambiguities about its actual or potential benefits. These relate to
the extent to which teleworking may lead to unpredictable increases in non-work
travel and home energy use that may outweigh the gains from reduced work travel.
The available evidence suggests that economy-wide energy savings are typically
modest, and in many circumstances could be negative or non-existent.2

A report published by the Carbon Trust found that remote working could save 4.1
MtCO2e per year in the UK.3 The report considered emissions from office energy,
avoided commuting and residential energy consumption. Teleworking post-Covid
(2022+) was found to have the potential to save 273 kgCO2e/teleworker/year. The
study found that saved office emissions were the largest contributor, followed by
avoided commuting, particularly where office buildings are inefficient. The scenario
is based on assumptions about future behaviour and ways of working and is
inherently highly uncertain.

Remote working under a hybrid model may lead to modest carbon savings on an individual level, however the 
outlook is complicated and hybrid working could lead to a rise in carbon emissions

1https://www.iea.org/commentaries/working-from-home-can-save-energy-and-reduce-emissions-but-how-much
2 A systematic review of the energy and climate impacts of teleworking, Sorrell et.al (2020)
3 Homeworking Report, Carbon Trust & Vodafone Institute for Society and Communication (2021)

272

889

429

273

Total carbon savings
per teleworker: Pre-

Covid

Total carbon savings
per teleworker: During-

Covid

Total carbon savings
per teleworker: Post-

Covid (2021)

Total carbon savings
per teleworker: Post-

Covid (2022+)

P
age 88



The impact of remote working on emissions

51

Remote working under a hybrid model may lead to modest carbon savings on an individual level, however the 
outlook is complicated and hybrid working could lead to a rise in carbon emissions

149

273

Post-Covid (2022+) 68% desk
utilisation

Post-Covid (2022+) 90% desk
utilisation

The study found that factors such as seasonality, proximity to office, and
mode of transport also have an effect on an average teleworkers
emissions. For example, a German teleworker commuting to the office in
winter can reduce their carbon impact by working in the office; whereas in
summer they will reduce their impact by working at home, whether they
commute by train or car. Further, a typical German teleworker commuting
from a rural setting in winter will save emissions by working from home,
where an urban-based teleworker will increase their individual emissions.

Building stock energy efficiency is also important. In winter, as domestic
energy consumption raises to respond to the heating demand in the UK,
the carbon impact of teleworkers might end up being much higher,
particularly where the building stock is predominantly inefficient. This
could exacerbate the negative impact from inefficient homes that
consume a lot of energy and office buildings only partly utilised that would
heat half empty offices. This effect could also be seen where there is a risk
of households being split between teleworking and the office. In the worst-
case scenario, this split could result in higher energy consumption and
more emissions as both homes and offices are fully operating to enable
both parties to work.

1https://www.iea.org/commentaries/working-from-home-can-save-energy-and-reduce-emissions-but-how-much
2 A systematic review of the energy and climate impacts of teleworking, Sorrell et.al (2020)
3 Homeworking Report, Carbon Trust & Vodafone Institute for Society and Communication (2021)

P
age 89



0
200
400
600
800

1,000
1,200
1,400
1,600
1,800

Gas Electricity Biogas FleetGap-to-target

52

• Complying with national targets for Net Zero 2050 will require BBC 
to dramatically reduce its carbon emissions. However, there may be 
some hard-to-abate emissions remaining after implementation of 
ambitious decarbonisation projects. 

• If all projects outlined in this report are implemented then it can be 
expected that scope 1 and 2 emissions could decrease by 87% by 
2040 from a FY 2018/19 baseline.

• It is expected there will still be 215 tCO2e gap-to-target for a target 
of Net Zero 2040 for scope 1 and 2 emissions.

• These residual emissions arise from electricity consumption in the 
new municipal building and Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex 
redevelopment; fleet emissions are expected to be the other 
significant source of emissions in the future.

• These residual emissions could be reduced by further actions in 
energy efficiency and use of renewables. Once every effort has 
been made to reduce these emissions, offsetting using 
nature/technology-based greenhouse gas removals (GGRs) can be 
considered. It is crucial that offsetting should always be secondary 
to all efforts for reducing emissions within the BBC’s own GHG 
inventory. 

-87%

Above: Carbon reduction pathway for scope 1 and 2 emissions

Avoided nature loss

Limits the loss of nature such 
as forests and peatland, which 

currently sequester large 
amounts of carbon.

‘Additional’ emissions 
avoidance/reduction

Reduces emissions from 
current sources that don’t have 
the financial capacity, incentive 

or regulatory requirement to 
decarbonise (e.g., 

cookstoves, renewable energy 
and energy efficiency).

Avoidance/reduction

Nature-based sequestration

Uses nature to sequester more 
carbon in the biosphere, 

including reforestation and 
restoring soil, mangroves, 
seagrass and peatlands.

Technology-based removal: 

Removes CO2 from the 
atmosphere using technological 

methods and stores it in the 
geosphere or through other 

secure methods such as 
concrete (e.g., BECCS1, DACCS2, 

construction using renewable 
timber).

Removal/sequestration

Above: the four categories of carbon offsetting.

P
age 90



Approach to offsetting

53

The exact level of GGRs required by BBC is not clear and the Council should outline an offsetting strategy to ensure integrity and validity of any
GGRs purchased. Market demand for voluntary offsets is expected to soar as Net Zero commitments rise and global offsetting schemes (e.g.
CORSIA1) become effective. The current market is not fit-for-purpose and many of the historic credits that exist on the market draw criticism for
not meeting robust standards. There are therefore calls from market participants (e.g. the Taskforce on Scaling Voluntary Carbon Markets) to
reform these carbon markets and a substantial amount of guidance is expected between now and 2040 as the sector evolves. In the long term, the
principles set out by the University Oxford for net zero aligned carbon offsetting are recommended as a guide for BBC:2

The voluntary offset market will undergo significant change between now and 2040

1 CORSIA: Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for International Aviation
2 https://www.smithschool.ox.ac.uk/publications/reports/Oxford-Offsetting-Principles-2020.pdf

1

2

3

4

Shift to carbon removal offsetting
To ensure compatibility with the Paris Agreement, users of offsets should increase the portion of offsets that come from carbon removals. By 2050, 100%
of offsets should be sourced from emissions removals.

Shift to long-lived storage
Transition to methods of carbon removal that have a low risk of reversal, over centuries to millennia, for example storing CO2 in geological
reservoirs or mineralising carbon into stable forms (e.g., timber used in construction).

Support the development of net zero aligned offsetting
The market for high-quality offsets that currently meet principles 2 and 3 is immature and requires early-adopters to support its
evolution. This can be done through setting of long term agreements, forming sector alliances, and adopting and publicising these
principles in the OU’s approach to offsetting.

Cut emissions, use high quality offsets, and regularly revise offsetting strategy as best practice evolves
Reductions must be prioritised in the first instance to minimise the need for offsets. Any offsets that are used should be credible and maintain environmental
integrity. All reporting should be done transparently and current emissions, accounting methodology, target setting, and offsetting strategy should all be disclosed.

P
age 91



Governance and 
engagement

54

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 92



Governance

55

• To manage the implementation of a Carbon Reduction Plan it is 
important that organisational procedures and resources are put in place 
to maintain a focus on carbon reduction over time. 

• In order to achieve carbon reductions that will support decarbonisation 
ambitions, BBC will have to consider robust, yet dynamic organisational
structures, to ensure that they remain flexible in the approaches being 
taken to reduce emissions over time. 

• The Climate Change and Environment team should work with all 
departments across the council to ensure progress is made. 

P
age 93



Stakeholder engagement

56

• Robust engagement with stakeholders from across the Council will be 
crucial to enable successful climate action and project implementation. 
BBC should explore innovative ways for the whole organisation to 
contribute towards decarbonisation.

• An effective engagement strategy should be drawn up that actively 
involves all Council departments, employees and Councillors. Achieving 
the greatest possible input and buy-in will allow BBC to work closely 
with stakeholders to identify priority areas for emissions reductions. It 
will be important for the Council to remain transparent throughout all 
engagement activities, and to provide stakeholders with the opportunity 
to contribute towards the planned reduction activities that the Council 
intends to implement across its own estate.

P
age 94



Monitoring and 
reporting

57

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 95



Monitoring and reporting

58

• Once a carbon footprint has been measured, a target set, and a Carbon 
Reduction Plan outlined, monitoring progress is an important part of 
implementation. Monitoring and reporting are essential activities that 
should be undertaken at least annually between the baseline year and 
target year, and beyond.

• Regular data collection and calculation of the carbon footprint should be 
undertaken to track progress against decarbonisation targets.

• Not only does the footprint need to be monitored at least annually, but 
progress with implementing carbon reduction opportunities should be 
actively monitored too. This should include implementation year, energy 
reduction and cost savings. By doing so, successful projects can be 
reported in a quantitative as well as a qualitative way. This can help to 
drive momentum and support the securing of budget for future 
measures.In addition to monitoring the footprint itself, the project team 
should continually monitor how local plans and policies will affect the 
Council’s footprint and affect the ability of the Council to reach its carbon 
reduction target. This will help the team to identify other potential carbon 
reduction opportunities and ensure that any carbon reduction co-benefits 
of specific policies and actions can be delivered. 

P
age 96



Appendices

59

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 97



Appendix A

60

• Key personnel within the Council’s operations were engaged to better understand the opportunities for 
decarbonisation. The following people were contacted to be interviewed:

Stakeholders engaged

Person Position

Andy Fisher Assistant Director - General Fund Assets, Boston Borough 
Council

Nigel Hall Property Services Officer, Boston Borough Council

Richard Tweddell Property Manager, Boston Borough Council

Martin Potts Principal Officer – Bereavement, Boston Borough Council

Victoria Burgess Assistant Director –Neighbourhoods, Boston Borough 
Council

Dave Horry Principal Leisure Services Officer, Boston Borough 
Council

P
age 98



Appendix B

61

• All emission factors are taken from and align with the BEIS GHG reporting emission factors
• The following fuel unit costs are assumed: Gas – 3p/kWh, Biogas – 3p/kWh, Electricity – 11p/kWh, Diesel –

108.43p/litre
• Air source heat pumps are assumed to have a CoP of 3.0, existing boilers to be 80% efficient, and new boilers to be 

95% efficient
• The average annual temperature within Boston is 13.95oC, as taken from local weather stations
• Internal building temperatures are assumed to be 20.5oC

General assumptions

P
age 99



Appendix B

62

Project 
ID

Assumptions

1 Existing U-value – 0.2W/m2K; New U-value – 0.11W/m2K; Roof area – 1,805m2

2 Municipal building aligns with CIBSE Part F type 2 ‘typical’ office; LED saving results in 50% energy decrease as per CT guide CTV049

4 Municipal building aligns with CIBSE Part F type 2 ‘typical’ office; 25%:75% split between gas use for HWS:Heating; 10% energy 
saving possible through HVAC servicing as per carbon trust guide CTV046

5 10% total energy saving possible as per carbon trust guide CTG054

6 Potential solar PV area – 441m2; 80% of area available for panels; 1m2 = 0.15kWp; EST solar calculator – 1kWp = 854.7kWh/yr

7 New build to have same floor area as existing site; new site to be electrically fuelled only; building to be built to RIBA 2030 standard 
of total energy intensity of 55kWh/m2

10 Assume new leisure centre complex to have same floor area, and to meet CIBSE guide F ‘good’ benchmark energy intensity of 
360kWh/m2

11 Total glazed area – 30.8m2; existing U-value – 5W/m2K, new U-value – 1.2W/m2K

13 Existing U-value – 0.55W/m2K; New U-value – 0.23W/m2K; Roof area – 156.5m2

14 Existing U-value – 0.2W/m2K; New U-value – 0.11W/m2K; Roof area – 268.5m2

Project assumptions

P
age 100



Appendix B

63

Project 
ID

Assumptions

15 Potential solar PV area – 214.8m2; 80% of area available for panels; 1m2 = 0.15kWp; EST solar calculator – 1kWp = 854.7kWh/yr

16 Gas blend to be 20% biogas, 80% natural gas

17 Resomation website literature – process consumes 1/5 of current cremation process

18 Current miles per litre for diesel – 7.2 miles/litre; Ford e-transit van achieves 2.93 miles/kWhe

19 Assume CNG vehicles will use compressed biogas as opposed to natural gas; current diesel refuse vehicle – 0.68 miles/litre; CNG 
vehicle achieves 0.58 kg(CNG)/mile; assume only one vehicle trialled initially in 2024

20 Assume a further three vehicles converted to CNG in 2027

21 Current diesel refuse vehicle – 0.68 miles/litre; electric vehicle achieves 2.34kWhe/mile; assume only one vehicle trialled initially in 
2030

22 Assume remaining diesel refuse vehicles converted to electric in 2032, assume CNG refuse vehicles converted to electric in 2037

Project assumptions

P
age 101



Appendix C

64

• GHG Greenhouse gas
• BBC Boston Borough Council
• DEC Display energy certificate
• PSDS Public sector decarbonisation scheme
• SBT Science based target
• SBTi Science Based Targets Initiative
• tCO2e Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
• PV Photovoltaics
• CoP Coefficient of performance
• aM&T Automatic monitoring and targeting
• BMS Building management system
• FES Future energy scenarios
• A/GSHP Air/Ground source heat pump
• kWh Kilowatt hour
• LED Light emitting diode
• HVAC Heating, ventilation and cooling
• GWP Global warming potential
• NOX Nitrous oxides

• SOX Sulphurous oxides
• BAU Business as usual
• FTE Full time employee
• BEIS Department for business, energy and 

industrial strategy
• EV Electric vehicle
• CIBSE Chartered institute of building services 

engineers
• CCC Committee on climate change
• GGR Greenhouse gas removal
• CNG Compressed natural gas
• CT Carbon Trust
• EST Energy saving trust
• DACCS Direct air carbon capture and storage
• RCV Refuse collection vehicle

Abbreviations

P
age 102



Whilst reasonable steps have been taken to ensure that the information contained within this publication is correct, the authors, the Carbon Trust, its 
agents, contractors and sub-contractors give no warranty and make no representation as to its accuracy and accept no liability for any errors or 
omissions. All trademarks, service marks and logos in this publication, and copyright in it, are the property of the Carbon Trust (or its licensors). Nothing 
in this publication shall be construed as granting any licence or right to use or reproduce any of the trademarks, services marks, logos, copyright or any 
proprietary information in any way without the Carbon Trust’s prior written permission. The Carbon Trust enforces infringements of its intellectual 
property rights to the full extent permitted by law.

The Carbon Trust is a company limited by guarantee and registered in England and Wales under company number 4190230 with its registered office at 
4th Floor Dorset House, Stamford Street, London SE1 9NT.

© The Carbon Trust 2021. All rights reserved. 

Whilst reasonable steps have been taken to ensure that the information contained within this publication is correct, the authors, the Carbon Trust, its 
agents, contractors and sub-contractors give no warranty and make no representation as to its accuracy and accept no liability for any errors or 
omissions. All trademarks, service marks and logos in this publication, and copyright in it, are the property of the Carbon Trust (or its licensors). Nothing 
in this publication shall be construed as granting any licence or right to use or reproduce any of the trademarks, services marks, logos, copyright or any 
proprietary information in any way without the Carbon Trust’s prior written permission. The Carbon Trust enforces infringements of its intellectual 
property rights to the full extent permitted by law.

The Carbon Trust is a company limited by guarantee and registered in England and Wales under company number 4190230 with its registered office at 
4th Floor Dorset House, Stamford Street, London SE1 9NT.

© The Carbon Trust 2021. All rights reserved. 

P
age 103



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Action Details Delivery 

timeframe

Completion Lead officer Estimated cost Estimated carbon savings 

(tCO2e/yr)

Annual savings (£) or payback 

period (yr)

Energy Saving Trust Fleet Review 

to be undertaken 

Energy Saving Trust will able to offer 

more detailed support and guidance on 

the best measures to take forward and 

the viability of key sites for transition to 

EV.

Q1 2022 Q2 2022 Climate Change & 

Environment Officer

None N/a N/a

Feasibility assessment of driver 

training and performance 

measures and their 

costs/benefits.

Energy Saving Trust will able to offer 

more detailed support and guidance on 

the best measures to take forward. 

Q1 2022 Q2 2022 Climate Change & 

Environment Officer

N/a To be determined by fleet review To be determined by fleet 

review 

Explore mechanisms for 

implementing driver league 

tables for refuse fleet.

Implement quarterly MPG league tables 

for waste fleet drivers with appropriate 

reward incentives.

Q2/3 2022 Implemented by 

Spring 2023

Service Manager for 

Waste

N/a 55 1,300

Driver training for all regular fleet 

driver vehicles e.g. 

waste/neighbourhood.

All regular fleet vehicle drivers to attend a 

driver training course once every five 

years.

Q1/Q2 2022 Implemented by 

Spring 2023

Neighbourhoods/ 

Waste Services 

Manager.

HR managed?

£20,200* 94 45,000

Online driver training module for 

all pool car users.

All pool car users to undertake a module 

on eco-driving.

Q4 2022 Ongoing Fleet 

Manager/Corporate 

issue?

To be determined To be determined To be determined 

FLEET

 

This Action Plan is based on the best options currently available to us and may be subject to change dependant on the outcomes of further feasibility assessment and technological advancements. Renewable 

energy technology is advancing all the time and as it is developed generally becomes more affordable and viable.  

Decarbonisation strategies will be developed for all operational Council buildings and will inform the actions we take forward in relation to those premises. The Energy Saving Trust Fleet Review will also 

inform the choices we make in relation to the future of our fleet.   

P
age 105



As pool car fleet come up for 

renewal - move to hybrid and EV 

technology. No new petrol/diesel 

vehicles to be purchased.

New procurement decisions around pool 

cars should seek low-carbon alternatives 

with no new fossil fuel replacements 

being purchased/leased

Ongoing as fleet 

comes under 

review

To be confirmed 

dependent on 

review periods 

Fleet Manager To be confirmed due to 

significant variables in 

approach

A 2018 report found that petrol 

vehicles produced the highest level 

of carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions 

at 125g per kilometre, while diesel 

vehicles emitted 122g. Battery 

electric vehicles in comparison 

produced zero CO2 tailpipe 

emissions. Therefore a reduction of 

up to 125g per km could be 

achieved. In the UK in 2019, the 

lifetime emissions per kilometre of 

driving a Nissan Leaf EV for example 

were about three times lower than 

for the average conventional car 

however these type of comparisons 

are complex and depend on the size 

of the vehicles, the accuracy of the 

fuel-economy estimates used, how 

electricity emissions are calculated, 

what driving patterns are assumed 

etc.

Electric cars typically cost £2 – 

£4 to fully charge, for a range of 

100 miles. An equivalent petrol 

or diesel car costs £13 – £16 to 

drive 100 miles – approximately 

four times the cost. Approx 

£18,000 per year saving 

achievable.

Electrification of pool cars & vans As fleet vehicles come to the end of their 

planned usage period, replace  with 

electric alternatives

2024 Ongoing Fleet 

Manager/Corporate 

issue?

£414,000 51.3 14 yr  **

CNG RCV trial Trial use of compressed natural gas

RCVs for a number of vehicles

2024 - Fleet 

Manager/Corporate 

issue?

£360,000 38.6 24 yr

Investigate low emission vehicle 

alternatives to HGV fleet as 

technology allows in line with 

proposed review of waste fleet.

As review of waste fleet comes up 

alternatives to be explored. Likely to be 

part of Lincs Waste Partnership review.

Q1 2026 - Waste Services 

Manager /Lincs Waste 

Partnership

To be determined 

following fleet review 

1,097* To be determined following fleet 

review 

CNG RCV rollout Transition whole RCV fleet to

compressed natural gas

2027 - Waste Services 

Manager /Lincs Waste 

Partnership

£1,080,000 115.8 24 yr

Electric RCV trial Trial use of electric RCVs for a number of 

vehicles

2030 - Waste Services 

Manager /Lincs Waste 

Partnership

£450,000 33.1 33.6 yr

Electric RCV

rollout

Transition whole RCV fleet to electric

vehicles including previously CNG

2032 - Waste Services 

Manager /Lincs Waste 

Partnership

£4,500,000 183.7 60.8 yr

BUILDINGS

P
age 106



Development of Decarbonisation 

Strategy for Municipal Buildings 

Future actions will be subject to change 

depending on feasibility outcomes from 

the devlopment of the decarbonisation 

strategy

2024 - Climate Change & 

Environment Team

Funding to be sought via 

Midlands Energy Hub

N/a N/a

Installation of loft insulation in 

the Municipal

Buildings

This recommendation has been made by 

the Carbon Trust as part of the Carbon 

Reduction Plan however will be refined as 

part of the development of a 

decarbonisation strategy 

2023 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

£9,000 1.9 17.5 yr

Installation of LED lighting in the 

newest section of

the Municipal Buildings

This recommendation has been made by 

the Carbon Trust as part of the Carbon 

Reduction Plan however will be refined as 

part of the development of a 

decarbonisation strategy 

2023 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

£21,000 7.6 5.9 yr

Upgrading the boiler to a more 

efficient gas boiler in the old 

section of the Municipal Buildings

This recommendation has been made by 

the Carbon Trust as part of the Carbon 

Reduction Plan however will be refined as 

part of the development of a 

decarbonisation strategy 

2024 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

£20,000 10.7 11.5 yr

Municipal Buildings - HVAC 

service in the ‘new’ building - 

Carry out a full service of the 

HVAC system and replace any 

failing or faulty parts

This recommendation has been made by 

the Carbon Trust as part of the Carbon 

Reduction Plan however will be refined as 

part of the development of a 

decarbonisation strategy 

2024 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

Contractor quote 

required - To be 

determined 

4.9 N/a

Upgrade the building 

management system across the 

Municipal Buildings

This recommendation has been made by 

the Carbon Trust as part of the Carbon 

Reduction Plan however will be refined as 

part of the development of a 

decarbonisation strategy 

2026 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

£162,000 13.4 32.8 yr 

Construct a solar carport in the 

parking area of the Municipal 

Buildings and investigate 

potential for EV storage bank. 

This will provide on-site electricity 

generation and additional coverage for 

vehicles. If stoarge bank is found to be 

feasibile this could generate an income 

and would provide energy supply on low 

light days and after sunset

2026 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

£61,000 10.5 12.2 yr

Relocate office from the 

Municipal Buildings to a more 

energy efficient building

This recommendation has been made by 

the Carbon Trust as part of the Carbon 

Reduction Plan however will be refined as 

part of the development of a 

decarbonisation strategy 

2036 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

To be determined 

following feasibility 

study/development of 

decarbonisation strategy 

88 To be determined following 

feasibility study/ development of 

decarbonisation strategy 

P
age 107



Development of Decarbonisation 

Strategy for Crematorium (Wast 

Heat Strategy to form part of 

this) 

Future actions will be subject to change 

depending on feasibility outcomes from 

the development of the decarbonisation 

strategy

2024 - Climate Change & 

Environment Team

Funding to be sought via 

Midlands Energy Hub

N/a N/a

Crematorium Chapel - Upgrade 

cavity wall insulation in the 

chapel as far as possible and 

Install loft insulation.

This recommendation has been made by 

the Carbon Trust as part of the Carbon 

Reduction Plan however will be refined as 

part of the development of a 

decarbonisation strategy 

2025 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

£5,300 1 Cavity insulation - 37.8 yr                     

Loft insulation - 25.8 yr

Crematorium building - Upgrade 

glazing on all crematorium 

windows and glass corridor.

This recommendation has been made by 

the Carbon Trust as part of the Carbon 

Reduction Plan however will be refined as 

part of the development of a 

decarbonisation strategy 

2025 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

£9,000 1.5 36.7 yr

Crematorium louvres Louvres/brise soleils to be installed

to the exterior of the glass corridor

to reduce solar gain in the summer.

No energy saving here but improved

comfort levels. This recommendation has 

been made by the Carbon Trust as part of 

the Carbon Reduction Plan however will 

be refined as part of the development of 

a decarbonisation strategy.  

2025 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

To be confirmed N/a N/a

Install Solar PV on the chapel roof This recommendation has been made by 

the Carbon Trust as part of the Carbon 

Reduction Plan however will be refined as 

part of the development of a 

decarbonisation strategy 

2027 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

£32,000 6.4 10.6

Switch fuel combusted in 

crematorium

furnace from natural gas to a 

biogas blend

This recommendation has been made by 

the Carbon Trust as part of the Carbon 

Reduction Plan however will be refined as 

part of the development of a 

decarbonisation strategy.  

2028 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

To be determined 

following feasibility 

study/development of 

decarbonisation strategy 

20.3 To be determined following 

feasibility study/development of 

decarbonisation strategy 

Introduce use of a new cremation 

method 

Implement the usage of Resomation or 

alternative cremation processes. This 

recommendation has been made by the 

Carbon Trust as part of the Carbon 

Reduction Plan however will be refined as 

part of the development of a 

decarbonisation strategy.  

2040 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

To be determined 

following feasibility 

study/development of 

decarbonisation strategy 

55.6 To be determined following 

feasibility study/development of 

decarbonisation strategy 

Development of Decarbonisation 

Strategy for Geoff Moulder 

Leisure Centre 

Future actions will be subject to change 

depending on feasibility outcomes from 

the development of the decarbonisation 

strategy

2024 - Climate Change & 

Environment Team

Funding to be sought via 

Midlands Energy Hub

N/a N/a

P
age 108



Redevelopment of Geoff 

Moulder Leisure Complex to 

include implementation of 

carbon reduction opportunities 

and greener technologies 

wherever possible.    

Many actions already taken at this site to 

reduce CO2 impact. As a result of funding 

via the Towns Fund there are plans for 

the redevelopment of Geoff Moulder 

Leisure Centre.The Climate Change and 

Environment Team will liaise with the 

lead officers working on this proposal to 

ensure that carbon reduction 

opportunities are fully explored during 

the development of the plans and will 

investigate the potential for a 

decarbonisation strategy to be developed 

for this site at our earliest opportunity.     

2030 - Property & Technical 

Services/Corporate 

Issue?

To be determined 

following feasibility 

study/development of 

decarbonisation strategy 

To be determined following 

feasibility study/development of 

decarbonisation strategy

To be determined following 

feasibility study/development of 

decarbonisation strategy 

Specialist feasibility study/ 

Decarbonisation Stratgy  to be 

undertaken for Guidhall due to 

listed building status

Engage specialists to produce 

Decarbonisation Plan for the Guildhall. 

Future actions will be subject to change 

depending on outcomes from feasiblilty 

study/development of the 

decarbonisation strategy

Poss 2023 - 

external funding 

likely to be 

available

- Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

Funding to be sought N/a N/a

Public toilets are to have LED 

lighting and energy efficient hand 

dryers fitted 

2025 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

£5,500 1.6 LED Lighting - 5.9 yr                                

Hand dryers - 9.8 yr

WASTE

Develop cross alliance single use 

waste policy and undertake audit 

of current usage.

Audit of current single-use product usage 

in line with policy development. Service 

areas may be tasked with addressing their 

own purchases etc. This in itself will 

deliver a separate programme of work 

but is designed to reduce overall waste 

from assets.

Q3 2022 - Procurement 

Manager/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer 

N/a To be determined following 

Procurement audit 

To be determined following 

Procurement audit 

Kettles and fridges should be 

removed from all offices and 

depots and must be situated in 

communal kitchens only.   

Q1 2023 - Property & Technical 

Services 

N/a To be determined To be determined 

Review of current 

recycling/waste arrangements. 

Q1 2023 - Procurement 

Manager/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer 

To be determined N/a N/a

COMMUTING

Promotion through internal 

communications of 

hybrid/electric vehicles for 

commuting to educate and 

increase awareness. 

Ensure salary sacrifice schemes for low 

emission/EV vehicles are accessible to 

employees. Due to be reviewed by PSPS 

Board in December 2021 with a view to 

Tusker Scheme being rolled out in April 

2022  

Q3 2022 - Communications 

Team/Climate Change 

& Environment Team 

N/a To be determined To be determined 

P
age 109



Vehicle sharing incentive scheme. Implement vehicle sharing incentive 

schemes as appropriate for staff travelling 

to offices.

2023 - Communications 

Team/HR/ Climate 

Change & Environment 

Team 

To be determined To be determined To be determined 

Encourage the maintenance of 

online meetings, agile working 

and work from home via 

policies/internal comms.

Agile working policy in place. Internal 

comms may be needed to ensure new 

ways of working are maintained.

Q2 2022 Ongoing Communications 

Team/Climate Change 

& Environment 

Team/HR

N/a To be determined To be determined 

Monitoring of post COVID returns 

to the office for 12-24 months. 

By monitoring year on year footprints 

post Covid, will identify where old ways of 

working have slipped back and help to 

focus how gains can be maintained.

Q1 2023 Q1 2024 HR/Climate Change & 

Environment Team/ 

Communications

N/a Saving made through harnessing 

carbon reductions made as a result 

of the impact of COVID19 - 

Commuter travel went down by in 

5.1 tCO²e in FY 2020/21.  

Target reduction of 50% per 

annum 

BUSINESS TRAVEL

Encourage online meetings, agile 

working and work from home. 

Agile working policy in place. Internal 

comms may be needed to ensure new 

ways of working are maintained.

Q1 2022 Ongoing Communications 

Team/Climate Change 

& Environment 

Team/HR 

N/a To be determined To be determined

Training all staff & members to 

use conference technology more 

effectively to support agile 

working including new starters.

Teams & telephone conferencing training 

especially for meeting organisers. 

2022 Ongoing IT/HR To be confirmed To be determined To be determined

Encourage staff & members to 

vehicle share when attending 

business meetings. 

2022 Ongoing Communications 

Team/Climate Change 

& Environment 

Team/HR 

N/a To be determined To be determined

Monitoring of post COVID 

business travel for 12-24 months.

By monitoring year on year footprints 

post Covid, we will identify where old 

ways of working have slipped back and 

help to focus how gains can be 

maintained.

Q1 2023 Q1 2024 HR/Climate Change & 

Environment Team/  

Communications

N/a Savings made through harnessing 

carbon reductions made as a result 

of the impact of COVID19 - Business 

travel went down by in 12.5 tCO²e 

in FY 2020/21.  

Target reduction of 50% per 

annum 

LINKED INITIATIVES

Carbon Literacy Training to be 

rolled out to all employees & 

members.

Top down approach to training all staff 

with rolling programme of training for 

new starters. Lincolnshire wide member 

training being currently explored for 

consistency. 

Q1 2023 Ongoing Climate Change & 

Environment 

Manager/Officer 

£11,000 - across the 

S&ELCP

5-10% reduction per person To be determined

Establish Green Champions 

across the Alliance to assist in the 

promotion of Carbon reduction 

measures. 

Bringing champions from all services 

areas together to drive forward projects 

and improvements and take ownership of 

their own impacts on organisational 

carbon footprint.

2022 - Climate Change & 

Environment Team

N/a N/a N/a

P
age 110



Strategy for tackling residual 

emissions in line with accredited 

GHG removal including natural 

solutions.

As GHG removal initiatives become 

clearer, routes to tackling residual 

emissions should be identified.

2025 - Climate Change & 

Environment Team

Funding to be sought N/a N/a

LEADING THE COMMUNITY

Formation of South East 

Lincolnshire Climate Action 

Network (SELCAN) and Climate 

Change Strategy.

Facilitated by the Strategic Alliance, 

SELCAN will bring together private, public 

and community sectors to jointly tackle 

climate change. This will provide a 

platform for best practise to evolve in 

relation to Climate Change and provide 

support for stakeholders who wish to 

become more 'green'.

2022 - Climate Change & 

Environment 

Team/Across Alliance 

N/a SELCAN will aim to assist external 

organisations in reducing their own 

carbon emissions rather than direct 

reductions to our operational 

emissions.

N/a

Community Orchards initiatives. Formation of small carbon sinks and 

provision of other environmental and co-

benefits. One acre of orchard can absorb 

10-20 tC02 per year.

Ongoing - Climate Change & 

Environment Team

Grant funding secured To be determined To be determined 

Embodied carbon strategy for 

new developments.

New buildings which are more energy 

efficient need to be understood alongside 

the payback of the materials used in their 

development.

2024 - Climate Change & 

Environment Team/ 

Property & Technical 

Services

Funding to be sought N/a To be determined 

Full emissions consideration for 

ensuring net zero aspirations are 

part of supplier 

contracts/services through 

procurement policies.

Understand the impact of our wider 

emissions through everything we procure. 

As appropriate, require suppliers to meet 

particular carbon emissions standards.

2023 - Procurement Manager To be confirmed - A 

study looking specifically 

at these emissions is 

likely to cost in the 

region of £10,000

To be determined To be determined 

* figures proposed by Carbon Trust as part of their review but will need further investigation

** Payback periods listed have been sourced from the Carbon Reduction Plan and will be part of the cost benefit analysis which will be undertaken as part of feasibility assessments. 

P
age 111



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

 

REPORT TO: EXECUTIVE BOARD 

DATE: 30 MARCH 2022 

SUBJECT: 

PURPOSE:  

APPROVAL OF CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY 

FOR MEMBERS TO RECEIVE AND APPROVE THE FINAL VERSION OF 

THE CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY 

KEY DECISION: YES 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: CLLR PAUL SKINNER 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENT MANAGER 

SARAH BAKER 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: N/A 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 

This report provides background to the accompanying Climate Change Strategy for the 

geographical area covered by the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership (S&ELCP). 

This document is the next step in our Climate Change aspirations, moving beyond the confines 

of our own carbon footprint and emissions to look at the wider issues for Climate Change in our 

local communities. S&ELCP cannot deliver this strategy in isolation and a new South and East 

Lincolnshire Climate Action Network (SELCAN) will be established to bring together all relevant 

partners and ensure delivery at all levels as we work towards a net zero ambition. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Cabinet is asked to approve the final version of the Climate Change Strategy following public 

consultation on the document in winter 2021/22.  

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

To progress work on the agreed Climate Change Strategy and enable the establishment of a 

South and East Lincolnshire Climate Action Network. 

 

Page 113

Agenda Item 6



OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

None 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1. Since establishing Climate Change as a priority within the Corporate Strategy, Boston 

Borough Council has been working to address its own impact in terms of carbon emissions 

and commissioned the Carbon Trust to produce a Carbon Reduction Plan which was 

approved in January 2022. As part of that process, the Council committed to reduce its 

carbon emissions to net zero by 2040 with a minimum emissions reduction of 45% by 2027 

ensuring it leads by example in encouraging the Borough as a whole to undertake similar 

steps. 

 

1.2. The development of a Climate Change Strategy for the wider Borough was identified in the 

work programme developed following the nine recommendations adopted by Council in 

January 2020, as put forward by the Climate Change Working Group. Those 

recommendations also identified that a citizen’s assembly should be established. Planning is 

now underway for a Climate Action Network which will take ownership of the Climate 

Change Strategy and lead delivery with the support of the Council. 

 

1.3. In October 2021, Cabinet agreed the draft Strategy for consultation. Consultation has 

subsequently taken place across Boston, East Lindsey and South Holland and the comments 

have informed this final version of the Strategy. 

 

2. REPORT 

Overview of the Strategy 

2.1. The Climate Change Strategy is one of the first major joint pieces of work for the South and 

East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership (SELCP) and seeks to provide an overarching 

framework to reduce emissions as a whole across Boston, East Lindsey and South Holland. It 

identifies the strategic themes and key sectors that are central to helping achieve the carbon 

reduction ambitions not just of the three Councils but of the UK as a whole as the nation 

seeks to be net zero by 2050. 

 

2.2. Delivery of the Strategy will be the responsibility of a new South and East Lincolnshire 

Climate Action Network (SELCAN), with the support of S&ELCP. SELCAN will bring together 

stakeholder representatives from across the area including relevant authorities, business 

leaders, non-governmental organisations and communities.  

 

2.3. The Strategy has used currently available data alongside recognised local priorities as the 

rationale for a number of key themes relevant to our area. Under each theme, the key 

challenges and opportunities have been identified and these link to an overarching strategic 

Page 114



action plan that will form the basis of the more detailed delivery plan which it is intended 

SELCAN will coordinate once established later this year. 

 

2.4. It is important to note that while the Strategy focuses on driving down carbon emissions, it 

also seeks to promote a more sustainable future for everyone which as well as helping to 

address Climate Change issues, will bring wider benefits for our local communities including 

improved health and wellbeing outcomes, economic prosperity and social value. 

 

Consultation overview and key changes to the document 

2.5. Public consultation began in November 2021. Due to the later inclusion of South Holland 

within the document, the governance around agreeing the draft strategy for consultation 

followed slightly behind Boston and East Lindsey and so the public consultation was split into 

two parts. 

 

2.6. For East Lindsey and Boston, an online public consultation was launched on 10 November 

2021 and ran for five weeks. A total of 55 responses were received during that period. 

 

2.7. In addition, two stakeholder workshops were held – one in Boston and one in Louth – which 

attracted 38 attendees and were very well received with an excellent mix of representation 

from organisations and sectors across the region including the Greater Lincolnshire Local 

Enterprise Partnership.  

 

2.8. The South Holland consultation was launched online on 10 January 2022 and ran for four 

weeks. A total of 14 responses were received during that period. 

 

2.9. Unfortunately, due to rises in Covid cases it was felt an in-person workshop would not be 

appropriate during the consultation period and an online webinar was instead organised for 

stakeholders in the South Holland area which was attended by 15 people. 

 

2.10. Further opportunities to engage with people about the Strategy consultation were also 

undertaken and included presentations to groups such as the Rural Lincolnshire Enterprise 

Hub. 

 

2.11. The stakeholder workshops in particular were very well received. Attendees were very 

engaged with the subject and keen to understand more about how they could be involved 

with delivery of the Strategy. 

 

2.12. Overall responses from both the workshops and consultation were that the Strategy 

presented a very clear and informative overview of the current picture in terms of Climate 

Change and the overall vision was strongly supported. 

 

2.13. The online consultation was designed to not only ask respondents to agree or disagree but to 

input more widely into the approach of the document and to help us understand the 

concerns of residents and businesses. Inevitably, this did lead to number of comments that 

Page 115



were outside the remit of the Strategy but there were also some very useful contributions 

which have been channelled into the final document. 

 

2.14. Across the workshops and consultation there were clear concerns that the document needed 

to focus on the overarching threads that cut across different sectors and bind the vision 

together. These were consistently highlighted as education, community engagement and 

innovation and use of new technology. For this reason, the final document has identified 

Innovation, People and Education as three lead areas which underpin the document. 

 

2.15. In terms of the sector themes, there was broad agreement that these covered the key areas 

although tourism was an area highlighted numerous times as appearing to be missing and 

one that has a significant impact. This has been addressed with the addition of Visitor 

Economy as a key theme within the strategy. Two themes have also been broadened slightly 

to reflect feedback that they were too narrow in their focus and this is reflected in the 

tweaks to Water Resources and Nature-based Solutions. 

 

2.16. The final, consistently highlighted, concern was that the document did not provide a strategic 

plan for delivery and there were no timelines against any identified needs. For this reason, 

the strategic actions which had been highlighted under each sector theme have all been 

moved to one overarching table – aligned to the three new lead areas. These have also been 

given indicative timescales. It was always the vision that a detailed delivery plan would be 

produced by SELCAN once established to ensure that action and progress are driven forward 

and monitored appropriately but this amendment hopefully helps to strengthen the vision 

that this document will provide the driver that is needed. 

 

SELCAN development 

 

2.17. Alongside the public consultation process, discussions have been taking place with 

stakeholders around the establishment of the South and East Lincolnshire Climate Action 

Network (SELCAN). Part of the stakeholder workshop was to consider how this might be 

structured and what the core aims and objectives might look like. 

 

2.18. Consensus was generally that one Strategic Board for the whole area would be the most 

appropriate governance method – comprised of equal representation from the private, 

public and third sector. Under this, thematic lead groups or specific task and finish groups 

could be established as needed to address particular topics or areas of work and these would 

enable greater engagement of additional stakeholders as required. The need to engage youth 

ambassadors specifically was highlighted and is something the Climate Change and 

Environment Team is currently working on. 

 

2.19. During the course of the consultation, conversations were held with the Greater Lincolnshire 

LEP about whether they could support or link in with SELCAN. These discussions will need to 

continue but with Lincoln already having its own Climate Commission and other districts 

likely to follow suit it was felt there could perhaps be an overarching link between the 

different commissions and the LEP at a strategic level.  

Page 116



 

2.20. Discussions have been held with the Place-based Climate Action Network (PCAN) which 

supports Lincoln Climate Commission, Yorkshire & Humber Climate Commission and many 

others around the country and it was agreed that linking SELCAN to PCAN would be a positive 

step. It will ensure SELCAN is part of a nationwide network that enables knowledge sharing 

and support but does not restrict local operation to a particular format or agenda. 

 

2.21. A Terms of Reference for SELCAN will be established in due course and it is hoped the first 

meeting will take place by May/June 2022. 

 

3. CONCLUSION 

 

3.1. By taking the lead on developing a Climate Change Strategy for South and East Lincolnshire, 

the Councils of Boston, East Lindsey and South Holland are sending a clear message both 

locally, and nationally, that they are committed to playing their part in tackling the challenges 

Climate Change presents. Success cannot be achieved in isolation and in fostering new 

relationships and strengthening existing ones, the three Councils will promote a coordinated 

and collaborative approach to addressing a global issue. Successful delivery of this Strategy 

will ultimately lead to more vibrant, cohesive and healthier communities which appreciate 

the importance of a balanced, sustainable future in delivering multiple benefits for everyone. 

 

3.2. The public consultation has been very well received and demonstrated clear support for what 

we are seeking to achieve. The approval of this Climate Change Strategy is just the start of an 

exciting partnership approach. 

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

The Climate Change Strategy is the first major three-way piece of work to have been developed by 

the Partnership and demonstrates the commitment of all three Councils in taking forward this 

agenda.  

 

The Strategy and the associated Climate Action Network will enable engagement of key 

stakeholders across the sub-region to ensure knowledge sharing, partnership working and an 

inclusive approach to managing the challenges and opportunities that will be presented. 

 
IMPLICATIONS 
 

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP 

None. 

 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

The Strategy will support the Council in meeting its Corporate aims around Environmental 

Awareness and Accountability with particular support for the objective to be aware and spearhead 

the change in thinking about the impact that our actions have, not only on the local environment 

here in Boston but also on the entire planet. 
Page 117



 

STAFFING 

None 

 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

None. 

 

DATA PROTECTION 

None. 

 

FINANCIAL 

There are no immediate financial implications for the Council arising from approval of this strategy. 
A small cost outlay will be required to provide the ongoing administrative support to SELCAN but 
this can be managed within existing budgets. 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 

None. 

 
STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

Public consultation was undertaken in Winter 2022 via an online questionnaire and stakeholder 

workshops. Corporate Management Team and Service Managers have been given the opportunity 

to provide feedback on the document and a briefing was also given to the Council’s Environment 

and Performance Committee on 26 October 2021 and 22 March 2022. 

 

REPUTATION 

None. 

 

CONTRACTS 

None. 

 

CRIME AND DISORDER 

None. 

 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

Page 118



There are no specific implications arising from this report, however inclusivity and a just-transition 

for all to ensure that financial and technological barriers do not prevent residents and businesses 

moving forward on the agenda are key to the Strategy and will be picked up by SELCAN’s Terms of 

Reference. 

 

HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

None directly but the actions arising from the Strategy implementation will deliver multiple 

benefits as part of providing a more sustainable future for the sub-region. 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

The Climate Change Strategy will not only have a positive impact on driving down carbon emissions 

across Boston Borough but it will deliver outcomes that support all four key themes of the 

Council’s adopted Environment Policy to protect and enhance our natural environment, adapt and 

mitigate to climate change, enhance our built environment and ensure a sustainable approach to 

waste and resource management. 

 

Annual emissions figures for the Borough are compiled by the Department for Business, Energy 

and Industrial Strategy and continual reductions need to be achieved as we all play our part in 

achieving the UK’s commitment to be net zero by 2050. 

 

ACRONYMS 

S&ELCP – South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 

SELCAN – South and East Lincolnshire Climate Action Network 

PCAN – Place-based Climate Action Network 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Climate Change Strategy 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Environment Policy https://www.mybostonuk.com/environment-policy-

2021/ 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

Name of body Date 

Page 119



Environment and Performance Committee 26 October 2021 and 22 March 2022 

Cabinet  19 October 2021 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Sarah Baker 

Climate Change and Environment Manager 

Signed off by: Christian Allen 

Assistant Director Regulatory 

Approved for publication: Cllr Paul Skinner 

Leader 

 

  

Page 120



FINANCE PROFORMA 

PROFORMA FOR APPROVAL OF THE RELEASE OF RESOURCES 

(CAPITAL AND REVENUE BUDGETS) 

 

FROM:   

THIS PROFORMA PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED 

     
REPORT:   
REPORT DATE:  
 

OPTION 1 £ Year 1 £ Year 2 £ Year 3 £ Year 4 £ Year 5 
 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 
Revenue      
      
      
      

Total Revenue Cost      

 
Funding required:   Considered by: Date: 
Total capital cost 
 

£  Enter committee here  

Revenue cost 
 

£  Enter Council or 
Cabinet/Executive here 

 

 
Financial Services Comments 
 
 
 
Risk 
 
 
 
Procurement 
 
 
Value for Money Efficiency 

 

 

 

 

 

This FP is valid for 3 months from 

FP date 

If this FP is no longer required please 

advise Finance 

If there are changes to the original report it 

may invalidate this document, it must be 

reviewed by Finance. 

   

 

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



CLIMATE CHANGE 
STRATEGY 

FINAL - SPRING 2022

served by One Team

P
age 123



2 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Contents
Foreword ...............................................................................................................3

Introduction ..........................................................................................................4

Setting the context .............................................................................................4

The Vision ..............................................................................................................7

The current picture for South Holland, Boston and East Lindsey ...............7

How is South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership  
leading by example ...........................................................................................10

A framework for action .....................................................................................12

Linking the focus areas to the key themes ....................................................19

Strategic Action Plan ........................................................................................ 23

Delivering this Strategy ................................................................................... 26

Glossary .............................................................................................................. 28

P
age 124



3 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Foreword 
Given the challenge that Climate Change presents for us all, it seems fitting that the development of this Strategy is 
one of the first major pieces of work produced by the newly-formed South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership. 

This strategy sets out our collective commitment to tackle climate change but we cannot achieve the outcomes alone. Our ground-breaking Partnership provides us 
with a stronger voice at a local, regional and national level which will be key as we work in partnership with businesses, communities and organisations across South 
and East Lincolnshire to deliver what is needed.

While the focus of this Strategy is very much focused on meeting the net zero commitments we have made both locally and as a country as whole, it is also about 
ensuring a more sustainable future to enable the communities of South Holland, Boston and East Lindsey to thrive.

East Lindsey is a wonderful 
place to live and grow. Our 
environment is very special 
and we have a responsibility 
to look after it. I fully support 
this strategy as it protects and 
respects our landscape for future generations 
and recognises the opportunities that exist 
for our local residents and businesses. 

Cllr Craig Leyland,  
Leader of East Lindsey District Council

It is great to see a strategy 
that my own Council and our 
neighbours have developed 
together. Our unique fenland 
geographical landscape 
requires us to take Climate 
Change seriously. This document shows 
that South and East Lincolnshire is in 
touch with its businesses and communities 
and committed to supporting them. 

The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE,  
Leader of South Holland District Council

Managing carbon emissions 
throughout the Borough of 
Boston is critical to maintaining 
our thriving agricultural 
industry which has shaped our 
landscape for generations. We 
are committed to working hard with partners to 
manage our natural resources in a sustainable 
and responsible way and to embracing the 
challenges and opportunity that are ahead. 

Cllr Paul Skinner,  
Leader of Boston Borough Council

P
age 125



4 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Introduction
Climate Change is widely considered to be one of, if not the 
greatest, challenge facing our society.

Its impact is already being felt, most noticeably through the increasing occurrence of extreme 
weather events such as exceptional rainfall and rising temperatures. Responding to the 
challenges and finding ways to slow down further changes are tasks which will take time and 
require input at all scales from local through to international, from individual actions to policy 
changes at the highest levels.

Local authorities are well placed to drive forward and influence the action required. Through the 
services we deliver, the strategic and regulatory functions we provide and through our position 
as community leaders we can help to educate, guide and implement some of the changes we 
must make as a society to play our part but we will need to work together to achieve what is 
required.

Many of the possible approaches have multiple benefits in not only building resilience and 
driving down emissions, but also in helping to deliver positive outcomes for the natural 
environment and the health and wellbeing of our communities. It is imperative that we re-
frame the issue of Climate Change to one which demonstrates how taking action can improve 
quality of life for everyone.

The purpose of this Climate Change Strategy is to provide direction around how to achieve a 
more sustainable future across South Holland, Boston and East Lindsey as we all work towards 
a shared net zero target. That must ensure an approach that balances economic, social and 
environmental considerations equally. It is heavily focused on mitigation - actions to reduce 
the impact of human activity on the climate system, primarily through reducing greenhouse gas 
emissions - but some degree of Climate Change is still inevitable and adaptation will also have 
an important role to play.

1 Siegert, M., Haywood, A. Lunt, D., van de Flierdt, T., Francis, J. (2020) What 
ancient climates tell us about high carbon dioxide concentrations in Earth’s 
atmosphere, Grantham Institute Briefing Note 13, Imperial College London. 
https://doi.org/10.25561/79292.

Setting the Context
The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate 
Change (UNFCCC) defines Climate Change as, “A change 
of climate which is attributed directly or indirectly to 
human activity that alters the composition of the global 
atmosphere and which is in addition to natural climate 
variability observed over comparable time periods.” 

They key cause of human contribution to Climate Change 
is through the increased production of Greenhouse Gases 
(GHGs). GHGs such as carbon dioxide, methane and 
nitrous oxide occur naturally in the Earth’s atmosphere, 
trapping heat and energy from the sun in a process 
known as the ‘greenhouse effect’. Increases to GHG 
emissions push up levels of heat and energy in the Earth’s 
atmosphere, causing a rise in global temperatures.

To give an indication of how things have changed, carbon 
dioxide levels in the atmosphere are greater than they 
have been at any point in the last 800,000 years. The last 
time the Earth saw similar levels was around 4-million 
years ago when the average temperature was 2-4°C 
warmer than today, and the sea level was 10-25m higher1. 

P
age 126



5 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

International Context
The Paris Agreement is a legally binding international treaty on Climate Change 
adopted by 196 parties, including the UK Government, at COP 21 in December 
2015. Its goal is to limit global warming to well below a 2°C increase, preferably 
to a 1.5°C increase, compared to pre-industrial levels.

In response to that decision, the United Nations Intergovernmental Panel on 
Climate Change (IPCC) published a special report in 2018 on the impact a 1.5°C 
rise in global temperatures would have on our planet and the critical steps that 
needed to be taken to try and keep rises below that level.

Action by the UK Government
The 2008 Climate Change Act set out a legal framework for the UK to cut 
greenhouse gas emissions to 80% below 1990 levels by 2050. It represented the first 
global, legally-binding Climate Change mitigation target to be made by a country. 

The Act also established the Committee on Climate Change (CCC), an 
independent body which provides evidence-based advice to Government.  In 
2019, the CCC published its own report, supporting the findings of the IPCC and 
advising the UK Government to revise its long term 2050 carbon emissions. 
This saw a new target adopted to cut GHG emissions to net zero by 2050 with 
the UK Government becoming the first country to nationally declare a Climate 
Emergency in May 2019.

As the UK prepared to host the COP26 climate summit in 2021, the UK’s sixth 
carbon budget set out the world’s most ambitious Climate Change target to 
reduce emissions by 78% by 2035 compared to 1990 levels, with the budget 
also incorporating the UK’s share of international aviation and shipping 
emissions for the first time.

The Local Picture
It is important to try and translate all that is happening at a national and global 
scale into meaningful action at a local level.

In Lincolnshire, while all local authorities are moving at different paces, there 
is a shared common goal to not only achieve net zero but to achieve a more 
sustainable way of living that protects and improves our communities. Those 
involved with Climate Change across the county are working closely together 
to ensure we are sharing knowledge and learning from each other. Lincolnshire 
County Council launched its Green Masterplan in 2020 to set out the guiding 
principles of how we can collectively meet the challenges and opportunities 
Climate Change presents. These are:

• Don’t waste anything - working toward a circular economy

• Consider wider opportunities - working in partnership to share funding, 
experience and networks and prevent duplication of effort

• Take responsibility and pride - to cherish, protect and improve the county 
we have many reasons to be proud of

P
age 127



6 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Net Zero defined
Many different terms are often associated with reducing emissions but it is 
important to understand the distinctions between them.

Achieving net zero emissions means to pursue an ambitious 1.5°C aligned 
science-based target for full value chain emissions i.e. Scope 1, 2 and 3 
emissions. Where any residual emissions remain these can be offset with 
certified Greenhouse Gas removal mechanisms such as tree planting or carbon 
capture technology.

Scope Emission 
Type

Definition Examples

Scope 1 Direct 
Emissions

Emissions from sources directly 
owned or controlled by the 
reporting body

Natural gas, fleet

Scope 2 Indirect 
Emissions

Indirect emissions from the 
generation of purchased energy 
consumed by the reporting body

Electricity

Scope 3 Upstream and downstream 
emissions that occur in the value 
chain of the reporting body

Business travel and 
commuting, waste, 
water, procured 
goods and services

This contrasts with, for example, carbon neutral targets which may not account 
for all emissions Scopes and which allow emissions to be offset by high quality, 
certified carbon credits.

Carbon Management Hierarchy
The key priority in seeking to reduce emissions is that there should be a 
hierarchical approach to their management which seeks to eliminate them as far 
as possible, followed by carbon and energy reduction and then by substitution 
measures such as low-carbon alternatives like renewable energy. Compensation 
measures are then the final step once other options have been exhausted.

These principles are best outlined in the IEMA Greenhouse Gas Management 
Hierarchy (updated 2020):

ELIMINATE • Influence business decisions / use to prevent GHG 
emissions across the lifecycle

• Potential exists when organisations change, expand, 
rationalise or move business

• Transition to new business model, alternative operation 
or new product/service

REDUCE • Real and relative (per unit) reductions in carbon and 
energy

• Efficiency in operations, processes, fleet and energy 
management

• Optimise approaches (e.g. technology and digital as 
enablers)

SUBSTITUTE • Adopt renewables/low carbon technologies (on site, 
transport, etc)

• Reduce carbon (GHG) intensity of energy use and of 
energy purchased

• Purchase inputs and services with lower embodied/
embedded emissions

COMPENSATE • Compensate ‘unavoidable’ residual emissions (removals, 
offsets etc)

• Investigate land management, value chain, asset sharing, 
carbon credits

• Support climate action and developing carbon markets

2 UK local authority carbon dioxide emissions estimates 2019

P
age 128



7 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

The Vision
The areas covered by South Holland District Council,  
Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey District 
Council achieve net zero emissions in advance of the 
UK Government. In doing so, action supports social, 
economic and environmental outcomes that help 
adapt to and mitigate the impacts of climate change 
and build a more sustainable future for our local 
communities.

The current picture for South 
Holland, Boston and East Lindsey
Carbon dioxide (CO2) is the main greenhouse gas, accounting for 80% of GHG 
emissions in the UK in 20192. Data published by the Department for Business, 
Energy and Industrial Strategy on an annual basis provides the latest estimates 
of end-user CO2 emissions for local authority areas in the UK.

South Holland
Emissions in South Holland reduced by 25.8% between 2005 and 2019. The 
three largest contributing sectors are transport, domestic properties and land 
use, land use change and forestry.

kt CO2 
(2019)

Detail

Transport 190.7 Emissions include freight and passenger transport, 
both for private and business purposes

Housing 140.5 Emissions from energy consumption in and around 
the home

Land Use, 
Land Use 
Change and 
Forestry 
(LULUCF)

109.2 Emissions/removals of CO2 from changes in the 
carbon stock in forestland, cropland, grassland, 
wetlands, settlements and harvested wood 
products, and of other greenhouse gases from 
drainage (excl. croplands and intensive grasslands) 
and rewetting of soils, nitrogen mineralisation 
associated with loss and gain of soil organic matter, 
and fires.

Industrial 91.1 Emissions from businesses defined as UK Standard 
Industrial Classification (SIC07) subsections 01-32, 
35-39 & 42

Commercial 44.3 All other SIC07 subsections
Agriculture 20.1 Emissions of greenhouse gases from livestock, 

agricultural soils (excluding carbon stock changes 
which are included in the LULUCF sector) and 
agricultural machinery.

Public Sector 7.2 Emissions from the combustion of fuel in public 
sector buildings, e.g., hospitals and schools. SIC07 
subsections 84-87.

TOTAL 603.1

P
age 129



8 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Boston
In Boston, emissions reduced by 35.29% between 2005 and 2019. Transport and 
domestic properties are again the main two contributors with emissions from 
industry also coming in the top three for emissions.

kt CO2 
(2019)

Detail

Transport 117.5 Emissions include freight and passenger transport, 
both for private and business purposes

Housing 94.9 Emissions from energy consumption in and around 
the home

Industrial 52.8 Emissions from businesses defined as UK Standard 
Industrial Classification (SIC07) subsections 01-32, 
35-39 & 42

Commercial 21.9 All other SIC07 subsections
Agriculture 9.5 Emissions of greenhouse gases from livestock, 

agricultural soils (excluding carbon stock changes 
which are included in the LULUCF sector) and 
agricultural machinery.

Public Sector 8.7 Emissions from the combustion of fuel in public 
sector buildings, e.g., hospitals and schools. SIC07 
subsections 84-87.

LULUCF 8.3 Emissions/removals of CO2 from changes in the 
carbon stock in forestland, cropland, grassland, 
wetlands, settlements and harvested wood 
products, and of other greenhouse gases from 
drainage (excl. croplands and intensive grasslands) 
and rewetting of soils, nitrogen mineralisation 
associated with loss and gain of soil organic matter, 
and fires. 

TOTAL 313.7

East Lindsey
Emissions in East Lindsey reduced by 27.31% between 2005 and 2019. The three 
largest contributing sectors are transport, domestic properties and land use, 
land use change and forestry.

kt CO2 
(2019)

Detail

Transport 274.2 Emissions include freight and passenger transport, 
both for private and business purposes.

Housing 224.9 Emissions from energy consumption in and around 
the home

Land Use, 
Land Use 
Change and 
Forestry 
(LULUCF)

174.0 Emissions/removals of CO2 from changes in the 
carbon stock in forestland, cropland, grassland, 
wetlands, settlements and harvested wood products, 
and of other greenhouse gases from drainage (excl. 
croplands and intensive grasslands) and rewetting 
of soils, nitrogen mineralisation associated with loss 
and gain of soil organic matter, and fires.

Industrial 90 Emissions from businesses defined as UK Standard 
Industrial Classification (SIC07) subsections 01-32, 
35-39 & 42.

Commercial 66.2 All other SIC07 subsections.
Agriculture 49.9 Emissions of greenhouse gases from livestock, 

agricultural soils (excluding carbon stock changes 
which are included in the LULUCF sector) and 
agricultural machinery.

Public Sector 15.1 Emissions from the combustion of fuel in public 
sector buildings, e.g., hospitals and schools. SIC07 
subsections 84-87.

TOTAL 894.2

P
age 130



9 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Carbon budgets 
The Inter-governmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) has argued that from 
2020, keeping within a global carbon budget of 344 billion tonnes of GHG 
emissions would give us a 66% chance of limiting average warming to 1.5 
degrees and therefore avoiding dangerous levels of climate change.

If we divide this global figure up on an equal basis by population, this gives East 
Lindsey a total carbon budget of 6 megatonnes (i.e. 6 million tonnes) from 20203.

Based only on the fuel and electricity used within its boundaries, East Lindsey 
currently emits c.0.8 million tonnes of carbon a year, meaning that it would use 
up its carbon budget in just over 7.5 years.

With on-going decarbonisation of electricity, and taking into account population 
and economic growth, it is projected that East Lindsey’s 2005 level of emissions 
will have fallen by 44% by 2050. If however it is to stay within its carbon 
budget, East Lindsey needs to reduce its emissions by 9.5% year on year.

Similarly, Boston has a budget of 3 megatonnes (i.e. 3 million tonnes) which at 
current rates would be exhausted in 9 years. However, Boston could stay within 
its carbon budget by reducing its emissions by 8.2% year on year.

South Holland has a total carbon budget of 3.5 megatonnes which at current 
rates would last just over 6 years. The District could however stay within its 
carbon budget by reducing its emissions by 11.4% year on year.

3 Gouldson, A. Sudmant, A. Duncan, A. (2019). “A summary carbon roadmap for Boston”. Place based 
Climate Action Network, https://pcancities.org.uk/

Business As Usual and Science-based pathway for East Lindsey.

Business As Usual and Science-based pathway for Boston.

Business As Usual and Science-based pathway for South Holland.

P
age 131



10 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

How is South and East Lincolnshire 
Councils Partnership leading by 
example?

Focus 1: Reduce the carbon footprint of our 
own activities
Both East Lindsey District Council (ELDC) and Boston Borough Council (BBC) 
have engaged the Carbon Trust to produce Carbon Reduction Plans for their own 
operations. The ELDC plan was adopted in November 2019 and the BBC plan 
was adopted in January 2022.

Both Councils have adopted net zero commitments in advance of the UK 
Government with ELDC specifying a target to reduce emissions from its own 
operations by 45% by 2027 and to net zero by 2040. Action Plans setting out 
the projects and initiatives required to deliver the reductions needed are being 
implemented to ensure progress remains on track.

Adapting and mitigating to climate change requires an holistic approach to 
sustainability in addition to emissions reductions. Both Councils have agreed 
priorities within their Corporate Strategies in relation to tackling climate change. 
New Environment Policies have also been adopted to set out the framework for 
how they will work to protect the natural environment for residents and visitors.

South Holland District Council (SHDC) joined with Boston and East Lindsey to 
form the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership (SELCP) in September 

2021. This provides an opportunity to understand existing actions SHDC has 
taken which contribute to the agenda whilst also working closely with Boston 
and East Lindsey to identify opportunities to align policy and processes where 
appropriate.

Leading by example is key and through both existing service provision and 
new developments and initiatives we will ensure implications for our carbon 
footprints are fully considered from the outset.

Focus 2: Support and facilitate partnership 
working of stakeholders throughout South 
Holland, Boston and East Lindsey to take action 
to achieve net zero emissions across the area
All three Councils have a key role to play in both leading by example and 
supporting the wider community to deliver this climate change strategy. While 
their sphere of influence is limited, they are well placed to drive and influence 
change through the services they deliver, as trusted community leaders and 
through their regulatory and strategic functions. Key activities will include:

• Support the vulnerable and fuel-poor households with energy efficiency 
measures

• Local Plans that support sustainable development and climate change 
adaptation/mitigation

• Guidance for businesses on adaptation to climate change

• Work with businesses to understand and reduce their carbon footprints

• Support town and parish councils to take action at a local level

P
age 132



11 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

• Identify strategic sites for biodiversity net gain and carbon offsetting 
initiatives

• Strengthen and enhance existing ecological networks to build resilience 
to climate change

• Ensure spatial planning plays a key role in the transition to a low-carbon 
society

Focus 3: Climate Change Adaptation
Adaptation: Adjustments to natural or human systems in response to the 
actual or anticipated impacts of climate change, to mitigate harm or exploit 
beneficial opportunities.

• Undertake a comprehensive risk-based assessment of vulnerabilities to 
weather and climate within the SELCP area

• Develop an adaptation plan that details the SELCP’s response to the 
evidence of our changing climate

• Review procurement procedures to embed adaptation and mitigation 
approaches into key contracts and services

• Ensure effective partnership working to address climate change risks 
across administrative boundaries

P
age 133



12 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

A framework for action 
The scope of emissions that is in the direct control 
or influence of the three councils is relatively small. 
This strategy seeks to provide an overarching 
framework to reduce emissions as a whole across 
South Holland, Boston and East Lindsey.

A number of strategic themes have been identified 
as central to the road to net zero, but achieving the 
necessary outcomes will need cross sector input 
from a wide range of stakeholders working towards 
a common goal.

Many of the themes will also involve a number of 
cross-cutting elements and taking forward action 
will require an holistic view of the interdependencies 
and multiple benefits that are at play.

Following stakeholder engagement into the strategy 
in Autumn/Winter 2021, three overarching focus 
areas were consistently highlighted as golden 
threads which should run throughout the strategy: 
Innovation, Education and People.

These overarching focus areas have not only 
been identified as central to the road to net 
zero but to recognise that there are a number of 
interdependencies and cross-cutting areas that need 
to be considered.

Overarching focus areas

Innovation

The transition to net zero will require both technological and cultural change on a level which for 
many is currently difficult to comprehend. While planning for this change is challenging, it presents 
huge opportunities for creative ideas and new ways of working and the chance for South and East 
Lincolnshire to be trailblazers for both developing and embracing change.

Education

Education is key to bringing about the cultural shifts that will be required in the way we go about 
our daily lives. It is also vital to upskilling our local workforce and ensuring private and public sector 
support for training and development. Whether it is equipping young people with the knowledge and 
skills they need to gain employment or supporting those in traditional ‘high carbon’ industries to 
reskill, education is central to ensuring the opportunities that the climate change agenda presents are 
not missed. Carbon Literacy training across all sectors will have a key role to play.

People

The community of South and East Lincolnshire is central to the success of this strategy. Whether 
residents, visitors or those involved in business – everyone has a role to play in the road to net zero. 
This strategy must recognise that people are all in different places on that journey and it is imperative 
that a just transition brings everyone along and excludes no-one from playing their part. The 
engagement of youth ambassadors is an important focus of this thread.

P
age 134



13 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

A series of key sector themes underpin this approach, reflecting the input 
that will be required to achieve the necessary outcomes from a wide range of 
stakeholders across South and East Lincolnshire.

Key themes

Transport

Built Environment

Energy/Renewables

Business

Agriculture/Food

Water Resources

Nature-based Solutions

Visitor Economy

Transport

Emissions from the transport sector are the largest contributors to the carbon 
footprints of the SELCP area accounting for 37% of Boston’s total emissions, 
32% of South Holland’s and 31% of East Lindsey’s. Emissions attributable to 
transport across all three areas are rising as a proportion of all emissions. 

Reducing emissions and the promotion of more sustainable travel solutions are 
included to some extent in existing travel plans and strategies in the county with 
a new Lincolnshire Transport Plan due to be adopted in early 2022. An Ultra-Low 
Emission Vehicle Strategy is currently in progress and set to be agreed in 2022.

An Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) currently exists at Haven Bridge and 
Boston Borough Council coordinates an Action Plan which includes steps that 
will achieve mutually beneficial outcomes.

Challenges/Opportunities
Development of the Port of Boston as a fresh fruit and vegetables hub is already 
starting to tackle the need for lower carbon supply chains. Furthermore, Town 
Deals for both Boston and Skegness include plans to enhance their respective 
railway stations along with the growth of walking and cycling options.

A large number of businesses, particularly in the agri-food supply chain across 
Boston and South Holland, rely on the road network to support their operations 
to ensure timely delivery and dispatch of produce.

P
age 135



14 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

The rural nature of the region means there is limited travel connectivity, 
particularly along the coast, and many towns are poorly served by public 
transport. This will make decarbonising transport a challenging task in the years 
ahead with residents often having to travel several kilometres to access key 
services such as doctors and supermarkets. 

While electric vehicles provide one potential option, as technology advances 
it is likely there will be a mixture of solutions adopted and opportunities to 
trial alternatives such as hydrogen, or interim alternatives such as compressed 
natural gas. 

Built Environment

Emissions from energy consumption in and around domestic properties is the 
second largest contributor to carbon emissions across the area. Without action, 
emissions in this sector are predicted to increase by as much 8% across South 
Holland, Boston and East Lindsey by 2050.

The challenges in this sector going forward are two-fold: both ensuring that new 
builds and retrofits of existing properties are fit for the future but also ensuring 
that developments continue to be considered economically viable once new 
technologies are incorporated.

The communities of South and East Lincolnshire are rural in nature with high 
proportions of off-gas grid properties still reliant on solid-fuel systems. A 
range of initiatives will be required to educate and find solutions to alternative 
methods of heating residents’ homes.

Consideration also needs to be given to the issue of both retrofit and new 
developments fit for the future within the commercial sector.

Challenges/Opportunities
Currently all new developments must meet the energy efficiency standards 
required by UK Building Regulations. The Government is consulting on updated 
standards for new homes which are expected to include a ban on gas boilers 
from 2025 amongst other measures.

Engagement with developers will be key to finding solutions which will enable 
the development of affordable, energy efficient homes.

There is also an increasing understanding of the need to reduce embodied 
carbon in new build and retrofit schemes and this is likely to gain further 
traction in the next few years.

The challenges of retrofitting heritage buildings also needs to be considered 
to identify how we improve the thermal efficiency of listed buildings and 
conservation areas across the region without compromising history and 
appearance.

Energy/Renewables

Taken as a whole across the different sectors, energy consumption is the largest 
source of emissions across the area. Whether through the heating of private 
or public sector property or through energy usage as part of industrial and 
commercial processes, there will need to be significant changes to the way 
energy is both produced and consumed.

In terms of energy demand, South Holland, East Lindsey and Boston all perform 
poorly on fuel poverty with all three having a higher percentage of households 
in fuel poverty than the national average.

P
age 136



15 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

A key challenge for the whole area is in terms of network capacity which at 
times are currently presenting a barrier to renewable generation and storage. 
Engagement with the Distribution Network Operators will be essential as will 
the ability to accurately predict potential expansion and take up of particular 
technologies to ensure the energy infrastructure is able to meet demand.

Challenges/Opportunities
Nationally, renewable energy generation continues to grow with 42% of 
electricity produced in 2020 from wind, solar, water and wood compared with 
41% generated from gas and coal plants. If this growth on the path to net zero is 
to continue however, small scale renewables solutions together with larger scale 
developments are going to be essential to achieving the net zero aspirations. 

As a coastal sub-region, any potential to harness opportunities presented from 
tidal energy should always be kept in mind.

Business

Emissions from industrial and commercial activities combined make up another 
significant proportion of the carbon footprint of the SELCP area.

The employment share by sector can be broken down as shown below, with 
key areas including public admin, education and health; wholesale and retail; 
business, financial and professional services and manufacturing. The main 
difference in East Lindsey is the significant proportion of accommodation and 
food services employment.

Employment share by sector (%) across East Lindsey, Boston and  
South Holland

P
age 137



16 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Challenges/Opportunities
Since the height of the Covid-19 pandemic in early 2020, many businesses 
have adopted new ways of working in particular with many employees working 
from home and reducing business travel. Harnessing those gains needs to be 
continued to ensure a green recovery.

Consumers have a large power of influence and businesses are set to see 
increasing pressure to meet the challenges and opportunities of moving towards 
circular economy - reducing waste and protecting natural resources while also 
securing sustainable procurement and supply chains.

Agriculture/Food

Agriculture is one of the dominant industries across the South and East 
Lincolnshire Councils Partnership area. The Agri-Food industry as a whole plays a 
major role in the region’s economy and the development of a South Lincolnshire 
Food Enterprise Zone at Holbeach aims to promote innovation within the sector 
including areas such as low carbon technology. 

The sector has a relatively unique position in being able to influence both 
emissions and sequestration of GHGs. Unlike most other sectors however, only 
around 10% of emissions are carbon dioxide with nitrous oxide and methane 
making up the majority. These not only have a much higher global warming 
potential than CO2 but can be more complex to address because of the 
involvement of natural processes.

Arable cropping and salad/vegetables are the primary production types across 
the area but there are also a number of livestock operations. Horticulture is 
also a key part of this sector, particularly in South Holland, and growers have an 
equally important role to play in leading and driving change.

Farmed area by type (hectares)
No. of 
holdings

Farmed 
area

Cereals Arable 
(exc 
cereals)

Fruit and 
Veg

Grassland

Boston 277 31,894 10,969 8,274 7,149 3,368
East 
Lindsey

1,131 145,462 70,540 36,576 6,237 21,097

South 
Holland

608 64,062 30,050 18,806 7,126 3,395

Challenges/Opportunities
Agriculture is not only well placed to lead on changes to reduce emissions. 
Farmers are also the custodians of our natural environment and have an 
important role to play in nature’s recovery with innovative solutions offering the 
opportunity to deliver multiple benefits to society.

There will be challenges ahead as the impact of our diets on climate change 
continues to undergo scrutiny and a new Agriculture Bill seeks to deliver 
significant changes to the way farm support is delivered.

P
age 138



17 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Water Resources

Water is a key theme because it covers not only consumption and resource 
management but also flood risk from coastal inundation, rivers and surface 
water. The South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership area is particularly 
vulnerable to climate change impacts because of a relatively low rainfall and its 
low-lying nature with a long coastline. 

In East Lindsey alone, 38% of the District is at risk from coastal inundation 
alone, with additional risk coming from surface water flooding i.e. from rivers, 
drains and localised flooding.

Across the area, the considerable risk of flooding is substantially reduced by 
the work of internal drainage boards in partnership with other bodies such as 
the Environment Agency. This does inevitably mean that significant energy and 
financial resources are spent on removing water from the region for much of the 
time which is then unavailable during drier periods. 

Challenges/Opportunities
Climate change is expected to lead to warmer and drier summers together with 
milder and wetter winters and the ability to manage water to ensure supply is 
available where and when it is needed is essential.

Given the area’s coastal geography, sea level rise undoubtedly presents one of 
the biggest challenges for the future and partnership working will be vital to 
ensuring effective adaptation and mitigation strategies.

Nature-based Solutions

Climate change will add to the increasing pressures on our natural environment 
but if managed correctly, the natural environment can also play a key role in 
how we mitigate for and adapt to the challenges it presents.

The SELCP area is fortunate to be home to Lincolnshire Wolds Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty with the internationally important estuaries of The 
Wash and The Humber on its doorstep. It has a total of 74 designated sites of 
national/international importance.

There are also 514 locally designated biodiversity and geodiversity sites in South 
Holland, Boston and East Lindsey although just 41% are considered as being 
‘positively’ managed - the vast majority are in Boston and South Holland.

It is important to recognise that the wider importance of the natural 
environment must expand well beyond designated sites.

Challenges/Opportunities
Carbon sequestration, water storage, water quality, flood protection and urban 
cooling can all be delivered through a well-managed natural environment 
together with a range of societal benefits such as green tourism and improved 
health and wellbeing. The fenland landscape of South Lincolnshire holds 
significant potential in particular through tackling both climate change and 
biodiversity loss through the opportunity to restore peatland sites which provide 
the Earth’s largest terrestrial carbon stores.

The Environment Act 2022 aims to halt the decline of nature by the end of 2030 

P
age 139



18 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

by restoring natural habitats and increasing biodiversity. It gives local authorities 
an important role to play in not only putting spatial planning for nature on a 
statutory footing but also in working in partnership to ensure a Local Nature 
Recovery Strategy delivers action which enables both nature and people to 
thrive.

Visitor Economy

Tourism is already an important part of the South and East Lincolnshire 
economy, particularly along the coastline of East Lindsey. It does however mean 
that there is a large influx of people to the area and so ensuring visitors are 
engaged with, and catered for, in a changing environment will be key.

The rural nature of the region often means that access to the area by public 
transport is more challenging and a large proportion of visitors travel by private 
car. Access to the coast in particular, can already put a strain on the existing 
road infrastructure at peak periods.

Awareness of the need for sustainable tourism is growing and the area will need 
to ensure it is able to offer opportunity for climate conscious visitors to access 
and enjoy low carbon experiences in the region.

Challenges/Opportunities
There is already a focus on the impact of international travel and foreign 
holidays on carbon emissions and as awareness around this grows, people may 
choose to take more holidays within the UK with coastal locations likely to be 
the most attractive. 

Many thousands of visitors to the area stay in accommodation such as caravans 
which are potentially more vulnerable to the impacts of extreme heat or 
flooding and this will need to be considered going forward.

Weather and climate are anticipated to have an impact on tourism patterns and 
an understanding of how this may change travel behaviours will be important. 
Higher temperatures could push more people away from inland sites to the 
coast and may also see more tourists coming to the UK from abroad where 
temperatures, e.g. in the Mediterranean, become too great. Overall visitor 
patterns may see a shift in peak travel periods away from the summer season 
into spring or autumn as temperatures are more appealing. 

Ensuring that local infrastructure can meet the needs of visitors such as enabling 
them to charge electric vehicles or find shelter from excessive heat will need to 
be a key part of tourism industry planning across our region.

P
age 140



19 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Linking the focus areas to the  
key themes

Innovation

Transport: technological innovation is key to the decarbonisation of transport. 
Current focus is predominantly on electrifying fleets but workable solutions 
for Heavy Goods Vehicles are still complex and a combination of low-carbon 
solutions is likely to be the reality in the short to medium term. At the current 
time, the challenges of rolling out the required charging infrastructure for 
domestic and commercial use must be addressed.

Built Environment: innovation in the built environment sector will be multi-
faceted and include the reimagining of traditional development methods 
together with the inclusion of new and emerging technologies across the energy, 
water and construction sectors. Innovation will also play an important role in 
finding solutions to both retrofit schemes and new developments which address 
viability concerns within the sector currently, particularly across our region. 
Innovation will be crucial not only in reducing carbon emissions but in adapting 
buildings to reduce vulnerability to those that inhabit them from temperature 
extremes and flood risk.

Energy/Renewables: renewable energy generation is central to a net zero 
future and while this sector continues to grow there is still huge scope for 
small-scale domestic and commercial utilisation of the technology. Supporting 
residents and businesses to explore this will be vital together with ensuring the 
region is not left behind in the innovation needed to future-proof the energy 
distribution network.

Business: opportunity exists for SMEs across the region to not only embrace 
innovative ways of working but to be involved in developing future technology. 
There will also be a role for knowledge-sharing to take place between businesses 
and for those that are further ahead on the net zero journey to support and 
guide others in how to make the necessary steps. Opportunities for new 
businesses to position themselves in the low-carbon sector must also be 
harnessed to support local jobs and local supply chains.

Agriculture: there is much talk within the farming industry around potential 
for a ‘fourth agricultural revolution’ referring to the opportunity that new 
technology is anticipated to bring to the sector. In particular, the use of Artificial 
Intelligence is receiving heavy investment for the opportunities it presents 
to boost food production while minimising environmental degradation. The 
University of Lincoln is at the leading edge of this work and makes our region 
well placed to pioneer the use of advancements in technology. Smaller farmers/
growers must be supported to ensure they too can embrace the revolution.

Water Resources: water must be seen as a valuable commodity and a shift in 
focus needs to happen from removing it from our region as quickly as possible, 
to enabling innovation in terms of storage and reuse to ensure a constant 
supply when needed most. Hotter summers will lead to greater scarcity of 
water so the ability to store water during wetter periods to combat this will be 
necessary. Difficult and challenging new approaches to water management may 
also be required to address the threat presented by the flood risk from coastal 
inundation, rivers and surface water.

Nature-based Solutions: The natural environment has the potential to provide 
some of the most effective tools to help combat climate change and provide a 
more sustainable way of living for the future. Technology, along with behavioural 
change, can help restore healthy natural systems. In addition, placing an economic 
value on nature through a Natural Capital approach can help incorporate the wider 
benefits of the environment into decision making at all levels.

P
age 141



20 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Visitor Economy: Innovation in this sector is likely to focus initially around 
better data and understanding of how climate change may impact on people’s 
travel decisions and behaviours. Cross sector opportunities for diversification 
into the tourism industry are also likely to exist, such as those linked to the 
agricultural sector. Ensuring that the region keeps up with innovation in other 
sectors – particularly around transport – will also be important to ensure there 
are no limitations on how people travel to the region or how they move about 
during their stay.

People

Transport: Supporting local people to make more sustainable travel choices will 
be a challenging issue for the region. Not only are public transport links often 
limited, the rural nature of the county means switching to alternatives such as 
walking or cycling are often less feasible and there are also challenges in the 
short to medium term of ensuring sufficient infrastructure is in place for any 
transition to electric vehicles. With high levels of fuel poverty and deprivation, 
the ability for many people to switch to greener vehicles due to cost is also an 
inhibitor and there will be challenges to address around ensuring an inclusive 
transition for all. 

Built Environment: Changes in the built environment sector towards greater 
use of smart building management systems (both domestic and commercial) 
and technological changes particularly around heating, will require easily 
accessed advice for local people. There will also be the need for support, 
particularly for residents, to ensure they are not left behind in the transition 
because of difficulties in accessing new technology or funding the changes that 
are needed.

Energy/Renewables: Fuel poverty is already a key area of concern for the 
region and with energy costs continuing to rise the move away from reliance 
on fossil-fuel heating, in a similar way to transport, is as much about an 
inclusive transition for all as it is reducing carbon emissions. The sector will also 
support the potential to upskill and retrain local people, providing a range of 
employment opportunities.

Business: The transition to net zero will provide opportunities for SMEs but 
support for people on how to change and adapt to ensure they can meet the 
challenges and seize the opportunities will be important. Recognition schemes 

P
age 142



21 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

which highlight the green credentials of businesses will help to showcase those 
making change and help local people to buy with confidence and make more 
sustainable choices.

Agriculture: Providing opportunities for local, affordable supply chains will 
enable people to make more sustainable choices that help support the local 
farming economy. The notion of a fourth agricultural revolution that centres 
around the use of technology is also set to open up employment in the industry 
to a wider audience providing skilled opportunities to local people. The sector 
has huge potential to contribute to carbon sequestration and nature’s recovery 
and this needs to be acknowledged and understood by local communities.

Water Resources: The coastal nature of the region means greater vulnerability 
to the effects of climate change. Engagement with communities will be 
particularly important where challenging decisions may be needed around issues 
such as future flood risk and will help to reduce the risk to people in the event 
of extreme events. People will also have an important role to play in changing 
behaviours to reduce water consumption and maximise opportunities to capture 
and reuse water.

Nature-based Solutions: The Covid-19 pandemic has brought home the 
importance of the natural environment to people more than ever. Access to 
nature supports improved health and wellbeing outcomes and helps connect 
people with their local area as well as providing opportunities for green tourism. 
Ensuring accessible green space is available to everyone will bring wider benefits 
to society while also contributing to Nature Recovery Networks.

Visitor Economy: The potential for a growing tourism sector provides 
opportunity to train and retain a more skilled workforce within the sector, 
demonstrating to young people particularly that the industry can provide a 
long-term career choice. Engagement with tourists to better understand their 
needs and expectations will be important to maximise the potential that exists.

Education

Transport: As the largest contributor to carbon emissions in South and 
East Lincolnshire, education will have an important role to play in reducing 
transport emissions. The Covid-19 pandemic has already changed travel habits 
in a way that many perhaps wouldn’t have thought possible previously with 
working from home and remote meetings now commonplace. Education and 
information sharing will be important in enabling people to make greener travel 
choices and in helping businesses to implement new ways of working.

Built Environment: The move away from fossil-fuel heating systems and the 
need to improve the energy efficiency of properties – both at the outset and 
through retrofit – will require a cultural changes in the way we heat and live 
in our homes. Educating residents and businesses about the need to reduce 
operational emissions from the built environment will help demonstrate the 
‘easy wins’ that can be made and ensure people are better informed to make 
sustainable choices in the future. Ensuring local education providers also 
offer opportunities for training a local workforce and supply chain to deliver 
sustainable construction practices will also be vital.

Energy/Renewables: As a growing sector, there are significant opportunities 
within the energy and renewables sector to both upskill and reskill local people. 
Education providers from schools through to colleges and universities will all 
have a role to play in helping people to explore the opportunities and to ensure 
availability of training provision locally to ensure a correctly skilled workforce to 
meet future demands and support the local economy.

Business: Helping businesses to understand and monitor their carbon footprint 
and identify routes to make their operations greener will be important. The 

P
age 143



22 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

sharing of best practice between businesses will be central to helping firms 
make positive changes and to understand the potential opportunities for 
inclusive, sustainable growth.

Agriculture/Food: Education is two-fold for the farming industry – to support 
improved understanding and embrace change within the sector itself and to 
better inform the wider public around food production enabling them to make 
better choices in line with the climate change agenda. Encouraging farmer-
to-farmer learning together with helping businesses understand what climate 
change means for them will also be beneficial.

Water Resources: Climate change is likely to lead to water shortages across 
our region in years to come and educating people and businesses around the 
need to reduce water usage and seek opportunities to reuse and store water 
will be important. Education will also work closely alongside engagement with 
communities to ensure they are better informed about future risk from flooding 
or drought and to ensure they are prepared for future scenarios.

Nature-based Solutions: Education around the natural environment is 
important to ensure it is valued, not only for the habitat it provides and 
biodiversity it supports, but for the wider benefits it offers to society. 
Community engagement and understanding of Local Nature Recovery 
Strategies and Nature Recovery Networks will also be important. Greater 
understanding of how investment in the natural environment can also support 
outcomes such as carbon sequestration, improved health and wellbeing, flood 
prevention and tourism opportunities will help ensure it is given equal weight 
alongside societal and economic considerations.

Visitor Economy: Educating the operators of ‘traditional’ tourism businesses 
to become more sustainable and offer low carbon experiences for visitors will 
be crucial to ensuring the area can maximise the opportunities that climate 

change presents for the tourism economy. Engagement and education of visitors 
to the area around how they support sustainable tourism while in the region 
will also be key to ensuring that an influx of people to the area does not impact 
negatively on carbon emissions.

P
age 144



23 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Strategic Action Plan
This high level Action Plan sets out some of the key areas that this Climate Change Strategy needs to address. A Delivery Plan will be established by SELCAN to set out 
in greater detail how the actions will be achieved and how success will be determined and monitored.

Action Outcome Timeframe
Develop an EV policy for the area based on modelling current and 
predicted future requirements.

An evidenced-based plan to ensure charging infrastructure is rolled 
out in a strategic manner to provide comprehensive coverage.  

2022-23

Explore opportunities to decarbonise public transport through new 
and emerging technology and maximise potential links with walking 
and cycling options

Schemes which seek to enable residents and visitors to make low-
carbon travel choices more easily including through opportunities to 
try alternative technology solutions

Within 5 years

Promote the continuation and expansion of new ways of working 
developed during the Covid-19 pandemic to reduce regular 
commuting and unnecessary travel

A society that harnesses and builds on the gains in travel reduction 
experienced during the Covid-19 pandemic, reducing emissions from 
transport

2022-23

Embed climate change mitigation and adaptation within strategic 
planning policies

Strategic policies that set out effective plans to futureproof 
development across the sub-region

Within 3 years

Encourage and promote efficient use of energy in the home and in 
businesses

Residents and business owners that are better informed with regard 
to Energy Saving Advice and are able to make changes to lower 
energy bills and reduce carbon emissions

2022-23

Foster exemplar approaches to the sustainable design of new 
developments and adaptive technologies

Promote to the wider sector positive examples of futureproofed 
developments to improve sustainability standards across 
developments in the region

Within 5 years

Support residents to access available funding to improve energy 
efficiency and reduce fuel poverty

Opportunities to secure funding for local people are fully explored 
and a coordinated approach to ensuring grants reach the right 
people is implemented

2022-23

Encourage a better understanding of embodied carbon levels within 
new developments and work with the industry to identify low carbon 
alternatives

The industry understands the implications of embodied carbon is 
better informed to ensure new ways of working are explored and 
implemented as part of the net zero transition

5-10 years

KEY       = Innovation           = Education           = People

P
age 145



24 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Action Outcome Timeframe
Encourage sustainable procurement practices that support local 
supply chains and foster the building of a circular economy

Reuse is at the heart of procurement decisions across the region 
alongside ensuring the local economy is boosted by supporting local 
businesses and supply chains wherever possible

Within 3 years

Support and advise local businesses on understanding their current 
carbon footprint and identifying routes to decarbonise their 
operations

Businesses that know the impact of their own operations and have a 
plan for how the will reduce carbon emissions over time

2022-23

Promote and foster opportunities for businesses to grow and develop 
within the low carbon and renewables sector

Businesses that are positioned to take advantage of the opportunities 
that are presented to embrace change, deliver new ways of working 
and grow with a changing world rather than being left behind

Within 5 years

Work with education providers across the board to ensure 
opportunities for training and upskilling the local workforce area 
provided

Opportunities for local people to train/retrain are provided locally 
together with support for them to find employment/business 
opportunities within the local area, keeping skills within the local 
economy

Within 5 years

Introduce Carbon Charter Awards Scheme for businesses to 
showcase their climate change credentials 

A system similar to food hygiene status, where customers are able 
to make sustainable choices because businesses are demonstrating 
their credentials openly and recognised for the efforts they make

2023

Promote and support innovation and uptake of new technology in 
the farming sector to enable more sustainable farming practices

No business is left behind in the fourth agricultural revolution and 
farmers feel supported and empowered to embrace new technology 
for the benefit of their business and the wider community

Within 5 years

Education and encourage residents to access affordable, local and 
seasonal food through promoting local supply chains and food 
markets

Consumers are well informed about where their food comes from 
and able to make sustainable choices

Within 3 years

Identify opportunities and support farmers to access mechanisms to 
enable less productive land to be used for environmental schemes 
which also deliver multiple benefits for society.

Farmers feel able to embrace and support land management scheme 
that delivers for both the environment and climate change and for 
the individual farmer and are supported to ensure results

2024-2025

Promote technologies and behaviours that reduce water 
consumption across all domestic and commercial sectors

Water is a valued asset and usage is reduced through the use new 
technology and behavioural change

Within 3 years

Work with developers to reduce water consumption demand in new 
builds and retrofits

Standards are raised across the development sector so that 
consumption is minimised and technologies to enable storage and 
reuse are mainstream

Within 3 years

KEY       = Innovation           = Education           = People

P
age 146



25 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Action Outcome Timeframe
Support initiatives to improve the management of waterways 
and coastal areas to reduce flood risk and benefit the natural 
environment

Management programmes are designed collaboratively and are 
appropriately informed to provide solutions that ensure operational 
outcomes while also benefitting the wider environment

Within 3 years

Ensure strategic partnership working delivers long-term coastal 
change management and planning, as well as building resilience 
to communities at risk of coastal and riverine flooding through 
adaptation and mitigation

All stakeholders are well engaged through strong approaches 
to partnership working. Clear lines of communication ensure 
that communities feel informed and included as part of future 
management decisions

Within 3 years

Encourage and promote land use change and management decisions 
that help both nature and people build resilience to climate change

New management schemes and practices are designed from the 
outset to deliver a range of other benefits to local communities 
alongside the need to build resilience

Within 3 years

Work in partnership to ensure gains for the natural environment 
are delivered in a strategic manner with long-term plans to ensure 
effective management is maintained

Biodiversity net gain, together with other initiatives to conserve and 
enhance habitats, are informed decisions based on existing data to 
ensure they are both appropriate and effective. Plans for long term 
management are considered and implemented at the outset

2023-2024

Where tree planting is part of the solution, ensure a ‘right tree in the 
right place’ approach is taken

Decisions on tree planting provide enhancements to the natural 
environment and local communities based on strategic decision 
making

2022-2023

Promote an understanding of the economic benefits that a well-
managed natural environment can bring to the S&ELCP area

Natural Capital mapping tools are used to assist decision makers by 
identifying ways in which economic and social activity is dependent 
upon the natural environment

2023-2024

Ensure that South and East Lincolnshire becomes a leader for low 
carbon experiences for visitors and residents, maximising links to the 
environment, heritage and culture

The area becomes recognised for its sustainable tourism credentials 
alongside its more traditional offer

Within 5 years

Undertake an exercise using best available data to predict how 
tourism patterns may change across our area – identifying potential 
pressure points

A better informed tourism industry that is able to plan for and meet 
future demand that may result from changing behaviours within the 
sector

Within 3 years

Produce guidance for visitors to the area around sustainable tourism 
and the role they can play in contributing to the net zero ambition 
while staying in the region

Visitors understand the impact they can have and tourism businesses 
make it easy for them to make sustainable choices while staying in 
the area as part of an enjoyable travel experience

Within 3 years

KEY       = Innovation           = Education           = People

P
age 147



26 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Delivering this Strategy
The South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership is well placed to facilitate 
the delivery of this strategy but this can only be achieved with the full support of 
stakeholders from across the public, private and third sector together with local 
community engagement.

Meeting the net zero ambition of the UK as a whole will require action on 
every level but will only achieve the necessary results through education, 
through sharing knowledge and best practice and ultimately through working in 
partnership.

South and East Lincolnshire Climate Action 
Network (SELCAN)
The key delivery mechanism for taking forward this strategy will be through 
the establishment of the South and East Lincolnshire Climate Action Network 
(SELCAN). Facilitated by three Councils, SELCAN will bring together private, 
public and community sectors to jointly tackle climate change.

Its remit will be to drive strategic thinking and promote on the ground delivery 
and implementation of projects to reduce emissions across South Holland, 
Boston and East Lindsey and build a more sustainable future.

Representation will be through a number of seats identified for each key sector, 
designed to provide a cross section across the area. SELCAN will meet quarterly 
but may choose to establish small working groups where issues are felt to be 
particularly sector or geographically specific.

SELCAN will be an independent body which owns, monitors and reviews 
progress against the strategy with secretariat provided by South Holland District 
Council, Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey District Council.

Communications
This strategy has been produced by the South and East Lincolnshire Councils 
Partnership but is a strategy for the whole area.

The success of its delivery is dependent on:

• The effectiveness of the leadership and the commitment within the public 
sector and private sector in working towards a net zero future

• Every individual, business and organisation in South Holland, Boston 
and East Lindsey being aware of the challenges ahead and having an 
understanding of the actions that can be taken

• Effective engagement with everyone making effective, lasting, cultural 
changes to play their part in a net zero future

P
age 148



27 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

To this end, communication will be key and the engagement plan sets out the outcomes that need to be achieved:

Action How will this be achieved? Timescale How will it be monitored?
Ensure every individual, business and organisation is aware of 
the Climate Change Strategy and what it seeks to achieve

Media campaign, public 
consultation, engagement events, 
e-Messenger

Next 12 
months

Engagement with consultation and events

People living and working in South Holland, Boston and East 
Lindsey understand climate change and its potential impacts 
on our area

Media campaigns, engagement 
events, 

1-3 years Climate change questions included in residents 
surveys. Responses can be compared

All sectors are actively participating in SELCAN and working 
to achieve a cultural change towards a sustainable future for 
Boston, South Holland and East Lindsey

Direct approaches to key sector 
representatives, online presence, 
strong partnership working, 
SELCAN ambassadors

1-3 years Monitored by numbers of stakeholders 
pro-actively participating in SELCAN with 
representation across the identified sectors

Individuals, businesses and organisations understand where 
they can make a difference and are seeking to play their part

Workshops, business networks, 
toolkits for key sectors

1-3 years Feedback from events and workshops  
Number of enquiries received

The South and East Lincolnshire sub-region is recognised as 
an exemplar in how everyone is working together to achieve 
the net zero ambitions of the nation

Carbon Charter Awards, media 
campaigns on success stories, 
BEIS statistics

3-5 years Engagement with Awards, publicity achieved, 
reductions in annual BEIS figures for Boston and 
East Lindsey

P
age 149



28 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Glossary
Biodiversity net gain - an approach to development and/or land management, 
that aims to leave the natural environment in a measurably better state than it 
was beforehand.

Carbon budget - the quantity of greenhouse gas emissions that can be emitted 
in total over a specified time by a given entity in line with scientific targets to 
keep within certain temperature increase.

Carbon credits - a term used to describe a tradeable certificate or permit giving 
the holder a right to emit a measured amount of greenhouse gas.

Carbon footprint - the total greenhouse gas emissions resulting from the 
activities of individual, event, organisation, service or product expressed as 
carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e).

Carbon offsetting - a mechanism used to compensate for greenhouse gas 
emissions made elsewhere through. Usually through a body funding activities or 
projects that improve or enhance the environment or buying carbon credits to 
balance out the emissions from their own operations.

Carbon neutral - a process of reducing greenhouse gas emissions which allows 
for offsetting through the purchase of high quality, certified carbon credits.

Circular economy - an economic system aimed at eliminating waste by keeping 
resources in use for as long as possible, extracting the maximum value from 
them while in use, then recovering and regenerating products and materials at 
the end of their life.

Carbon sequestration - the process of capturing and storing atmospheric 
carbon dioxide.

Decentralised energy - projects which generate, use and store energy off the 
main grid including micro-renewables, heating and cooling networks.

Ecological networks - the composition of core areas of habitats and corridors 
such as hedgerows or watercourses which enable the free movement of species 
throughout a landscape.

Embodied carbon - the total greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions generated to 
produce a built asset. 

Fuel poverty - a situation where a household has fuel costs that are above the 
national average and in spending that amount are left with a residual income 
below the official poverty line.

Greenhouse Gases - gases in the Earth’s atmosphere that trap heat. The main 
greenhouse gases are Carbon Dioxide (CO2), Methane (CH4) and Nitrous Oxide 
(NO2) and are usually expressed in terms of  their Carbon Dioxide equivalent 
value (CO2e.)

Local Area Energy Plan - a data driven approach which brings together the 
decarbonisation of heat, transport and power by incorporating in interactions 
and impact on the energy network in a given spatial area.

Local Nature Recovery Strategy - spatial strategies which establish priorities 
and map proposals for specific actions to drive nature’s recovery and provide 
wider environmental benefits.

Net zero - a process of reducing greenhouse gas emissions whereby any residual 
emissions that remain these can be offset with certified greenhouse gas removal 
mechanisms such as tree planting or carbon capture technology.

Residual emissions - any emissions which remain after all technically and 
economically feasible opportunities have been implemented.

Science-based target - a carbon emissions target which is in line with the scale 
of reductions required to keep global temperature increases below 2°C above 
pre-industrial temperatures.

P
age 150



29 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Scope 1 emissions - direct emissions from sources directly owned or controlled 
by the reporting body such as fleet vehicles or natural gas consumption.

Scope 2 emissions - indirect emissions from the generation of purchased energy 
such as electricity.

Scope 3 emissions - indirect emissions that occur in the value chain of an 
organisation, be that upstream or downstream, such as business travel, waste 
disposal or water consumption.

SME -Small and Medium-sized Enterprises.

Urban cooling - a range of methods used to lower temperatures in built-up area 
and reduce the impact of the urban heat island effect.P

age 151



30 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

CLIMATE CHANGE 
STRATEGY 

FINAL - SPRING 2022

P
age 152



 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: CABINET 

DATE: 30 MARCH 2022 

SUBJECT: 

 

PURPOSE:  

GREEN HOMES GRANTS DELIVERY 

 

TO GAIN MEMBER APPROVAL FOR THE OPERATIONAL 

ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE S&ELCP DELIVERY OF THE GREEN 

HOMES GRANTS FOR THE SUB-REION 

KEY DECISION: YES 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: COUNCILLOR PAUL SKINNER, LEADER 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENT MANAGER 

SARAH BAKER 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: ALL 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 

Funding of £7,254,966 has been secured from the Department for Business, Energy and 

Industrial Strategy across the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership (S&ELCP) for the 

next phase of Green Homes Grants delivery – known as Sustainable Warmth. This paper sets 

out the proposed operational arrangements and eligibility criteria for the next round of grants 

which launched in April 2022. The funding will be managed within the Climate Change and 

Environment Team on behalf of the S&ELCP. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That Cabinet approves the operational arrangements as set out in this report and the following 

specific recommendations: 

1. That East Lindsey District Council acts as the lead authority and accountable body 

delivering the Sustainable Warmth programme on behalf of Boston Borough Council. 

2. That Cabinet notes the resourcing arrangements being put into place to facilitate the 

delivery of this programme of activity. 

Page 153

Agenda Item 7



3. Approve the entering into of an appropriate written agreement between East Lindsey 

District Council and Boston Borough Council for delivery of the programme, subject to 

legal advice, with delegated authority given to the Assistant Director Regulatory in 

consultation with the Portfolio Holder to agree the terms of the agreement. 

4. Approve the establishment of a Programme Board for Sustainable Warmth with 

appropriate Portfolio Holder representation from each of the three Partnership Councils 

and Assistant Director Regulatory to monitor quarterly progress as outlined in paragraph 

3.10. 

5. Cabinet authorises the Executive Board of ELDC to administer delivery of Green Homes 

Grants to Boston Borough residents. 

 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

To enable officers to effectively manage the new programme.  

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Not to approve the operational arrangements. 

To implement alternative arrangements, such as implementing the scheme internally rather 

than with East Lindsey District Council as Lead Authority and Accountable Body. 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 Recent funding announcements by the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial 

Strategy have confirmed that following two bid submissions, funding of £7,254,966 has 

been secured for the next phase of Green Homes Grants delivery – known as Sustainable 

Warmth – across the three Partnership Councils of Boston, South Holland and East Lindsey. 

 

1.2 ELDC’s Executive Board considered the operational arrangements and resourcing 

requirements at a meeting on 16 February and approved the approach. 

 

1.3 This paper sets out, in more detail, the arrangements that will enable Council officers to 

lead on the delivery of Sustainable Warmth.  

 

2. REPORT 

 

2.1. Green Homes Grants are administered by the Department for Business, Energy and 

Industrial Strategy (BEIS). To date, Boston Borough Council was successful under LAD Phase 

2 in securing £468,700. East Lindsey District Council has previously received £2.3 million of 

funding under Local Authority Delivery (LAD) Phase 1b in March 2021 together with a 

further £1.3 million under LAD Phase 2 in April 2022.  

 

2.2. The LAD1b and both LAD2 schemes have been administered by the Green Homes Grants 

team based at East Lindsey District Council and are currently progressing well. 
Page 154



 

 

2.3. The LAD schemes are established to provide energy efficiency improvements to domestic 

properties with an Energy Performance Certificate rating of E, F or G and some limited D-

ratings. Grants of up to £10,000 per property are available for an owner-occupier and up to 

£5,000 for a landlord however the latter must also make a one-third contribution to the 

cost of works. 

 

2.4. South Holland District Council was also successful under Phase 1b and Phase 2 but the 

funding was used to improve Council housing stock rather than the wider domestic sector. 

 

2.5. In August 2021, BEIS launched the so-called Sustainable Warmth competition and invited 

local authorities to bid for a third phase of LAD funding (LAD3) together with a new Home 

Upgrade Grant fund (HUG1).  

 

2.6. The HUG1 grants will go beyond what LAD can deliver by providing additional funding of up 

to £25,000 per property. The grants are however targeted at off-gas grid properties and 

works should include a low carbon heating element to them where possible. 

 

2.7. ELDC made two bids on behalf of the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership – 

one directly to BEIS and one as part of a consortium of Councils across the East Midlands 

which was led by the Midlands Energy Hub (MEH). Across the three Councils, we have 

successfully secured funding of £7,254,966.  Table 1 below outlines the breakdown of the 

funding and the approximate number of properties it will deliver in each local authority 

area: 

 
Table 1 – S&ELCP Funding for the Sub-Region 

  ELDC BBC SHDC TOTAL 

HUG 1 - BEIS         

Admin/ancillary costs 89,966       

Capital 240,000 475,000 125,000 840,000 

Number of properties 10 20 5 35 

          

HUG 1 - MEH         

Admin/ancillary costs 200,000 75,000 100,000 375000 

Capital 2,000,000 750,000 1,000,000 3,750,000 

Number of properties 94 33 46 173 

          

LAD 3 - MEH         

Admin/ancillary costs 100,000 50,000 50,000 200,000 

Capital 1,000,000 500,000 500,000 2,000,000 

Number of properties 100 50 50 200 

     
TOTAL ADMIN/ANCILLARY 389,966 125,000 150,000 664,966 

TOTAL CAPITAL 3,240,000 1,725,000 1,625,000 6,590,000 

     

OVERALL TOTAL    7,254,966 

 

Page 155



3. RESOURCING AND OPERATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS 

 

3.1. To build on the experience gained by the team in terms of Green Homes Grants delivery, 

and to streamline financial, processing and administrative processes, ELDC will act as the 

lead authority and accountable body for all of the funding across the three Partnership 

Councils. 

 

3.2. Appropriate written agreements will be established, subject to legal advice, between East 

Lindsey District Council and Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey District Council and 

South Holland District Council to clearly set out the relationship and responsibilities of each 

party in delivering the Sustainable Warmth schemes with their areas and across the sub-

region. 

 

3.3. Green Homes Grants delivery is currently supported by two full-time officers who are 

employed on a two-year secondment from within ELDC. These are externally funded 

positions using the administration elements of the Phase 1b and Phase 2 LAD funding. 

Further support is provided by the Climate Change and Environment Manager and the two 

permanent Climate Change and Environment Team officers. 

 

3.4. The caseload of the two core officers is extremely high with circa 350 active cases currently 

in progress. The current level of resourcing puts significant pressure on the small team to 

deliver and their efforts should be recognised in achieving what they have to date.  

 

3.5. The resources required to deliver the Sustainable Warmth scheme across the S&ELCP are 

therefore to be expanded with recruitment underway for the positions as set out in Table 2. 

These roles will be employed by East Lindsey District Council as the lead authority and 

accountable body. 

 

Table 2: Resourcing requirements for the Sustainable Warmth scheme 

 

POSITION 

 

CONTRACT LENGTH 

NEC Project Manager Permanent 

Sustainable Housing Officer Existing secondment until March 2024 

Sustainable Housing Officer Until March 2024 

Sustainable Housing Support Officer Existing secondment until March 2024 

Sustainable Housing Support Officer Until March 2024 

Administration Assistant Until March 2024 

 

 In terms of recruitment secondment opportunities will be explored initially before 

progressing to external recruitment. 

 

3.6. One single team working across the Partnership Councils provides a more economic model 

than investing in separate teams because it streamlines the resourcing required and 

facilitates the use of the same IT system for processing grant claims which is a significant 

processing efficiency. This is also particularly relevant in terms of the project manager – a 

technical position that would be required by each Council were they to run their own 

Page 156



schemes. It also enables the administration to be run from one central point rather than 

each Council requiring its own officers to manage this process with their individual systems. 

 

3.7. BEIS has already indicated that the next funding phase of the Home Upgrade Grants will be 

opening early in 2022 and that the scheme is expected to exist until at least 2025. The 

Council has had to be reactive to funding opportunities for the last 12 months and by 

building more capacity and certainty into the team, this will enable a more prepared and 

thought out approach to be taken to future delivery and applications. 

 

3.8. In the unlikely event that Green Homes Grants funding was to suddenly be scrapped, as 

part of wider climate change initiatives, we would expect the team to position itself to take 

advantage of alternative opportunities as they arise to continue to ensure external funding 

is secured for other projects. 

 

3.9. It is proposed that the monitoring of Sustainable Warmth will be undertaken by the 

establishment of a Programme Board with representation from relevant portfolio holders 

across the three councils and Corporate Management Team via Assistant Director 

Regulatory. It is proposed that the Board is Chaired by the portfolio holder for carbon 

reduction at ELDC. Progress monitoring by the Board should be undertaken quarterly. 

 

3.10. In addition, monthly progress reports have to be submitted directly to BEIS and MEH by the 

Green Homes Grants Team. 

 

3.11. It is proposed that responsibility in respect of programme delivery is delegated to the 

Assistant Director Regulatory in consultation with the Chair of the Programme Board for all 

operational matters such as determination of applications for grant funding. 

 

4. SCHEME CRITERIA 

 

4.1. Eligibility: 

The criteria for the scheme is set by BEIS. It based on the following: 

• Properties must have an Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) rating of E, F or G. A 

limited number of applications will be taken from D-rated properties 

• The household income threshold must not exceed more than £30,000 per year 

• For Home Upgrade Grants, the property should also be classed as being off the gas 

network 

• In the case of rented properties, eligibility is based on the income of the tenants and not 

the landlord 

 

4.2. Funding: 

• Under the LAD3 scheme, up to £10,000 per property is available for an owner-occupier 

and up to £5,000 for a landlord however the latter must make a one-third contribution 

to the cost of works themselves.  

• Under the HUG1 scheme, where the starting heating source is a non mains gas fossil 

fuel, spend must not exceed £25,000 for properties with an EPC rating of F or G, 

£20,000 for an EPC rating of E and £15,000 for an EPC rating of D. 

Page 157



• Under the HUG1 scheme, where the starting heating source is electric, spend must not 

exceed £20,000 for properties with an EPC rating of F or G, £15,000 for an EPC rating of 

E and £10,000 for an EPC rating of D. 

• Park homes are also eligible under HUG1 however the total spend must not exceed 

£15,000. 

• Similar to LAD3, for tenanted properties, the landlord must make a one-third 

contribution to the cost of the works themselves. 

 

4.3. Assessment and approval: The Sustainable Housing Officers will be responsible for 

ensuring all checks on the individual applications are completed as required. For each 

enquiry made, initial checks to determine whether the eligibility criteria are met will be 

undertaken and where they are, an application form will be completed. Batches of eligible 

properties will be passed on to the contractors for the scheme to undertake property 

surveys at which point evidence of income eligibility will be required with signed 

declarations required from the householder as part of fraud prevention measures. All 

documentation relating to the scheme will be handled using the Councils current Case 

Management System. 

 

4.4. Marketing: The Green Homes Grants Team will undertake targeted marketing of the 

scheme by writing to owner-occupiers and landlords of properties deemed eligible 

according to openly available data on the EPC Register and using data relating to off-grid 

properties. In addition, the Communications Team will support the promotion of the 

Sustainable Warmth Scheme via existing digital channels and media releases. 

Opportunities to promote the success of the scheme through the development of case 

studies and promotional materials will also be sought within the marketing budget of the 

scheme. 

 

5. CONCLUSION 

 

5.1. The Sustainable Warmth programme marks a significant investment in domestic retrofit 

across the areas of Boston, South Holland and East Lindsey which is aimed at tackling fuel 

poverty through reducing utility costs as well as reducing carbon emissions through the 

lowering of property carbon footprints. 

 

5.2. The programme must be complete by the delivery deadline of March 30, 2023 which 

presents a challenging timeframe for the scale of project we need to deliver. By building on 

the existing knowledge and experience of the current team and using grant funds to 

expand the resourcing of the team accordingly to the scale of this programme, we are 

confident that successful outcomes can be delivered for residents across our three 

districts. 

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

Administering the Green Homes Grants programme across the three Councils areas with ELDC as 

the lead authority and accountable body will achieve economies of scale in terms of resourcing 

requirements and streamline the overall process through smoother financial, IT, processing and 

administrative processes.  

Page 158



This funding will place the Partnership at the heart of supporting eligible residents to improve the 

fabric of their properties, support a reduced cost of living and reduce carbon emissions from 

domestic properties. 

IMPLICATIONS 

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP 

The key implications arising from this report for the Partnership relate to increasing the resourcing 

of the Green Homes Grants team using the Sustainable Warmth funds available.  

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

The Sustainable Warmth programme will contribute towards the ambitions outlined in the 

Corporate Plans of all three Councils specifically in terms of tackling fuel poverty, reducing health 

inequalities, ensuring homes that are fit for the future and reducing carbon emissions. 

STAFFING 

As outlined in this report, acceptance of the Sustainable Warmth grant funding will require 

additional resourcing of the current Green Homes Grants Team. The external funding includes a 

budget for administration of the scheme which will be used to fund the positions through to the 

end of March 2024. 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

The conditions and eligibility criteria of the Sustainable Warmth programme will be published 

online and clearly communicated to all enquirers. Once approved, funding for measures will be 

subject to a signed offer letter setting out the financial and procedural obligations.  

No funding is exchanged between the Council and the applicants. Instead, the Council will procure 

contractors which will invoice the Council directly. Payment will be made following a satisfactory 

inspection of the completed works and confirmation that all necessary industry certifications and 

guarantees have been filed as appropriate. Procurement will be undertaken through a Framework 

Agreement. 

Whist approving the project and associated agreements is an Executive function, approval of 

budget changes (to incorporate the grant funding received) is a non-executive function and 

approval will be through Council (ELDC) or (if necessary) suitable officer delegations.  

DATA PROTECTION 

Data Sharing Agreements will be established between the Council and BEIS, MEH and the 

Contractors with support from the Data Protection Officer to prepare and assess. Sharing of 

personal data will be undertaken using a secure data sharing platform. 

FINANCIAL 

Funding for the Sustainable Warmth programme is from external sources and as such does not 
require any financial contribution from the Council. 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 

Risk implications from this report are relatively low. The mains risks are reputational rather than 

financial should delivery of the scheme fail. 

Page 159



A Risk Register and Fraud Risk Assessment for the programme have already been developed and 

will be reviewed regularly with any concerns addressed and/or escalated as appropriate. 

STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

Approval for the operational arrangements was received by ELDC’s Executive Board on 16 

February. During preparation of that report, Leaders at Boston Borough Council and South Holland 

District Council were engaged as the report was developed together with the provision of informal 

briefings on the proposals set out. 

REPUTATION 

There is a potential reputational risk should there be any failure to deliver the programme by the 

March 2023 deadline and have to return funds back to BEIS and MEH. 

CONTRACTS 

ELDC will need to enter into a contract with an approved supplier(s) to deliver the works. 

Procurement has been underway since mid-December and we are now moving to the contract 

stage. 

CRIME AND DISORDER 

None. 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

This programme will help to tackle the inequalities associated with fuel poverty through helping 

the most vulnerable in our communities to make improvements to properties that would not be 

possible without significant financial support. 

The Green Homes Grants Team will also consider any safeguarding concerns that may arise from 

communication with owner occupiers, tenants and landlords and will refer through to relevant 

partner agencies where appropriate. 

HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

The improved insulation of properties has the potential to reduce health inequalities as a result of 

people living in cold, damp and hard to heat properties. 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

The Sustainable Warmth programme will have a positive impact on the carbon footprint of 

properties across our three districts, helping to reduce the carbon emissions of domestic 

properties through improving the insulation of buildings and through moving away from a reliance 

on fossil fuel heating towards more renewable technologies. 

LINKS TO 12 MISSIONS IN THE LEVELLING UP WHITE PAPER  

MISSIONS 
This paper contributes to the follow Missions outlined in the Government’s Levelling Up White 

paper. 

Living Standards The Sustainable Warmth programme aims to tackle fuel poverty by 
targeting those on the lowest incomes, living in the least energy efficient 
properties. This project will support improved living standards by better 
insulating homes making them warmer and reducing utility costs. 

Page 160



Research and 
Development 

None 

Transport 
Infrastructure 

None 

Digital 
Connectivity 

None 

Education None 
 

Skills As part of the social value aspects of the contract, we will be maximising 
opportunities to provide work experience and skills training for people 
within the local area – both in terms of encouraging career opportunities 
within the retrofit arena for young people through education and training 
but also through the upskilling and retraining of those in other more 
carbon intensive industries. 

Health The links between fuel poverty and health outcomes are well known, with 
cold and damp homes contributing to a number of health issues. This 
project is targeted at the lowest income households, many of which may 
be living in fuel poverty, therefore helping to address these challenges. 
 

Wellbeing Fuel poverty is also linked to wellbeing so again this project will hopefully 
help both mental and physical wellbeing through improving living 
standards and reducing expenditure on household bills. 
 

Pride in Place None. 
 

Housing The Sustainable Warmth programme will provide funding to landlords 
(subject to their contribution) to improve the EPC rating of properties. 
While they are currently required to be at EPC E rating – this is set to rise 
to a C by 2030 and therefore the scheme will hopefully encourage and 
support landlords to improve the energy efficiency of their properties, 
therefore raising living standards for tenants. 

Crime None. 
 

Local Leadership None. 
 

 

ACRONYMS 

BEIS – Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy 

MEH – Midlands Energy Hub 

S&ELCP – South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 

LAD – Local Authority Delivery 

HUG – Home Upgrade Grant 

 

APPENDICES 

None 

Page 161



 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report. 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body. 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Sarah Baker, 07917 337857 

sarah.baker@e-lindsey.gov.uk  

Signed off by: Christian Allen 

christian.allen@boston.gov.uk 

Approved for publication: Councillor Paul Skinner 

 

  

Page 162

mailto:sarah.baker@e-lindsey.gov.uk
mailto:christian.allen@boston.gov.uk


FINANCE PROFORMA 

PROFORMA FOR APPROVAL OF THE RELEASE OF RESOURCES 

(CAPITAL AND REVENUE BUDGETS) 

 

FROM:   

THIS PROFORMA PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED 

     
REPORT:   
REPORT DATE:  
 

OPTION 1 £ Year 1 £ Year 2 £ Year 3 £ Year 4 £ Year 5 
 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 
Revenue      
      
      
      

Total Revenue Cost      

 
Funding required:   Considered by: Date: 
Total capital cost 
 

£  Enter committee here  

Revenue cost 
 

£  Enter Council or 
Cabinet/Executive here 

 

 
Financial Services Comments 
 
 
 
Risk 
 
 
 
Procurement 
 
 
Value for Money Efficiency 

 

 

 

 

 

This FP is valid for 3 months from 

FP date 

If this FP is no longer required please 

advise Finance 

If there are changes to the original report it 

may invalidate this document, it must be 

reviewed by Finance. 

   

 

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 
 

REPORT TO: CABINET 

DATE: 30TH MARCH 2022 

SUBJECT: 

PURPOSE: 

QUARTER 3 REPORT – PERFORMANCE, PROJECTS, RISK AND 

FINANCE 

KEY DECISION: 

PORTFOLIO HOLDERS: 

YES 

COUNCILLOR SKINNER – LEADER (PERFORMANCE) 

COUNCILLOR NOBLE – FINANCE & RISK 

REPORT AUTHORS: 

 

 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: 

SUZANNE ROLFE, INSIGHTS AND TRANSFORMATION MANAGER 

SAMANTHA KNOWLES, ASSISTANT DIRECTOR – FINANCE 

PETER DAVY, DEPUTY CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER (CLIENT) 

ALL 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 

This is the quarterly report covering performance, projects, risk and finance monitoring 

information for Quarter 3 of 2021/22 (as at December 2021). 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. To note the quarterly monitoring information for Q3 2021/22 

2. F1: That Cabinet notes the forecast revenue position for 2021/22 as detailed in Table 

1 after the proposed use of reserves 

3. F2: That Cabinet approves the following reserves movements contained within table 

2: - 

I. That the Transformation Reserve is utilised to support contracts cost in 

2021/22 as the PSPS contract value varies in between financial years where 

initial investment to improve services is required in the first 2 years of the 

contract, with a drawdown of £256,000 supporting this investment. 

II. That the Capital Reserve is utilised to fund the Cremator Flue Replacement 

Capital Scheme at a cost of £60,000 

Page 165

Agenda Item 8



4. F3: That Cabinet notes the following reserve movement and recommends approval 

to Council: - 

I. That £729,000 of the COVID Budget Pressures Smoothing reserve is used to 

offset income pressures being experienced during the year, these relate to 

Car Parking, Leisure, Markets and Investment Returns. 

II. Cabinet notes that the use of reserves will be reviewed again as part of the 

Q4 process and consideration given to any further adjustments required. 

5. F4: That Cabinet approves the Cremator Flue Replacement Scheme at a cost of 

£60,000 be added to the Capital Programme 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

Members are accountable for the delivery of the Council’s priorities and this monitoring 

information should be used as a tool to report on progress and highlight any key challenges 

forecast 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Alternative reporting arrangements 

 

1. BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 A joint performance management framework has been agreed across Boston and East 

Lindsey Councils for 2021/22 to support joint delivery of services.  This will be extended 
from April 2022 across the wider Partnership to also include South Holland District Council. 

 
1.2 Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) have been agreed through the service planning process 

to capture performance against Boston Borough Council’s Corporate Strategy and East 
Lindsey District Council’s Strategic Aims.  

 
1.3  Housing Benefits and Council Tax Support new claims and change events have been split 

into separate KPIs, instead of one combined figure for new and change events as in 
previous quarters. 

 
1.4 A combined performance report has been presented to Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) 

and this information has then been split out by Council for reporting to Boston’s Cabinet 
and Scrutiny Committees and to East Lindsey’s Executive Board and Overview Committee. 

 
1.5 This report presents the performance information for Boston Borough Council for Quarter 3 

of 2021/22 (as at December 2021).  
 
1.6 Alongside the performance information is an update on the progress of key projects as at 

the end of Quarter 3. 
 
  

Page 166



2. PERFORMANCE (APPENDIX A) 
 
2.1 In total there are 22 KPIs for Boston Borough Council. 11 are on or better than target, 1 is 

within tolerance, 8 are worse than target and 1 is not available. One measure is an annual 
measure so not yet due for reporting. 

 
2.2 Performance on or better than target or within tolerance in Q3: 

• Percentage of commercial rent received against agreed budget 

• Number of properties improved through Council intervention 

• Percentage of cases opened at homelessness prevention stage (i.e. before they have 
become homeless) 

• Percentage of homelessness cases that were opened at homelessness prevention stage 
that resulted in the customer not becoming homeless  

• Number of families with children placed into B&B for more than 6 calendar weeks 

• Percentage of fly-tips collected within 3 working days of being reported 

• Market stall occupancy rate - percentage occupied against the target 

• Time to process Council Tax Support new claims (days) 

• Time to process Housing Benefits new claims 

• Time to process Housing Benefit change events 

• Council Tax collection rate 

• NDR collection rate 
 
2.3 Performance worse than target in Q3: 

• Percentage of car parking income received against agreed budget - 85.51% against a 
target of 100%; car parking income remains below base line forecast level because of 
the impact of Covid-19. 

• Number of verified rough sleepers – aspirational target of 0; the team managed to 
reduce the number of rough sleepers down to 2. One of these had recently been 
evicted from accommodation provided by the Council and the other is refusing to 
engage with the service. 

• Percentage of Alliance workforce who said 'yes' when asked if they felt valued at work – 
72% against a target of 84% 

• Percentage of ‘major’ planning applications determined within 13/16 weeks – 50% 
against a target of 65%; however, performance against the national government 
measure including time extensions was 91% against a target of 60% 

• Percentage of ‘minor’ planning application determined within 8 weeks – 54% against a 
target of 75%; however, performance against the national government measure 
including time extensions was 94% against a target of 70% 

• Percentage of ‘other’ planning applications determined within 8 weeks – 70% against a 
target of 75%; however, performance against the national government measure 
including time extensions was 89% against a target of 70% 

• Percentage of food premises inspections completed against the Food Standards Agency 
annual inspection plan – 93.51% against a target of 100%; COVID work has increased 
during this quarter owing to the introduction of plan B legislation by central 
government and the reactivation of the county emergency plan. Additional work has 
also been undertaken to ensure Boston’s Fishing fleet is compliant with new export 
requirements. 

• Time to process Council Tax Support changes – 23 days against a target of 9; December 
has seen an increase in the number of days taken to process. This is due to resources 
directed at other areas. Concentration will be given to UCDS records in order to improve 
performance. 

Page 167



 
3. PROJECT UPDATES (APPENDIX B) 
 
3.1 A joint project management framework is in place across Boston and East Lindsey Councils, 

including monthly reporting to SLT and quarterly reporting to Boston’s Cabinet and Scrutiny 
and East Lindsey’s Executive Board and Overview Committee. The Q3 update report is 
attached at Appendix B. 

 
3.2 2 projects completed in Q3 – community testing and vaccination site support and the 

Housing IT system. 
 
3.3 2 projects will not be taken forward – the shop front and ‘pop up’ shop recovery projects. 

Details in Appendix B. 
 
4. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
4.1 A strategic risk register is being drafted with Audit & Governance Committee with the 

workshop taking place on 18th March.   
 
5. FINANCE (APPENDIX C) 
 
5.1 Finance summary for Q3 2021/22:   

• The revenue forecast shows a deficit position of £299k 

• This report proposed the use of the COVID reserve to offset income reductions of £729k 
and the use of the Transformation Reserve to smooth contract costs of £256k 

• Specific and general reserves of the Council are forecast to be £17.350m at 31 March 
2022. 

• Capital spend at the end of Quarter 3 was £1.433m against a full year budget of 
£5.593m 

• After funding the 2021/22 Capital Programme the capital resources are: 
o Capital Reserve - £5.055m 
o Capital Receipts - £0.239m 

• The Council held investments of £24.5m as at 31 December 2021. 
 
5.2 The detail is set out in Appendix C:   

• Section 2.1: Key Financial Issues in Quarter 3 of 2021/22 

• Section 2.2: Revenue Budget 

• Section 2.3 : Capital Budget 

• Section 2.4: Treasury Update 

• Section 2.5: Insurance 

• Section 2.6 : Debt Collection 

• Section 2.7 : Business Rates and Council Tax Collection 
 
CONCLUSION 
Overall, performance and projects in Quarter 3 of 2021/22 are in line with targets and remedial 

action is in place where required. 

Strategic and operational risks continue to be managed in accordance with the Risk Management 

Framework with a thorough review underway for reporting in Q4. 

 

Page 168



EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 
A Partnership approach has been agreed for 2022/23. 

 

IMPLICATIONS 
 
SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP 
A Partnership approach has been agreed for 2022/23. 

 
CORPORATE PRIORITIES 
Whole report. 

 
STAFFING 
None specific to this report. 

 
CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
None specific to this report. 

 
DATA PROTECTION 
None specific to this report. 

 
FINANCIAL 
The financial implications are set out in the ‘Finance’ section of the report, with specific 

recommendations highlighted in the recommendations section at the beginning of the covering 

report 

 
RISK MANAGEMENT 
Section 4 of the report. 

 
STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 
Consultation with SLT 

 
REPUTATION 
None specific to this report. 

 
CONTRACTS 
None specific to this report. 

 
CRIME AND DISORDER 
None specific to this report. 

 
EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 
None specific to this report. 

 
Page 169



HEALTH AND WELL BEING 
None specific to this report. 

 
CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
None specific to this report. 

 
ACRONYMS 

• B&B: Bed & Breakfast accommodation 

• KPIs: Key Performance Indicators 

• NDR: Non-domestic rates (business rates) 

• SLT: Strategic Leadership Team 
 
 

APPENDICES 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Q3 performance 

APPENDIX B Q3 project updates 

APPENDIX C Q3 finance 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 
in the production of this report. 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Suzanne Rolfe, suzanne.rolfe@boston.gov.uk     

Signed off by: James Gilbert, james.gilbert@e-lindsey.gov.uk   

Approved for publication: Cllr Paul Skinner & Cllr Jonathan Noble 

 

Page 170

mailto:suzanne.rolfe@boston.gov.uk
mailto:james.gilbert@e-lindsey.gov.uk


Appendix A: Q3 Performance 2021/22 

 

 

Performance Overview  

Boston Borough Council KPIs 

Assets Performance 
Latest 
Value 

Target 

ASB001 Percentage of car parking income received against agreed budget   85.51% 100.00% 

Commentary: Car parking income remains below base line forecast level because of the impact of Covid-19 

ASB002 Percentage of commercial rent received against agreed budget  111.03% 100.00% 

Housing and Wellbeing Performance 
Latest 
Value 

Target 

HWB001 Number of properties improved through Council intervention J 89 70 

HWB002 Percentage of cases opened at homelessness prevention stage (i.e. before they have become homeless) J 76.00% 70.00% 

Commentary: Measures put in place to improve performance have been successful. This includes a new IT system, triage of all cases and support and guidance for the staff. 

HWB003 
Percentage of homelessness cases that were opened at homelessness prevention stage that resulted in the customer 
not becoming homeless 

J 88.24% 70.00% 

Commentary: Percentage performance is similar to previous quarters other than there has been a large increase in the number of people successfully prevented from 
becoming homeless. 

HWB004 Number of verified rough sleepers (quarterly snapshot, verified at street count) L 2 0 

Commentary: This is an aspirational target reflecting the national target. The team managed to reduce the number of rough sleepers down to 2. One of these had recently 
been evicted from accommodation provided by the Council and the other is refusing to engage with the service. 

HWB005 Number of families with children placed into B&B for more than 6 calendar weeks J 0 0 

  

Performance Trend 

Achieved or 
exceeded target 

Within an Agreed 
Tolerance 

Outside of Agreed 
Tolerances 

Numbers have 
increased 

Improvement in 
trend or service 

No significant change  
Numbers have 

decreased 

Deterioration in 
trend or service 

       

P
age 171



Organisation and Corporate Support 
Performance 

Latest 
Value 

Target 

OCA001 Percentage of Alliance workforce who said 'yes' when asked if they felt valued at work L 72.26% 84.00% 

Commentary: We have seen a reduction in the number of responses in this last quarter which in turn has seen a slight decrease on the previous quarter’s performance.  
This is likely in part due to the timing of the data collection period which was extended to accommodate the Christmas period owing to this being a period of increased 
annual leave.  East Midlands Council have been approached for benchmarking data which has not, as yet, been supplied.  The Performance team are also undertaking a 
more detailed analysis of the data.  The January - March focus of the Values and Behaviours is ‘we are proud’ which will include sharing with colleagues’ wider reflections 
on the work achieved through the Annual Delivery Plans over 2020/21. 

Operations Performance 
Latest 
Value 

Target 

OPB001 Percentage of household waste collected for recycling and composting Not Due N/A 45.00% 

Commentary: Annual figure not due to report until year-end 

OPB002 Percentage of recycling collected that is contaminated and unable to be recycled Not available N/A 28.00% 

Commentary: Performance data is not available for the current period. The service is awaiting agreement from the Waste Disposal Authority in relation to changes in how 
recycling performance is measured. 

OPB003 Percentage of fly-tips collected within 3 working days of being reported J 97.80% 95.00% 

OPB004 Market stall occupancy rate - percentage occupied against the target   73.44%  70.00% 

Planning Performance 
Latest 
Value 

Target 

PLB001 Percentage of major planning applications determined within 13/16 weeks L 50.00% 65.00% 

Commentary: This local measure does not include time extensions. Performance against the national government target of 60% including time extensions is 91% which is 
green rather than red. The use of these local measures is being reviewed for 22/23. 

PLB002 Percentage of minor planning application determined within 8 weeks L 54.17% 75.00% 

Commentary: As above, performance against the national government target of 70% including time extensions is 94% which is green rather than red. 

PLB003 Percentage of other planning applications determined within 8 weeks L 70.00% 75.00% 

Commentary: As above, performance against the national government target of 70% including time extensions is 89% which is green rather than red. 

Regulations Performance 
Latest 
Value 

Target 

RGB001 Percentage of food premises inspections completed against the Food Standards Agency annual inspection plan L 93.51% 100.00% 

Commentary: COVID work has increased during this quarter owing to the introduction of plan B legislation by central government and the reactivation of the county 
emergency plan. Additional work has also been undertaken to ensure Boston’s Fishing fleet is compliant with new export requirements. 

  

P
age 172



PSPS Performance 
Latest 
Value 

Target 

PSB001 Time to process Council Tax Support new claims (days) K 22.28 22.00 

Commentary: This is a marked improvement on the previous month. Online applications have now been implemented and tele claims will be introduced in January. 

PSB002 Time to process Council Tax Support changes (days) L 23.22 9.00 

Commentary: December has seen an increase in the number of days taken to process. This is due to resources directed at other areas. Concentration will be given to UCDS 
records in order to improve performance. 

PSB003 Time to process Housing Benefit new claims (days) J 15.05 22.00 

Commentary: This is a marked improvement on the previous month. Online applications have now been implemented and tele claims will be introduced in January. 

PSB004 Time to process Housing Benefit changes (days) J 7.97 9.00 

Commentary: This is a marked improvement on the previous month. Both post and Atlas are up to date. 

PSB005 Council Tax collection rate J 77.93% 77.93% 

Commentary: The collection rate has not returned to pre-COVID levels, therefore presenting some risk to achieving the end of year target. 

PSB006 NDR collection rate J 78.20% 78.20% 

Commentary: The annual debit takes into account the increase in debit from July as a result of the reduction in rate relief. (With the additional debit payable by ratepayers 
over the remainder of the year). Central Government has recently announced £1.2m is to be made available to Boston Borough Council to be delivered as a local 
discretionary rate relief scheme to support businesses most adversely affected by the pandemic but which are ineligible under the Government’s existing Covid-19 relief 
schemes. The scheme is currently being developed. As a result of the factors outlined above, making forecasting with any certainty over final collection rates is difficult at 
this time. We continue to support and signpost ratepayers to the support available and where necessary make appropriate payment arrangements to best meet their 
business rates liabilities. 

 

P
age 173



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Ti
m

e

Fi
n

an
ce

R
es

o
u

rc
in

g

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s

R
is

k

Recovery project: Council 

Rents - help to protect 

existing and distressed 

businesses that occupy 

council owned property 

through sympathetic and 

supportive management of 

rents

Both Andy Fisher
Duncan 

Hollingworth
- 16/11/2021

The Property team, in regular consultation with the Portfolio 

Holder have maintained a very active role in managing 

commercial arrears.  The peak debt of over £1 million in 

September 2020 has been reduced significantly and as as 16 

November 2021, the in year collection rate stood at 86% with 

bespoke recovery arrangements in place with a number of 

tenants.  The Council is taking a robust but fair position with 

arrears and will continue to assess each case on its merits.  

g g g g a - -

Recovery project: Targeted 

acquisition of vacant and 

under-used premises for 

redevelopment

Both Andy Fisher Michelle Sacks

TBA

Option 1: £2m+

Option 2: £1m+

Option 3: c£50-

100k

26/07/2021

This project will be aligned to the opportunities of Boston’s 

Levelling Up Bid and East Lindsey’s Investors in the Coast.  

Models for holding assets are being developed that should 

facilitate significant redevelopment through utilisation of 

external resources.  The model would see resources recycled to 

continue the repurposing of underused premises.

g g g g g - -

HM Land Registry Migration 

Project (Boston)
BBC Christian Allen Jade Dicrosta

£60k HMLR 

transition 

funding; £14k 

estimated new 

burdens 

payment; £35k 

to fund project 

support officer 

for 18 months

11/01/2022

Boston have not yet formally entered migration proposed on 

the previous project report, the team at HMLR has been 

allocated and the project plan in early engagement was 

amended late December 2021 by HMLR, to bring one activity 

forward into early engagement to perform an extract of digital 

data held in Agile software for data analysis. Boston will remain 

in early engagement until this process has been completed. The 

data extract is proposed for January 2022.

g g g g g

Handover to 

Delivery Manager 

and Migration 

Delivery (proposed 

March 2022)

April 2023 (subject to 

confirmation with 

HMLR)

Recovery project: Rapid 

Community Testing and 

Vaccination Site Support

Both Christian Allen
Kristina 

Willoughby

External 

funding and 

existing 

resources

15/02/2022

We are no longer undertaking any project work in respect of 

covid vaccination sites and community testing. All work is either 

BAU (Business as usual) or we are supporting ad hoc requests 

from Public Health/NHS for partnership support when needed. 

The covid pandemic has evolved to the extent that community 

testing provision is likely to be wound up, as government funds 

are withdrawn and re-directed and mass vaccination 

arrangements are scaled back in favour of NHS led more local 

and targeted interventions. 

Project Considered Complete

- -

Next Milestone Completion Date

Latest Assessed Rating

Project Name
BBC/ 

ELDC

Assistant 

Director
Project Lead Budget Last Update Progress Detail

P
age 175



Ti
m

e

Fi
n

an
ce

R
es

o
u

rc
in

g

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s

R
is

k

Next Milestone Completion Date

Latest Assessed Rating

Project Name
BBC/ 

ELDC

Assistant 

Director
Project Lead Budget Last Update Progress Detail

Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy (ADP HWB 2.1; 

HWB 4.1)

Both Emily Spicer
Roxanne 

Warwick
- 22/02/2022

The Health and Wellbeing Strategy is now positioned to be 

delivered as part of the new South and East Lincolnshire 

Councils Partnership Annual Delivery Plan. 

The Health and Wellbeing Strategy is currently being refreshed 

by the Assistant Directors/Directors across Lincolnshire in 

readiness for all 7 district councils adoption in quarter 1 

2022/23. 

g g g g g 01/06/22 01/06/22

Integrated housing register 

and homelessness IT system 

(ADP HWB 4.1; HWB 6.1)

Both Emily Spicer Jason Oxby - 29/11/2021

BBC Housing staff started using the housing register on 28th 

June 2021 and advertising social homes from September.   The 

homelessness module has been used since 1st October and 

notice to end the previous Housing system, Home Connections 

expires on 8th December.

Project Considered Complete

- Completed

Recovery project: 

Empowering healthy 

Communities (Community 

Champions Programme) 

(ADP HWB 1.1 / 1.3)

BBC Emily Spicer
Nichola 

Holderness

£494,800 

(external 

funding)

12/01/2022

Boston Borough Council has been awarded £185,000  

Community Vaccine Champions funding, as an extension to the 

original Community Champions Funding of £495,000, received in 

December 2020.  A signed MOU has been submitted to the 

Department for Levelling Up Housing and Communities.  The 

additional funding should be received by end of week 

commencing 10th January 2022.  Empowering Healthy 

Communities Coordinator to attend a Webinar on 13th January 

providing more information about completion of delivery plan.

g g g g g - TBC

Rough sleeper 

accommodation (ADP HWB 

1.2; HWB 1.1)

Both Emily Spicer Jason Oxby - 15/09/2021

The properties in Skegness are not available as yet.  Framework 

are assisting current occupiers of the accommodation to find 

alternative housing.

Some of the properties in Boston are about ready to be moved 

into. Nominees are being considered.  

Framework have been recruiting staff to manage the 

accommodation across the two districts. 

a a a a a 01/11/21 TBC

Migration to 

Uniform/LALPAC – Boston 

Borough Council (ADP PLN / 

OCS 4.1)

BBC James Gilbert
Nickie 

McDonald

TBC following 

procurement 

and subject to 

member 

agreement

30/11/2021

Initial Boston Procurement meeting held on 14/6/21; paused to 

further review requirements and direction of travel; project 

remains paused

g g g g g

Project paused Jul-23

P
age 176



Ti
m

e

Fi
n

an
ce

R
es

o
u

rc
in

g

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s

R
is

k

Next Milestone Completion Date

Latest Assessed Rating

Project Name
BBC/ 

ELDC

Assistant 

Director
Project Lead Budget Last Update Progress Detail

ICT infrastructure 

investment (ADP SSP / OCS 

4.6)

PSPS digital infrastructure 

projects (ADP SSP 6.1)

Both James Gilbert Jackie Wright - 24/11/2021

Full Network Audit – Complete with minimal areas of concern 

found.  This has allowed us to progress opening networks 

between ELDC and BBC which is being completed on a case by 

case basis. Full Device Audit – Complete will now be uploaded to 

the ICT Service Desk solution to ensure a central point of asset 

management. External Pen Test – Complete.  ICT are now 

progressing through addressing the vulnerabilities from the 

report.  The number of legacy applications and 2008 servers in 

use are the biggest risk and potentially the hardest to address.  

ICT will work with suppliers and service areas to either isolate 

the applications, mitigating against the risk or to plan for 

eventual replacement (E.g. Efin, Alfresco)Implementation of 

VRF/Network Link Creation – Complete. This has allowed us to 

open networks between ELDC and BBC which is being 

completed on a case by case basis. ICT Policies – Released across 

organisation and acceptance will be reported on monthly. MIM 

Consultancy – Complete.  This has allowed us to view address 

books, calendars etc across the Alliance and now the S&ELCP.

All other aspects and projects are complete or on schedule.

g g g g g - TBC

Joint Cultural Strategy (ADP 

EG 2.2; EG 2.7; EG 7.1)
Both Lydia Rusling

Lydia Rusling / 

Martin Kay and 

Luke Skerritt

Funding from 

ACE
16/09/2021

Meeting with ACE to agree revised timeline, which has 

subsequently been approved. Consultancy commissioned and 

project update provided to ACE. Priority status 16/9/21.

g g g g g

Procurement 

exemption for 

consultancy and 

commence 

consultation and 

plan, as agreed by 

ACE.

December-2021

Boston Town Deal

PE21 project (ADP AST 2.1)
BBC Lydia Rusling

Lydia Rusling / 

Sharon Warner
£21.9m 11/10/2021

Leisure Project (formerly PE21) – early stages of development.

Mayflower – business case March 2022

St Botolphs Library and Lighting – business case submitted.

Blenkin Memorial Hall – business case submitted.

Centre for Food and Fresh Produce Logistics – draft business 

case to be discussed at the next Board Meeting.

Healing the High St (including Shodfriars) – draft business case 

to be presented to the next Board Meeting.

Connected Living – withdrawn and resource reallocated to the 

Leisure project.

Boston Station – business case January 2022.

g g g g g

next meeting early 

November; 

business case 

March 2022

Mar-25

P
age 177



Ti
m

e

Fi
n

an
ce

R
es

o
u

rc
in

g

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s

R
is

k

Next Milestone Completion Date

Latest Assessed Rating

Project Name
BBC/ 

ELDC

Assistant 

Director
Project Lead Budget Last Update Progress Detail

Recovery project: Car parks - 

identify, enable and 

promote more attractive 

uses e.g. for eating out/ café 

culture, public seating

Both Lydia Rusling Lisa J. Collins

£100k-£250k 

(marketing, 

engagement, 

wayfinding, 

signage)

27/07/2021 g g g g g - -

Recovery project: Digital 

Marketing - swift 

implementation of a digital 

marketing tool across the 

Alliance’s area to help the 

leisure and tourism industry 

take full advantage of any 

increase is “Staycations”

Both Lydia Rusling Lisa J. Collins

£300k 

(business 

support)

16/09/2021

Contract finalised, awaiting feedback from Procurement. Both 

BBC/ELDC teams have met with DMO to confirm delivery plan. 

National DMO review released 15/9.

a g g a a

Transfer funding to 

enable service 

delivery. 

(Highlighted Amber 

due to delay in 

transfer of 

funding).

Mar-23

Recovery project: Events - 

programme tailored to the 

particular reputation of 

each place/market town 

(e.g. Taste Lincolnshire 

events linked to a new 

digital marketing platform; 

food festivals; antiques and 

craft fairs)

Both Lydia Rusling TBC

£21k (project 

officer)

£50k (events)

16/09/2021

Events Officer appointment approved as part of Economic 

Growth Service Review. Job description produced. Update 16/9: 

job evaluation complete.

r r
Resou

rcing
r Risk

Service Review 

launch and 

recruitment 

process.

Mar-22

Recovery project: Shop 

fronts and shop 

improvement grants to 

bring vacant premises back 

into use and encourage 

”living above the shop”

Both Lydia Rusling

Lisa J. Collins / 

Mike 

Gildersleeves / 

Emilie Wales

£375k 16/11/2021 Project Not Being Taken Forwards

See update from 

MG.

Towns Fund 

Projects – full 

business case 

development.

-

Boston City project BBC Lydia Rusling Lydia Rusling Minimal 24/02/2022
Bid approved by Council and submitted.  Waiting to hear 

outcome
a g a g g

Stakeholder 

Engagement – 

Sep/Oct21

Application deadline 

08/12/21

P
age 178



Ti
m

e

Fi
n

an
ce

R
es

o
u

rc
in

g

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s

R
is

k

Next Milestone Completion Date

Latest Assessed Rating

Project Name
BBC/ 

ELDC

Assistant 

Director
Project Lead Budget Last Update Progress Detail

Boston Alternative Energy 

Facility – examination 

process (ADP PLN 2.1)

BBC
Mike 

Gildersleeves

Mike 

Gildersleeves
N/A 04/01/2022

Prior to the Christmas break, the Examination reached Deadline 

4 of 9, with the Council engaging in

the process including the submission of formal responses. The 

Council has also met with the

proposers team on a number of occasions to attempt to iron out 

matters within the Statements of

Common Ground and S106.

The Examination recommences in mid‐Jan, with further hearing 

sessions in February and associated

deadlines. The Examination is due to conclude in April 2022, 

with a decision due by October 2022.

Thus this project will slip slightly in to the 22/23 ADP, before 

moving in to the delivery phase if

approved.

g g g g g

Hearing sessions 

mid‐Feb, Deadlines 

5‐7 before end of 

Feb.

Examination end – 

April 2022, decision 

October 2022

Recovery project: 

Encouragement of 

economic activity and 

growth through the 

planning system

Both
Mike 

Gildersleeves
-

Mostly within 

existing 

resources

£15k (external 

review of 

Scheme of 

Delegation)

£10k (external 

review of 

Validation 

procedures)

17/11/2021

Since the 1st April Boston has reverted to the national 

requirements for validation of planning applications. This is in 

response to feedback from agents/architects, but also in 

response to the recovery plan by seeking to avoid un-necessary 

and burdensome costs associated with submissions. The project 

is marked as Amber due to ongoing changes within the Planning 

Service to bring the ELDC and BBC teams together under 

OneTeam. In addition, there are areas of the service where key 

posts are vacant, and this in combination with general workload 

is leading to pressures within the existing teams. This can be 

managed to a degree through external resource, however, it 

does limit the services ability to do more proactive/forward 

thinking work as was proposed by this project. Additional short-

term capacity may also be required.

a a a g a Ongoing N/A

Recovery project: Vacant 

shops ‐ encourage “pop‐up” 

uses or window dressing 

pending reletting/ 

redevelopment

Both
Mike 

Gildersleeves
-

£50k 

(marketing & 

engagement)

17/11/2021 Project Not Being Taken Forwards r r
Resou

rcing
a a

None - Projected to 

be removed

None - Projected to 

be removed

P
age 179



Ti
m

e

Fi
n

an
ce

R
es

o
u

rc
in

g

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s

R
is

k

Next Milestone Completion Date

Latest Assessed Rating

Project Name
BBC/ 

ELDC

Assistant 

Director
Project Lead Budget Last Update Progress Detail

Recovery project: 

Procurement alignment 

across the Alliance and 

opportunities for local 

businesses

Both
Samantha 

Knowles
Rebecca James

£5k (legal & 

procurement 

advice)

10/12/2021

A Procurement Manager for ELDC has now been appointed and 

started in the role on 1st November 2021. This is on a 0.5 FTE 

basis for 1 year. Future support options for the Partnership will 

be considered once actions from the recent audit at ELDC have 

been fully considered. Alignment of policy can commence once 

the needs of all 3 councils have been analysed. An action plan is 

in place to address issues of immediate concern , with a view to 

beginning other work in February 2022.

a a a a a

February 2022, 

partnership plan to 

be agreed across 

directorates

TBC

Recovery project: 

Environmental 

improvements – Street 

Scene (Big Boston Clean Up, 

Litter Champions, floral 

displays, fly-tipping)

BBC Victoria Burgess Matt Fisher

£26,500 

(additional 

flyswat team)

24/12/2021 No further progress since last report. r a a a a

14th January – 

project monitoring 

meeting

Project will be 

completed summer 

2022 when 

seasonally 

dependent initiatives 

take place

Recovery project: Markets – 

support to traders
BBC Phil Perry

Phil Perry / 

Esther Belton

£87,373 rent 

reduction 

(ARG)

£5,800 

canopies & 

stewards

24/12/2021
BBC is yet to procure canopies or other items. Further clarity 

required regarding finance for rent reduction initiative.
r r

Resou

rcing
a a January 2022 April 2022

P
age 180



Boston Borough Council – Q3 Finance Report 2021/22 
 
Finance Summary 

 The revenue forecast shows a deficit position of £299k 

 This report proposed the use of the COVID reserve to offset income reductions of £729k and the use of the 
Transformation Reserve to smooth contract costs of £256k 

 Specific and general reserves of the Council are forecast to be £17.350m at 31 March 2022. 

 Capital spend at the end of Quarter 3 was £1.433m against a full year budget of £5.593m 

 After funding the 2021/22 Capital Programme the capital resources are: 
o Capital Reserve - £5.055m 
o Capital Receipts - £0.239m 

 The Council held investments of £24.5m as at 31 December 2021. 

 

Section 2 – Finance 

Section 2.1 Key Financial Issues in Quarter 3 of 2021/22 
Section 2.2 Revenue Budget 
Section 2.3 Capital Budget 
Section 2.4 Treasury Update 
Section 2.5 Insurance 
Section 2.6 Debt Collection 
Section 2.7 Business Rates and Council Tax Collection 
  

 

Section 2.1 – Key Financial Issues in Quarter 3 of 2021/22 

 On 23rd October, the Department for Levelling up, Housing & Communities issued a press release to 

announce a £65m support package for vulnerable renters struggling due to the impact of the pandemic. The 

funding will be provided to Councils to support low-income earners in rent arrears. Councils should 

determine the best way to support each household on a case-by-case basis.  

 On 29th October, the Department for Levelling up, Housing & Communities issued a press release to 

announce £66m funding to provide safe and warm accommodation over winter. 

 On 27th October, HM Treasury published the Budget and Spending Review 2021 documents. The effects of 

this announcement have been built into the Council’s draft budget plans for 2022/23 onwards. 

 On 16th December, the Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities published various documents 

related to the provisional settlement. The 2022/23 local government finance settlement is for one year only 

and is based on the Spending Review 2021 (SR21) funding levels. This is the first time since 2015 that, in the 

context of a multi-year Spending Review, the government has only provided local authorities with a single-

year settlement. 

 

 
Inflation 

October (%) November (%) December (%) 

CPI 4.2 5.1 5.4 

RPI 6.0 7.1 7.5 

 

 

 

 

Page 181



 

Section 2.2 – Revenue Budget 

Table 1 details the forecast outturn by Assistant Director.  This is based on the Quarter 3 position at 31st December 

2021 officers’ projections for the remainder of the financial year indicate an overspend position of £299k. Between 

Quarter 2 and Quarter 3 work has been completed to work the PSPS contract price into service budgets and to 

remove the staffing costs of those posts which have moved to PSPS and the investment in service improvement has 

been smoothed using the Transformation reserve. The reduced income has now been identified because of changing 

user patterns as a result of the pandemic and this has been offset by use of the COVID budget pressures smoothing 

reserve. 

 

Table 1 – Projected Net Spend by Assistant Director 

Assistant Director Area 

Revised 
Budget 

2021/22 
 

£’000 

Forecast 
Outturn 
2021/22 

 
£’000 

Variance 
(underspend)/ 

overspend 
  

£’000 

Comments on main variances 

Economic Growth 
119 217 98 

Economic Development Expenditure 
Funded from Reserves £142k 

Corporate 

2,304 2,839 535 

Restructuring of budgets in line with 
contract costs which finance service 
improvements, £636k these have been 
factored into the MTFS for 2022/23 
onwards 

Finance 

1,153 655 (498) 

Covid 19 grants from the government 
£404k and sales, fees and charges 
claim £104k for quarter one, less costs 
£186k. Restructuring of budgets in line 
with contract costs which finance 
service improvements saving £241k for 
financial service improvements, these 
have been factored into the MTFS for 
2022/23 onwards 

Governance 60 62 2 Election Costs Lower than expected.   

General Fund Assets 
(1,122) (783) 339 

Reduction in Car Parking Income and 
Income at PRSA. These have been 
offset by Covid Reserve Release £207k 

Leisure and Culture 

457 665 208 

Reduction in Leisure Income which is 
not yet at pre-covid levels. This is to be 
regularly monitored. These have been 
offset by Covid Reserve Release £314k 

Neighbourhoods 
1,368 1,520 152 

Increased Recycling & Refuse costs 
principally £202k due to increased 
number of rounds. 

Planning & Strategic 
Infrastructure 194 160 (34) 

Application Income projected to 
exceeded budget £45k 

Regulatory 
510 540 30 

SLA with ELDC ceased £69k, this has 
been adjusted in the MTFS for 2022/23 

Wellbeing and 
Community Leadership 

1,656 1,934 278 

Restructuring of budgets in line with 
contract costs which finance service 
improvements, £460k additional 
housing homelessness income £92k 
transferred to reserves, these have 
been factored into the MTFS for 
2022/23 onwards Page 182



Table 1 – Projected Net Spend by Assistant Director 

Assistant Director Area 

Revised 
Budget 

2021/22 
 

£’000 

Forecast 
Outturn 
2021/22 

 
£’000 

Variance 
(underspend)/ 

overspend 
  

£’000 

Comments on main variances 

BTAC 716 716 0  

Sub Total – Assistant 
Director – net costs 

7,415 8,525 1,110  

Internal Drainage 
Boards 

2,009 2,009 0  

DRF 1,088 1,317 229 This reflects capital programme activity 

MRP 15 15 0  

Interest Payments 
Received / Return on 
Property Funds 

(522) (326) 196 
Reduction in income during the year 
offset by Covid Reserve 

Reserves (770) (3,329) (2,559) 
This reflects the capital programme 
expenditure and release of reserves to 
offset income pressures. 

Non Service 
Expenditure 

1,820 (314) (2,134)  

Total Expenditure 9,235 8,211 (1,024)  

Council Tax (4,583) (4,583) (0)  

Business Rates (1,327) (1,381) (54) Reduced pooling payment 

Non Ring Fenced 
Government Grant 

(3,325) (1,948) 1,377 
Section 31 grant received in 20/21 
budgeted for here but released from 
reserves above 

External Financing (9,235) (7,912) 1,323  

Total Budget -  
(Surplus)/Deficit 

0 299 299  

 

 

Recommendation: 
F1 That Cabinet notes the forecast revenue position for 2021/22 as detailed in Table 1 after the proposed use 

of reserves. 

Page 183



Reserves 

At 31 March 2022 specific reserves are forecast to be £17.350m, after a net transfer from reserves of £3.329m to 

cover future revenue and capital expenditure.  Table 2 reflects the forecast position. 

Table 2 – Specific and General Reserves Balance Forecast 

Reserve 
Balances at 1 April 

2021 
£’000 

Forecast 
Contributions into 

Reserves 
£’000 

Forecast Use of 
Reserves 

 
£’000 

Forecast Balances 
at 31 March 2022 

£’000 

Capital Funding 5,339 950 (1,234) 5,055 

Transformation 1,745 31 (986) 790 

Repairs and 
Renewals 

725 35 (69) 691 

ICT 276 - (50) 226 

Housing 1,247 287 (61) 1,473 

Controlling 
Migration 

14 - (14) 0 

Insurance 274 - (20) 254 

Property Fund 
Returns Risk 
Mitigation 

1,116 - - 1,116 

Funding Volatility 6,521 0 (1,496) 5,025 

Covid 19 1,422 74 (776) 720 

Specific Reserves 
Total 

18,679 1,377 (4,706) 15,350 

General Fund 2,000 - - 2,000 

Total 20,679 1,377 (4,706) 17,350 

 

Please note the following reserve movements that are due to take place in 2021/22: 

 Capital Funding 

o Additions to – New Homes Bonus, property fund interest, investment payback and revenue payback 

for previous purchases. 

o Use of reserve – for the capital projects: vehicle replacements, noise monitoring equipment, 

resurfacing and footpaths, recycling bin purchases and ICT upgrades. 

 Transformation 

o Additions to – cover costs of future district council elections 

o Use of reserve – Community Champion funding, Sport England and refuse rounds review. 

 Repair and Renewals 

o Additions to – CCTV contributions from other local authorities 

o Use of reserve – Town centre heritage ongoing capital project 

 ICT 

o Use of reserve – ICT infrastructure refresh 

 Housing 

o Additions to – Homelessness funding, rough sleeper initiative and funding from partners for Healthy 

and Accessible Homes Lincs 

o Use of reserve – DASH funding and housing strategy capital project.  

 Controlling Migration 

o Use of reserve – use of grant from previous year for staffing costs 

 Insurance 

o Use of reserve – to cover forecasts for insurance claims made in year 

 

 Page 184



 Funding Volatility  

o Additions to – additional Section 31 grant above budgeted level and CARF funding to be utilised in 

future years. 

o Use of Reserve – to fund business rates deficit and Economic Development Expenditure. 

 Covid 19 

o Additions to – New Burdens funding 

o Use of Reserve – Test and Trace, and to fund income pressures during the year. 

Recommendation: 

F2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
F3 

That Cabinet approves the following reserves movements contained within table 2: - 
 

I. That the Transformation Reserve is utilised to support contracts cost in 2021/22 as the PSPS 
contract value varies in between financial years where initial investment to improve services is 
required in the first 2 years of the contract, with a drawdown of £256,000 supporting this 
investment. 
 

II. That the Capital Reserve is utilised to fund the Cremator Flue Replacement Capital Scheme at a 
cost of £60,000 

 
That Cabinet notes the following reserve movement and recommends approval to Council: - 
 

I. That £729,000 of the COVID Budget Pressures Smoothing reserve is used to offset income 
pressures being experienced during the year, these relate to Car Parking, Leisure, Markets and 
Investment Returns. 
 

II. That Cabinet notes that the use of reserves will be reviewed again as part of the Q4 process and 
consideration given to any further adjustments required. 

 

 

Section 2.3 – Capital Budget 

This section covers: 

 Revisions to the Capital Programme 

 Progress against the 2021/22 approved capital programme and the anticipated outturn 

 Financing of the Capital Programme 

Table 3 – 2021/22 Capital Programme and Q3 Forecast Outturn 

Scheme Approved 
Budget 

2021/22 
 

£000 

Actual 
31 Dec 
 2021 

 
£000 

Forecast 
Outturn 
2021/22 

 
£000 

Variance 
(under)/over  

 
 

£000 

Disabled Facilities Grants 949 426 949 0 

Housing Strategy 56 0 56 0 

Noise Monitoring Equipment 10 10 10 0 

Resurfacing and Footpath 
Improvements 

82 0 82 
0 

Town Centre Heritage Scheme (PSICA 
2) 

1,397 166 1,397 
0 

Multi Use Games Area 23 0 23 0 

Information Technology Refresh 200 50 200 0 

ICT Finance Upgrade via PSPS 634 620 634 0 

Ford Transit Tipper Van 2.0 TDCi x 2 22 0 22 0 

Refuse Vehicle 170 11 170 0 Page 185



Table 3 – 2021/22 Capital Programme and Q3 Forecast Outturn 

Scheme Approved 
Budget 

2021/22 
 

£000 

Actual 
31 Dec 
 2021 

 
£000 

Forecast 
Outturn 
2021/22 

 
£000 

Variance 
(under)/over  

 
 

£000 

Ransomes Mower 20 0 20 0 

Ford Vans x 2 23 0 23 0 

Recycling Bin Purchase 24 0 24 0 

Total Non-Towns Fund Schemes 3,610 1,283 3,610 0 
     

Boston Town Deal – Accelerated 
Funding 

400 150 400 
0 

Towns Fund – Mayflower (NEW) 108 0 108 0 

Towns Fund – St Botolph’s Library 
(NEW) 

228 0 228 0 

Towns Fund – Centre for Food and 
Fresh Produce Logistics (NEW) 

401 0 401 0 

Towns Fund – Blenkin Memorial Hall 
(NEW) 

808 0 808 0 

Towns Fund – Healing the High Street 
(NEW) 

35 0 35 0 

Towns Fund – Boston Station (NEW) 3 0 3 0 

Total Towns Fund Schemes 1,983 150 1,983 0 
     

Total (including new items) 5,593 1,433 5,593 0 

 

 

Table 4 – Capital Programme – Comments on Delivery  

Scheme Comments 

Noise Monitoring 
Equipment 

Scheme fully delivered. 

Resurfacing and 
Footpath 
Improvements 

Continuation of previous scheme across various sites although 
predominantly around Boston Cemetery and Crematorium. Project 
delivery expected in March 2022 although may slip into 2022/23. 

Ford Vans x 2 
Order placed, vehicles expected to be received in year. Long lead times 
for vehicle orders which are subject to delays. 

Recycling Bin Purchase 
Procurement process ongoing, delivery of bins expected within the 
current financial year. 

 

The capital programme is currently being fundamentally reviewed to ensure schemes are deliverable and phased 

correctly across financial years. This process will be completed in due course and the capital programme updated for 

quarter three reporting.  

Revisions to the Capital Programme 

1. Towns Fund – Mayflower – Request to add £108k for the Towns Fund project – Mayflower into the Capital 

Programme. Scheme is fully financed by external grant. Project approved by Delegated Authority on 20 

December 2021. 

2. Towns Fund – St Botolph’s Library – Request to add £228k for the Towns Fund project – St Botolph’s Library 

into the Capital Programme. Scheme is fully financed by external grant. Project approved by Delegated 

Authority on 20 December 2021. 

3. Towns Fund – Centre for Food and Fresh Produce Logistics – Request to add £401k for the Towns Fund 

project – Centre for Food and Fresh Produce Logistics into the Capital Programme. Scheme is fully financed 

by external grant. Project approved by Delegated Authority on 20 December 2021. Page 186



4. Towns Fund – Blenkin Memorial Hall – Request to add £808k for the Towns Fund project – Blenkin 

Memorial Hall into the Capital Programme. Scheme is fully financed by external grant. Project approved by 

Delegated Authority on 20 December 2021. 

5. Towns Fund – Healing the High Street – Request to add £35k for the Towns Fund project – Mayflower into 

the Capital Programme. Scheme is fully financed by external grant. Project approved by Delegated Authority 

on 20 December 2021. 

6. Towns Fund – Boston Station – Request to add £3k for the Towns Fund project – Mayflower into the Capital 

Programme. Scheme is fully financed by external grant. Project approved by Delegated Authority on 20 

December 2021. 

7. Cremator Flue Replacement – Asset inspection has found the requirement for capital enhancements to the 

flue for repair works. It is requested that this is added into the 2022/23 Capital Programme at £60k. 

Recommendation: 
F4 That Cabinet approves the Cremator Flue Replacement Scheme at a cost of £60,000 be added to the 

Capital Programme. 

 

Capital Receipts 

There are no Capital Receipts this period. 

Capital Financing 

The current Capital Programme is financed from reserves and external borrowing in line with the Capital Strategy. 

Table 5 indicates the forecast capital resources available to the Council at the end of 2021/22.  The estimated 

position for the following two years is also provided. 

Table 5 – Capital Resources 

 
2020/21 

£’000 
2021/22 

£’000 
2022/23 

£’000 
Capital Resources* available at start of each year 5,822 5,578 5,294 

Capital Investment (estimate in future years) (3,436) (5,593) (6,762) 

Additional Sources of Finance    

- New Capital Receipts (estimate in future years) - - - 

- Funding from other reserves and internal borrowing 193 175 170 

- External Grants 1,449 4,253 4,874 

- Revenue Contributions - - - 

- External borrowing - - - 

- Budgeted contributions to capital reserve 1,565 950 333 

- Minimum Revenue Provision (15) (15) (15) 

- Transfer from Capital Reserve to support ongoing projects - (54) (100) 

Estimated Capital Resources* at end of each year 5,578 5,294 4,364 

* Capital Reserve and Capital Receipts 

Section 2.4 – Treasury Management 

Investments at 31 December 2021 

During the financial year the Council has made investments in line with the agreed Treasury Management Strategy. 

Detailed in Table 6 are the investments held by the Council at 31st December 2021 excluding accrued interest.  Note 

this represents the position at this one point in time.  The peaks and troughs in cash flow are managed on a daily 

basis.  Because the Council collects money on behalf of other organisations which are paid out at future dates (e.g. 

Council Tax and Business Rates) the value of investments held at any point in time does not represent the value of 

Boston’s own resources. 

Page 187



Table 6 – Investments as at 31 December 2021 

Financial Institution Amount (£) Maturity Date Yield 

HSBC Bank  10,505,000 Instant Access  0.01% 

CCLA Money Market Fund  3,000,000 Instant Access   0.13% 

Barclays Bank 3,000,000 95-day notice 0.15% 

Lloyds Bank 3,000,000 95-day notice 0.05% 

Santander 3,000,000 95-day notice 0.40% 

Bank of Scotland  2,000,000 175-day notice 0.06% 

TOTAL 24,505,000   

 

 

Maturity Structure at 31 December 2021 

Duration Amount (£) Percentage of Total 

Less than one week 13,505,000 30% 

Less than one month 0,000,000   0% 

One to three months 0,000,000   0% 

Three to six months 11,000,000 24% 

Six to nine months 0,000,000   0% 

Nine to twelve months 0,000,000   0% 

More than twelve months 20,989,786 24% 

 

The Council has purchased property fund units and the table below provides a breakdown in relation to the purchase 

of these units: 

Fund Date of 
Purchase 

Net Asset 
Value at Date 
of Purchase 

£ 

Premium/ 
(Discount) on 

Purchase 
£ 

Premium/ 
(Discount) on 

Purchase 
% 

Total Cost 
 
 

£ 

Black Rock UK Property 
Fund  

 

 

05/08/16 
30/12/16 
28/09/18 
TOTAL 

255,085 
255,085 

3,945,592 
4,455,762 

(5,102) 
(5,103) 
54,449 
44,244 

(2.00) 
(2.00) 
1.38 
0.99 

249,983 
249,982 

4,000.041 
4,500,006 

Schroder UK Real 
Estate Fund 

05/08/16 
03/09/18 
TOTAL 

250,000 
4,020,006 
4,270,006 

- 
(20,000) 
(20,000) 

 

- 
(0.50) 
(0.47) 

250,000 
4,000,006 
4,250,006 

Threadneedle Property 
Unit Trust 

31/08/16 
31/08/18 
28/09/18 
31/10/18 
TOTAL 

263,549 
2,902,441 

483,966 
483,930 

4,133,886 

(13,177) 
86,572 
16,116 
16,357 

105,868 

(5.00) 
2.98 
3.33 
3.38 
2.56 

 

250.372 
2,989,013 

500,082 
500,287 

4,239,754 

M&G Investments UK 
Property Fund 

 
14/09/18 

 
3,911,980 

 
88,020 

 
2.25 

 
4,000,000 

AEW UK Core Property 
Fund 

 
31/10/18 

 
3,745,319 

 
254,681 

 
6.80 

 
4,000,000 

TOTAL  
20,516,953 472,813 2.30 20,989,766 

Page 188



Property Fund Investments as at 31st December 2021 

 

The Projected Annualised Distribution Yield is the projected yield for the year based on dividends already received during the current financial year.  

The 2021/22 Annualised Fund Capital Gain/Loss is the projected gain/loss in the capital value of the fund since the start of the financial year calculated by 

reference to the change in the Net Asset Value from 31 March 2021 to the period end. 

The estimated combined return is the total of the Projected Dividend Distribution Yield and the Annualised Fund Capital Gain/Loss. 

Financial Institution Purchase 
Cost 
(£) 

Estimates 
Revenue 
Received 

2021/22 (£) 

Projected 
Annualised 
Distribution 

Yield 
2021/22 

 

Net  Asset 
 Value  

(£) 

Total 
Gain/(Loss) 

Since 
Purchase (£) 

Monthly 
Gain/ 
(Loss) 

(£) 

2021/22 
Annualised 

Fund Capital 
Gain/(Loss) 

Since 1/4/21 

2021/22 
Estimated 
Combined 

Return 

BlackRock UK Property Fund  4,500,006 
85,331 

2.90% 
Estimate 

4,896,936 396,929 138,944 14.91% 17.81% 

Schroder UK Real Estate 
Fund  

4,250,006 
88,310 

3.30% 
Estimate 

4,710,110 460,104 144,772 14.20% 17.50% 

Threadneedle Property Unit 
Trust 

4,239,754 

108,982 

3.72% 
Estimate 

4,339,440 99,686 138,170 

 

17.69% 21.41% 

M&G Investments 

UK Property Fund 

4,000,000 

87,341 

3.26% 
Estimate 

3,883,123 (116,877) 172,724 15.47% 18.73% 

AEW UK Core Property Fund  4,000,000 
103,534 

4.94% 
Estimate 

3,954,558 (45,442) 114,456 16.13% 21.07% 

         

TOTAL 20,989,766 473,498  21,784,167 794,400 709,066   

P
age 189



Please note that this is the position as at 31 December 2021 and the capital values will fluctuate year on year. 

An analysis of dividend distributions received and borrowing costs incurred since the purchase of the property funds to 31 December 2021 can be found in 

the table below: 

 

Financial Institution Actual   Dividend 
Distributions 
Received Pre 

2021/22 

Budgeted 
Distribution  
for 2021/22 

Estimated 
Dividend 

Distributions 
Received 2021/22 

Total 
Distributions 

Received Since 
Purchase 

BlackRock UK Property Fund  400,232 106,665 85,331 485,563 

Schroder UK Real Estate Fund  336,300 106,665 88,310 424,610 

Threadneedle Property Unit Trust 467,273 118,670 108,982 576,255 

M&G Investments UK Property Fund  342,569 80,000 87,341 429,910 

AEW UK Core Property Fund 441,967 96,000 103,534 545,501 

Total Revenue 1,988,341 508,000 473,498 2,461,839 

Borrowing Costs   (903,772) (254,926)  (254,926) (1,158,698) 

Net Revenue Position 1,084,569  253,074  218,572 1,303,141 

P
age 190



Return on Investments 

The Council’s 2021/22 budget for investment income is £801k. At the end of November 2021 investment income 

earned was estimated to be approximately £487.6k which was £46.4k below the profiled budget.  This figure is still an 

estimate as the actual returns on all property funds to 31 December 2021 are not likely to be known until the end Feb 

2022.  

Treasury investments achieved an average rate of 0.096% compared to the benchmark average 3-month LIBID rate of 

0.039%. 

Property fund investments are estimated to have achieved an estimated average rate of 3.43%. 

The combined rate achieved on all investments was estimated to be approximately 1.704%. 

Borrowing 

The Council has £15.449m of external borrowing as per the table below. 

 

Entity Amount (£) Start Date Maturity Date Rate 

Public Works Loan Board 10,000,000 10/12/2018 10/12/2068 2.54% 

Public Works Loan Board   4,000,000 13/12/2018 13/12/2068 2.42% 

Public Works Loan Board 
 

  1,449,000 27/03/2019 27/03/2069 2.18% 

TOTAL 15,449,000   2.475% 

Average 

 

Interest costs for 2021/22 on this borrowing are £382,388. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 191



Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) Borrowing Rates 

As at 31 December 2021 the 50 year PWLB certainty rate was 1.75%. 

 

  

Summary 

Interest rates rose but remained low during December 2021.  The Bank of England Base Rate rose from 0.1% to 

0.25% in December. Market expectations have moved towards a further rate hike before the end of Qu1 2022. This 

is dependent on the economy continuing to rebound, the Covid pandemic remaining stable and inflationary 

pressures continuing.   

Rates on new investments with financial institutions and local authorities now range from 0.02% for one-month 

deposits through to 0.60% for one-year deposits. One year deposit rates have doubled from August, reflecting the 

Base rate rise of 0.15% and the market sentiment that rates may rise again before financial year end. 

It is pleasing to see that property fund valuations remain on an upward trend and during December 2021 the 

property fund valuations increased by £709,066.  This is the fifteenth consecutive month where the combined 

valuations have increased. 

PWLB borrowing rates have risen during December. PWLB rates, especially long dates such as 50yrs, have risen due 

to the Bank of England base rate rising to 0.25% and expectation that interest rates will rise in the coming months to 

curb inflation concerns. 

Risks prevail in the financial markets and are subject to a continued high level of scrutiny with any significant issues 

arising being reported to the Council’s Audit and Governance Committee. Changes to credit ratings of financial 

institutions are monitored daily and where required reported to the Section 151 Officer for an agreed course of 

action to be taken. 

 

 

Page 192



Section 2.5 – Insurance 

2021/22 Claims Statistics 

Table 7 details the number of formal insurance claims for Quarter 3 of 2021/22 (figures in brackets are comparable 

figures for 2020/21). 

Table 7 – Insurance Claims 

 Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Total 

Public Liability 0(1) 2(1) 0(2) (0) 2(4) 

Employers Liability 0(1) 0(0) 0(0) (0) 0(1) 

Motor 2(1) 2(1) 1(2) (1) 5(5) 

Property 0(0) 0(0) 0(1) (0) 0(1) 

Officers Indemnity 0(0) 0(0) 0(2) (1) 0(3) 

Total 2(3) 4(2) 1(7) (2) 7(14) 

 

Insurance Reserves 

The Council maintains an insurance reserve for smaller value insurance claims where the losses are below the 

principal deductible of £25,000.   

At the end of 2020/21 the balance on the reserve was £274k, and this balance is monitored on a regular basis to 

ensure that the value of the reserve is sufficient to meet future liabilities. 

Section 2.6 – Debt Collection 

A review of debts is undertaken every month, and monitoring is reported against targets.  In line with the new 

financial procedure limits there are no debts in excess of £50,000 requiring Executive Board approval for write off.  

Debts below this level have been submitted to the s151 Officer and Portfolio Holder for write off. 

An analysis of the sundry debts the Council held as at 31 December 2021 is show in Table 8. 

Table 8 – Sundry Debt Analysis 

0-30 days 
 

£ 

31-60 days 
 

£ 

61-90 days 
 

£ 

91-120 
days 

 
£ 

121-183 
days 

£ 

184-365 
days 

£ 

Over 365 
days 

£ 

Total 
 

£ 

191,636 251,814 88,807 226,857 31,133 151,350 189,131 1,130,728 

 

Note: This does not include details of invoice amounts (£61,589) that are not yet due 

Section 2.7 – Council Tax and Business Rates 

Council Tax Support Scheme (CTS) 

Following the statutory annual review during 2020/21, the 2021/22 scheme remains unchanged from the previous 

year, allowing for national up-ratings.  This scheme continues to support the Government’s Welfare Reform agenda 

to bring further reductions to the national benefits bill. The scheme sustains the required protection of those of 

pension age, protects vulnerable customers and encourages people into employment.  

Quarter 3 collection rate remains lower than pre-covid levels, and there remains some uncertainty of the overall 

ongoing impact of covid. In recognition, we continue to remain prudent in setting the bad debt provision in this area. 

 

 

Page 193



Council Tax – Quarter3 In-Year Collection 

The collectable debit for the year at 31 December 2021 was £38.1m with a collection rate of 77.93% achieved at 31 

December 2021 (78.26% at 31 December 2020). 

Business Rates 

Table 9 – 2021/22 Business Rates Retention 

 

Base Estimate 
included in 

2021/22 budget 
£ 

Forecast position 
at 31 March 2022 

 
£ 

(Surplus)/Deficit 
in 2021/22 – will 

impact next year’s 
budget 

£ 

Non Domestic rating income for the year (20,507,213) (15,067,420) 5,439,793 

Less: LCC share (10% for 21/22) 2,050,721 1,506,742 (543,979) 

Less: Government Share (50% for 21/22) 10,253,607 7,533,710 (2,719,897) 

Boston Borough Council’s income (excluding 
renewables) (40% for 21/22) 

(8,202,885) (6,026,968) 2,175,917 

 

The position in Table 9 shows a large deficit against the base estimate, the main reason for this is the retail discount 

offered by the government in response to the Coronavirus pandemic to assist retailers. This discount will be 

reimbursed by the government however due to the way the Collection Fund is accounted for the income is received 

in 2021/22 but the Business Rates deficit will not be seen in the Council’s accounts until 2022/23. As a result of this 

circa £752k of additional income is due to be received in 2021/22 and this will need to be transferred into reserves at 

the end of the financial year for use in the 2022/23 budget. The difference between this income and the deficit 

above is due to a reduction in gross rates across all businesses which is being closely monitored. 

Business Rates Appeals 

Except in certain circumstance, new appeals can no longer be made against the 2010 list. 

As at 31 December 2021 the Rateable Value amount for properties under appeal in 2010 list (excluding multiple 

appeals for the same property) was £2.1m, relating to 8 properties on the latest list of outstanding appeals. 94% of 

this value comes from just 1 property and does present some significant risk to the overall level of collectable debit 

should these appeals be successful, leading to significant reductions in rateable value. The appeals provision 

(£2.232m) is considered sufficient to cover the potential impact of these appeals. 

Business Rates – 2021/22 In-Year Collection 

The collectable debit for the year to 31 December 2021 is £17.4m with a collection rate of 78.20% achieved at 31 

December 2021 (82.33% 31 December 2020). The target collection rate for 2021/22 remains at the pre-covid level of 

97.1%, and the forecast will be reviewed during quarter 4. Following the reduction from 100% to 66% in the COVID 

related additional reliefs from July 2021, the increased collectable debit will be payable over the remainder of the 

financial year. Due to the continued application of some COVID related additional reliefs in 2021/22 the collectable 

debit remains lower than usual. Collection rates compared to the previous financial year is less meaningful than 

usual.   

The government has recently announced the Covid Additional Relief Fund (CARF) to provide rate relief support in 

2021/22 for businesses impacted by covid but who have not been supported through other relief schemes.  The 

scheme for BBC is currently being developed. 

 

 

Page 194



Additional revenue budget notes 

Income 

The Council has a number of demand-led budget areas which are reliant on income for services provided. 

Table 10 – Trading Income Budgets 

Income Area 

Revised 
Budget to 31 

December 
2021 

 
£’000 

Actual 
Income to 

31 
December 

2021 
 

£’000 

 
 

Variance 
(above)/ 

below 
budget 

 
£’000 

Comments 

GF - Car Parking, 
Bereavement, and Property  

(1,926) (1,660) (267) Income has suffered in Parking, with 
reduced income in bereavement 

Leisure Pool, and Markets 
(1,002) (678) (325) 

Leisure Pool has seen a £313k fall 
off, with Market experiencing a 
£10k shortfall due to Covid 

Neighbourhoods – Office 
Cleaning, Recycling (959) (1,028) 69  

Extra Cleaner for DWP, Garden 
Waste income above budget 

Development Management 
(566) (670) 104  

Application income has exceeded 
full year target 

Regulatory – Land Charges, 
Licences 

(391) (381) (10) 

Vacant Post, reduced Income, 
Tranche 1 of land charges income 
due before 31.03.2022 

Bed & Breakfast (54) (56) 3  Increase in Income 

Total (4,898) (4,473) (426)  

 

Page 195



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
 

REPORT TO: CABINET 

DATE: 30th March 2022 

SUBJECT: 

PURPOSE:  

Boston Leisure project – Full Business Case for Towns Fund 

To consider a report which provides detail on the proposals and the 

Full Business Case (Draft at Appendix A), and subject to any 

amendments, that the business case be submitted to the 

Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC), 

following approval by the Boston Town Deal Board. The Business 

Case being approved by DLUHC is a gateway to the Council being 

able to draw down project funding awarded in the offer Heads of 

Terms from HM Government, following approval of the Town 

Investment Plans in March 2021. 

To provide an update on the project, in collaboration with Boston 

College - both elements being brought forward in connection with 

the Boston Town Deal and the Town Investment Plan. 

KEY DECISION: YES 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Cllrs Welton & Abbott 

REPORT AUTHOR: Mike Gildersleeves  

WARD(S) AFFECTED: Skirbeck - but relevant to all Wards due to facility usage 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY 

These proposals form part of the Heads of Terms for a Boston Town Deal which were confirmed 

in March 2021 for £21.9m and subsequently seven projects were confirmed with the 

Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC), including improved Leisure 

facilities for Boston. The Leisure project has been allocated £2,425,092 of Towns Fund monies, 

pending Full Business Case approval due to be submitted in March 2022. 

The Boston Leisure project proposes to transform the existing Geoff Moulder Leisure Centre 
site, through significant remodelling and refurbishment. The central aim is to provide improved 
and remodelled facilities to support the wider area's health and wellbeing.  
 
The Boston Leisure project is proposed to be brought forward in collaboration with the 
Mayflower (Boston College) which is the flagship Towns Fund project. The proposed location of 
the Mayflower centre is adjacent to the Leisure Centre and is providing a distinct opportunity 
to enable the wider regeneration of both sites including Rowley Road and the areas adjacent to 

Page 197

Agenda Item 9



 

 

the Maud Foster Drain. This combined project would aim to a single site/campus/village - with 
the potential to address Boston’s health, education, leisure and well-being needs, as well as 
meeting the requirements of the Towns Fund for the regeneration of place and providing 
improved facilities for residents both in the immediate area and wider Borough. Both the 
Council and Boston College have vested interests owing to existing land holdings, but also an 
established operational relationship between the two sites. 
 
This report is a follow on from the report presented to Cabinet in January 2022 (Boston leisure 
project: Towns Fund - Mayflower and Leisure campus). 
 
The five case business case is based on the Towns Fund Delivery Partner Stage 2 template and is 

comprised of the Strategic Case, Economic Case, Financial Case, Commercial Case and 

Management Case. The business case sets out the required information to enable DLUHC to 

approve the funding allocated to this project. Following approval of the Council 

Once approved the Council will be able to draw down the funding required within the overall 

timeframe of the Towns Fund deal. It is important to note that the business case document is not 

a delivery plan at this stage. There will be further development of the business case and other 

project milestones before the Council commits to the building contract. These future milestones 

will enable the Council to further review the overall development costs, in use revenue costs, and 

operating model for example.  

The Business case should be read in conjunction with the following documents to provide the 

overriding context for investment into the project and delivery of the stated objectives: 

• Boston Town Deal Investment Plan (TIP); 

• Government approved Towns Fund project variation. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. That Cabinet agrees the formal submission of the business case to Government, and 

approve delegation to the DCX - Growth in consultation with the Deputy Leader to make 

any necessary amendments to the business case prior to its submission.  

 

2. That Cabinet agrees the principle of additional ‘phase 2’ works, which do not form part of 

the main business case and will not be funded through the Town Deal, and instructs 

officers to bring forward a separate costed business case around the repurposing of 

relevant parts of the site for alternative uses including community and health.   

 

 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

To enable the Councils to progress the project to the delivery stage and draw down the allocated 

project funding.   

Page 198



 

 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Do nothing. This option would require the project to be withdrawn from the Towns Fund 

programme and seek DLUHC approval to reallocate the funding to another project within the 

Town Investment Plan for Boston, or lose the opportunity of the funding. Given the messaging 

from DLHUC recently regarding project variations and the need for the Business Cases to be 

completed promptly, there is a significant risk that the funding could be lost. 

The allocated match funding would also be removed from the Council’s capital programme.  

This option is not recommended as the project has significant benefits for the residents of the 

Borough, and is part of a wider regenerative opportunity including the flagship Mayflower project. 

Considering both projects together has the potential to deliver much greater benefit. The scheme 

is considered to be deliverable subject to the identification of funding and as set out in the 

business case, offers value for money and will provide the catalyst for the rejuvenation and 

reinvigoration of an important asset for the town. The proposals contribute to a number of areas 

where the town scores lowly (including health and well-being indicators) and encouraging footfall 

to the town. Doing nothing would lose this opportunity as the Council would be unlikely to be 

able to fund and support such a project were it not for the Towns Fund. This option would also 

erode the partnership with Boston College and undermine the Councils reputation. 

Doing nothing over the medium to long term will also reinforce a sense of decline in the local 

community. The visual amenity of the local built environment will remain low and deter the ability 

of local partners and businesses to attract repeat visits to the local area. It will represent a failure 

to deliver the opportunities for our local communities included within the Boston Town 

Investment Plan and Heads of Term offer from HM Government.  

 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1. Heads of Terms for a Boston Town Deal were confirmed in March 2021 for £21.9m and 

subsequently seven projects were confirmed with the Department for Levelling Up, Housing 

and Communities (DLUHC), including improved Leisure facilities for Boston. The Leisure 

project has been allocated £2,425,092 of Towns Fund monies, pending Full Business Case 

approval due to be submitted by the end of March 2022. 

 

1.2. This report is a follow on from the report presented to Cabinet in January 2022 (Boston 

leisure project: Towns Fund - Mayflower and Leisure campus). Within that report a number 

of recommendations were made and agreed, including agreement to the principle of the 

project, and that the proposals be worked up in more detail and that the Full Business Case 

be developed in readiness for submission. The decision for this was taken as a Leader’s 

decision on the 25th January 2022 and can be seen here: https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-

content/uploads/2022/01/Decision-Notices-25-January-22.pdf 
 

1.3. The proposals for Boston Leisure (working title) seek to refurbish and remodel the Geoff 

Moulder Leisure Centre, provide an opportunity to improve this much loved and well-used 

Page 199

https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Decision-Notices-25-January-22.pdf
https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Decision-Notices-25-January-22.pdf


 

 

facility, whilst modernising it, improving operational efficiency and providing opportunities 

to improve its long term sustainability. The aim is for this facility to be open in September 

2024, with first full year of operation being 2025/26. 

 

1.4. A significant amount of work has been undertaken in a short space of time to develop the 

proposals for the GMLC. The proposals seek to raise aspiration, generate interest and 

provide a multifunctional space which can be accessible for a variety of users from all areas 

of the community. The buildings themselves will provide a unique blend of improved leisure 

facilities; and flexible areas which can be used to collaborate with other partners such as 

health and commercial providers. Collectively they offer the potential to derive significant 

positive outcomes for people in education/attainment, health and well-being, and skills. In 

summary the core improvements to the centre include: 

• Increased gym enabling 90% increase in fitness space and two studios (100% 

increase) 

• A new wet ‘changing village’ directly accessed from the main entrance foyer, which 

serves both the leisure pool and training pool.  

• The changing village will provide a more gender-neutral changing facility, including 

single, double, family and disabled changing cubicles.  The training pool, primarily 

used by schools and swimming clubs has simpler group changing facilities with 

adjoining access to the changing village.   

• Direct views of the leisure pool on entering the building reinforcing the sense of 

arrival and one of the core activities in the leisure centre. 

• There will be a single main entrance and reception / concierge for staff to greet 

the public and manage access to both pool facilities and the gym. 

 

1.5. Through collaboration with Boston College’s Mayflower project, there is the opportunity to 

create a single space comprised of a campus/village, which brings together health/well-

being, leisure and recreation with education, which places a new public space at its heart.  

 

This has the following benefits: 

• Creation of a ‘landmark’ destination, in relatively close proximity to the Town 

Centre and accessible to a wider number of people by sustainable means including 

on foot. 

• Maximising the synergies between the existing and future educational and leisure 

offer 

• Increased footfall, and improved ‘dwell time’ - potential to improve safety and 

security 

• Improved sense of place and visual improvement to public and private spaces 

• Raised profile - better integration with surrounding environment. 

 

1.6. Bringing these two projects together (leisure and Mayflower) maximizes the opportunity, 

and creates the collective ambition to deliver on the Towns Fund vision, and its sub-aims of: 

 

• An entrepreneurial community 

• A connected community 

• A health community 

Page 200



 

 

• An inclusive community 

• An aspirational community 

The core aim is provide improved access to unique leisure and learning facilities with 

innovative and welcoming places where positive change can be derived and aspirations 

raised. Thus bringing this together as a single project has potential for significant 

improvement for the existing community in the immediate area, and those of the wider 

Borough and surrounding areas, in particular those who are or will be users of the facilities. 

 

2.  REPORT 

 

2.1. The proposals are at an advanced concept stage (RIBA Stage 2), sufficient to enable the 

Business Case to be prepared and submitted to the Boston Town Deal Board, and DLUHC. 

Members should note that the full financial implications will need to be approved by Full 

Council, and fully incorporated into the Council’s Capital Programme once those details have 

been finalised and all funding options considered for any additional budget requirement 

considered. 

 

2.2. Support from this project in principle has been secured by the earlier decision taken in 

January 2022. In addition, that decision also secured delegations sufficient to enable the 

proposals to be worked up to a planning application and to enable the business case to be 

developed; utilisation of resources to appoint internal or external capacity to form a project 

team; and to look to obtain appraisal of the future funding streams and potential delivery 

partners. These decisions have enabled us to get to where we are now.  

 

2.3. Members may also wish to note that the development of this project is an evolution of the 

scheme presented to them in 2020. Members will recall earlier debate regarding the 

relationship between GMLC, Boston College, the Mayflower project, and a replacement 

leisure provision on PE21. All of which were connected to the Towns Fund. In particular, at 

the Full Council meeting (26/10/20) useful statements and feedback was provided by 

Members, particularly around some key principles, these were: 

 

• Timing of delivery - The need to align design and construction of the replacement 
facility before disposal of GMLC, and the need to reassure the public of this; 

• Information - Members to be kept informed given the decision would be a matter that 
should be a decision of Full Council; 

• Consultation - The need to ensure appropriate consultation with Members and the 
public as the GMLC was a vital community service; 

• Design - Need for clarity on facilities to be included, particularly around the pool and 
training pool and where these would be; 

• Value for Money - Need to consider the level of historic investment in refurbishing 
GMLC;The lack of clarity as to whether there was to be a new pool or whether it was 
planned to incorporate the existing pool within the proposed Mayflower Centre; 
 

2.4. The project has evolved as a result of the points raised previously by Members, as well as 

discussions with Boston College, the Town Deal Board, and Government. It is no longer 

proposed to relocate this facility to PE21, and a project variation has been secured from 

Page 201



 

 

Government. Members will note that the scheme now involves the remodelling and 

refurbishment of the existing GMLC facility with the retention of the existing pool provision. 

All other points relating to timing; delivery and consultation are at the forefront of the 

thinking for the project moving forward. 

 

2.5. There is a synergy between the Leisure project and the Mayflower project being put forward 

by Boston College. As set out above and within the Business Case, this creates the conditions 

for both proposals to come together as a single project, providing a transformational 

opportunity to achieve a number of key objectives as highlighted earlier. Members should 

note that at the Town Deal Board meeting on 23/2/22, the board agreed to support the 

direction of travel of these two projects, unanimously agreeing that the two schemes 

together have the potential to deliver significant transformational outcomes, as well as 

greater value for money. Similar views have also been expressed by the Government 

representatives we are working with on the Towns Fund. 

 

2.6. We now need to move forward, at pace. We need to submit the Full Business Case to enable 

the funding to be secured. This Full Business Case has been developed in conjunction with 

Max Associates, who have considerable experience in this field, particularly in relation to 

leisure projects. Successful submission and approval of the business case would enable us 

to move in to the delivery phase for the project, including developing out the concept to 

detailed design (RIBA Stage 4), and to constructional stage. There would then be a period of 

formal procurement, prior to the construction phase (RIBA Stages 5 &6). It is in these later 

phases that the detailed costs will be known and options for savings/value engineering 

identified. It is proposed that the Council be supported on this journey through the retention 

of a multi-disciplinary team wo are already familiar with the project and are also 

collaborating with Boston College. 

 

2.7. There is a roadmap towards the next stage of development based on the established RIBA 

stages of project delivery, with a shared professional team (led by YMD Boon) who are 

working collaboratively on both the Boston Leisure and Mayflower proposals. The 

professional team being funded through the 5% initial funding provided through the Town 

Deal. 

 

2.8. The intention is that consultation and stakeholder engagement would take place in the 

coming months to refine the proposals, prior to the submission of a formal Planning 

Application which will take place in 2022. The ideal scenario would be for both the Leisure 

and Mayflower projects to be brought forward together given the emphasis of them acting 

as a single village/campus approach with shared public space between. Members will be 

aware of the Councils’ statutory role in this as decision-maker as the Local Planning 

Authority, following a community consultation exercise as required under planning law. 

 

2.9. The proposals being brought forward are considered to represent a deliverable scheme 

which would meet the Towns Fund objectives, and represents a business case for investment 

in the asset. The proposals would require investment by the Council, this is set out later in 

this report under the relevant section. In summary however there is a significant benefit 

from investing in this proposal now, in light of the additional funding available through the 

Towns Fund. Doing so provides the opportunity to ensure that this asset is a quality facility, 

Page 202



 

 

and is sustainable in the medium term. This is in preference to other options such as a new 

build facility, which is not considered to be a deliverable option owing to the costs involved 

in such a scheme, set against a backdrop of uncertainty of leisure investment from the 

private sector. 

 

2.10. Regarding funding and financial matters, detail is set out later in this report and also within 

the Business Case itself. In summary: 

 

Table 1 – Boston Leisure project Towns Fund 

A Total cost of physical works – including demolition, new 
extension, refurbishment works to main pool and training 
pool, external works and shared space – inc piazza/plaza split 
50:50 with Mayflower, and adjustment for Consequential 
Improvements 

£6.13m 

B Fees/Surveys  £0.67m 

C Contingency @ 5% £0.34m 

D Total cost £7.14m 

   

E Towns Fund allocation £2.42m 

F BBC funding – previously identified  £2.5m 

G Shortfall to be funded by BBC (D – (E+F) £2.2m 

   

H VAT - It should be noted that the above does not include VAT 
@ 20%. Assuming no recoverable VAT this would increase the 
funding gap by £1.4m. 

£1.4m 

I Additional contingency – Officers consider that it is prudent to 
account for further project contingency – providing allowances 
for construction cost increases, project consultancy and 
potential contribution towards fit-out/equipment. A 20% of 
overall physical construction cost is considered reasonable. 

£0.21m 

J Total Capital Investment required (if H and I) cannot be 
mitigated  (G+H+I) 

£3.81m 

   

 

 

As can be seen above gap that would require funding by the Council. Presently estimated at 

c£3.81m, however it is considered that this gap can be closed as the detailed designs are 

developed (RIBA Stage 2-4 development) and once clarity on the VAT position is available.  

There are options available to the Council on how this could be funded including, use of 

Reserves, Borrowing, securing additional funding (non-Towns Fund) or a combination of 

each. Officers consider that there is sufficient opportunity to consider the most appropriate 

method of bridging this shortfall as the project develops. It must be remembered that this 

project would in part off-set necessary lifetime costs associated with maintenance (including 

addressing a backlog – c£2.5m), offer opportunities for additional revenue (income), address 

operational and energy efficiency and offer opportunities for other revenue savings and 

improve the overall net trading position of the facility. 

 

Page 203



 

 

2.11. In addition to the above, given the changes that would be made to the front of the building, 

a number of the facilities contained within the rear building (current gym) would be 

relocated. Thus this building would remain, but would be available to be repurposed. This 

does not strictly fall within the Towns Fund project (given the funding constraints) however, 

there is potential for this building to be refurbished and repurposed at the same time. This 

building is circa 20 years old. Within the proposals, this building would have the potential to 

form a more community focused facility, offering rooms which could be hired out – for 

example for physiotherapy and other consultancies, private classes and groups, parties etc. 

The Council is already aware of latent demand for such spaces. In addition, there is potential 

for the building to provide an opportunity for community out-reach health services. Health 

partners have indicated a desire to potentially locate some out-reach type facilities within 

the building, subject to space and rental costs being agreed.  

 

2.12. It is therefore considered that undertaking the work to this building as part of the overall 

construction project would be sensible, as it would further open up opportunities for 

increased revenue generation, would make best use of an existing building, reduce future 

maintenance liabilities and would reduce running costs of this element. Again, these support 

the long-term sustainability of the asset, and would off-set necessary repairs and 

maintenance (R&M) works required which are currently unfunded. A high-level estimate of 

c£0.6m (based on £1000 m/sq for these works is believed reasonable, although there is a 

need for additional contingency and professional fees.  A high-level estimation of the future 

revenue from this element being c£50-100k per annum. It is noted that some of these 

revenue streams could be via ‘anchor’ tenants such as health and thus provide more secure 

revenue which could be used to service any debts from borrowing. Broadly speaking there 

is considered to be a business case to support this investment, but further work is required 

to understand this. It is recommended that Members support the principle of the inclusion 

of this element in to the overall project works, subject to there being a sufficient business 

case to do so. 

 

2.13. Based on the above, bringing together the capital investment at para 2.10 plus the works to 

the health suite: 

 

Table 2 – Boston Leisure project Towns Fund & additional works to health suite 

 

A Total cost of physical works – including demolition, new 
extension, refurbishment works to main pool and training 
pool, external works and shared space – inc piazza/plaza split 
50:50 with Mayflower, and adjustment for Consequential 
Improvements 

£6.13m 

B Fees/Surveys  £0.67m 

C Contingency @ 5% £0.34m 

D Total cost £7.14m 

   

E Towns Fund allocation £2.42m 

F BBC funding – previously identified  £2.5m 

G Shortfall to be funded by BBC (D – (E+F) £2.2m 

   

Page 204



 

 

H VAT - It should be noted that the above does not include VAT 
@ 20%. Assuming no recoverable VAT this would increase the 
funding gap by £1.4m.  

£1.4m 

I Additional contingency – Officers consider that it is prudent to 
account for further project contingency – providing allowances 
for construction cost increases, project consultancy and 
potential contribution towards fit-out/equipment. A 20% of 
overall physical construction cost is considered reasonable. 

£0.21m 

J Total Capital Investment required (if H and I) cannot be 
mitigated (G+H+I) 

£3.81m 

   

K Cost of refurbishment works to existing health suite £0.6m 

L Contingency and professional fees  £0.4m 

M Total Capital Investment required inclusive of health suite 
refurbishment, (if H and I) cannot be mitigated (J+K+L) 

£4.81m 

 

2.14. Therefore the potential overall capital ask is likely to be in the region of £4.81m.  

 

2.15. As set out above, at this stage there are various options for bridging any funding 

requirements for the project. Also of consideration is the limited levels of previous 

investment into the facility, as evidenced by the backlog of Repairs & Maintenance (R&M), 

along with future requirements which are currently unfunded. There are also the Invest to 

Save opportunities that would be created through some of these works (for example 

measures to improve energy efficiency – noting that 10% of the overall project costs must 

go towards ‘improvements’ in this regard as required under Building Regulations) and 

changes to operational efficiency which would reduce overall running costs – such as 

reduction in staffing costs as a result of removal of duplication or simplified management. 

Finally, as set out in the Business Case, the project would provide opportunities for new and 

improved revenue streams - derived from the increased range of facilities and opportunities 

created by the project as a whole (such as increased usage and membership).  

 

2.16. The business case work has identified a number of KPIs where the existing GMLC is under 

performing, and where the Boston Leisure Project can seek to make improvements. These 

are set out in detail in the business case. Equally, this work has identified other potential 

opportunities to improve the revenue potential of the asset. 

 

2.17. Members will appreciate that it is not presently possible to accurately identify the full cost 

and revenue implications of the project at a granular level which will be available at RIBA 

stage 4, this is due to the present level of development of the overall scheme –currently 

RIBA Stage 2. The estimates and approach are considered to be reasonable and based upon 

a substantial understanding of the running of the existing facility, as well as the advice by 

relevant professionals who have experience in similar projects. However, these will be better 

understood as the project develops, and where necessary funding opportunities identified 

or value engineering options considered. The important factor at this stage is to establish 

the broad scope of likely costs and revenue implications, to enable the business case to be 

submitted, and facilitate the detailed work as part of the delivery phase once the funding 

has been secured from Government.  

Page 205



 

 

 

2.18. It is important to note that the business case document is not a delivery plan at this stage. 

There will be further development of the business case and other project milestones before 

the Council commits to the building contract. These future milestones will enable the Council 

to further review the overall development costs, funding streams, and operating model for 

example. 

 

2.19. The Council’s constitution includes a provision under the Contract and Procurement 

Procedure Rules that the preferred mechanism for the Council’s appointment of new 

contracts will be by way of either an existing corporate contract, or via a framework 

agreement. Where a suitable Corporate Contract or Framework Agreement exists, these 

must be used unless there is a good reason not to, and these reasons must be recorded. This 

allows for options of appointment to be explored. 

 

2.20. The project team has been appointed based on this procedure with a multi-disciplinary offer 

available. Currently this has taken us to RIBA Stage 2 (Concept) with some elements of 

further work to enable the Business Case which has been developed by Max Associates. To 

take the project forward, there is a need to commission a detailed design package (to RIBA 

Stage 4, pre-construction), with consideration of tenders/construction/and delivery. The 

project team appointed has provided costings for services to pursue the project to RIBA 

Stage 6 (Handover), thus overseeing the physical delivery with a Contractor to be appointed. 

These have all been commissioned via the ESPO Framework. It is likely that the remainder 

of the project works will be commissioned under the same framework where possible, 

noting that some direct awards may be required – for example specialist advice in 

connection with the pool equipment. In this respect, the Council has sought to use 

specialists who are also familiar with the facility and its equipment, for example the pool 

plant - to date the Council has sought to engage with those who are familiar with the 

existing systems. Such decisions are taken against the backdrop of the January 2022 Cabinet 

decision. 

 

2.21. It should also be remembered that by appointing a joint project team with Boston College, 

to date this has already enabled some efficiencies and cost savings through the avoidance 

of duplication - for example topographical surveys can be shared between both parties. 

 

2.22. Regarding the formal construction procurement, at present, there are different options 

available for this. These include use of a framework, or a formal tender exercise. There is 

also the potential for the project to be procured either jointly with the Boston College 

Mayflower project, or independently. Further advice on this will be taken from the project 

team as we move in to the detailed RIBA stages. Any procurement would seek to ensure that 

the project is brought forward within budget and within time, as well as seeking to secure 

value for money. There are considered to be advantages (and potential cost savings) through 

the joint procurement with Boston College – eg construction phasing – and thus, this option 

should not be ruled out at this stage. Further, in this scenario, there would be greater 

potential for the Council to secure additional benefits such as local labour and sourcing 

requirements, as well as in-direct skills benefits, all of which would provide a level of further 

benefit beyond the overall Towns Fund objectives. 

 

Page 206



 

 

2.23. In terms of delivery timescales, there are many variables at this time which cannot be 

accounted for, thus at this stage, the timescale is that the facility would be open by 

September 2024, however this is not fixed. However, it will be in accordance with Towns 

Fund spend requirements (2026) and Members will be updated regularly throughout the 

process. Furthermore, as set out in the business case, a risk register would be retained for 

the project, and this would be regularly reported to the Towns Fund board.  

 

2.24. This report seeks Members endorsement of the project, and the agreement to submit the 

Business Case to both the Towns Fund Board, and DLUHC. This, subject to agreement, would 

then enable the draw down of the identified funds from Government and in turn enable the 

project to proceed at pace to the delivery phase. 

 

3. CONCLUSION 

 

3.1. The Business Case has been prepared in accordance with the guidance and requirements 

provided by DLUHC. It also follows the model adopted by other Boston Town Deal projects 

which have already been approved by Government. 

 

3.2. The assessment of economic benefits for this Towns Fund scheme has been undertaken in 

full compliance with the latest HM Treasury Green Book (2020) and relevant Departmental 

guidance, such as Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG). The 

Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) scores highly and is “Good” when tested according to MHCLG 

Appraisal Guide.  

 

3.3. The proposals represent a tremendous opportunity to secure significant investment into and 

improvement of the GMLC facility, to benefit the health, well-being and leisure outcomes 

for the town. In combination with the Mayflower project, there is a real opportunity for 

transformational change which would address a number of social, environmental, and 

economic challenges. This in turn provides additional value for money and maintains a 

“Good” BCR score when the two projects are evaluated collectively.  

 

3.4. Additionally, the proposals present an opportunity for the Council to invest in the future of 

the GMLC, improving its sustainability as an asset both financially and operationally. 

 

3.5. Subject to all relevant authorities being granted the expectation is for the new facilities to 

be fully complete, open and operational by late 2024. 

 

3.6. When brought together with the Mayflower project, working in collaboration with Boston 

College, it is considered that there are further opportunities for efficiencies of delivery to be 

secured, as well as securing increased value for money and also much greater overall 

positive changes to support the health, well-being, leisure and educational opportunities for 

our communities and the surrounding areas. 

 

3.7. Members are therefore asked to support the recommendations identified and support this 

project moving forward, subject to the successful approval of the Full Business Case by 

Government. 

Page 207



 

 

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

Demonstrates to Government the ability of the partner Councils to deliver on key priorities at a sub-

regional level, enhancing the reputation of the Partner Councils for future funding opportunities.   

 
IMPLICATIONS 
 

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP 

None arising out of this report, however in-directly this will link to the wider benefits of the 

Partnership by virtue of improving capacity to deliver, securing funding opportunities, and 

demonstrating to Government and our communities that there is a clear commitment to delivery of 

improvement and levelling-up which delivers beneficial outcomes. 

 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

This proposal would contribute to the following priorities of the Corporate Plan: 

• Priority 1  - People Focused (Our Main Priority) 

• Priority 2 - Future Prosperity, Regeneration and Inclusive Growth 

• Priority 3 - Environmental Awareness and Accountability  

• Priority 4 - Delivering high quality services and maximising use of technology to support 

residents 

STAFFING 

From 1st October 2021, capacity and resilience to implement all elements of the Towns Fund process 

has been strengthened following the establishment of the South and East Lincolnshire Council 

Partnership. There are six officer roles within the Economic Growth Team providing dedicated 

support for the development and delivery of the Towns Fund Coast Investment Plan offering a range 

of administrative, financial and project/contract management skills.  

The Economic Growth Team will lead the commissioning of agreed work steps for Council-led 

schemes up to the completion of RIBA Stage 4.  

From RIBA Stage 5 onwards, delivery and contract management responsibility will be led by the 

Programme Delivery Directorate. RIBA Stage 7 (building use, operation and management) will be 

subject to final confirmation and approval of the Council’s ongoing operational model, post 

completion and handover from the main contractor for all or individual elements. 

Additionally, the decision taken in January 2022, allows the Council to secure such internal and 

external support as may be necessary to enable the project to be taken forward through its key 

milestones. 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

None arising from this report 

DATA PROTECTION 

None 

Page 208



 

 

FINANCIAL 

To be read in conjunction with details in the Business Case - Appendix A – Financial Case.  

The main body of the report identifies that there is an additional funding requirement that will need 

to be identified when compared to the costs of the works involved. It also sets out the potential for 

further works (outside the Towns Fund project) which it is recommended should be brought forward 

at the same time – subject to their being sufficient justification/business case to support the 

additional investment. The main body of the report provides a high level analysis of the options 

available 

In supplement to the position presented within the main body of the report, there is a wider financial 
context, and case to be considered by the Council. 
 
Previous investment into the GMLC has been limited, whilst there have been elements of significant 

capital outlay during its lifetime (eg gym extension – c.20years ago), in recent years the level of 

investment in the premises has been low. As an example over the last 3 full years, c£190k has been 

spent on R&M for the leisure pool(s) - (c£63k average); and c£42k has been spent on R&M for the 

fitness suite (c£14k average). Max Associates have advised that these figures are considered to be 

incredibly low and continued at this level will have a long term negative impact, particularly given 

the overall age and size of the facility.   

A 2018 Condition survey highlighted c£482k of works required to be undertaken within 5years (by 

2023c£1.8m of investment required to address routine Repairs & Maintenance (R&M) issues over 

the next 20 years. This in the current context is considered to be under-estimated, and the figure is 

most likely to be higher – c£2.5m. There is no current funding identified for this. This is a risk to the 

Council, and highlights that there is likely a future requirement for considerable capital spending in 

any event. The proposals present an opportunity to address this now. 

The approach that has been taken is no longer sustainable for the longer term, particularly if the 

facility is intended to be one of the main focal points for leisure, recreation, health & well-being for 

the town.  

The Council has adopted a Climate Change strategy which highlights the need to consider GMLC, 

particularly in relation to energy use. Again, there is no funding identified. This proposal would bring 

forward a minimum of 10% project costs associated to ‘Consequential Improvement’ under building 

regulations which would seek to secure improvements to building fabric to reduce energy 

consumption – for example roof insulation, windows, new lighting etc. This would contribute to the 

Councils Climate Change objectives and would likely result in revenue savings. 

Furthermore, in terms of the overall running costs of the facility, this does currently run at a loss. 

Max Associates have highlighted a number of benchmarked KPIs (Table 4 of Business Case) where 

the facility is underperforming – including income for gym and swimming, salary costs, an expensive 

base cost and level of subsidy per visit. All of which could be improved through this proposal.  

This is primarily due to operational costs associated with staffing and energy costs. These are 

influenced to a significant degree by the physical nature of the existing building – noting that the 

facility is essentially comprised of 3 separate buildings (training pool, leisure pool, and gym/health-

suite). The current disjointed arrangement is operationally inefficient compared to modern facilities 

(for example multiple entrances which require management). Further, the energy costs are 

considerable due to leakage of the existing fabric and the need to retain optimum internal 

Page 209



 

 

temperature/humidity. The proposed investment offers the opportunity to contribute significantly 

towards addressing both of these challenges and in turn reduce operational costs. 

Additionally, the restricted approach to investment in to the facility has to a degree undermined the 

quality of the provision that is available. Whilst the GMLC is highly regarded by users and 

stakeholders; it does have deficiencies which limit its attractiveness to a wider audience and this in 

turn limits its revenue opportunities. For example the limited gym space restricts the potential 

number of users and associated memberships; and the changing facilities are also considered to be 

substandard by modern requirements. These factors are identified within the business case. Again, 

the proposals offer the opportunity to contribute positively towards addressing these challenges, 

and create potential for increased revenue opportunities. Examples of this are given in the business 

case. 

Overall therefore it is considered that investment now, alongside the Town Deal opportunity, creates 

the conditions to address the financial sustainability of the facility and hopefully bridge the gap 

between current costs and revenues. 

It is also worth noting that opportunities for a new leisure centre were explored – including on the 

existing area of GMLC and within PE21. However, due to the level of existing facilities which would 

need to be replicated (in particularly the pools), a new stand alone facility was not considered 

affordable – (c£22m estimated). Given the relative uncertainty of the leisure market (due to Covid 

19), investment opportunities backed by the private sector are now limited, and there are many 

examples of Councils revisiting previous ‘commitments’ to provide new leisure centres – eg South 

Kesteven/West Lindsey. It is therefore considered that a new leisure facility is not a deliverable 

option. This therefore underpins the project variation which has been agreed with Government, and 

leads to the current refurbishment and remodeling option which is now the suggested way forward. 

The Towns Fund presents an opportunity to leverage a combination of Government and Council 

funds to address the long-term suitability of the asset and ensure it is fit for purpose moving forward. 

This would in essence be considered as an Invest to Save opportunity. It is therefore considered that 

as a matter of general principle, Members are asked to support the capital investment required to 

deliver the project, with funding source to be defined. This would then fill the gap between the total 

project cost – and the currently identified funding (comprised of Towns Fund money and current 

Capital allocation).  

In addition, as set out in the report, Members are asked to support the further capital injection in to 

the rear building (current health suite) in order for this to be transformed as an additional element 

of the project outside of the Towns Fund scope. The reasons being similar to those for the main 

project. 

Failure to secure the necessary capital investment is a significant risk to the project, and would 

undermine the Councils ability to draw down the Towns Fund money from Government. This in turn 

would undermine the viability of the project and would also result in greater, detrimental impacts 

and risks. 

 
RISK MANAGEMENT 

A breakdown of the main issues and risks is provided within the Business Case (Appendix A). All 

projects are subject to risk management processes by the Towns Fund Board. 

Page 210



 

 

 
STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

There is full awareness of the need to undertake both statutory and non-statutory stakeholder and 

community consultation on the project, not least leading in to and during the planning application 

process to ensure that the proposed scheme is fit for purpose in terms of the proposed mix of uses, 

and maximize opportunities to improve the sustainability of the facility.  

A summary of the approach to engagement, and that undertaken to date is set out in the business 

case. In addition, the report to Cabinet in January 2022 established the principle of stakeholder 

engagement at the relevant time to gain feedback on the emerging plans. This would therefore take 

place once the business case has been submitted and prior to the formal submission of a planning 

application. 

In addition, it should be noted that there would be statutory consultation undertaken as part of a 

planning application, including the ability for the community to provide comments, and 

amendments to the scheme to be made where necessary and appropriate. 

In terms of timescales, following the submission of the Business Case, it is the intention to continue 

to work up the proposals to a point where they are sufficient for both consultation and a subsequent 

planning application. There will need to be a level of technical detail and studies completed which 

are not currently available. It is anticipated that an application would come forward promptly, likely 

to be within 2022.  

Regarding delivery timescales, there are many variables at this time which cannot be accounted for, 

thus at this stage, the timescale is not fixed. Again, a high level approach has been set out in the 

business case. However, it will be in accordance with Towns Fund spend requirements, and Members 

will be updated regularly throughout the process. 

REPUTATION 

See Risk Management section in Business Case.  

Successful progress and delivery of the project demonstrates to Government the ability of the 

partner Councils to deliver on key priorities at a sub-regional level, enhancing the reputation of the 

Partner Councils for future funding opportunities. Alternatively, the converse would be likely to 

undermine that reputation. 

The project also has a synergy with Boston College’s Mayflower scheme; as with Government above, 

the successful delivery of the project has the potential to underpin a long-term mutually supportive 

relationship between the Council and the College. Failure to deliver, would undermine that 

relationship and the reputation with this key partner, and may undermine wider relationships with 

other important strategic partners.   

CONTRACTS 

As set out earlier, to date, the project team has been procured by the ESPO Framework. Where 

additional support is required outside of this, appropriate procurement would take place as 

indicated by the report to Cabinet in January 2022.  

A general approach to procurement has been set out in this report and within the business case. 

There are a number of unknowns at this stage, which means we are unable to define the precise 

Page 211



 

 

procurement approach, however, this will be undertaken in accordance with the Councils procedure 

rules, with appropriate governance and project management in place.  

Delivery of the project would be undertaken by the Councils Delivery Team, who would secure all 

necessary construction agreements, contracts and programmes. A construction stage delivery 

agreement will be required upon further authority being granted, once all necessary information is 

known.   

The funding contract will be managed by the Council as the accountable body and this will be 

managed by the Towns Fund team, with regular progress reports available to Members and the 

Towns Deal board.   

CRIME AND DISORDER 

None specifically arising from this proposal, however, it is considered that the re-development of 

this area has the potential to in-directly improve any existing issues through the creation of a new, 

high quality, and active space.  

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

None arising from this report, it is considered that the proposals for the leisure offer have the 

potential to modernise the facility and both directly and in-directly improve any existing issues. 

HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

To be read in conjunction with details in the Business Case - Appendix A 

Boston’s population has grown rapidly and local communities believe there is underinvestment in 

Boston as a place to support the level of inward migration and the impact on local services, as 

evidenced through the Town Deal consultation.  In addition, the town is struggling with its health 

outcomes and is in the lowest third of all areas in England for this indicator (English Indices of 

Deprivation 2019). Other indicators include: 

• The health of people in Boston is varied compared with the England average. About 15% 

(1,900) of children live in low income families. Life expectancy for me is lower than the 

England average. 

• Life expectancy is 7.8 years lower for men and 3.2 years lower in the most deprived areas of 

Boston than in the least deprived. 

• In year 6, 24.6% (178) of children are classified as obese, worse than the England average. 

The rate of alcohol specific hospital stays among those under 18 is 19. This represents 3 stays 

per year. Levels of teenage pregnancy, GCSE attainment, breastfeeding initiation and 

smoking are worse than the England average. 

• Estimated levels of adult physical activity are worse than the England average and the rate of 

early deaths from cardiovascular diseases is worse than the England average. 

Therefore, the proposals will seek to improve the facilities for a growing population and provide 

new, high quality, provision of leisure facilities designed to tackle and improve the health outcomes 

of Boston and the surrounding area. 

There is the potential for the rear part of the existing facility (currently the gym) to be repurposed 

which in turn would provide a more community orientated space, which would allow private 

propositions such as physiotherapy, or treatments to come forward, alongside dedicated community 

Page 212



 

 

space. Additionally, discussions with health colleagues are ongoing regarding the potential for the 

This would be an additional offer for the site, and thus contribute to meeting latent demand as well 

as providing further revenue opportunities. 

Bringing this proposal together with the Mayflower proposition as part of a single campus/village 

allows the potential for significant transformational benefits, linking health, well-being, education, 

skills, leisure and recreation. 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

To be read in conjunction with details in the Business Case - Appendix A  

Opportunities to improve the facility, particularly in relation to energy costs and accessibility, also 

have the potential to contribute positively to addressing the identified challenges of Climate Change 

and contribute towards the Councils Climate Change Strategy actions.  

As part of the detailed design work, given the scale of the project ‘consequential improvements’ will 

be required in line with Building Regulations. This requires a minimum of 10% of the overall budget 

for the building works to be spent on measures to improve the existing fabric – such as re-roofing. 

Given that this is a core aim of the project, it is considered that measures proposed (such as 

replacement windows) would contribute to this and thus, there will be cost benefit, as opposed to 

this being seen as an additional burden. 

A base line assessment of embedded carbon and carbon emissions in use will be undertaken as part 

of RIBA stage 4 design development. This information will be used to optimise solutions for materials 

and equipment used in the construction of the facility to produce a building in line with the aim of 

the Councils Carbon Reduction strategy.   

ACRONYMS 

GMLC - Geoff Moulder Leisure Centre 

TIP - Town Investment Plan 

DLUHC - Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 

R&M – Repairs and Maintenance 

 

APPENDICES 

(If none then insert the word ‘None’ and delete the below text/boxes). 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Full Business Case – draft – available electronically 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Page 213



 

 

Leaders decision notice – January 2022 https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-

content/uploads/2022/01/Decision-Notices-25-

January-22.pdf  

Boston Town Deal Investment Plan (TIP) https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-

content/uploads/2020/10/Boston-Town-Investment-

Plan-October-2020.pdf 

Previous reports including Cabinet 

(9/9/20); a call-in report to Overview & 

Scrutiny - Corporate & Community 

Committee (1/10/20);  Full Council 

(26/10/20); and Cabinet (5/11/20)  

All available via the Councils website 

 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Mike Gildersleeves – Assistant Director – Planning & 

Strategic Infrastructure 

Signed off by: Michelle Sacks – DCX Growth 

Approved for publication: Cllr Welton 

 

 

 

Page 214

https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Decision-Notices-25-January-22.pdf
https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Decision-Notices-25-January-22.pdf
https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Decision-Notices-25-January-22.pdf
https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Boston-Town-Investment-Plan-October-2020.pdf
https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Boston-Town-Investment-Plan-October-2020.pdf
https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Boston-Town-Investment-Plan-October-2020.pdf


Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

   
  
  
   1 
 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Boston Leisure Project 
Stage 2 - Business Case   

 

 

March 2022 

Page 215



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  2 
 

 

 

CONTENTS 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ............................................................................................... 4 

2. THE BUSINESS CASE .................................................................................................. 6 

3. STRATEGIC CASE ..................................................................................................... 25 

4. ECONOMIC CASE ...................................................................................................... 54 

5. FINANCIAL CASE ....................................................................................................... 60 

6. COMMERCIAL CASE ................................................................................................. 68 

7. MANAGEMENT CASE ................................................................................................ 71 

APPENDIX 1 – National Trends in Fitness ...................................................................... 94 

APPENDIX 2 – ONS 2018 Demographic Data – Boston E07000136 ............................... 96 

APPENDIX 3 – Catchment Age Profile ............................................................................. 97 

APPENDIX 4 – Health and Fitness Competition .............................................................. 98 

APPENDIX 5 – Latent Demand for Health & Fitness ....................................................... 99 

APPENDIX 6 – Competition Analysis – Commercial Facilities .................................... 102 

APPENDIX 7 – High Level Cost Estimate ...................................................................... 103 

APPENDIX 8 – Revenue Business Plan Assumptions, Benchmarking and Sensitivity 

Analysis ........................................................................................................................... 104 

 
Table 1 – Co-location benefits............................................................................................ 9 
Table 2 – Swimming pools and sports halls in a 20 minute catchment ........................ 43 
Table 3. Economic Benefits .............................................................................................. 56 
Table 4. Monetised Benefits ............................................................................................. 56 
Table 5 Economic Costs ................................................................................................... 57 
Table 6 Value for Money Assessment ............................................................................. 58 
Table 7 – Pre-Covid Trading Position in 2019/20 ............................................................ 60 
Table 8 – GMLC KPIs compared to SENBS Benchmarks ............................................... 61 
Table 9 – Capital Costs ..................................................................................................... 62 
Table 10 – Summary of Income and Expenditure Projections ....................................... 64 
Table 11 – Usage projections ........................................................................................... 65 
Table 12 – Funding and Profile Sources ......................................................................... 65 
Table 13 – Funding profiles .............................................................................................. 65 
Table 14 – Boston Leisure Project Benchmarks ............................................................. 65 
Table 15 – Financial Risks ................................................................................................ 66 
Table 16 – Key Milestones ................................................................................................ 78 
Table 17 Issues and Risk Management ........................................................................... 79 
Table 18 – Key Audiences ................................................................................................ 83 
Table 19 – Outputs ............................................................................................................ 86 
Table 20 – Monitoring and Evaluation Plan ..................................................................... 88 
Table 21 – ONS 2018 Demographic Data – Boston E07000136 ...................................... 96 
Table 22 – Catchment Age Profile .................................................................................... 97 
Table 23 – Estimate of Latent Demand .......................................................................... 101 
Table 24 – Key Income Assumptions ............................................................................ 104 
Table 25 – Expenditure Projections ............................................................................... 105 
Table 26 – Impact of any changes in Income and Expenditure ................................... 106 

Page 216



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  3 
 

 

 

Table 27 – Benchmarks .................................................................................................. 106 
 
Figure 1 The leisure project comprising the existing GMLC site. ................................... 7 
Figure 2 Joint Plaza and two projects ............................................................................... 9 
Figure 3 – GMLC Location ................................................................................................ 10 
Figure 4 – Current Facilities ............................................................................................. 11 
Figure 5 – Proposed Refurbishment to GMLC and internal images .............................. 14 
Figure 6 – Proposed Ground Floor Layout Plan ............................................................. 20 
Figure 7 – Proposed First Floor Layout Plan .................................................................. 21 
Figure 8 – The Case for Change....................................................................................... 25 
Figure 9 – National Strategy Summary ............................................................................ 26 
Figure 10 – New National Priorities ................................................................................. 27 
Figure 11 – Net Zero Commitment ................................................................................... 27 
Figure 12 – The social and economic value of being active .......................................... 31 
Figure 13 – UK Chief Medical Officer physical activity guidelines by age .................... 32 
Figure 14 – Key Strategies and Priorities ........................................................................ 34 
Figure 15 – Local Strategic Priorities .............................................................................. 35 
Figure 16 – 30 Minute Catchment Map ............................................................................ 38 
Figure 17 – Physical activity levels among adults (May 2020-2021) .............................. 39 
Figure 18 – Physical activity levels among children (Academic year 2020-2021) ........ 39 
Figure 19 – Areas of deprivation in Boston centre ......................................................... 41 
Figure 20 – Town Deal Engagement Themes .................................................................. 46 
Figure 21 – Town Deal Engagement Reach..................................................................... 47 
Figure 22 – Vision and Objectives ................................................................................... 48 
Figure 23 – Design of Extension and Refurbishment of Boston Leisure Centre .......... 51 
Figure 24 Net Additional Impact ....................................................................................... 55 
Figure 25 – South & East Lincolnshire Council Partnership: Shared Workforce 

Structure ............................................................................................................................ 71 
Figure 26 – RIBA Plan of Work 2020 Overview ............................................................... 73 
Figure 27 – Delivery Framework ...................................................................................... 75 
Figure 28 – Structure of Internal Council Meetings ........................................................ 76 
Figure 29 – State of the UK Fitness Industry 2019 – UK Public Gyms .......................... 95 
Figure 30 – Map of Health & Fitness Competition .......................................................... 98 
Figure 31 – Mosaic Profiles – Transient Renters ............................................................ 99 
Figure 32 – Mosaic Profiles – Renting a Room ............................................................. 100 
 
 

 
 
  

Version 
No. 

Date Comment Completed by 

1 22.02.22  EM/LF 

2 04.03.22  LF 

3/4/5 12.03.22  KW/LF 

6/7 14.03.22 Following client comment LF 

8 17.03.22 Economic Case included Amion/LF 

Page 217



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  4 
 

 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 

The evidence is overwhelming that moving our bodies – through community sport, 
fitness, and physical activity – improves our lives, individually and collectively. 
 
From better mental and physical health to greater career opportunities and social 
cohesion, movement benefits us from the day we’re born through to old age. And if 
young people are able to have positive experiences of getting active, it can help 
build the foundations for an active life. 
 
Sport England – Uniting the Movement Strategy 2021  

 
1.1. The Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex (GMLC) is a much-loved local facility, which has 

had a pool on site since the 1960s and which has had a series of strategic additions 
throughout its life. However, the building is now not meeting customer needs, requires 
investment to address significant backlog maintenance and following the impact of 
Covid-19, is no longer a sustainable, fit for purpose building to serve the growing 
community of Boston.  
 

1.2. Given local health inequalities, aging population, and low levels of physical activity in 
Boston, it is critical that the Council delivers a solution to transform the centre into a 
place where people want to come to swim and be active. The solution is the Boston 
Leisure Project. 
 

1.3. The previous two years of living with Covid-19 and closure of facilities has significantly 
impacted activity levels, Boston’s aging population has been more impacted than other 
regions. The Boston Leisure Project will include Covid-19 secure design and practices 
to give people the confidence to come and swim and be active in a welcoming and 
safe environment. It will also modernize the facility, to meet current expectations for 
leisure and recreation. 
 

1.4. With improved accessibility from the town centre, the Boston Leisure Project will 
significantly enhance the immediate area to improve the sense of pride in the town, 
aligning perfectly with other investments being derived from the Towns Fund process. 
 

1.5. The development of the building will include visual enhancements to ‘define’ the 
entrance, improve quality, and quantity of facilities, support operational efficiencies, 
improve internal aesthetics, and ensure a modern, accessible, fit for the future, 
building. 
 

1.6. There is a second phase opportunity to include a ‘community health and well-being 
hub’, developed with health partners and other community groups to include flexible 
spaces for consultations, physio, complementary therapy, community group meeting 
rooms, and courses linked to healthy lives; smoking cessation, healthy eating, fall 
prevention etc. All of which contribute to increased activity at the site, confirming its 
position as a destination and community hub, and contribute to the financial case for 
investment. 
 

1.7. New build centre options have been considered, but given site constraints, total capital 
costs, continuity of service issues and a value for money review, this redevelopment 
plan is the preferred route. 
 

Page 218



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  5 
 

 

 

1.8. The site of the Boston Leisure Project, being adjacent to the Mayflower1, provides the 
opportunity to not only transform leisure provision, but develop a leisure and education 
campus. This can further cement the relationship with Boston College to provide a 
direct link between the current skills shortage, and healthy living, as well as using the 
campus approach to cement the location as a destination. In particular, the Mayflower 
with its focus on Higher Education and Adult Learning has a clear synergy with the 
offer within the Boston Leisure Project as it seeks to capture those who may be 
returning to education to up-skill or re-skill following life changes or having children – 
on a practical level therefore, the opportunity to capture the interest of such individuals 
whilst their children take advantage of swimming lessons in the new centre is a clear 
and obvious one. Thus collectively the projects have the potential to increase skills 
outputs and increase the level of skill and ‘job-ready’ people in Boston. The two 
projects together will create a unique leisure and educational space, intrinsically 
designed to be linked together via a central public open space/piazza and function as 
a single campus, thus offering immediate changes to the sense of place and enhancing 
the aspiration of the immediate area 

 
1.9. Collectively they offer the potential to derive significant positive outcomes for people in 

education/attainment, place-making, health and well-being, and skills. 
 

1.10. Implementation of the Towns Fund programme will follow the Council’s established 
policy procedures for use of public funds, as outlined in detail within the Council’s 
constitution. This will ensure compliance with all relevant Government legislation, 
including financial and contract procedures as well as risk management, energy 
efficiency/carbon reduction and equality and diversity.  Regular reporting will take place 
with monitoring internally within the Council and also via the Boston Town Deal Board. 
The proposal is also that the Council will work closely with Boston College, with the 
aim of bringing the two projects forward in parallel, and this, will also provide 
opportunities for further management of risk and sharing of resources to derive 
improved value for money. 
 

1.11. The Towns Fund investment will enable HM Government and local partners to meet 
the following objectives: 

 

• Develop physical confidence and competence from the earliest age by providing 
opportunities for children of all ages to be active through play; 

• Encourage and enable inactive people to be more active, by introducing new 
activities aimed at fun and recreation;  

• Support wellbeing and resilience in communities through physical activity and 
sport;  

• Link with Boston College to provide employment opportunities for young people in 
the area;  

• Support economic regeneration of Boston’s centre; and  

• Give local residents a sense of ‘pride of place’ through the enhancement of a key 
local building. 

 

  

                                                 
1 Boston College Towns Fund Project 

Page 219



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  6 
 

 

 

2. THE BUSINESS CASE 
 
2.1. On behalf of HM Government and the Boston Town Deal Board, Boston Borough 

Council (BBC) is the accountable body, which has developed the business case for 
the Boston Leisure Project (working title). The project will deliver a significant 
redevelopment of the Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex (GMLC). The central aim is to 
provide transformational change through improved and remodelled facilities to support 
the wider area's education, health, and wellbeing priorities.  

 
2.2. The redeveloped centre will be located adjacent to the Mayflower, Boston Town Deal’s 

flagship project - a new Biophilic Learning Destination intended principally to provide a 
Higher Education / Adult Learning offer, along with spaces for business and 
opportunities such as a café where existing students can be provided practical/real-
world experiences. This provides a distinct opportunity to enable the wider 
regeneration of both sites to create an admirable learning and leisure environment for 
Boston. 
 

2.3. Heads of terms for a Boston Town Deal were confirmed in March 2021 for £21.9m and 
subsequently seven projects were confirmed with the Department for Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities (DLUHC), including improved leisure facilities for Boston. 
The leisure project has been allocated £2,425,092 of Towns Fund monies, pending the 
submission of this Full Business Case. 

 
2.4. This business case has been prepared using the Towns Fund Delivery Stage 2 

template. The business base will be refined and further tested at each project 
milestone, prior to construction contract award. This will include further testing of 
capital, revenue, and overall lifespan project affordability. Any updates and 
amendments will be reported back to the Boston Town Deal Board and HM 
Government for formal approval where required. 

 
2.5. The Project 
 
2.5.1. Proposals to redevelop and remodel the GMLC, provide an opportunity to improve this 

much loved and well-used facility whilst modernising it, improving operational efficiency 
and providing opportunities to improve its long-term sustainability is critical. 

 
2.5.2. The existing facility, built in 1989, is the main public leisure centre in Boston. However, 

local children and families have learnt to swim, swim for fun, and compete as part of 
Boston Swimming Club at pools which have been on the same site since the 1960’s. 
It has seen strategic investment over time, with a number of additions, including the 
enclosure of the main pool, addition of the training pool, and more recently (c 20years 
ago) the addition of the rear building comprising the gym and health suite. Essentially 
in architectural terms the facility is comprised of 3 buildings, each with separate 
entrances and which leads to duplication and inefficiency of operation. That said, the 
pools, fitness and spa facilities attracted over 250k visits in 2019/20 (pre-pandemic), 
and this demonstrates its importance locally. The facility (pre-pandemic) was also 
frequently used for competitive swimming events, as well as being heavily relied on by 
local schools. 
 

2.5.3. The dated facilities and poor layout are impacting on the financial performance of the 
centre. The gym is too small for demand, the poor quality and lack of ‘village changing’ 
for the pools deter people, particularly families, and the facilities are expensive to staff. 
The overall subsidy per visit is in the lowest quartile2. Through this investment, the 

                                                 
2 2019 Sport England National Benchmarking - efficiency 

Page 220



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  7 
 

 

 

centre’s visits and income will increase and costs will reduce, to significantly improve 
its financial performance. 
 
Figure 1 The leisure project comprising the existing GMLC site. 

 
 

2.5.4. Whilst this business case is for redevelopment of the GMLC, the context and benefits 
across this project and the Mayflower are important to set out. The Mayflower and 
Leisure Campus (working title) brings together two of the Towns Fund projects with the 
aim of creating a unique leisure and educational space, intrinsically designed to be 
linked together via a central public open space/piazza and function as a single 
site/campus. 
 

2.5.5. The Mayflower aims to create an iconic building, providing inspirational education, 
business, and community spaces. It will provide access to skills training, in particular 
digital skills, and support business development through providing space for 
collaboration with employers, start-up units and access to the latest industry standard 
equipment. Mayflower is the flagship project within the Town Investment Plan, with the 
highest funding allocation, and was assessed as ‘green’ by Government. The location 
of this, adjacent to the main college campus, is critical for Boston College. The aim is 
for this facility to be open in 2024. 

 
2.5.6. In addition to providing high quality, new leisure and learning facilities, the proposals 

will create an exemplary single space in place shaping terms that will visually make a 
bold and ambitious statement locally and which will enhance the immediate area. 
Collectively they will function as a single destination point, serving the Borough as a 
whole, and the surrounding areas. It is proposed to utilise the development of the 
campus area to connect with the town centre through walking routes/trails - 
improvements in public realm and signage - as well as public transport routes. The 
proposals will also complement the other proposals being brought forward through the 
Towns Fund which seek to reinforce the ‘pride in place’ amongst other things, and this 
layering would be further complemented by proposals for other funding streams or 
objectives such as the Councils City Status bid. 

Page 221



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  8 
 

 

 

2.5.7. There is an existing, historical synergy between the GMLC, and Boston College given 
their proximity to each other. This proposal seeks to reinvigorate that relationship 
through the provision of new statement/landmark buildings and associated spaces. 
Both partners (the Council and the College) are committed to working collaboratively 
to deliver this project which, as a general approach, has been endorsed by the Town 
Deal Board. 
 

2.5.8. There are two key opportunities the partners will exploit from these synergies; the first 
focuses around skills gaps, training, and employability and the second is the 
introducing new audiences to both learning and physical opportunities. 

 
2.5.9. An important outcome of the project is to link education and employers to understand 

the current skills gap in the workforce and ensure local education establishments are 
fulfilling local needs. Following the recovery of Covid-19, the leisure industry (private 
and public) is suffering from a massive skills gap, as people (mainly young people) left 
the industry as centres closed during lockdowns. BBC is currently experiencing a 
shortfall of skilled lifeguards, swimming teachers, fitness instructors and experienced 
managers. Going forward, there will be an increasing need for specialist activators, for 
example, people skilled and trained in working with inactive people, people with long 
term conditions and fitness people trained to navigate the health sector. There is a 
huge opportunity to provide this link in the education and leisure project in Boston. 

 
2.5.10. Working with the college to refine sports course curriculums to meet the Chartered 

Institute for the Management of Sport and Physical Activity (CIMPSA) professional 
standards and partnering with BBC and other sport, fitness, and physical activity 
employers in the surrounding area for work placements, will ensure young people leave 
education with skills to be ‘job ready’ and increase their employability.  

 
2.5.11. The council and college will work together to introduce their own audiences to the 

benefits of each other’s activities. This may be adult learners being introduced to 
swimming or fitness to improve their mental health or to learn new skills, or it may be 
gym users or parents of children on swimming courses, being introduced to courses 
the college has to offer. The team is determined to actively promote and encourage 
this interaction and provide welcoming environments to all participants, both existing 
and new. 
 

2.5.12. The proposals seek to raise aspiration, generate interest, and provide a multifunctional 
space which can be accessible for a variety of users from all areas of the community. 
The buildings themselves will provide a unique blend of educational spaces, leisure 
facilities; and flexible areas which can be used to collaborate with other partners such 
as health and commercial providers. Collectively they offer the potential to derive 
significant positive outcomes for people in education/attainment, health and well-being, 
and skills. 

 
2.5.13. Bringing these two projects together maximizes the opportunity, and creates the 

collective ambition to deliver on the Towns Fund vision, and its sub-aims of: 
 

• An entrepreneurial community 

• A connected community 

• A health community 

• An inclusive community 

• An aspirational community 

 

Page 222



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  9 
 

 

 

2.5.14. Co-locating the Boston Leisure Project and Mayflower in one campus will create 
several benefits in both construction and delivery stages: 
 
Table 1 – Co-location benefits 

Construction  Delivery 

Savings through “Economy of scale”. 
 

Employment opportunity for the College -   
career pathways from the College’s sports 
courses to work placements, apprenticeships, 
and jobs at the leisure complex.  

Architects have been commissioned jointly by 
the College and Council to ensure suitable co-
location facilities and services and economies 
of scale in delivery. 

Both buildings will draw people from the town 
centre to the campus. 

The College and Council will jointly develop 
the piazza space to ensure customer journey 
and dwell times are maximised. 

Council directly manages the centre and 
therefore work in close partnership with the 
College to deliver their wider outcomes of the 
project. 

Option for joint construction contract to 
maximise value including social value. 

Attract younger people to the leisure centre. 

Phased delivery for the leisure - no need for 
closure.    

More footfall / more revenue.  
 

 Share facilities without compromising 
safeguarding– car park, sports hall for exams, 
café to serve both buildings etc. 

 Enhance College’s profile and presence. 

 Raising town aspiration “education for all”. 

 
 
Figure 2 Joint Plaza and two projects 

 
 
 

 

Page 223



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  10 
 

 

 

2.5.15. The Boston Leisure Project is one of the Council’s core objectives, in delivering the 
wider Boston’s Towns Fund Vision, which is:  
 
“To define and deliver the investment in professional and technological support needed 
for strategic interventions that will shape the development of an aspirational, skilled 
and healthy population. To achieve sustainable economic growth and pride of place 
through bold urban design, digital solutions and connected communities. This will 
launch Boston into the future, build on its unique heritage and make our town an 
exciting place to live, work, invest and visit for generations to come”.  

 
2.5.16. To develop this vision, the Council undertook extensive consultation and engagement 

with key cross-sector stakeholders throughout Boston and the region, which is detailed 
in section 3.24.3 

 
2.5.17. As the figure below shows, the site is a 0.6 mile (12 minutes) walk from Boston Market 

Square, with good visibility from the junction. It has been suggested that the complex 
could therefore become a ‘Civic Hub’ within the local community.  

 
Figure 3 – GMLC Location  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
3 https://www.bostontowndeal.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/Boston-Town-Deal-Annual-
Report.pdf  

Page 224

https://www.bostontowndeal.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/Boston-Town-Deal-Annual-Report.pdf
https://www.bostontowndeal.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/Boston-Town-Deal-Annual-Report.pdf


Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  11 
 

 

 

 
2.6. Existing GMLC and Boston Leisure Project proposals 

 
2.6.1. GMLC is managed by the Council, and has the following facilities: 

 

• 1 x 25 Metre/7 Lane Leisure Pool;  

• 1 x 25 Metre/5 Lane Training Pool;  

• Baby/Toddler Pool;  

• 48m Flume/Splash Pool;  

• Health & Beauty Treatment Rooms;  

• Spa Facilities;  

• 70 Station ‘Adult’ Gym;  

• 18 Station ‘Kids’ Gym;  

• 1 x Spinning Room;  

• 2 x Classes Studios;  

• 1 x BosFit recording studio for online/virtual classes; and 

• Garden/Growing Space. 

 
2.6.2. Several concerns with the state of the existing complex have been raised. These are 

as follows:  
 

• Two pools are separated 

• The gym is at the rear and disconnected from the other relevant activities. This 
requires two receptions and doubling up on staff requirements 

• The appearance and facility is looking tired and require an upgrade 

• The levels around the main pool need to be adjusted  

• The car park to the front dominates the site – not attractive 

• The woodchip boiler is not in an ideal location / not very attractive frontage 

• The plant at the rear requires tidying up / potential enclosure or relocation 

• The mezzanine floor is underutilised and doesn’t have defined function 

• The building is very inward looking with minimum windows / natural day light 

 
2.6.3. The images below show the current state of the complex, which is aging, of poor 

quality, and which does not reflect the modern, bold aspirations of the town, which would 
inspire residents to be active and attract new people to live in Boston. 

 
Figure 4 – Current Facilities  
 
Entrance      Reception 

 

Page 225



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  12 
 

 

 

Changing Rooms    Internal access routes 

Training Pool     Gym 

 
Main Pool and view of flumes 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 226



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  13 
 

 

 

2.6.4. The planned improvements to the site include: 

 

• Visual appearance and definition of entrance 

• Quality and quantity of facilities 

• Operational efficiencies - e.g., single changing village as opposed to duplication 

• Improved internal aesthetics including access to natural light 

• Modern, fit for future provision, to meet needs of wide range of users 

 
2.7. Layouts and Visuals 

 
2.7.1. The following map shows the concept for the proposed refurbishment plans for the 

complex, the creation of the campus, and includes connecting the site to the adjacent 
Boston College.  
 

 

Page 227



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

          14 
 

 

 

 
Figure 5 – Proposed Refurbishment to GMLC and internal images 
 

 

 

 

P
age 228



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  15 
 

 

 

 
 
 

P
age 229



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  16 
 

 

 

2.7.2. The design of the extension and refurbishment of the current GMLC reinvents it for the 21st century providing a contemporary centre for 
the town. The images below provide the look and feel of the new centre showing a dramatic improvement to the current facades, with the 
plans of the ground and first floors following. These show where the front entrance will be demolished and new extension built to make a 
clear statement that the existing centre has been transformed. 

P
age 230



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  17 
 

 

 

 

P
age 231



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  18 
 

 

 

 

P
age 232



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  19 
 

 

 

 

P
age 233



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  20 
 

 

 

Figure 6 – Proposed Ground Floor Layout Plan 

 

P
age 234



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  21 
 

 

 

 
Figure 7 – Proposed First Floor Layout Plan 

 
 

 

 

 
 

P
age 235



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

   
  
  
   22 
 

 

 

2.8. Design Outcomes 
 
2.8.1. The core improvements to the centre include: 

• Increased gym enabling 90% increase in fitness space and additional new 
100m2 studio 

• A new wet ‘changing village’ directly accessed from the main entrance foyer, 
which serves both the leisure pool and training pool.  

• The changing village will provide a more gender-neutral changing facility, 
including single, double, family and disabled changing cubicles.  The training 
pool, primarily used by schools and swimming clubs has simpler group 
changing facilities with adjoining access to the changing village.   

• Direct views of the leisure pool on entering the building reinforcing the sense 
of arrival and one of the core activities in the leisure centre. 

• There will be a single main entrance and reception / concierge for staff to 
greet the public and manage access to both pool facilities and the gym. 

• Existing rear space comprising 600m2 for future development including health 
and well-being hub and other income opportunities. 

 
2.8.2. The income from the new centre is projected to be £1.1m in a mature year, with usage 

increasing 23% to 349k annual visits. 
 
2.9. Funding 
 
2.9.1. The Towns Fund Investment of £2.4m will be used to contribute towards the main 

capital construction costs, match funding will be provided by BBC to the tune of £4.7m 
for the remaining capital funding and equipment fit out. There are options available to 
the Council as to how this is dealt with, including the use of reserves, or borrowing or 
a combination of both. The Council understands the capital implications, particularly 
given its historic investment into the site, and therefore subject to the approval of the 
Business Case by the Towns Fund Board and Government, the Council would identify 
the necessary funds within its capital programme.  

 
 
2.10. Project Development 
 
2.10.1. It should be noted that as part of the project moving forward from Business Case into 

detailed design and delivery, there is sufficient time for the Council to fully analyse 
funding arrangements, cost minimisation, capital investment v revenue saving 
implications, alternative operating models, and potential for additional income streams. 
All of which have been reviewed at a high level to date. The Council would continue to 
work with the retained specialists and internal teams on these matters. 

 
2.10.2. Max Associates have undertaken demand modelling, demographic profiling, 

competitive analysis, and national benchmarking (pre and post Covid) to test the 
revenue projections.   

 
2.10.3. The design team comprising YMD Boon architects and Thornton-Firkin QS have 

developed the masterplan, layout designs and capital costs – equivalent to a RIBA 
Stage 2-plus approach, with the intent that the project will continue to develop and be 
refined through RIBA Stages 3-6. It is anticipated that a planning application will be 
submitted by July 2022, with works to commence on site in February 2023. Following 
a 90-week build programme and centre mobilisation, it is planned for the developments 

Page 236



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  23 
 

 

 

to be completed by September 2024. This is well within the Towns Fund programme 
estimates, and thus there is sufficient contingency in place. 
 

2.11. Project phasing 
 
2.11.1. The proposal is to phase the construction works connected to the Leisure Project so 

that the existing swimming pool facilities are out of action and unavailable to the public. 
for as short a time as possible. 

 
2.11.2. The general phasing strategy to achieve this is summarised as follows: 

 

• Provision of temporary accommodation to be used to replace the existing single 

storey accommodation which needs to be demolished to allow the new extension 

to be constructed. This work is to include the provision of safe access routes to 

and from the pool areas. Temporary accommodation will provide temporary 

reception and changing facilities (Phase 1 – Enabling). 

• Demolition of existing single storey accommodation to front of existing leisure 

centre to allow the new extension to be constructed (Phase 1A). 

• Construction of new two storey extension. This work will include the construction 

of new space for and installation in plant space of replacement pool ventilation and 

filtration plant & equipment. This must be done to enable pool downtime to be 

minimised (Phase 1B). 

• Construction of first section of new external works & finishes to front and side of 

new extension. This work does not necessarily need to start when Phase 1B works 

start but the works do need to be complete at the same time as Phase 1B. A safe 

route of access for users of the pools and rear gym block must be always provided 

(Phase 1C). 

• Phase 2 Works - Refurbishment of existing leisure pool including internal 

refurbishment, roof replacement, installation of new heating, ventilation, and 

electrical systems, including connections to new plant & equipment. This phase 

will also include the relocation and re-connection of the existing Bio-Mass Facility 

and completion of rear and side external works (Phases 2A, 2B, 2C and 2D). 

• Phase 3 Works - Refurbishment of existing training pool including internal 

refurbishment and installation of new heating, ventilation, and electrical systems, 

including connections to new plant & equipment. This phase will also include the 

demolition and making good of the existing training pool changing block & the re-

cladding of the exposed training pool end wall (Phase 3A and 3B). 

• Phase 4 Works – completion of external works section between BBC Leisure 

Project site and Boston College’s Mayflower Building site (referred to as the 

Rowley Road area on the project programme). 

 

2.12. Operational Management 
 
2.12.1. The centre will be managed directly by BBC who will work in partnership with Boston 

College to deliver the outputs of the project. Thornton-Firkin have been retained as 
joint Project Managers for both the Boston Leisure Project and Mayflower. They will 
also advise on opportunities to maximise the synergy of the projects, including through 
potential joint procurement of construction contracts. 

 
 
 
 

Page 237



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  24 
 

 

 

2.13. Future Opportunities  
 
2.13.1. Whilst there is the ‘second stage’ opportunity to create a community health and well-

being hub, these proposals do not at this stage include for the works to 
remodel/refurbish the existing health-suite to the rear of the site. This would however 
be retained with the aspiration that this provides community facilities; alongside other 
commercial opportunities. This would be a separate investment by the Council and 
would supplement the Towns Fund proposals. Thus adding a further layer of benefit. 
The Council is actively exploring the opportunities that this investment would create, 
including working with partners such as the NHS, ascertain the opportunities for a 
revenue stream connected with community outreach facilities which would have a 
natural fit with the proposals. 

 
2.14. Whilst there are several synergies with the Mayflower, this business case solely relates 

to the Boston Leisure Project, with the Mayflower subject of its own business case. 
 

 
  

Page 238



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  25 
 

 

 

3. STRATEGIC CASE  

 
3.1. The strategic case sets out the rationale and evidence of need for the proposed 

investment. The case for change below summarises this rationale, however, the thread 
of evidence from national and local strategies, demographic, health, and activity 
profiles, together with assessment of need for future sports and physical activity 
facilities, is set out within this section.  

 
3.2. The case for change  

 
Figure 8 – The Case for Change 

 
3.3. National Strategic Context  

 

3.3.1. A summary of the key strategies and their respective outcomes are detailed overleaf, 
including the strategic outcomes/KPI’s from the four national bodies: Public Health 
England (PHE), Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS), The British 
Medical Association (BMA) and Sport England (SE). 

Page 239



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  26 
 

 

 

Figure 9 – National Strategy Summary 

  

Page 240



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  27 
 

 

 

3.3.2. The infographic below shows the priority of the new government department, the Office 
for Health Improvement and Disparities and goes on to highlight the recommendations, 
from the recent House of Lords paper, calling for a national plan for sport health and 
well-being. 

 
3.3.3. These both highlight the focus central government is putting on physical activity and 

levelling health inequalities as the country recovers from all the health and other 
impacts of the coronavirus pandemic. 

 

Figure 10 – New National Priorities 

 

 
3.3.4. Finally, the infographic below, reminds us of government’s commitment to achieve 

carbon neutrality target by 2050, which is relevant given leisure centres contribute 
hugely to council’s carbon emissions each year. 

 
Figure 11 – Net Zero Commitment 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 241



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  28 
 

 

 

3.4. National Strategic Priorities 

 
3.4.1. Sport England ‘Uniting the Movement’ Strategy 2021-2031 

 
3.4.2. The Sport England Strategy ‘Uniting the Movement’ was launched January 2021 with 

the vision: ‘Imagine a nation of more equal, inclusive and connected 
communities. A country where people live happier, healthier and more fulfilled 
lives’.  

 
3.4.3. The mission of this strategy is to ‘invest in sport and physical activity to make it 

a normal part of life for everyone in England, regardless of who you are. 
 
3.4.4. The Sport England five big issues are: Recover and Reinvent, Connecting 

Communities, Positive Experiences for Young Children and Young People, 
Connecting with Health & Wellbeing and Active Environments. These national 
themes are similar to many local outcomes.  

 
3.4.5. The strategy also focuses on ‘expanding our place-based working by collaborating 

with more places and their decision-makers on their local priorities and partnership 
opportunities, helping them use sport and physical activity to deliver the outcomes they 
want, and their communities need. In the places we’re working intensely already, we’ll 
do more to join-up our investment and use what we’re learning to influence others.’  

 
3.4.6. This way of working is evident in the statement: ‘We want more communities to enjoy 

the benefits of what sport and physical activity can do, both for individuals and the 
place where they live and work. Those benefits will come from a more bottom-up 
approach to our work and investment. Working with – not doing things to – 
communities and helping those affected to play a role in what happens in their 
neighbourhood and how it gets done.’ 

 
3.4.7. Following the strategy launch, SE published its three-year implementation plan setting 

out the key objectives it wanted to see delivered by 2015. The core focus is on reducing 
levels of inactivity, with focus on the places of highest need, that is current lowest levels 
of inactivity and health inequalities. 

 
3.5. British Medical Association (BMA) ‘Get Moving Report’, October 2019 – Steps to 

increase physical activity levels in the UK.  

 
3.5.1. The BMA briefing examines the wide range of benefits of physical activity, the current 

low levels of physical activity in the UK and the significant inequalities that exist in 
levels of physical activity within the population. Policy recommendations are across 
four core parts of people’s lives:  

 

• travel (increased investment in active travel); 

• leisure (access to open spaces and recreation facilities);  

• school (physical education recognised and protected as an essential part 
of the school curriculum); and 

• work (encourage active travel). 
 
  

Page 242



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  29 
 

 

 

3.6. PHE Strategy 2020 – 2025 Protecting and Improving the Nation’s Health 
(published September 2019) 

 
3.6.1. This strategy outlines the foremost priorities to focus on to both protect people and 

help people to live longer in good health. Whilst focus is given to reductions in smoking 
and air pollution, increased levels of physical activity can significantly support reducing 
childhood obesity and improved mental health. 

 
3.7. Department of Health & Social Care Tackling Obesity: empowering adults and 

children to live healthier lives (published 27 July 2020) policy paper 
 
3.7.1. The Public Health England’s (PHE) recent assessment and new evidence made it clear 

that being overweight or living with obesity is associated with an increased risk of 
hospitalisation, severe symptoms, advanced levels of treatment such as mechanical 
ventilation or admission to Intensive Care Units and death from Covid-19. These risks 
increase progressively as an individual’s body mass index (BMI) increases. 

 
3.7.2. Obesity puts pressure on the health service. It is estimated that overweight and obesity 

related conditions across the UK are costing the NHS £6.1 billion each year. Latest 
figures show there were nearly 900,000 obesity related hospital admissions in 2018 to 
2019.  

 
3.7.3. Therefore, PHE will be: 

 
• Introducing a new campaign – a call to action for everyone who is overweight to 

take steps to move towards a healthier weight, with evidence-based tools and 
apps with advice on how to lose weight and keep it off. 

• Working to expand weight management services available through the NHS, so 
more people get the support they need to lose weight. 

• Publishing a 4-nation public consultation to gather views and evidence on the 
current ‘traffic light’ label to help people make healthy food choices. 

• Introducing legislation to require large out-of-home food businesses, including 
restaurants, cafes and takeaways with more than 250 employees, to add calorie 
labels to the food they sell. 

• Consulting on their intention to make companies provide calorie labelling on 
alcohol. 

• Legislating to end the promotion of foods high in fat, sugar or salt (HFSS) by 
restricting volume promotions such as buy one get one free, and the placement 
of these foods in prominent locations intended to encourage purchasing, both 
online and in physical stores in England. 

• Banning the advertising of HFSS products being shown on TV and online before 
9pm and holding a short consultation as soon as possible on how they introduce 
a total HFSS advertising restriction online. 

 
3.8. DCMS School Sport and Activity Action Plan, July 2019  
 
3.8.1. The government has three overarching ambitions for this plan:  

 

• All children and young people take part in at least 60 minutes of physical 
activity every day.  As set out in the Childhood Obesity Plan, at least 30 minutes 
should take place in schools, and the remaining 30 outside the school day.   

• Children and young people have the opportunity to realise developmental, 
character-building experiences through sport, competition and active pursuits.   

Page 243

http://www.ias.org.uk/uploads/pdf/Economic%20impacts%20docs/pubmed.fdr033.full.pdf
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-obesity-physical-activity-and-diet/england-2020/part-1-obesity-related-hospital-admissions-copy
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-obesity-physical-activity-and-diet/england-2020/part-1-obesity-related-hospital-admissions-copy


Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  30 
 

 

 

• All sport and physical activity provision for children and young people is designed 
around the principles of physical literacy, focuses on fun and enjoyment and aims 
to reach the least active.  

 
3.9. Active Travel  

 
3.9.1. The Department for Transport has recognised the benefits, particularly during Covid-

19, of cycling and walking. Their 2020 strategy sets out their ‘bold vision’ for cycling 
and walking. 

 
3.10. Department for Transport – Gear Change ‘A bold vision for cycling and walking’ 

(2020)  

 
3.10.1. This strategy highlights the many benefits of cycling and walking. The vision extends 

to healthier, happier and greener communities, safer streets, convenient and 
accessible travel. It also highlights the importance of active travel with better cycling 
and walking infrastructure being at heart of all transport policy and planning. Their 
vision is:  

 

“England will be a great walking and cycling nation. Places will be truly walkable. A 

travel revolution in our streets, towns and communities will have made cycling a mass 

form of transit. Cycling and walking will be the natural first choice for many journeys 

with half of all journeys in towns and cities being cycled or walked by 2030” 

 
3.11. Social Return on Investment and Cost of Inactivity 

 
3.11.1. Whilst many national and local strategies address the health and wellbeing benefits of 

lower obesity and higher physical activity levels for residents, there have been national 
assessments of the economic impact of increasing levels of activity. 

 
3.11.2. Research carried out by the Sport Industry Research Centre at Sheffield Hallam 

University for Sport England demonstrates that community sport and physical activity 
generates significant social and economic value to England, and in doing so 
contributes to the five government outcomes identified in Sporting Future: A New 
Strategy for an Active Nation (physical well-being, mental well-being, individual 
development, social and community development, and economic development).  

 
3.11.3. The findings of the above report show that for every £1 spent on community sport and 

physical activity in England, an economic and social return on investment of £3.91 is 
generated. Taking into account physical health benefits, mental wellbeing uplifts and 
economic development, the contribution was found to benefit some £85.5 billion to the 
English economy and society.4 

 
3.11.4. Conversely, Public Health England estimates the cost of physical inactivity in the UK 

to be £7.4bn per year, including £0.9bn to the NHS alone.5 

 

                                                 
4 Why investing in physical activity is great for our health – and our nation (Sport England, 2020). 
https://www.sportengland.org/news/why-investing-physical-activity-great-our-health-and-our-nation  
5 Physical activity: applying All Our Health (Public Health England, 2019). 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/physical-activity-applying-all-our-health/physical-activity-

applying-all-our-health  

Page 244

https://www.sportengland.org/news/why-investing-physical-activity-great-our-health-and-our-nation
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/physical-activity-applying-all-our-health/physical-activity-applying-all-our-health
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/physical-activity-applying-all-our-health/physical-activity-applying-all-our-health


Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  31 
 

 

 

Figure 12 – The social and economic value of being active6 

 
3.12. UK Chief Medical Officers' (CMO) Physical Activity Guidelines, September 2019 
 
3.12.1. The guidelines include recommendations for at least 150 minutes of moderate 

intensity activity per week, or 75 minutes of vigorous activity or a combination of both. 
These are shown in the infographic below.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
6 Measuring Impact (Sport England, 2020). https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-
help/measuring-impact?section=social_and_economic_value_of_community_sport  

 

Page 245

https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/measuring-impact?section=social_and_economic_value_of_community_sport
https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/measuring-impact?section=social_and_economic_value_of_community_sport


Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  32 
 

 

 

Figure 13 – UK Chief Medical Officer physical activity guidelines by age  

 

3.12.2. The guidelines also provide information on the benefits of physical activity for: 
 

• Disabled adults: physical activity provides the same benefits for disabled people 
as the rest of the population, such as improving fitness, making daily tasks easier 
and creating new opportunities to meet people. Any myths about physical activity 
being inherently harmful for disabled people should be dispelled.  

• Pregnant women: specific benefits include reduction in hypertensive disorders, 
improved cardiorespiratory fitness, lower gestational weight gain, and reduction 
in risk of gestational diabetes.  

• Women after childbirth: specific benefits include reduction in depression, 
improved emotional well-being, improved physical conditioning, and reduction in 
postpartum weight gain and a faster return to pre-pregnancy weight. 

 
3.13. Health and Wellbeing Outcomes 

 
3.13.1. As being reflected by Government and Sport England strategies and recognised by 

local authorities and Public Health England for some time, ‘sport’ is no longer delivered 
solely for ‘sport’s’ sake. Increasing participation in sport and physical activity and 
reducing levels of inactivity are key to both local and national Government achieving 
outcomes in public health (physical and mental), adult social care and education.  

 
3.13.2. Both the BMA and PHE recognise the benefits of increasing activity on both physical 

and mental health. The national planning policy framework supports the premise of 
providing proper leisure facilities to meet local needs and the DoT vision for cycling 
and walking, recognises the importance of people walking and cycling more on their 
overall health and quality of live. 

 
3.13.3. As such Sport England’s mission to ‘‘invest in sport and physical activity to make it 

a normal part of life for everyone in England, regardless of who you are”, is recognised 
to benefit government’s wider outcomes.  

 
3.13.4. Further, the report completed by Sheffield Hallam University quantified the social return 

of investment into sport in England.  
 

Page 246



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  33 
 

 

 

3.13.5. However, the coronavirus has significantly impacted activity levels and use of leisure 
centres; neither having returned to pre-Covid levels. Inequality of opportunity to be 
active and health inequalities appear to be widening. Therefore, local government 
interventions which impact levels of physical inactivity will be crucial to support the 
national outcomes set out above. 

 
3.14. National Trends in Fitness 
 
3.14.1. Given the importance of ensuring the right type of fitness offer, to not only meet local 

requirements but also to ensure a sustainable income stream, a review has been 
undertaken of the market utilising the 2019 State of the UK Fitness Industry Report. 
The findings of this report can be found in Appendix 1.  

 
3.15. Local Strategic Context 
 
3.15.1. The key strategies and priorities for Boston and surrounding area are outlined in the 

infographic overleaf, those which are pertinent to the Boston Leisure Project are shown 
in blue. The Boston Towns Fund Vision and outcomes are set out below. 
 

  

Page 247



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  34 
 

 

 

Figure 14 – Key Strategies and Priorities 

 

Page 248



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  35 
 

 

 

Figure 15 – Local Strategic Priorities  

 
 

Page 249



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  36 
 

 

 

3.15.2. It is worth noting that in 2018, Lincolnshire Health and Wellbeing Board - the local 
strategic forum for health and care made physical activity one of its seven priority areas 
for improvement, recognising that being physically active is one of the key ingredients 
of a healthy and fulfilled life. Since then more than 60 partners have come together to 
form the Lincolnshire Physical Activity Taskforce – an alliance of partners from across 
the county taking a fresh look at the problem of inactivity using a “whole system 
approach”. 

 

3.15.3. Furthermore, in August 2021, the South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership – a 

partnership between East Lindsey District Council, Boston Borough Council and South 

Holland District Council – was agreed. This partnership will initially see the three 

Councils share a Corporate Management Team. All three Councils will retain their own 

identity and be accountable to their local communities, however sharing expertise, 

teams and resources through the partnership will allow the Councils to address 

challenges on a ‘sub-regional’ basis and in a cost-effective manner. To date, this has 

accelerated the Councils, and boosted the profile of this part of Lincolnshire, as a place 

to live, work and invest. This in turn creates a platform for further public sector 

investment, and layering of funding opportunities and partnerships. 

 

3.15.4. Summary  

 

3.15.5.  Investment into the Boston Leisure Project will help meet national and local strategic 

objectives by:  

 

• Developing physical confidence and competence from the earliest age by providing 
opportunities for children of all ages to be active through play; 

• Encouraging and enabling the inactive to be more active, by introducing new 
activities aimed at fun and recreation rather than just traditional sport;  

• Supporting well-being and resilience in communities through physical activity and 
sport;  

• Linking with Boston College to provide employment opportunities for young people 
in the area;  

• Supporting economic regeneration of Boston’s centre; and  

• Giving local residents a sense of ‘pride of place’ through the enhancement of a key 
local building. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 250



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  37 
 

 

 

3.16. Demographic Profile 

 

3.16.1. The context of the catchment area in which the centre is located is important to 
understand, as it will influence future use of any new facilities. 

 

3.16.2. The key demographics for the area are: 

• There are 69,366 people living in Boston. 

• The population of Boston is projected to 

increase by 14.9% overall by 2040, according 

to the Office of National Statistics (ONS 2018), 

from 69,366 to 81,483 by 2040.7 

• Boston has seen a rapid increase in its 

population in recent years with the growth 

mainly from incoming eastern European 

migrants. This has brought challenges in terms 

of rapid increase but also significant benefits 

in the provision of a workforce for local 

employers.8  

• Boston has a higher proportion of older people 

and a lower proportion of working age people 

compared to England. 

• Approximately 50% of the Borough’s residents 

live within the town of Boston, with the 

remaining 50% living in the surrounding rural 

communities.9  

• All age groups are projected to increase apart 
from 0-9 years which remain static. The most prevalent age group in 2020 is 30-
34 years which changes to 50-54 years by 2040. By 2040 the 75-79 years age 
group is projected to increase the most by 38%. 

• Life expectancy for both men and women is lower than the England and regional 
average. 

• In 2016-18, life expectancy at birth in Boston was 77.8 for males and 82.8 for 
females. 

 
3.16.3. Overall, comparing local indicators with England averages, the health and well-being 

of children and adults in Boston is significantly worse than England. Key health factors 
to note that a leisure development could support and improve are: 

 

• 70.5% of adults are classified as overweight or obese which is worse than 
the regional (64.4%) or England average (62.0%).10 

• Rate of obesity in 10-11year olds 2018-2019 is 27.1% worse than the 
regional (19.7%) and average for England (20.2%). 

• The rate of under 75 mortality rate from cardiovascular diseases is worse 
at 95.8 (per 1,000,000 population) than the regional (73.5) and England (71.7) 
average.   

                                                 
7 Full population data can be found in Appendix 2.  
8 Boston Corporate Strategy 2020-2024 
9 Boston Corporate Strategy 2020-2024  
10 Source: PHE Profile Boston  

Page 251



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  38 
 

 

 

 
3.16.4. A catchment area of 30 minutes has been reviewed for the commercial leisure aspects. 

This incorporates the whole of Boston plus parts of Holbeach and Spalding in the South 
and Heckington to the West. This is shown in the figure below.  

Figure 16 – 30 Minute Catchment Map 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
3.16.5. The total population within a 30-minute catchment is 121,548. The largest age groups 

within catchment are the 40-59 and 60-79 age groups. A full breakdown of the 
catchment age profile can be found in Appendix 3.  
 

3.17. Physical Activity Levels  
 
3.17.1. As the figure overleaf shows, 38.5% of adults are physically inactive which is worse 

than the regional (30.3%) and average for England (27.5%). 
 
3.17.2. Furthermore, 64.4% of children in Boston are not meeting the national guidelines 

for physical activity. This is worse than regional and England averages as illustrated 
in figure 11.  

Page 252



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  39 
 

 

 

Figure 17 – Physical activity levels among adults (May 2020-2021)  

 
 

Figure 18 – Physical activity levels among children (Academic year 2020-2021)  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 253



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  40 
 

 

 

 
3.18.  Sport England Active Lives Report May 2020-2021 (Published October 2021)  

 
3.18.1. Demographic breakdown of Covid-19 impact on physical activity 

 
3.18.2. The Sport England Active Lives Report May 2020-2021 found that certain groups 

have been disproportionately impacted by the pandemic, and it is these groups that 
may need more support in returning to physical activity. The list of affected groups 
below is not exhaustive but highlights groups which are represented in Boston and 
already tend to face more health inequalities:  

 

• Activity levels have fallen for both the 16-34 and 35-54 age groups, compared 
to 12 months ago. This continues the downward trend seen before the 
pandemic for the 16-34 age group, with the proportion who are active having 
fallen a further 2.8% compared to 12 months ago. Within this, it’s the 16-24 
age group particularly driving the decreases. 

• Activity levels had been growing strongly amongst the 55-74 and 75+ age 
groups prior to the coronavirus pandemic. While activity levels have broadly 
been maintained in the 55-74 age group, many of the gains among the 75+ 
age group have been lost. This may be linked to the requirement for many of 
those aged 70+ to shield during the earlier stages of the pandemic and a 
continued nervousness of mingling indoors or in crowded outdoor spaces. 

• Both those with and without a disability or long-term health condition have 
seen activity levels fall by more when greater restrictions were in place – in 
line with the national picture. However, those with a disability or long-term 
health condition saw no recovery across mid-March to mid-May 2021, 
compared to the first full lockdown during the same period in 2020 – remaining 
7.1% down on 2019. This suggests a return to activity may be slower for this 
group and without additional support many may not return. 

• Black and Asian adults are less likely to be active than those who are White 
or Mixed race. The pandemic’s had a disproportionately negative impact on 
those with the lowest activity levels and as such the inequalities have widened. 
Amongst those from Black and Asian (excluding Chinese) backgrounds, men 
have driven the drops. Despite this, women of Black and Asian (excluding 
Chinese) ethnicities remain the least active and have the largest gender gap 
to males with the same ethnicity. 

• Men saw a larger drop than women during the early 2021 lockdown period, 
whereas women’s activity levels remained more consistently lower than 
12 months earlier, across the period. Men have also driven the partial recovery 
seen during mid-March to mid-May 2021. 

• Whilst the data doesn’t report a change compared to 12 months ago for lower 
socio-economic groups (NS-SEC 6-8), this is the only group to show a 
decrease compared to the November 2015-16 baseline (-2.7%). This 
reinforces the previously observed widening of existing inequalities. 

 

Page 254



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  41 
 

 

 

3.19. Deprivation and Inactivity  
 
3.19.1. National data shows a strong link between deprivation and inactivity.11 Therefore, 

there is a need to encourage participation among these communities in particular. It 
can be seen in the map below that the area around GMLC has some pockets of 
deprivation.  
 

3.19.2. It is particularly worth noting, as the above Sport England research highlights, that the 
pandemic has exacerbated already existing health and physical activity disparities for 
those living in more deprived areas.  

Figure 19 – Areas of deprivation in Boston centre  

 

 

 
3.20. Sports Halls and Swimming Pools Provision  
 
3.20.1. The table overleaf shows the sports hall and swimming competition within a 20-minute 

drive time. 
 
3.20.2. The sports halls listed all have three or more courts. There are seven facilities with a 

total of 27 courts within the catchment.  All these facilities allow public access, six of 
them are on education sites.  One of them, the Princess Royal Sports Arena, is the 
only facility available on a pay and play basis. 

 

                                                 
11 Public Health England Fingertips: Physical Activity (2018) 

Page 255



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  42 
 

 

 

3.20.3. There is only one other swimming pool in a 20-minute catchment at Princess Royal 
Sports Arena with public access, whilst described as a leisure pool it is a typical 
rectangle tank with a jacuzzi in one corner.  It is a smaller pool at 105 m². 

Page 256



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

          43 
 

 

 

Table 2 – Swimming pools and sports halls in a 20 minute catchment 

Site Name 
Facility 
Type 

Facility 
Sub Type Unit Number Access Type 

Ownership 
Type Management Type Range 

SPORTS HALLS                 

HAVEN HIGH ACADEMY (THE 
TOLLFIELD CAMPUS) Sports Hall Main 

Badminton 
courts 3 

Sports Club / 
Community Association Academies 

School/College/University 
(in house) 2.5-5 

HAVEN HIGH ACADEMY (MARIAN 
CAMPUS) Sports Hall Main 

Badminton 
courts 4 

Sports Club / 
Community Association 

Community 
school 

School/College/University 
(in house) 5-10 

PETER PAINE PERFORMANCE 
CENTRE Sports Hall Main 

Badminton 
courts 5 

Sports Club / 
Community Association 

Further 
Education 

School/College/University 
(in house) 5-10 

KIRTON MIDDLECOTT SPORTS & 
FITNESS CENTRE Sports Hall Main 

Badminton 
courts 4 

Sports Club / 
Community Association 

Community 
school Other 10-15 

PRINCESS ROYAL SPORTS 
ARENA Sports Hall Main 

Badminton 
courts 3 Pay and Play 

Community 
Organisation 

Commercial 
Management 10-15 

THE GILES ACADEMY Sports Hall Main 
Badminton 

courts 4 
Sports Club / 

Community Association Academies 
School/College/University 

(in house) 15-20 

WILLIAM LOVELL CHURCH OF 
ENGLAND ACADEMY Sports Hall Main 

Badminton 
courts 4 

Sports Club / 
Community Association Academies 

School/College/University 
(in house) 15-20 

SWIMMING POOLS                 

PRINCESS ROYAL SPORTS 
ARENA 

Swimming 
Pool 

Leisure 
Pool Lanes 0 Pay and Play 

Community 
Organisation 

Commercial 
Management 10-15 

THE GILES ACADEMY 
Swimming 

Pool Main Lanes 4 Private Access Academies 
School/College/University 

(in house) 15-20 

 
3.20.4. This table suggests that there is sufficient sports hall provision within the existing catchment, particularly as sports halls in general have 

seen a decline in use and income over the last two years pre Covid12. 
 
3.20.5. GMLC is the main swimming provision in the area, with no other facilities of that size in the catchment, therefore it is key that the pool 

provision remains as the only access residents in Boston will have to swimming facilities.   

 

                                                 
12 From comparisons between Sport England National Benchmarks for income per court 2018 and 2019 

P
age 257



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

     
     

44 
 

 

 

3.21. Latent Demand for Fitness  
 

3.21.1. It is important to understand the latent demand for fitness in the area given the demographics and 
competition (private and public), as this will determine both the ideal size of the gym and 
complementary facilities (group exercise studios etc.) and the potential levels of income derived 
from the facilities. 

 
3.21.2. An analysis was undertaken to show health and fitness competition within a 15-minute drive time 

of the site. This can be seen on the map in Appendix 4.  In total, there are eight other fitness gyms; 
five of these are within a mile. It is noted that Tru-gym has recently closed.  

 
3.21.3. Following this a commercial assessment for the demand for fitness was commissioned. The overall 

total demand for fitness is estimated to be 1,782 fully paying adult members. 
 
3.21.4. Please refer to Appendix 5 for full latent demand breakdown by mosaic type and age. 

 
3.21.5. A gym to support this level of adult memberships would need to be at least 70 – 75 stations. 

However, given both population growth and the number of younger people in the area, and links 
with the college, it is recommended that space is created for an additional free weights area and 
space for cross and personal training.  
 

3.21.6. Given the level of in-active and older residents, an area of equipment for less mobile people and 
for rehabilitation close to consultation rooms will be beneficial.     
 

3.22. Competition Analysis – Commercial Facilities  
 
3.22.1. A detailed competition analysis of commercial leisure indoor venues within a 30-minute drive time 

of the site found the following:  
 

• In terms of soft play provision, there are only two soft play facilities within 20 minutes, which is 
limited competition. Fuzzy Ed’s, the closest competition is a play area located inside a 
restaurant/pub. 

• Play Towers is a larger five storey play facility, which is also home to other leisure activities 
including Boston Bowl and Krazee Klimb. The centre also has ‘Battle Warehouse’ a laser tag 
facility. 

• Further competition is limited, with no indoor skate parks, trampoline parks or Tag Active 
facilities within a 30-minute drive time. 

 
3.22.2. Full details of the competition analysis can be found in Appendix 6.  

 
3.22.3. Given the local competition in terms of soft play, ten pin and laser tag at Boston Bowl, there may 

be limited commercial opportunities for new facilities in the Boston Leisure Project. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 258



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  45 
 

 

 

3.23. Health and well-being opportunities 
 
3.23.1. Given the demographic and health profile of residents in Boston and discussions with health 

partners, there are opportunities to link the swimming pool and health suite to a ‘health and well-
being hub’, which could incorporate: 
 

• Fitness equipment for people with health conditions, who are less mobile, new to fitness or 
older 

• Consultation rooms for phase 4 cardiac rehabilitation and GP referrals 

• Meeting rooms for health partners to deliver seated mobility classes, smoking cessation 
courses, health eating for families’ workshops and sessions etc. 

• Physio and complementary therapy rooms 

• Course links to improving mental health through physical activity  

• Meeting rooms for other community groups (shortfall of available space in Boston) and 
council partners to deliver services in an informal setting (for example youth offending team 
services) 

 
3.24. Stakeholder Relationships and Engagement  

3.24.1. The Council currently works with several organisations to increase participation at GMLC to 

encourage health benefits, which aligns with a number of key strategic priorities.  These groups 

include: 

 

• Boston Amateur Swimming Club 

• Boston Triathlon Club 

• Boston Sub Aqua Club 

• Schools 

• Little Miracles Charity 

• Boston College 

• Boston Big Local 

• Boston Town Area Committee 

• Katy Cooper – The Treatment Rooms 

• Lincolnshire County Council – Holiday Activity and Food Programme 

• One You Lincolnshire 

• Cardiac Rehabilitation Phase Four 

• Lincolnshire Active 

• Market Deeping Swimming Club 

• Sea Cadets 

• Air Cadets 

• Police Cadets 

• 100% Tri – Elite Athlete Training 

3.24.2. The figure overleaf details some key themes which emerged from stakeholder engagement during 

the development of the Boston Town Deal. 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 259



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  46 
 

 

 

 

Figure 20 – Town Deal Engagement Themes  

 
3.25. Community Engagement 
   
3.25.1. Engagement has been undertaken as part of the Town Deal and PE21. The plans have been 

formulated based on an understanding of current users and stakeholders’ requirements to ensure 
that the key current facilities are retained. As part of the scheme moving forward, a package of 
engagement and stakeholder involvement will be included, including pre-planning application 
consultation, to refine the plans and supplement the formal consultation required in connection with 
the Council’s statutory roles. The Town Deal engagement reach is set out overleaf. 
 

  

Page 260



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  47 
 

 

 

Figure 21 – Town Deal Engagement Reach 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

   
3.25.2. The Boston Town Deal https://www.bostontowndeal.co.uk website includes all the projects’ 

information including: 

 

• Library of documents 

• Blogs and video blogs 

• FAQs 

• Public meeting packs 

• Links to facebook pages 

• Governance / terms of reference 
   
3.25.3. Further engagement would take place as the proposals are developed, including both statutory and 

non-statutory consultation in connection with the necessary planning application. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 261

https://www.bostontowndeal.co.uk/


Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  48 
 

 

 

3.26. Vision and objectives  
 

3.27. The vision is to create a modern innovative leisure complex for Boston that provides a swimming 
and physical activity hub to inspire people of Boston and the surrounding area to be active. This 
vision links directly to the Towns Fund outcome for this project, which is to deliver one new or 
improved leisure facility. 
 

3.28. The hub should feel part of the wider Mayflower campus and be welcoming to all users; young and 
old, local or visitors and engender a sense of community and civic pride. 
 
Figure 22 – Vision and Objectives 

 
 
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 O
u

tc
o

m
e

s

•Develop physical 
activity competancy 
from the earliest age 

•Enabling & 
encouraging the 
inactive to be active

•Support well-being and 
resiliance in 
communities through 
physical activity

• Increase breadth of 
lcoal skills offer that 
responds to local skills 
needs

•Support economic 
regeneration

•Give residents an 
improved sense of 
pride of place in the 
town centre

W
h

e
re

 w
e

 a
re

 n
o

w
?

•70.5% adult are 
overweight or obese

•27.1% 10/11 year olds 
are obese

•Rate of under 75 yr old 
cardio vascualr disease 
is higher than region 
and England

•38.5% of adults are 
physically inactive

•64.4% of childern are 
not meeting the 
national guidelines for 
physical activity

•The number of people 
qualified to NVQ3 and 
above, is 20% lower 
than the national 
average

•GMLC is not fit for 
purpose and requires 
significant lifecycle 
maintenace over the 
next 20 years.

W
h

a
t 
o

u
tp

u
ts

 f
ro

m
 t
h

e
 p

ro
je

c
t 
w

ill
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 o

u
r 

o
u

tc
o

m
e

s
?

•One upgraded leisure 
complex to meet neesd 
of local residents

• Increased land value

• Increased visits by 
older people and those 
from areas of 
deprivation

• Increased visits to 
reduce levels of 
inactivity - adults

• Increased visits to 
reduce levels of 
inactivity - children

• Introduction of cardiac 
rehabilitation courses

•Partnership with 
college to deveop work 
experience & 
apprenticeship 
programme to support 
new learners

• Increased tourism 
visitors to the centre

•Residents' satisfaciton 
and sense of pride in 
the town 

Page 262



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  49 
 

 

 

3.29. The Proposed investment 
 

3.29.1. This section sets out a description of the works to be undertaken, interdependencies with the 
Mayflower project and alternative options considered. 
  

3.29.2. Alternative Options 
 

3.29.3. Do nothing 
 

3.29.4. Do nothing is not an option, the complex desperately requires circa £2.5m lifecycle works 
investment into a building which is not fit for purpose, nor supporting the outcomes of the Council 
to increase opportunities for people of most need to be more physically active. The impact of Covid-
19 on physical activity clearer shows that inequalities are growing, and data is showing that users 
are slow to return to the existing centre. Data from Sport England’s Moving Communities13 
database highlights that recovery of older centres / centre which have not been recently refurbished 
is lower than newer and refurbished leisure centres. 
 

3.29.5. In addition, doing nothing would lead to a loss of Town Deal funding and failure to achieve the 
strategic outcomes and outputs of the project. It would result in reputational damage – particularly 
with Government, the Town Deal Board, and other partners – but would also undermine community 
confidence in the Council to secure funding and deliver improvements for the town. 
 

3.29.6. It would also lead to the loss of synergies with the Mayflower project if that were to proceed without 
the Leisure Project.  
 

3.29.7. New build leisure centre 
 

3.29.8. The Council has considered new build leisure centre options. The capital costs were in the region 
of £22m for the same scope of provision. The following options were discounted (January 2022 
BBC Cabinet meeting):  
 

• Relocation of leisure site to PE21 area – this was discounted due to concerns of Members 

regarding potential net loss of facility; combined with likely costs and funding constraints. 

• Land-swap involving GMLC site and Ingelow Manor to enable new leisure re-provision on that 

site - discounted due to significant costs and funding constraints, timeframe and potential 

impact on the loss of leisure facilities during development. 

 

3.29.9. A report taken to the Boston Town Deal Board February 2022 set out the conclusions on the option 
to provide a new build leisure centre. As can be seen from the text below, this option was not 
deemed to be financially viable14. 

 

Boston Borough Council worked with industry experts, Alliance Leisure, on a revised 

site plan, floor plans and accommodation schedule for a new Leisure Centre on the 

site of the Ingelow Manor Centre.  

 

On 24th November, the Town Deal Team received a capital investment summary for 

the leisure project.  This confirmed that the creation of a new leisure centre, with no 

less than the current provisions was not financially achievable. 

                                                 
13 https://movingcommunities.org  
14 Boston Town Deal Board Report: Options Appraisal for Flagship Project – the Mayflower; February 2022 

Page 263

https://movingcommunities.org/


Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  50 
 

 

 

 

Meeting arranged with Boston College and Michelle Sacks to discuss the cost 

estimates received for Leisure and the feedback from Boston Borough Council 

members. 

 

There were three key considerations that effectively changed the Leisure project from 

an ambition for a new build to a transformation of the current Geoff Moulder Centre. 

These included:  

 

1) Due to inflationary pressures the costs associated with a new leisure provision far 

exceeded the expectation of both the team and members.  

2) Following consultation, there was significant concern regarding the timescales for 

delivery of both the Mayflower and Leisure Centre, particularly relating to the public 

expectation of ongoing access to the swimming pools during the development of the 

new leisure centre.  

3) The significant impact on the Leisure sector from Covid restrictions has had a 

knock on effect to the ability of the Council to secure any external leisure operator or 

investor/developer. 

 
3.29.10.  Description of the Project 

 
3.29.10.1. The design of the extension and refurbishment of the current Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex 

reinvents the existing centre for the 21st Century providing a contemporary Boston Leisure Centre 
for the town. 

 

• The existing complex is formed from three buildings, the leisure pool, the training pool, and the 
gym facility at the rear of the site.  Each of these existing buildings presently has its own 
entrance, requiring multiple staff to manage receptions and no single clear entry point.  The 
proposal includes an extended gym facility and extension at the front of the building with a 
single main entrance and reception for staff to greet the public and manage access to both pool 
facilities and the gym. 

• Presently the leisure pool and training pool have tired independent changing facilities, divided 
simply on a male/female gender basis.  The new facility will provide a new wet changing village 
directly accessed from the main entrance foyer, which serves both the leisure pool and training 
pool. The new changing village will provide a more gender-neutral changing facility, including 
single, double, family and disabled changing cubicles. The training pool, primarily used by 
schools and swimming clubs has simpler group changing facilities with adjoining access to the 
changing village. Importantly the new changing facilities are laid out to provide clear lines of 
sight for natural surveillance, the changing village opening fully to the leisure pool similarly to 
contemporary leisure pools. 

• The new extension at the front of the leisure centre is a clear statement that the existing facility 
has been improved. The new main entrance lobby is clearly visible on the new front façade, 
new views into the main entrance foyer and reception desk and a first-floor window to the new 
gym running full width of the extension activates the front façade for the those approaching, 
passing and using the proposed public space in front of the new leisure centre.   

• The proposed entrance foyer is located centrally to both the southern edge of the proposed 
public space and the new extension. The foyer is visible from the outside approaching the 
building with the staff at the reception desk greeting users on arrival. The foyer leads directly 
to the pools wet changing village, first floor gym and leads users through to the centre café 
which overlooks the leisure pool.  Direct views of the leisure pool on entering the building 

Page 264



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  51 
 

 

 

reinforcing the sense of arrival and one of the core activities in the leisure centre.  Importantly 
the foyer has adequate space for a retail offer, such as swimming costumes and equipment as 
well as the café providing revenue for the centre. 

• The new extension first floor is for the exclusive use of the gym, substantially larger than the 
existing one, and two new studios for exercise classes.  The gym’s bold north facing window 
overlooking the complex frontage, public space and proposed neighbouring Mayflower 
Building, clearly states what one of the core activities of the building is and provides great views 
into and out from the building. 

• The existing gym building at the rear of the site is proposed to be retained and could be re-
purposed as a community facility with its own separate entrance, the one exception to this is 
the existing spa facility which is proposed to be refurbished and accessed via the leisure pool 
as it is presently.  This building can be refurbished to provide potential facilities for medical 
consultations, sports physio, dance, and a space which can be hired by local community groups 
for various activities. 

• The remainder of the existing building including the pools will be refurbished. 
 
Figure 23 – Design of Extension and Refurbishment of Boston Leisure Centre 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 265



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  52 
 

 

 

 
 

3.29.11. The ‘proposed community use’ area (shaded in grey on the ground floor layout) is not within scope 
of this business case, however as per para 3.23 the Council is considering the option to develop 
the space into a health and well-being hub with health and community partners. 

 
3.29.12. Interdependencies with the Mayflower project (and others) 
 
3.29.13. Both the Boston Leisure Project and Mayflower are distinctly separate projects and could come 

forward in isolation. However, the preferred design response is to create a single campus/village, 
thus bringing together the synergies between education (especially Higher Education learners) 
and leisure/health and well-being. The creation of a campus approach allows for a unique and 
transformational sense of place to be created, secures increased value for money, and would 
have a much bigger overall impact on the place. This approach has been endorsed by the Towns 
Fund Board (February 2022). 

 
3.29.14. In design terms, the schemes would be linked, with shared access, parking, pick-up/drop-off and 

shared pedestrian space between the two buildings. This approach will be integral to both the 
design of the spaces but also their long-term management to create a cohesive and symbiotic 
environment. The spaces would also be designed to place active users at the heart, with 
encouragement of cycling and walking to the site, and car users being secondary. 

 
3.29.15. There is a shared design team, and the potential to have a shared approach to procurement and 

construction, although this is not yet confirmed. This has already derived some financial savings 
in terms of costs of surveys and background information for example. 

 
3.29.16. Through collaborative working, and establishment of a joint project team between the Council and 

the College, there is an ability to work collaboratively and ensure that any indirect 
interdependencies can be managed to ensure that there is no risk to either project delivery. 

 

Page 266



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  53 
 

 

 

3.29.17. Incorporating both the Mayflower and new Leisure Project on a shared site has several benefits. 

 

• The two projects provide local services that are complimentary, supporting the well-being, 
health, fitness, new business, and education of the community both locally and further afield, 
raising aspirations, users of both buildings physically seeing the potential of using services in 
the neighbouring building. 

• The Mayflower business units will be more attractive being located adjacent the new leisure 
centre. 

• The site is located only 10 minutes’ walk from Boston town centre, providing a local civic hub 
for health and leisure for local people. 

• The opportunity of the new public space clearly links the two buildings and a place for potential 
events for each of the buildings both individually and possibly together.   

 
3.29.18. At the Town Deal Board meeting, February 2022, support was provided to the principal of this 

campus approach being taken forward, due to the transformational impact of both projects for the 
area. 
 

Page 267



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  54 
 

 

 

  
4. ECONOMIC CASE  

 

4.1. Introduction 

4.1.1. The Economic Case determines the value for money of the investment. It should include an 
analysis of monetised benefits and costs, as well as non-monetised benefits. The benefits and 
costs assessed should be aligned to the objectives set out for the project in the Strategic Case. It 
is important that Economic and Strategic Cases are closely aligned. “Net present social value and 
benefit-cost ratios should not be treated as a full representation of value for money. Rather, they 
should be used to summarise the benefits and costs that can be readily monetised or quantified. 
There may be wider strategic or social value to an intervention which may not be easily assimilated 
into calculations.” 

4.2. Approach to economic case 

4.2.1. The Economic Case assesses the economic impacts of the Boston Leisure Project and whether 
value for money for the public sector is optimised. This initially involved developing a long-list of 
options, with the options qualitatively assessed to identify a shortlist.  A quantitative comparison of 
the shortlisted options and the Base Case is then set out to identify the preferred option. Sensitivity 
analysis follows to test the quantitative findings of the preferred option. 

4.2.2. The assessment of economic benefits for this Towns Fund scheme has been undertaken in full 
compliance with the latest HM Treasury Green Book (2020) and relevant Departmental guidance, 
such as Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG). 

4.2.3. There are a number of overarching assumptions which apply to the value for money assessment 
(unless otherwise stated): 

• all short-listed options have been appraised over a 30-year period, consistent with appraisal 
guidance for the refurbishment of existing assets. 

• where Present Value figures are presented, cost and values have been discounted at 3.5% 

• all monetised costs and benefits have been converted to 2021/22 prices, with general inflation 
excluded 

• the costs and benefits of the intervention options are presented in net terms and relative to the 
Base Case.  Adjustments have also been made for additionality e.g. leakage, displacement 
and multiplier effects where appropriate (as detailed below) 

• Optimism Bias of 15% has been calculated using HM Treasury methodology and included in 
the value for money analysis 

4.2.4. The framework for assessing the economic benefits of the Boston Leisure Project has been 
developed having regard to the HM Treasury Green Book, MHCLG, BEIS and DCMS guidance. 
As set out within the MHCLG Appraisal Guide, projects should be appraised based on a Benefit 
Cost Ratio (BCR).  

4.2.5. The calculation of costs and benefits has accounted for latest recommendations from MHCLG in 
relation to the Towns Fund, as well as other recent publications for regeneration and cultural 
projects. Reflecting the diverse nature of the interventions and their expected impacts, as well as 
the existing conditions within Boston, a wide range of external benefits have been assessed in 
accordance with guidance as set out in the Economic Benefits section below. 

4.3. Additionality 

4.3.1. Of key importance in assessing the impact of the proposals on the local economy is the extent to 
which new activity is truly additional, in other words it does not simply displace existing activity.  
Furthermore, it is important to understand who is likely to benefit from the impacts generated and 
the degree to which further demand and investment is stimulated. To assess the net additional 

Page 268



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  55 
 

 

 

impact of the proposals and overall anticipated additionality of the proposed project options, the 
following factors have therefore been considered: 

• Leakage – the proportion of outputs that benefit those outside of the project’s target area or 
group 

• Displacement – the proportion of project outputs accounted for by reduced outputs elsewhere 
in the target area. Displacement may occur in both the factor and product markets 

• Multiplier effects – further economic activity associated with additional local income and local 
supplier purchases  

• Deadweight – outputs which would have occurred without the project (Base Case)  

4.3.2. The approach to assessing the net additional impact of a project, taking into account the above 
adjustments, is shown diagrammatically below. 

Figure 24 Net Additional Impact 

 

4.3.3. For the economic modelling, we have assumed a composite additionality factor of 80% 

4.4. Economic benefits 

4.4.1. The following outputs were considered in the economic benefit assessment as set out in the table 
overleaf. 

 

 

 

 

      Intervention options         Reference case        Net additional impact 

 

Gross direct effects Gross direct effects

Less leakage from target 
area / group

Less leakage from target 
area / group

Gross local direct effects Gross local direct effects

Less displacement (factor 
and product market) / 

substitution

Less displacement (factor 
and product market) / 

substitution

Net local direct effects Net local direct effects

Plus multiplier effects Plus multiplier effects

Total gross local effects Total gross local effects

Total net local additional 
effects

LESS =

Page 269



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  56 
 

 

 

Table 3. Economic Benefits 

Outputs Mature Year Estimate (per 

annum) 

Participation numbers in health, sports and leisure 349,000 

Derelict site redeveloped - 

Jobs protected 23 FTE 

Adult fitness memberships 1,800 

Local fitness/exercise referrals 100 

Children accessing swimming lessons (outside school provision) 900 

Number of new learners assisted per annum 400  

Number of CIMPSA accredited CPD undertaken 50 

Number of CIMSPA members in Boston   10 

New community floorspace (sqm) 2,000 

New, upgraded or protected community centres, sports or athletics 

facilities, museums, arts venues, theatres, libraries, film facilities, 

prominent landmarks or historical buildings, parks or gardens 

1 

4.4.2. The economic modelling included a number of monetised benefits, consistent with governmental 
guidance.  These included (i) land value uplift; (ii) wider land value uplift; (iii) wellbeing of 
residents into work; (iv) labour market entrants; (v) productivity; (vi) educational; (vii) 
wellbeing benefits from increased access to leisure; and (viii) distributional. 

Table 4. Monetised Benefits 

Towns Fund 

investment 

theme 

Key benefits Wider social and economic 

benefits  

Key guidance to 

model and monetise 

benefits 

Urban 

regeneration, 

planning and 

land use 

Land value uplift 

Wider land value uplift 

• Increases in local employment 

and GVA 

• Increased local spend 
 

MHCLG guidance 

Arts, culture, 

and heritage 

Leisure / physical activity 

wellbeing benefits 

• Improved image of the town 

• Community cohesion 

DCMS guidance 

Enterprise 

infrastructure 

Land value uplift • Increased employment and 

income  

• Attraction of more businesses 

in the long term 

MHCLG guidance 

Enterprise 

infrastructure 

Labour market entrants 

Resident into work 

Productivity benefits 

• Increased employment and 

income  

• Better wellbeing 

MHCLG guidance; 

BEIS guidance 

Page 270



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  57 
 

 

 

Towns Fund 

investment 

theme 

Key benefits Wider social and economic 

benefits  

Key guidance to 

model and monetise 

benefits 

Skills 

infrastructure 

Educational benefits 

Distributional 

• Levelling up 

• Assisting relatively deprived 

areas 

HMT, MHCLG 

guidance 

4.4.3. The proposal will have positive distributional effects, by encouraging investment within Boston, and 
helping to re-balance the economy away from London and the Southeast.  The approach used to 
calculate these effects is that set out in the HM Treasury Green Book, based on equivalised 
disposable household income and welfare weights (“estimate of the marginal utility of income”).  
The generalised marginal welfare weight after housing costs established for Boston by AMION is 
1.4 which provides a reflection of the positive effects on net disposable income.   

4.5. Economic costs 

4.5.1. The financial costs of the proposed intervention have been developed by the Boston Leisure 
Project Team, drawing on significant experience of delivering similar projects across the local 
authority area. The nominal financial costs in the Financial Case have been converted to economic 
costs in line with the Green Book by using the HM Treasury’s GDP deflator index to convert 
estimates of future costs to Constant (2021/22) prices.  The constant price costs have been 
adjusted to present value costs by applying the Treasury’s Social Time Preference discount rate of 
3.5% per annum.  

Table 5 Economic Costs 

4.6. Value for money assessment 

4.6.1. The value for money assessment is summarised below. The project has a BCR of 2.7:1 in the 
core scenario. It also withstands scrutiny from two technical changes within the sensitivity testing, 
with the BCR remaining above 2.0:1 in both instances.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Type Source Total Amount (£m) 

Public sector cost (undiscounted) Thornton-Firkin and Towns Fund £7.1 

Public sector cost (discounted) Green Book STPR £6.7 

Optimism Bias AMION £1.0 

Public sector cost (with OB) - £7.7 

Page 271



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  58 
 

 

 

Table 6 Value for Money Assessment 

From Green Book (2020) guidance (p. 40): When considering proposals from a UK perspective the relevant 

values are viewed from the perspective of UK society as a whole. Where appraising a place-based policy or 

a UK wide proposal with place based effects the relevant values include effects in the place of interest and 

similar nearby travel to work areas. The relevant costs and benefits which may arise from an intervention 

should be valued and included in Social CBA unless it is not proportionate to do so. The priority costs and 

benefits to quantify are those likely to be decisive in determining the differences between alternative options. 

The appraisal of social value involves the calculation of Net Present Social Value (NPSV) and Benefits Cost 

Ratios (BCRs) the ratio of benefits to costs. 

4.6.2. The project has the option to be combined with an adjacent Towns Fund scheme, Mayflower 
delivered by Boston College. This project has total NPV benefits of £33.1m and total NPV costs 
of £16.0m. If the two projects were delivered together, an additional 0.5ha of public realm can 
be delivered through the efficiency gains, as well as all the costs and outputs from the separate 
projects. This will provide enhanced amenity benefits for the local population, using values within 
the DLUHC Appraisal Guide. 

4.6.3. The combined project has a BCR of 2.3:1. The overall benefits arising from the combined project 
is greater than if the two projects were delivered separately due to these additional amenity benefits 
arising from the new public realm.  

4.7. Non-quantified benefits 

4.7.1. In accordance with Green Book orthodoxy, the BCR does not include additional local spend and 
Gross Value Added but is referenced above.  

Value for money 

assessment  

(£M, discounted, 21/22 

prices) 

 Core scenario Sensitivity test 

1 

No 

distributional 

Sensitivity test 

2 

OB at 24% 

Economic benefits     

Land value uplift  £0.3 £0.3 £0.3 

Wider LVU  £2.4 £2.4 £2.4 

Residents in work  £0.1 £0.1 £0.1 

Labour market entrants  £0.1 £0.1 £0.1 

Productivity  £0.1 £0.1 £0.1 

Educational  £2.9 £2.9 £2.9 

Leisure wellbeing  £9.3 £9.3 £9.3 

Distributional   £5.6 £0.0 £5.6 

Total economic benefits (A) £20.8 £15.1 £20.8 

Economic costs     

Towns Fund (B) £2.6 £2.6 £2.8 

Co-funding (C) £5.1 £5.1 £5.4 

Total public sector  (D) = (B) + (C) £7.7 £7.7 £8.2 

Benefit Cost Ratio (A) / (D) 2.7:1 2.0:1 2.5:1 

Page 272



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  59 
 

 

 

4.7.2. The project is also likely to deliver substantial wider benefits relating to regeneration, image, 
community, agglomeration, and Covid-19 recovery.  

4.8. Summary 

4.8.1. The analysis undertaken in this Economic Case was consistent with HM Treasury’s Green Book 
and other departmental guidance. For the Boston Leisure Project, specific benefits modelled relate 
to land value uplift, employment, education, and leisure/physical activity. The costings have been 
calibrated for Optimism Bias at 15% and discounted using HMT’s 3.5%. Additionality has been 
applied at 80%.  

4.8.2. The BCR = 2.7 provides a “Good” value for money, according to MHCLG Appraisal Guide. 

 
 

  

Page 273



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  60 
 

 

 

5. FINANCIAL CASE  

 
5.1. Introduction  

 
5.1.1. The financial case sets out the current cost of managing the centre, the capital costs, revenue 

projections and sources of funding. 

 
5.2. Current revenue costs 

 
5.2.1. The table below sets out the pre-Covid trading position in 2019/20 which had been a stable trading 

position prior to the pandemic. Revenue is in the region of £873k, with costs at just under £1.6m, 
leading to the deficit position of £720k per annum.  

 
Table 7 – Pre-Covid Trading Position in 2019/20 

Income 2019/2020 

Membership 385,431 

Casual fitness 17,680 

Casual swim 106,177 

Swim lessons 135,858 

Pool hire 103,097 

Spa  
Other 86,719 

Secondary 26,496 

Retail 11,127 

Total 872,584 

  
Salaries 798,598 

Utilities (inc biomass fuel) 166,752 

NNDR 94,248 

Insurance 4,865 

Lifecycle - 

Repairs & Maintenance 8,604 

Grounds Maintenance - 

Cleaning 15,791 

Equipment 16,357 

Other Supplies 33,407 

Advertising & Marketing 2,904 

Communications 20,417 

Other Administration 19,925 

Costs of Sales 9,441 

Capital Costs 402,162 

  
TOTAL EXPENDITURE 1,593,471 

Net trading cost (720,887) 

Usage       283,367  

 
5.2.2. As well as this on-going deficit position, a condition survey was last undertaken in 2018 which 

highlighted various works required over the next of 2-5 years along with some priority items. 
Following this a proposed maintenance plan was costed, which identified c£2.5m of lifecycle 
maintenance being required over the next 20years. This estimate is considered to be somewhat 
‘light’ where actual costs could be higher and is presently unfunded. Therefore, irrespective of the 

Page 274



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  61 
 

 

 

Towns Fund opportunity, it is likely that the Council would have to incur significant capital investment 
in coming years, simply to retain the facility as is.  

 
5.2.3. A review of key financial indicators has shown that the centre can improve its performance once 

capital investment has been undertaken. The table below shows the GMLC KPIs compared to the 
Sport England National Benchmarking Service benchmarks for centres which are managed directly 
in-house and wet and dry centres of all management types. Most of the KPIs are below median, 
however, this is mostly linked to facilities which require investment to improve quality and reflective 
of how expensive the building is to manage given its age and lack of recent investment into plant 
and equipment. 

Table 8 – GMLC KPIs compared to SENBS Benchmarks 

  2019/20 SENBS - median   

    In house Wet / Dry Notes 

Fitness income per station 5,759 6,698 10,756 Latent demand exists, but quality and size of 
gym needs improvement Fitness member per station  23 26 33 

Swimming income per m2 492 776 1,270 People are deterred by the quality of the 
changing provision and the fact there is no 
changing village in the centre makes it 
difficult for mixed gender families to swim 
easily 

Swimming lesson income 
per m2 226 332 603 

Salaries as % income 101% 77% 49% 

The centre is expensive to staff given the 
separation of the two pools and two reception 
areas. 

Cost recovery 52% 66% 110% 
Staffing, utilities, and capital costs, provide an 
overall expensive base. 

Utility cost per m2 45.31 30 30 

The building is expensive to heat, and 
investment is needed into utility saving 
measures. 

Subsidy per visit 2.54 1.17 -0.4 

The overall subsidy per visit is high, the 
Council aims to increase usage and reduce 
costs to improve this indicator. 

 

Colour coded compared to local authority delivery quartiles  
Bottom 3rd 2nd Top 

 
5.3. Impact of Covid-19 pandemic on usage and finance 

 
5.3.1. Since the centre has fully re-opened after the third lockdown in April 2021, due to the pandemic, the 

centre has seen strong return in swimming, casual, family sessions and particularly swimming 
lessons. Demand for lessons is back, if not higher than the pre-Covid position.  

 
5.3.2. However, a key group of people who are slow to return, as highlighted nationally, are older people 

of which there is a large catchment in Boston. There is concern that the habits gained during the last 
two years of reducing activity will be hard to break and therefore providing a new and refreshed offer 
at the GMLC is key to provide those residents who will benefit most from physical activity a 
significantly refurbished centre which is modern, welcoming, and better designed to give them the 
confidence to return. 

 
5.3.3. As of December 2021, income for 2021/22 was projected at 80% of 2019/20 levels, with the overall 

deficit position projected at £954k. 
 

Page 275



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  62 
 

 

 

5.4. The financial outcome of this investment is to attract both old and new users back to the centre and 
improve the operating income and costs of the centre to positively impact the benchmarks above. 

  
5.5. Capital Costs    

 
5.5.2. The Capital costs are based on estimates provided by Project Managers and Cost Consultants, 

Thornton-Firkin. The detailed breakdown is contained in Appendix 7. 
 

Table 9 – Capital Costs 

Area Cost 

Site £20,325 

Demolitions and Alterations £207,105 

New Two-storey Extension £2,917,380 

Refurbishment Works to Leisure Pool/Spa £1,127,500 

Refurbishment Works to Training Pool £418,500 

External Works £722,750 

General £585,000 

Consequential Improvement Costs £599,856 

Adjustment for Allowable CI Costs -£465,250 

Surveys and Fees £672,379 

Contingency/Price & Design Risk £340,277 

Total Cost (excluding VAT) 
 
£7,145,822  

 
5.5.3. The high level estimate includes for a 5% contingency, includes professional fees and does not 

include for fit out/equipment costs. In addition, the Council considers that given the volatile market 
and rising construction costs a higher overall contingency should be attributed. Therefore, the 
Council has worked on the basis that an overall 20% contingency of the overall project cost is 
appropriate. The Council is also mindful of other costs such as VAT (and non-recovery). This has 
been factored into the Councils decision-making and separate reports in order to ensure that these 
risks are managed accordingly. 

 
5.5.4. The costs proposed are only high-level based on the present stage of scheme development. 

Therefore there is potential costs to be reduced through project refinement during detailed design 
(RIBA Stages 3-5) and during construction. Thus there is sufficient scope to manage this risk. Where 
any revised or tendered cost plan exceeds the approved cost budget, the following options will be 
considered: 

 

• value engineer the scheme / phasing of works;  

• utilise revenue savings or income generation opportunities to lever in further applicant 
funding (via reserves or prudential borrowing); and/ or; 

• seek additional applicant capital contribution. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 276



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  63 
 

 

 

5.6. Revenue Business Plan 
 

5.6.1. The revenue plan sets out total income and expenditure projected once the new developments have 
been completed, from ‘Year 1’. It is a revenue business plan that excludes any capital and fit out 
costs. 

 
5.6.2. It is assumed that the facilities will continue to be managed by the Council. However, the Council as 

part of the South and East Councils Partnership does have access to potential other operating 
models (eg Magna Vitae), as well as attracting other leisure providers, and this may be an option for 
the future – it is nether ruled in or out at this stage and thus the assumption is that the facility would 
continue to be operated by the Council. 
 

5.6.3. Year 1 is based on 2021/22 prices, increases for inflation have not been included within the 
projections at this stage.  

 
5.6.4. The business plan does not include the revenue impact whilst the developments are being 

undertaken, this will be developed as the phasing of the build is developed. 
 
5.6.5. Full income and expenditure assumptions are set out in Appendix 8.  

 
  

Page 277



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  64 
 

 

 

Table 10 – Summary of Income and Expenditure Projections 

SUMMARY  2019/20 
YEAR 1 
(2024/25) YEAR 2 YEAR 3 YEAR 4 YEAR 5 

         

INCOME       
Health & Fitness Membership 385,431 334,532 434,743 453,841 459,615 463,153 

Health & Fitness Casual 17,680 18,229 18,229 18,229 18,229 18,229 
Health & Fitness Group 
Exercise  25,625 25,625 25,625 25,625 25,625 

Swimming - Casual 106,177 158,879 167,706 176,532 176,532 176,532 

Swimming - Lessons/Courses 135,858 172,463 194,021 215,579 215,579 215,579 

Swimming - Hire 103,097 101,940 101,940 101,940 101,940 101,940 

Secondary - Catering 26,496 71,216 83,753 86,427 87,004 87,357 

Secondary - Retail 11,127 11,869 13,959 14,404 14,501 14,560 

Other 3,031      
TOTAL INCOME 788,896 912,407 1,048,802 1,092,578 1,099,025 1,102,975 

       
EXPENDITURE       
Salaries 798,598 832,704 832,704 832,704 832,704 832,704 

Utilities (net of grants) 83,064 92,000 96,600 101,430 106,502 111,827 

NNDR 94,248 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 

Insurance 4,865 6,400 6,400 6,400 6,400 6,400 

Lifecycle        

Repairs & Maintenance 8,604 32,000 32,000 32,000 32,000 32,000 

Cleaning & Chemicals 15,791 18,000 18,000 18,000 18,000 18,000 

Equipment 16,357 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 

Other Supplies 33,407 26,843 31,199 32,777 32,971 33,089 

Advertising & Marketing 2,904 18,948 10,400 10,926 10,990 11,030 

Communications 20,417 17,895 20,800 21,852 21,981 22,060 

Other Administration 19,925 16,654 16,654 16,654 16,654 16,654 

Costs of Sales 9,441 41,543 48,856 50,416 50,752 50,958 

Depreciation  0 0 0 0 0 

Irrecoverable VAT  0 0 0 0 0 

Other       
TOTAL EXPENDITURE (ex 
capital costs) 1,107,621 1,222,986 1,233,612 1,243,158 1,248,953 1,254,721 

DEFICIT  (ex capital costs) -318,725 -328,232 -193,636 -150,580 -149,928 -151,746 

 
5.6.6. The comparable 2019/20 position is shown excluding capital costs to show a like for like 

comparison. As noted, income in 2021/22 is projected to be 80% of pre-Covid position, thus growth 
from the new developments builds up over the initial three years as customer are attracted back to 
a transformed centre. 

 
5.6.7. An improvement from the 2019/20 income and deficit position is projected, but more importantly, 

overall usage is projected to increase 23%, as more people access the pools and fitness areas. 
 
5.6.8. The revenue business plans will be reviewed at RIBA stage 4, when greater detail on finishes, 

fittings, buildings systems and utility loading / consumptions will be known following upgrades to 
M&E plant and equipment. 

 
 
 

Page 278



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  65 
 

 

 

Table 11 – Usage projections 

USAGE   YEAR 1 YEAR 2 YEAR 3 YEAR 4 YEAR 5 

Health & Fitness  167,885 205,034 215,730 218,038 219,453 

Swimming  116,979 129,977 129,977 129,977 129,977 

TOTAL   284,864 335,011 345,707 348,015 349,430 

 
5.7. Funding and Profile Sources 

 
5.7.1. The overall cost of £7.1m will be funded by the following sources: 

Table 12 – Funding and Profile Sources 

Source £ Use 

Towns Fund £2.4m Capital cost and project management fees 

Boston Borough Council  £4.7m Capital cost and project management fees 

Total  £7.1m  

 
5.7.2. Funding Profile 

Table 13 – Funding profiles 

  2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total  
Towns Fund          528,767   1,625,378       270,948     2,425,092  
BBC           633,723   3,414,623       672,386     4,720,731  
Total        1,162,489   5,040,000       943,333     7,145,823  

 
5.8. Overall Affordability Assessment 
 
5.8.1. The council confirms that there is an allocation of capital funding for the project, and as there is an 

improved revenue position compared to current trading, the overall project is affordable. The 
Council will explore the most appropriate response to the capital cost investment, either through 
reserves or through borrowing. 

 
5.9. New Centre Benchmarks 

 

5.9.1. The existing performance of the centre compared to a mature year of the new developed centre 

are both compared to the median Sport England National benchmarks for local authority managed 

centres. The improved usage and income will improve most of the benchmarks as set out in the 

table below.  

Table 14 – Boston Leisure Project Benchmarks 

PERFORMANCE INDICATOR 
based on SENBS 

SENBS GLMC 
New Centre 

YEAR 5 In-house 
Median 

2019/20 

Surplus per visit -£1.17 -£2.54 -£0.67 

% Cost Recovery 66% 52% 88% 

Income per visit £2.72 £2.78 £3.16 

Secondary income per visit £0.09   £0.29 

Staffing costs as a % of income 77% 101% 75% 

Expenditure per visit £3.05 £5.33 £3.53 

R&M per m2 £14.00   £8.00 

Utility Costs per m2 £30.00 £45.00 £28.00 

Page 279



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  66 
 

 

 

PERFORMANCE INDICATOR 
based on SENBS 

SENBS GLMC 
New Centre 

YEAR 5 In-house 
Median 

2019/20 

Health & Fitness income per 
station 

£6,698 £5,759 £6,017 

Swimming income per m2 £776 £492 £790 

 
5.10. Financial Risks 
 
5.10.1. The key financial risks identified, with mitigations are set out in the table below: 

 
Table 15 – Financial Risks 

Financial Risk 
Category 

Risk Mitigation 

Capital cost Capital cost inflation – current market 
conditions and shortages of supplies are 
leading to significant increases in 
construction costs. (See context in 5.8.2 
below) 

Current known construction cost inflation 
included. 
 
Larger than standard projection 
contingency included. 
 
(See further comments in 5.8.6 below) 

Capital cost Refurbishment of the building leads to 
latent defects being realised.  

Surveys undertaken of areas being 
demolished and M&E surveys to be 
commissioned. 

Revenue  Delay in the build programme impact 
usage and income at the centre. 

LADS included within construction 
contract; external project management 
support commissioned. 

Revenue Unrealised income projections once the 
developments are complete. 

Business plans completed by independent 
leisure consultant, benchmarked and 
includes sensitivity analysis. 

 

 

5.10.2. In March 2022, the wider economy and the construction sector specifically is experiencing high 
levels of volatility in sector costs. These have been caused and continue to be affected by several 
factors. 
  

5.10.3. In mid-2021, the impact of wider economic issues, Brexit and the Covid-19 pandemic led to an 
unprecedented surge in the cost of raw materials, a shortage of resources, labour and materials and 
a reduction in the number of construction sector companies either willing to bid for construction works 
or able to remain in business. All these factors caused construction sector costs to increase 
massively in this period – overall costs rose by anywhere between 10% and 20% on the previous 
quarter. In addition to e.g. steel/metal price rises of up to 40%, sector levels of uncertainty & potential 
future risk were such that construction related costs rose dramatically due to companies being 
unable to take commercial decisions on future risk issues. 

 
5.10.4. Since that peak mid 2021 period, construction sector costs have reduced globally but are not yet 

at the level they were at prior to the surge. It remains likely that they may not return to pre-surge 
levels.  

 
5.10.5. It is very difficult to accurately assess what costs will do in terms of settling down, remaining at the 

current increased levels, or even rising again in the next 12 months. The current trend seems to be 
that sector costs continue to remain at a high level and certain works remain very volatile in terms of 
exposure to continued price rises (e.g. steelwork, metalwork generally, anything sourced from EU 

Page 280



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  67 
 

 

 

suppliers etc). It is probably wise to assume that sector level costs will remain volatile and will remain 
at a +10% to +15% level for at least the next 12 months. 

 
5.10.6. Potential cost increases can be managed to a certain extent by adopting the following:  

 

• Allowance within construction sector project budgets of suitable contingency funds specifically 

to cover possible future cost increases. Such contingency funds could be at 10% of overall 

project cost. 

• Regular monitoring of the construction sector and how it is behaving in terms of willingness to 

bid on competitively tendered schemes, levels of tendering, cost of volatile materials and 

labour and the like. This can be assisted by regular dialogue with construction providers.  

• Limiting specification of works which are known to be cost volatile wherever possible. 

• Ensuring that a construction project is de-risked as far as possible in advance of tendering.   

• Pre-ordering and stockpiling of materials/resources in advance when costs are at more 

reasonable levels.   

• Consideration of measures that can be incorporated which share risks or remove those risks 

which cause tenderers either not to tender or to include large risk sums in tender bids. 

  

Page 281



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  68 
 

 

 

6. COMMERCIAL CASE 

 
6.1. Introduction  

 
6.1.1. The commercial case sets out the commercial viability of the investment and sets out the commercial 

objectives, constraints, and procurement strategy. 

 
6.2. Commercial Deliverability  

 
6.2.1. Within the strategic and financial business cases the following information has been set out which 

demonstrated the commercial viability of this investment.  
 

6.2.2. This has included: 
 

• Catchment analysis of demographics and supply of facilities within the catchment area (paras 
3.16 – 3.20, 3.22). 

• Review of current performance of the centre compared to Sport England benchmarks to 
identify area of future potential (para 5.2). 

• Commercial latent demand for fitness membership assessment (para 3.21). 

• Full income and expenditure analysis for the first five-years of operations (para 5.5 and 
Appendix 8). 

• Consideration of Swim England’s review of the pool programme and opportunities for growth 
July 2021. 

• Mature-year financial indicator benchmarking (Appendix 8). 

• Sensitivity analysis of increases / decreases in income and expenditure and impact on the 
net deficit position (Appendix 8). 

 
6.2.3. The revenue projections have been reviewed by the Council’s Executive Board and Towns Fund 

Board. 

 
6.3. Procurement Strategy  
 
6.3.1. The Council is developing its procurement strategy to deliver the Boston Leisure Project in line with 

its Procurement Procedure Rules. It will assess the value for money options of using a Framework 
(for example ESPO) or undertaking a competitive tender. 

 
6.3.2. Consideration will be given to a joint procurement with the Mayflower. The competitive tender would 

include both projects as separate Lots, with companies invited to tender for either of both Lots, setting 
out the benefits, (financial and wider) if delivering both projects. 

 
6.3.3. Construction companies will need to demonstrate expertise of leisure centre refurbishments, 

specialist swimming pool plant and M&E experience.  
 
6.3.4. The design team will need to demonstrate an understanding of the customer journey from site arrival, 

through the entrance, to changing and facility areas. This will include equality of access for all people, 
including people with disabilities, dementia, young children, those who have English as a second 
language and people with learning difficulties. 

 
6.3.5. A full understanding of the impact of Covid-19 on leisure centre design is crucial, together with 

understanding new ways of operating leisure centres (for example concierges and cashless 
payments).  

 

Page 282



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  69 
 

 

 

6.3.6. As part of the supplier evaluation framework, social value criteria including number of apprentices, 
use of local trades and suppliers and sustainable sourcing will be included. 

 

6.3.7. It is expected that the procurement of the main construction company will be commence June 2022, 
and be completed by November 2022. 

 

6.3.8. The new Leisure Project has two distinct sections – a large extension with minimal impact on the 
two existing swimming pool areas, and two areas of existing swimming pool which will receive 
some level of refurbishment. 

 
6.3.9. It is not critical that the contractor who constructs the new extension has a proven track record of 

refurbishing complex swimming pool facilities as the new extension is, in many ways, almost ‘stand-
alone’ from the pool facilities. The extension element of the works has relatively small involvement 
with the complex nature of the pool services, equipment, and controlled environments and, as such, 
a track record in those areas is not completely essential. That said, however, experience of such 
environments wouldn’t be completely irrelevant or non-advantageous. The contractor for this 
element of the works would need a proven track record in the following however:  

 

• Ensuring health & safety of all building users 

• Construction works on an existing operational site 

• Construction works adjacent to existing operational buildings 

• Construction works near young persons 

• Construction works involving demolition & asbestos 

• Managing existing services installations & ensuring continuity of life & business operation 
systems 

 

6.3.10. It would be extremely advantageous that the contractor who carries out any refurbishment or 
services replacement works within the existing swimming pool areas has a track record in working 
in this type of space. Experience in acoustics, in specialist pool heating & ventilation systems, in 
specialist pool filtration system works and in working in chlorine environments would be critical. In 
addition, the contractor would also need a proven track record in the elements listed above for the 
extension contractor. 

 

6.3.11. It would be essential for specialist contractors to be appointed for the following elements of the 
project:  
 

• Swimming pool acoustic works 

• Swimming pool specialist heating and ventilation system works 

• Swimming pool specialist filtration and operation system works 

• Café specialists 

• Kitchen specialists 
 

6.4. Wider Considerations  
 

6.4.1. The project team will explore additional linked opportunities to maximise the delivery of the Boston 
Leisure Project with the Mayflower including: 

 

• Shared campus area with college (social and catering area). 

• Joint procurement and client management. 

• Active design from the town centre the Education and Leisure Campus with an active ‘piazza’. 

• Priority will be given to the flow to pedestrians and cycles over vehicles.  

• Using technologies within the centre to minimise carbon and to introduce other measures to 
reduce the overall carbon footprint of the leisure centre.  

Page 283



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  70 
 

 

 

• An active travel strategy will be developed to encourage and incentivise users to access the 
centre by foot, public transport, or cycle. 

Page 284



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  71 
 

 

 

7. MANAGEMENT CASE  

 
7.1. Introduction 
 

7.1.1. The Management Case assesses the deliverability of the investment, identifying timescales and 
project responsibilities.  

 

7.2. Project Organisation and governance 
 

7.2.1. From 1st October 2021, capacity and resilience to implement all elements of the Towns Fund 
process has been strengthened following the establishment of the South and East Lincolnshire 
Council Partnership. This brings together collective management resources and shared workforce 
structures across Boston Borough Council, East Lindsey District Council and South Holland District 
Council to deliver the Investment Plan projects and priorities, as part of the Partnership’s strategic 
ambition to make a real and tangible difference to the outcomes for local communities and local 
places. 

 
Figure 25 – South & East Lincolnshire Council Partnership: Shared Workforce Structure 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 
 

7.2.2. The Growth Team is led within the Council’s Senior Leadership Team by the Deputy Chief Executive 
(Growth), Michelle Sacks. Michelle’s directorate includes responsibility for Economic Growth, 
Planning and Strategic Infrastructure. The Towns Fund falls under the responsibility of Lydia Rusling 
– Assistant Director (Economic Growth). Michelle and Lydia have led the strategic delivery Towns 

Chief Executive 
(Head of Paid Service) 

Deputy Chief Executive 
(Communities) 

 

Deputy Chief Executive 
(Head of Paid Service) 
& Section 151 Officer 

Deputy Chief Executive 
(Growth) 

 

Deputy Chief Executive 
(Programme Delivery) 

& SIRO 

Assistant Director 
(Leisure & Culture) 

 

Boston Leisure Project 
Sponsort Project Sponsor 

 

Assistant Director 
(Regulatory) 

 

Assistant Director 
(Wellbeing & Community 

Leadership) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhoods) 

 

Towns Fund Lead 
Project Sponsor  

Senior 
Leadership Team 

Corporate 
Management 

Team 

Assistant Director 
(Finance) 

 

Assistant Director 
(Governance & Monitoring 

Officer) 

Assistant Director 
(Corporate) 

 

Assistant Director 
(Housing) 

 

Assistant Director 
(Growth & Strategic Projects) 

Assistant Director 
(Planning & Strategic 

Infrastructure) 

Assistant Director 
(Economic Growth) 

 

Assistant Director 
(General Fund Assets) 

 

Assistant Director 
(Strategic Projects) 

 
 
 

K 
E 
Y 

Towns Fund 
Delivery  

Page 285

https://www.e-lindsey.gov.uk/article/15101/Leadership-Team-and-Senior-Managers


Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  72 
 

 

 

Fund work programme since the autumn of 2019, supporting the Town Deal Boards, building a 
robust relationship with DLUHC and the externally led projects. The Growth Team has subsequently 
led the development of the Town Investment Plans with the respective Town Deal Boards, which 
enabled the Heads of Terms to be agreed with Government. The team has also been developing 
and supporting the business case completions to facilitate the funding to be released. A ‘Local 
Assurance Framework’ has been agreed by the Town Deal Boards, submitted to DLUHC and is 
facilitating the process for business case approvals. There are six additional officer roles within the 
Economic Growth Team providing dedicated support for the development and delivery of the Boston 
Towns Fund Investment Plans offering a range of administrative, financial and project/contract 
management skills. The primary areas of work of the Growth Team relating to the Towns Fund for 
Boston are: 

 
1. Direct reporting to, and promotion of the relationship with, HM Government via the 

Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC); 

2. Servicing the Boston Town Deal Board; 

3. Supporting the local authority role as the accountable body; 

4. Enabling the full business case submissions for all projects and identifying key risks; 

5. Working with all project leads to transition from business case development to project 
delivery and promotion. 

 
 

7.2.3. From an early stage, the Council has sought to draw on access to available specialists and internal 

expertise, to support the development of all projects. Where internal capacity has not been available, 

external support has been secured. 

 

7.2.4. In this case, Mike Gildersleeves - Assistant Director - (Planning & Strategic Infrastructure) has 

been involved to drive the project forward in collaboration with Boston College and understand 

challenges around Planning, place-shaping and also land-use (such as working with LCC Highways). 

Phil Perry - Assistant Director - (Leisure & Culture) is the nominated project lead, and brings his 

knowledge of the existing facility, as well as access to the existing centre manager – Dave Horry – 

to support the design team. 

 

7.2.5. In terms of the RIBA Plan of Work 2020 Overview (overleaf), the Economic Growth Team will lead 

the commissioning of agreed work steps for Council-led schemes up to the completion of RIBA Stage 

4. From RIBA Stage 5 onwards, delivery and contract management responsibility will be led by the 

Programme Delivery Directorate. RIBA Stage 7 (building use, operation and management) will be 

subject to final confirmation and approval of the Council’s ongoing operational model, post 

completion and handover from the main contractor for all or individual elements. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 286



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  73 
 

 

 

Figure 26 – RIBA Plan of Work 2020 Overview 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 287



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  74 
 

 

 

7.2.6. The delivery of a programme of strategic capital projects will be led by Adrian Sibley - Deputy Chief 
Executive (Programme Delivery) and Senior Information Risk Officer (SIRO). Once full planning 
consent and the agreed match funding is released to commission the agreed works, Adrian’s 
directorate will be responsible for implementing the Council-led capital projects within the Town 
Investment Plans for Boston, whilst the Economic Growth team will continue to work with externally 
led projects, support the Town Deal boards and maintain the relationship with HM Government. 

 
7.2.7. The primary areas of work of the Programme Delivery Team relating to the Boston Towns Fund are: 

 

• Appointment of main construction contractor 

• Assignment of project manager/team (client side) for each capital project 

• Contract and project management (including risk management and approval of contract 
exemptions) 

• Project governance and financial assurance  

• Monitoring, recording and reporting of all physical outputs 

 
7.2.8. Each project within the Town Investment Plan for Boston has also been assigned an Assistant 

Director lead from the Corporate Management Team. The main role of the Assistant Director lead in 
this context is to provide robust oversight and assurance on the following areas across all stages of 
the concept design, delivery, and project closure. This is Phil (as identified earlier) supported by Mike 
where appropriate. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 288



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  75 
 

 

 

Figure 27 – Delivery Framework 

 
7.2.9. The Council is the accountable body for the Towns Fund. In addition, as this is a Council project, 

there is a necessity for regular involvement of Members via the Cabinet and Full Council. 
 

7.2.10. Additional governance and assurance of approved financial resources will be provided by Christine 
Marshall in her role as Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate Development) and Section 151 Officer 
Directorate. This will ensure oversight and monitoring of all key delivery arrangements for each 
scheme at a senior level of decision-making responsibility within the organisation and ensure that 
plans are in place to deliver all milestones or implement any actions necessary to address any 
slippage and to minimise or mitigate against identified risks. 

 
7.2.11. The structure of internal Council meetings responsible for monitoring Towns Fund delivery is set 

out below. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Budget

Clear Funding 
Framework

Budgets in 
Place

Valid BC

Benefit 
Realisation 
Mapped

Budget 
Oversight

Ensure Grant 
Objectives 
Fulfilled

Governance

PID & BC Sign 
Off

Agree 
Delivery 
Timeline

Receive 
Approve and 
Monitor Key 
Project 
Gateways

Receives 
Highlight and 
Risk Reports

Leads on 
Project Start 
and Project 
Closure

Stakeholder 
Engagement

Vison and 
Objectives 
understood 
by all 
Stakeholders

Approve 
Comms Plan

Update 
Stakeholders

Conduit 
between 
Partners

Strategic 
Leadership

Clear Vison

Clear 
Objectives

Clear Funding 
Agreements 
between 
Partners

Represents 
The Council  
at External 
Boards

Project 
Champion

Promote and 
Champion the 
Project

Satisfied 
Governance 
in Place

Attends 
Project 
Meetings

Decision 
Maker

Approves 
Project Team 
Resourcing

Approve 
Material 
Variations/Sc
ope Changes

Unblocks 
Blockages

Makes 
Decisions 
Relating to 
Risk

Makes 
Decisions 
Focused on 
Benefit 
Realisation

Page 289



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  76 
 

 

 

Figure 28 – Structure of Internal Council Meetings 

 
 
7.2.12. Progress and approval of key decisions will also be monitored and authorised (where required) via: 

 

• Monthly Portfolio Holder meetings (financial decisions up to £50K) 

• Executive Board (financial decisions up to £300K) 

• Full Council (financial decision over £300K) 

 

7.2.13. Governance arrangements for the Towns Fund programme and projects will follow the Council’s 
established policy procedures for use of public funds, as outlined in detail within the Council’s 
constitution. This will ensure robust compliance with all relevant guidance and legislation, including 
the Council’s adopted financial and contract procedures and audit, governance, scrutiny and 
overview structures. Delivery progress will continue to be reported to the Council’s Senior 
Leadership Team via the Council’s established monthly Key Performance Indicators and Project 
Management systems. 

 

  

Weekly Towns Fund Team meetings 

(held on Wednesday mornings)

Project leads will be invited to the 
weekly team meetings on a monthly 

basis

Monthly governance meetings are held 
with the Chair/Vice Chair of the 

Connected Coast Board and senior 
officers and the Board's Councillor 

representative

Town Deal Board sub-groups and 
board meetings (following the 

approved Local Assurance Framework)

Economic Growth and Delivery Team 
meetings (held fortnightly), joined 
monthly by the Section 151 Officer

Quarterly Council Performance 
Reporting

Page 290



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  77 
 

 

 

7.2.14. In addition, the Boston Town Deal Board will provide strategic insight on the direction on the 
delivery of the Town Investment Plan by: 

 

• Championing the Boston Town Deal Board economic vision and promote bold, deliverable 

interventions that will generate maximum economic and social benefits for Boston; 

• Using professional expertise and local knowledge to guide future decision making and 

governance to best deliver value for money across the full suite of Town Deal projects; 

• Coordinate with investment in Boston and the surrounding area, both current and proposed, 

to optimise the overall benefits to both towns; 

• Ensuring that the delivery of the Town Deal Vision brings benefits which are fairly balanced 

across all social groups and demographics; 

• Communicating with the business community and residents around economic growth and 

delivery of the interventions; 

• Sharing knowledge, practice and intelligence within the Boston Town Deal Board area and 

beyond, both regionally and nationally; 

• Being responsible for positive communications of both the Boston Town Deal Board and Town 

Deal Projects; 

• Being active ambassadors for Boston to help realise their longer-term development and 

prosperity. 

 
7.2.15. The Board Shall: 

 

• Develop and oversee the delivery of the Boston Town Deal; 

• Co-ordinate public, private and third sector activity to develop and deliver the interventions in 

using the framework of the Towns Fund Prospectus, Towns Fund Guidance and any further 

guidance that may be issued; 

• Have regard to the three strands of the Prospectus and develop the interventions and 

maximise the impact of those interventions (Urban Regeneration, planning and land use; Skills 

and Enterprise; Connectivity); 

• Support the delivery of the Town Deal Projects by attending Board meetings, subgroup 

meetings and participating in other working arrangements as agreed, and reflecting the agreed 

view of the Board in discussions with partners and stakeholders. 

 

7.2.16. The Board’s Relationship with Boston Borough Council 

 

• The Board is responsible for developing and agreeing a clear programme of interventions and 

coordinating resources and including stakeholders. 

• Boston Borough Council remains the accountable body for all monies received through 

capacity funding and any other funding that will be allocated throughout the Town Fund. 

• Boston Borough Council will be represented on the Board by various Councillors and Council 

Officials, with the Leader of the Council providing the formal link between the two bodies.  

• The Board may from time to time attend both formal and informal Cabinet of Boston Borough 

Council and attend as required meetings of Boston Borough Council‘s Scrutiny Committee to 

provide updates and information pertaining to the development of the Town Investment Plan, 

programme of interventions and stakeholder engagement. 

• Boston Borough Council’s Cabinet will receive reports on the progress of activities through its 

established performance monitoring. 

Page 291



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  78 
 

 

 

 
7.3. Programme – RIBA stages 

 
7.3.1. Summary of structure of programme and principal stages and workstreams 
 
7.3.2. Provided below is a summary of the pre-construction programme to progress the project through to 

start on site in February 2023, in accordance with the RIBA workplan. 
 

7.4. Summary of key milestones 
 
7.4.1. The table below sets out the key milestones, an excel version of the plan in APPENDIX 9 – FBC 

Programme 
 
Table 16 – Key Milestones 

 
 

  

Page 292



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  79 
 

 

 

7.5. Issues and Risk Management  
 
7.5.1. The list below provides a headline summary of the main project specific issues and risks. In addition, 

the project team will maintain and manage a programme risk register.  
 

Table 17 Issues and Risk Management 

Issues and Risk  Likelihood Impact Mitigating Actions/Actions Required 

Issues    

Potential for loss of 
local provision 
during construction 
phase 

- Low 

The proposal is to phase the construction works connected to the 
Leisure Project so that the existing swimming pool facilities are 
out of action and unavailable to the public. for as short a time as 
possible. 
 

Risks    

Lack of cost 
certainty or available 
funds to meet final 
design specification 

Medium 
Very 
High 

The cost envelop is known to the design team, who have a 
clear remit to work inside this. The construction industry is 
experiencing high levels of inflation with an associated impact 
on the available supply of labour and materials, although early 
signs are that this is beginning to reduce. Please see 5.8 – 
financial risks. 
 
The project team is regularly reviewing cost implications on the 
scheme and will continue to adapt the final design for client 
approval to meet available cost envelopes where possible and 
appropriate. If necessary, alternative funding sources will be 
required to meet the deficit in any funds and the delivery of the 
scheme may require subsequent phasing to deliver all 
elements.  

Towns Fund grant 
not formally 
approved or 
released 

Low 
Very 
High 

If the Stage 2 Business Case is not approved by HM Treasury, 
the Council will need to revert to proposals to enhance the 
existing sports facility and provision using the confirmed match 
funding only. This would reduce the capital budget by 34% to 
just £4.7million resulting in an obvious and significant reduction 
in the scope of facilities which could be provided or the ability of 
local partners to deliver the intended Towns Fund Investment 
Plan objectives around increased health and active lifestyles. 
Whilst alternative sports provision funding may become 
accessible in the future to bid for on a competitive basis, this is 
considered unlikely to be at the same level as the Heads of 
Terms offer for Boston and would result in further significant 
delay to secure. 

 
Reputational 
challenge through 
delayed delivery on 
site 
 
 

Medium Low 

The project will deliver on a longstanding community aspiration 
to deliver transformed leisure facilities for the local community. 
At the same time, the level of demand and need for new 
facilities and interventions to enable an increase in active 
lifestyles to tackle underlying deprivation issues is both 
unparalleled and unprecedented. Any delay to the intended 
completion date will be managed through a clear and proactive 
communications plan so that local communities are fully 
engaged in understanding the key milestones, progress 
throughout the delivery phase and when the new services will 
be fully accessible. 

Page 293



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  80 
 

 

 

Issues and Risk  Likelihood Impact Mitigating Actions/Actions Required 

Procurement delays 
or lack of 
suppliers/contractors 
to complete the 
works 

High High 

The team is developing the procurement strategy to be ad time 
efficient as possible (to ensure stable capital costs), whilst 
ensuring value for money and economies of scale with the 
Mayflower project. As such the ability to commission a lead 
contractor team is considered as low risk. Increased delays and 
costs may be experienced in the supply chain - i.e. securing all 
necessary quotes to complete individual elements of the design 
and construction programme. This will be mitigated by early 
engagement with potential sub-contractors during the detailed 
design phase.  

Internal 
capacity/resilience 
to manage Towns 
Fund programme 
delivery 

Moderate High 

The Programme Delivery team may have limited capacity to 
manage a number of large capital projects within an overall 
programme where the associated timelines and milestones 
merge to create resource pressures at specific points, given the 
scale of works and potential complexities of the NEC4 
contracting process. Where necessary, external resources will 
be procured to support the Council in their client-side project 
management responsibilities. The Council will also make use of 
local procurement framework managers to provide advice on 
risk and dispute resolution with the main contractor if the need 
arises. The new Council partnership also has access to a 
sperate programme office function to help plan and forecast 
requirements appropriately during the delivery phase. 

Revenue 
sustainability - lack 
of income generated 
to sustain facilities  

Moderate High 

The delivery of the capital scheme has been designed to be 
sufficiently flexible to accommodate a range of future uses 
throughout the year. Detailed modelling of income and 
expenditure has already been undertaken with in-built 
sensitivity analysis and analysis of competing facilities within 
the local catchment. Once established, there may be additional 
private sector interest in taking on franchise elements of the 
scheme through leasehold terms to be negotiated in line with 
the Towns Fund Investment Plan objectives for the 
development (e.g. catering). This will be subject to further 
market testing and Council approval to maximise use of the 
facilities for the benefit of the target audiences and local 
communities and spread the financial risk of operating all 
services direct. There is also scope to consider blending future 
income streams across linked Council/partner investments to 
offset the level of individual subsidy required in operating 
individual facilities or isolated activities. 

 

 
7.6. Construction risk register 
 
7.6.1. The main contractor will maintain the risk register in relation to main construction risks. 

 
7.6.2. The following are the key Heads of Risk connected with the Leisure Project:  

  

• Health & safety of customers using the facility 

• Health & safety of client staff using the facility 

• Risk of injury to/death of building user from adjacent construction works 

• Risk of injury to/death of contractor operative during construction works 

• Risk to health of customers/staff from exposure to possible asbestos 

• Risk to health of contractor operatives from exposure to possible asbestos 

• Failure to secure planning consent for the project 

Page 294



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  81 
 

 

 

• Delay to planning process 

• Failure to secure building regulation approval for the project 

• Failure to secure funding for the project 

• Failure to comply with legal obligations of CDM Regulations 

• Project over spend 

• Failure to meet external funding expenditure deadlines 

• Delay to completion – funding loss 

• Delay to completion – non availability of facility 

• Unacceptable periods of downtime for existing pool & recreation facilities 

• Loss of building operation caused by construction works 

• Loss of fire safety systems/escape caused by construction works 

• Unknown issues relating to existing site and existing building (unknown services, below 
ground issues, survey issues) 

• Construction sector increased costs  

• Non-availability of resources, labour, and materials 

• Non-availability of suitable construction companies willing to tender the works 

• Appointment of competent & suitable project design team & other consultants 

• Failure of design team & other consultants (performance or insolvency)  

• Appointment of competent & suitable contractors/specialist contractors 

• Failure of contractors/specialist contractors (performance/insolvency) 

• Impact of Potential Pandemic 

• Change 
 

7.7. Project management 
 

7.7.1. The construction phase will be managed utilising the NEC 4 contract. It is expected that the Option 
A contract will be used on this project. 

 
7.7.2. A Project Execution Plan (PEP) will be prepared by the main contractor in consultation with the client 

and the Project team for all of the remaining commissioned RIBA Stages. The PEP will define all 
procedural matters relating to the design, procurement and construction of the project and describe 
the general procedures to be adopted by the client and the team for the project. It will be regularly 
updated by each relevant team members at key stages in the project. In addition to the detailed 
construction programme and cost plan, the PEP will also include: 

 

• Site Logistics Plan - to cover the sequencing, movement and management of all construction 
resources – including plant, staff and materials. 

• Risk and Opportunity Register – with a probability of and cost estimate for each item. 

• Early Warning / Change Control Protocol - to provide clients with early notice of any potential 
issues. This provides a proactive opportunity to mitigate or entirely eliminate issues that may 
arise before they cause time or cost implications. 

• Project Quality Plan – to highlight all stages throughout the project for each trade or item of 
work where inspections of that work are required. The plan will be tailored to suit specific 
project requirements and will link in with the specification and other works information. 

• Social Value Action Plan - to set targets on the scheme to assist in delivering an overall 20% 
added social value. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 295



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  82 
 

 

 

7.7.3. Key Roles 

 

• The main contractor will allocate a Contracts Manager to the project who will manage the 
construction project throughout its whole duration. 

• The Principal Designer role will be carried out by the main contractor on a Design and Build 
basis. 

• The Site Manager will be appointed by the main contractor to the scheme at a point closer to 
the proposed start date. The site manager will have day to day responsibility for inspecting the 
works to ensure a high level of quality is maintained throughout the project. They will inform 
the client team of when there are appropriate points throughout the project for their inspection. 

• The Council will allocate a Project Manager to the project who will manage the client-side 
input and requirements throughout its whole duration. Under the NEC4 contract the Project 
Manager is the only person who has the responsibility for issuing instructions to the contractor. 

 

7.7.4. Authorisation of payments will be in accordance with the Council’s Constitution, including the 
Financial Procedure Rules contained within the Council’s Constitution. This requires all payments in 
excess of £100,000 to be authorised by the Chief Executive, the Assistant Director responsible for 
the project budget and the Council’s Section 151 Officer. All invoices will be accompanied by an 
approved certificate of works for the invoice period which will be verified by the Council’s Project 
Manager. All of the Council's finances shall be regulated, co-ordinated and controlled by the 
Executive Board of the Council, subject to ratification by the Council where appropriate. Information 
management will follow the adopted Council policies. 

Page 296



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

          83 
 

 

 

7.8. Stakeholder engagement 
 

7.8.1. The table below identifies a list of key audiences who will have an interest in the project and how their engagement, interest and influence will be 
managed throughout the scheme, in addition to general publicity and PR arrangements delivered on the project. 
 

Table 18 – Key Audiences 

Who is your audience? Why is information necessary? What information is needed? How will information be 
shared? 

When is information needed? 

Funding and Delivery 
partners 
- HM Government 
- Boston Borough Council 
- Boston Town Deal Board 

To provide local assurance and 
governance on project delivery. To 
monitor and approve agreed 
expenditure and activity in line with 
contractual and adopted 
procedures. To enable Ward/Board 
Members to be ambassadors for the 
project by being aware of the latest 
project developments and delivery 
progress. 

Full Business Case (Stage 2) 
Funding Heads of Terms  
Council/Board approvals 
Payment Certificates/Invoices 
Site Photography 
Evidence of outputs 
Financial monitoring 
 

Progress updates via Email 
BBC/Towns Fund Board Reports 
Site ceremonies (sod turning, 
topping out, openings) 
Ministerial visits 
Portfolio Updates 
Audit reports 
 

Monthly and when critical 
decision points/key milestones 
occur. 

     

Local Residents and 
Businesses 

To keep local communities aware, 
informed and interested in delivery 
of main works and to maintain 
support for new facilities. To be 
aware of new business opportunities 
to generate increased footfall 
locally. 

Updates on construction 
timeline. Impact on current use 
and when individual elements 
are likely to be completed and 
available for use. 
 

Bespoke communications plan to 
include Site Boards, regular press 
releases, community newsletters, 
websites and use of different 
social media platforms. 
https://www.bostontowndeal.co.uk 
 

Monthly and when critical 
decision points/key milestones 
occur. 

     

Boston College To align with the development of the 
Mayflower. 
The main critical factor will be 
whether the projects are jointly 
procured, and client managed. 
 
 
 
 

Design information, shared 
space planning, construction 
timetables, impact on the local 
site. 

Via direct correspondence and 
design team/site meetings. 

At critical decision points, to be 
identified in the detailed GANTT 
chart as part of RIBA stage 4 
commission. 

P
age 297

https://www.bostontowndeal.co.uk/


Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  84 
 

 

 

     

Main and Sub 
Contractors 

To deliver main construction works 
in accordance with TIP objectives 
and outcomes and all relevant 
legislation. To monitor, track, direct 
and promote on-site delivery and 
mitigate all construction risks 
appropriately. 

{ESPO} Framework; 
NEC4 Contract; 
Early Warning Notices; 
Minutes of project meetings; 
Evidence of physical delivery; 
Site logistics plan; 
Health and Safety plan; 
On site signage. 

Via direct correspondence and 
design team/site meetings. 

At critical decision points, to be 
identified in the detailed GANTT 
chart as part of RIBA stage 4 
commission. 

     

GMLC users To engage with users to determine 
the final plans / designs of the 
centre, to ensure residents needs 
are met and test the customer 
journey from site entrance to facility 
area. 
For users to influence future 
programming of facility areas. 
To update users of impact on current 
facilities during the construction 
phase and provide alternative 
options. 

Evidence for current facility mix 
Designs 
Programmes 
Constructions timetables and 
impact on facility areas 

Bespoke communications plan to 
include Site Boards, regular email 
updates, information on centre 
website, community newsletters, 
and use of different social media 
platforms. 
 

Monthly and when critical 
decision points/key milestones 
occur. 

     

Town Council and local 
Ward Councillors 
(BBC/LCC) 

To ensure lead community 
representatives are kept informed of 
key progress and able to feedback 
local intelligence/knowledge and 
address queries raised by local 
residents, businesses and other 
volunteer groups. Linked to 
opportunities to engage wider 
support towards delivery of 
associated activities to boost footfall 
and interest in the new facilities. 
 
 
 

Ward Member protocol (BCC) 
Updates on construction 
timeline and delivery progress. 
Briefing notes on delivery of 
key milestones and critical 
decision points. 
 

Briefing Notes 
Local meeting attendance, 
correspondence and feedback 
Ward Member/Portfolio updates 
Members Point Brief 
BCC/Towns Fund Board reports 

Monthly and when critical 
decision points/key milestones 
occur. 

P
age 298



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 
 

 

  85 
 

 

 

Audience Appreciation Table: The Boston Leisure Project (source: www.listenheartogether.com)   

 

 

     

Local schools, 
community groups, 
volunteers 

To engage local residents and 
community/voluntary 
representatives in the build 
programme. To facilitate 
engagement activities to learn more 
about the project design and 
delivery. 
To help shape the activities 
delivered in the pool and fitness 
areas. 

Site visits 
Bespoke competitions 
Interactive displays and 
technologies 

Bespoke correspondence 
Community engagement events 
Social Media 
Website Updates 
Community Newsletters 
Representation to local meetings 
 

Monthly and when critical 
decision points/key milestones 
occur. 

     

P
age 299

http://www.listenheartogether.com/


Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

86 
 

7.9. The Boston Town Deal website will publish all Board papers (except where confidential 
information prevents this). The Council will also maintain a dedicated webpage on the Council’s 
website to provide project updates on the scheme. This will be complemented by additional 
press releases and social media feeds. Where appropriate, additional PR support may be 
procured by the Council to promote the Towns Fund investment on behalf of all lead partners 
on a time limited basis. On site storyboards will be installed to provide additional information on 
the scheme and direct users to the webpage for more information. All Executive Board and Full 
Council reports monitoring delivery of the Towns Fund will also be published and available via 
the Council’s website. The Council’s Accessibility Statement ensures that any information 
published online can be requested in an alternative format via the Council’s communication 
team. 
 

7.10. The Towns Fund is supported by a communications specialist who co-ordinates all comms and 
delivers planned updates across all communication platforms.   
 

 
7.11. Benefits, Monitoring and Evaluation 
 
7.11.1. The Economic Growth Team will monitor outputs and outcomes in accordance with the 

Programme Monitoring and Evaluation Plan for the Boston Town Investment Plan. The Council’s 
Economic Growth Team will also maintain a benefits register of other outputs and outcomes 
realised through the investment, which are not currently captured within the following tables. 

 

Table 19 – Outputs 

Outputs 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Mature Year 
Estimate 

(per annum) 

Public Sector Investment leveraged (£) 1.2 5 1  

Participation numbers in health, sports and leisure   baseline 349,000 

New, upgraded or protected community centres, sports 

or athletics facilities, museums, arts venues, theatres, 

libraries, film facilities, prominent landmarks or historical 

buildings, parks or gardens 

  1 - 

Derelict site redeveloped   1 - 

Jobs protected   baseline 23 FTE 

Adult fitness memberships   baseline 1,800 

Local fitness/exercise referrals   baseline 100 

Children accessing swimming lessons (outside school 
provision) 

  baseline 900 

Number of new learners assisted per annum   baseline 400 

Number of CIMPSA accredited CPD undertaken   baseline 50 

Number of CIMSPA members in Boston     baseline 10 

• Jobs safeguarded relate to the current staff employed at the GMLC; 

• Learner outcomes – based on work experience, apprenticeships as well as those attending 
courses: lifeguarding, first aid, swim teaching and undertaking Chartered Institute for the 
Management of Sport and Physical Activity accredited courses (CIMSPA 
https://www.cimspa.co.uk) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 300

https://www.cimspa.co.uk/


Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

  87 
 

 

 

7.11.2. In line with the Social Value Act (2012), the main contractor will also measure the Social Value 
created by the project. During the current RIBA Stage 4 commission, the District Council will 
work with the contracts manager to establish a list of social value target and objectives for the 
main construction programme, including: 

 

• Apprentices 

• New Jobs 

• Safeguarded Jobs 

• Workforce Productivity 

• Work Placements 

• Benefit to Local Economies (LM3) 

 

7.12. Monitoring and Evaluation Plan Indicators 

 
7.12.1. The project will use a detailed Monitoring and Evaluation (M&E) evaluation framework to track 

progress with deliver.  This will include monitoring: 

 
• Tangible and core quantifiable deliverables e.g. new floorspace created in the Boston Leisure 

Project; 

• Core outputs which can be accessed via user data capture and qualitative, and ‘net promoter 
score’ surveys; 

• By accessing wider socio-economic statistics collective in the area e.g. NHS health and 
physical activity rates for adults and young people; 

• Assessment of number of CPD courses undertaken, work placements and apprenticeships; 

• More qualitative research amongst the community, including annual Place Survey. 
 

7.12.2. All physical outputs will be captured through contracting requirements under the construction 
phases and during services operation. This will include a requirement to monitor future jobs 
created. Provided overleaf is a summary of the main indicators which are targeted to be 
delivered via the new investment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 301



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

88 
 

 
Table 20 – Monitoring and Evaluation Plan 

INDICATORS 
Intervention 

theme 
Target Unit 

Is this 
from 
Annex 1 
of the 
M&E 
Guidance 

If ‘Yes' please confirm 
you agree to the 
indicator definition and 
evidence requirements 
as stated in Annex 1 of 
the M&E Guidance 

Responsible for 
collecting 

Frequency of 
reporting 

Please confirm 
you are 
confident in 
collecting data 
for this 
indicator 

Please confirm you 
are able to collect 
the baseline 
evidence as set out 
in Annex 1, if 
required 

£ spent directly on project delivery (either local 
authority or implementation partners) 

N/A £6m £ - - Local Authority Annually Yes Yes 

£ co-funding spent on project delivery (private and 
public) 

N/A £6m £ - - Local Authority Annually Yes Yes 

£ co-funding committed (private and public) 
N/A £6m £ - - Local Authority Every 6 

months to 
Sept 2024 

Yes Yes 

# of temporary FT jobs supported during project 
implementation 

N/A tbc No - - Local Authority Every 6 
months to 
April 2024 

Yes Yes 

# of full-time equivalent (FTE) permanent jobs 
safeguarded through the projects 

N/A 23 No. - - Local Authority Every 6 
months 

Yes Yes 

New community space N/A 2000m2 m2 - - Local Authority Sept 2024 Yes Yes 

Remediated dilapidated site Urban 
Regeneration 

1 No. Yes Yes Local Authority Sept 2024 Yes Yes 

Positive perception of place by businesses and 
residents 

Urban 
Regeneration 

tbc % - - Local Authority Annually Yes Yes 

Participation numbers in health, sports and leisure N/A 349,000 No. - - Local Authority Annually Yes Yes 

Annual adult fitness membership subscriptions N/A 1,800 No. - - Local Authority Annually Yes Yes 

Adult exercise health/fitness referrals N/A 100 No. - - Local Authority Annually Yes Yes 

Children accessing swimming lessons (outside 
school provision) 

 900 No.   Local Authority Annually Yes Yes 

Number of new learners assisted per annum Skills 400 No.   Local Authority Annually Yes Yes 

Number of CIMPSA accredited CPD points 
undertaken 

Skills 50 No.   Local Authority Annually Yes Yes 

Number of CIMSPA members in Boston   Skills 10 No.   Local Authority Annually Yes Yes 

Wider cycling infrastructure facilities, such as 
cycle hire and parking 

N/A 1 No. - - Local Authority April 2024 Yes Yes 

P
age 302



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

89 
 

7.13. Equality and Diversity 

 

Equality and Diversity 
The Boston Towns Fund Programme needs to follow the Public Sector Equality Duty.  In this respect, please 
explain how your project will eliminate discrimination, advance quality of opportunity, and foster good 
relations between different people.  Further guidance can be found here:  
https://townsfund.org.uk/resources-collection/meeting-the-public-sector-equality-duty?rq=equalities 
Please also complete the Equality Impact Assessment at Appendix B  

Boston Town’s Investment Plan objective is to create an entrepreneurial, connected, healthy, inclusive, and 

aspirational community.  

 

This Boston Leisure Project aims to increase the accessibility if leisure provision for all people from Boston 

and the surrounding areas.  

 

The construction project will include the following actions: 

• Links to accessible routes by public transport, cycle, and foot to the Leisure Project from the Town 
Centre. 

• Disability impact assessments and diversity impact assessments carried out throughout design 
stages ensuring compliance with national standards and full inclusivity for all. 

• Remodelled changing village to increase opportunity of access by families and carers with children of 
the differing genders as well as specialist group changing for schools and groups 

• Inclusion of Changing Places and disabled changing facilities in the changing village. 

• Inclusion of a new lift to the fitness facilities on the first floor. 

• General changes to access, improvements for all abilities, and provision of dedicated parking and 
pick-up/drop-off. 

• Review of signage / interior design to make it easy for all people with physical and mental (including 
dementia) conditions find their way around the centre easily. It is planned for consultation workshops 
to be held with existing users and local experts to establish an accessibility panel, to develop design 
concepts for new areas to consider choice of floor specification, tactile signage, colour schemes, 
alternative height seating options etc. 

• Inclusion of IFI fitness equipment in the gym. 

 

The Boston Leisure Project once operational will: 

• Map all known users and engage with under-represented groups (in comparison to the catchment 
profile), to co-design and deliver suitable programmes of activity to suit their needs. This will be 
undertaken with other stakeholder partners including health, education, adult and children social care 
colleagues together with volunteering groups, community champions.  

• Programme specific activity and time in the swimming pool and gyms for targeted community 
audiences, including older people, people with health conditions, and young women, who are typically 
under-represented in physical activity data. 

• Deliver a programme of staff CPD in working with people with dementia and other mental health 
conditions. 

• Collaborate with Boston College to develop learning opportunities for young people of Boston to 
increase skills and employability. 

 

Additionally, by signing the Funding Agreement the Lead Applicant agrees to the following paragraph: 

The Applicant shall at all times comply all obligations imposed on it as an employer by the 
Employment Rights Act 1996, the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992, the 
Employment Relations Act 1999, the Equality Act 2010 and the Working Time Regulations 1998. 

 

 

Page 303

https://townsfund.org.uk/resources-collection/meeting-the-public-sector-equality-duty?rq=equalities


Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

  90 
 

 

 

 

Once Heads of Terms have been agreed, towns are required to develop business cases for each 
project and submit a Summary Document to Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG). MHCLG will need to review and be satisfied with the Summary Document before funding 
can be released. 
 
The Summary Document is mandatory, even if you do not use the TFDP business case template. 

 

Summary Document 
 
Towns Fund Stage 2 Business case guidance Annex C: Summary Document 
template 
 
Towns must: 

 

• Submit a completed Summary Document for each project to Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) as soon as they are ready and 
within 12 months of agreed Heads of Terms.  

• Where towns require funding in 2021/22 then Summary Documents must be 
submitted to MHCLG by 14 January 2022. 

• Note that in the event of late submission of Summary Documents (SD), MHCLG 
cannot guarantee payment. If there is a risk of late submission, towns should 
promptly liaise with their MHCLG local leads.  

• With the first Summary Document, include Part 2: Town Investment Plan 
(TIP) conditions (where applicable). 

 

Please note: MHCLG will use the financial profile (Annex A-1) submitted previously 
to make any payment. 
 
Programme-level update 

 

Where not submitted today, the remaining Summary Documents submission 
timings.  
 

Project name: Boston Leisure Project (Boston Towns Deal Board) Month/Year 

1. N/A N/A 

 
 

 

  

Page 304



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

  91 
 

 

 

Part 1: Project Summary Document 
 

Towns should complete this for each project. 
 

Summary Document table 

1. Project name: Boston Leisure Project (Boston Towns Deal Board) 

2. Heads of Terms project conditions 
- Actions taken to address any conditions attached to the project in the Heads of Terms, where applicable. 
- Where the condition was to provide a delivery plan please input in the section below (no.9) and/or attach to this 

document. 

There were no specific conditions attached to the project in the Heads of Terms offer (3rd March 2021) 

3. Business case appraisal  
Provide details of how the business case has been appraised including: 

- business case type  
- any internal or external assurances 

The Stage 2 Business Case has been prepared following the Towns Fund Delivery Partner template. It will be 
maintained and updated as a live document throughout the delivery stage of the project. In addition to internal review 
by the Council’s Growth Team and Corporate Management Team structures, it has also been presented to the following 
meetings for formal agreement and approval: 

 
- Boston Borough Council Senior Leadership Team 
- Boston Borough Council Cabinet 
- Boston Town Deal Board  
- Boston Borough Council Full Council  

4. MHCLG capital (CDEL) 5% payment  

Main activities, if applicable: 

• Scheme development – including appointment of multi-disciplinary team led by YMD Boon to develop concept 
proposals, plans, visuals, and works necessary for RIBA Stage 2-plus. 

• Establishment of joint Project Manager and appointment of QS – to establish high level costs, timelines, risk 
registers etc to inform business case 

• Appointment of Max Associates to review the project and investment opportunity, as well as development of 
the Full Business Case 

• Appointment of Amion consultants to undertake Green Book Assessment and advise on the Economic Case 

• Administration by the Council and management of the project, and servicing of the Towns Fund Board. 
 

5. Quantified benefit-cost ratio/value for money (e.g. Benefit Cost Ratio or Net Present Social Value)  
A quantified benefit-cost ratio should be provided. If it has not been generated, a summary of evidence used by the 
S151 Officer to demonstrate value for money should be stated.  

Included within the Economic Case 

6.  Deliverability 
Will this project still be delivered within the Towns Fund timeframe? (Y/N)  

YES 

7.  Delivery plan  
Including details of: 

- timescales and key milestones 
- partnerships 
- interdependencies 
- risks and mitigation measures (if not provided above). 

Page 305



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

  92 
 

 

 

 

Formal Approval & Project Kick Off 300322 2w 160422 

Client Brief 160422 6w 310522 

Design 160422 28w 311022 

Surveys & Investigations 160422 8w 150622 

Planning 300422 21w 011022 

Tender 010622 23w 151122 

RIBA Stage 5 - Construction 161122 90w 310824 

RIBA Stage 6 - Handover/Fit Out 010924 1d 010924 

RIBA Stage 7 - In Use / Defects 310825 1d 310825 

 
Risks are included within the management section 
 

8. Town Deal Board Chair name & signature  

Name of the Town Deal Board:    Boston Town Deal Board 
Chair’s name and signature:          
 
 
 
Date: 

9. By signing, I agree that: 
1. The business case, in a proportionate manner, is Green Book compliant. 
2. The 5% early capital (CDEL) has been included in the Town Fund project costs across the programme. 
3. This project and expenditure represent value for money, including the 5% early capital (CDEL) provided. 
4. Project-level Equality Impact Assessments such as Public Sector Equalities Duty and/or Environmental 

Impact Assessments have been undertaken. 
5. For final submission - programme-level Public Sector Equality Duty assessment has been undertaken by the 

accountable body. 
 
Name of the lead Local Authority and signature of the Chief Executive Officer or S151 Officer 

Name of the lead Local Authority:   
 
 
 
 
 
 
Name and signature:                         Robert Barlow                       Christine Marshall 
Job title:                                               Chief Executive Deputy       Chief Executive & Section 151 Officer 
 
Date: 

 

  

Page 306



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

  93 
 

 

 

Annex: submission checklist 
 
Use this as guidance when submitting the Summary Documents.  
 

Items Checked Qty 

 first submission  

1. Programme-level update   

2. Part 1: Project Summary Document    

3. Part 2: Town Investment Plan (TIP) conditions   

4. Final Monitoring & Evaluation (M&E) plan   

5. Any other documents   

 all other submissions  

1. Programme-level update   

2. Part 1: Project Summary Document table   

3. Final M&E plan   

4. Any other documents   

 
  

Page 307



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

  94 
 

 

 

APPENDIX 1 – National Trends in Fitness  

 
State of the UK Fitness Industry 2019 Report Findings15:  
 

• It is worth noting that this report was published before the Covid-19 pandemic, which 
will have had an impact on the UK health and fitness industry. The full extent of which 
is yet unknown.  

 

• Based on the 2019 report in the last 12 months (to the end of March 2019) there has 
been a 4.2% increase in market value and a 4.7% increase in members.  

 

• For the first time, the penetration rate in the private sector has not only reached but 
exceeded 10% with 10.5% of the UK population are now members of a private gym. 
Member numbers grew by 6.3% and market value by 5.2%. 

 

• Pure Gym and GLL remain the UK’s leading private and public operators (by number 
of gyms and members).  

 

• Low cost operator Pure Gym remains the leading UK operator by both number of clubs 
and members. They have reached the 230 clubs and over 1 million members.  They 
are one of five private operators who have over 100 clubs (the other four are: The Gym 
Group, Anytime Fitness, DW Fitness First and Nuffield). 

 

• The low-cost market has continued to expand with 683 low cost clubs. 4.2% of the UK 
population are members of one of these clubs and this sector impressively accounts 
for 40% of total private membership. 

 

• As the UK private market continues to expand, over the last 12 months the UK public 
fitness market has also shown an increase in the 4-key metrics with member numbers 
growing by 6.3% and market value by 5.2% 

 

• The public fitness market value has increased from £1.33 billion to £1.4 billion. 
 

• Average membership fees have dropped slightly from £30.33 to £30.10 with regional 
variations, with the average fee in East Midlands being lower at £28.48.  

 

• Of the 2,729 public gyms, 45% are managed by a trust (up 1%), 18% are under local 
authority (in-house) management (down 1%), 17% by an educational establishment 
(down 1%) and just 9% by a leisure management contractor (up 1%).  

 

 

 

  

                                                 
15 State of the UK Fitness Industry 2019 – Leisure Database 

Page 308



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

  95 
 

 

 

Figure 29 – State of the UK Fitness Industry 2019 – UK Public Gyms 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Page 309



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

  96 
 

 

 

APPENDIX 2 – ONS 2018 Demographic Data – Boston E07000136 
 

The cells highlighted in yellow show the most prevalent age group that year.   
 
Red indicates an overall decline in population. Green indicates an overall increase in 
population. 
 
Table 21 – ONS 2018 Demographic Data – Boston E07000136 

AGE 
GROUP 2018 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 

0-4 4,341 4,231 4,029 3,996 4,131 4,326 

5-9 4,517 4,803 4,651 4,420 4,386 4,513 

10-14 3,683 4,028 4,884 4,715 4,490 4,458 

15-19 3,460 3,373 3,991 4,688 4,511 4,312 

20-24 3,474 3,649 3,372 3,804 4,219 4,076 

25-29 4,526 4,514 4,516 4,207 4,643 4,969 

30-34 4,793 4,859 4,857 4,758 4,481 4,901 

35-39 4,451 4,749 5,008 4,976 4,859 4,598 

40-44 3,925 4,130 4,932 5,172 5,141 5,011 

45-49 4,440 4,281 4,248 4,959 5,192 5,161 

50-54 4,687 4,634 4,383 4,299 4,957 5,184 

55-59 4,403 4,767 4,862 4,592 4,483 5,111 

60-64 4,233 4,308 5,053 5,153 4,875 4,748 

65-69 4,041 4,043 4,316 5,051 5,161 4,892 

70-74 3,926 4,035 3,828 4,112 4,821 4,942 

75-79 2,688 2,923 3,547 3,379 3,662 4,316 

80-84 1,920 1,999 2,299 2,822 2,713 2,983 

85-89 1,200 1,183 1,262 1,480 1,843 1,807 

90+ 658 692 707 776 923 1,175 

All ages 69,366 71,202 74,745 77,357 79,490 81,483 

 
  

Page 310



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

  97 
 

 

 

APPENDIX 3 – Catchment Age Profile  
 

Table 22 – Catchment Age Profile  

Combined 0-14 15-24 25-39 40-59 60-79 80+ Total 

0-2.5 509 289 676 691 346 44 2555 

2.5-5 4527 2405 5584 5899 3847 1083 23345 

5-10 4579 2329 4534 5863 5685 1536 24526 

10-15 1887 948 1707 2548 2594 636 10320 

15-20 2220 1317 2139 3861 4054 891 14482 

20-25 1539 885 1358 2803 3092 736 10413 

25-30 5755 3174 5572 9454 9452 2500 35907 

Total 21,016 11,347 21,570 31,119 29,070 7,426 121,548 

 
  

Page 311



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

  98 
 

 

 

APPENDIX 4 – Health and Fitness Competition   
 

Figure 30 – Map of Health & Fitness Competition  

 
 

Page 312



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

  99 
 

 

 

APPENDIX 5 – Latent Demand for Health & Fitness 

 

Catchment Mosaic Profile 
 
A mosaic profile was produced by Leisure Database (LDB) as part of the latent demand 
analysis for fitness, which concentrates on a smaller catchment than commercial leisure. 
 
Over 30k people live within a mile and this rises to almost 48k in 3-miles.  
 
In terms of demographics, the prominent Mosaic group in this catchment is one of the less 
affluent: J ‘Transient Renters’ accounting for 22% of people in the catchment.  
 
‘Transient Renters’ are typically aged in their 20s and 30s and they either live alone or home-
share. Very few are married and there are few children. Properties are primarily rented from 
private landlords, where tenants move on quickly and pay low rents. Most of these group J 
households are in the centre of Boston rather than in surrounding villages.  
 
The other type that stands out is J43 ‘Renting a Room’ – over 17% of locals fall into this 
single type.  
 
The age profile of the population shows an older population than average. The number of 
people aged 60+ is higher (27%) than the national average (23%). The number of people aged 
18-59 is a little lower than average. 

 
Figure 31 – Mosaic Profiles – Transient Renters 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 313



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

  100 
 

 

 

Figure 32 – Mosaic Profiles – Renting a Room  

 
 
 
 
  

Page 314



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

  101 
 

 

 

Table 23 – Estimate of Latent Demand 

  

MOSAIC UK Type

Total Adult

Population (15+)

Total Health & 

Fitness Demand 
A01 World-Class Wealth 0 0

A02 Uptown Elite 0 0

A03 Penthouse Chic 0 0

A04 Metro High-Flyers 0 0

B05 Premium Fortunes 0 0

B06 Diamond Days 55 2

B07 Alpha Families 8 0

B08 Bank of Mum and Dad 110 5

B09 Empty-Nest Adventure 31 1

C10 Wealthy Landowners 35 1

C11 Rural Vogue 1,243 34

C12 Scattered Homesteads 3,319 59

C13 Village Retirement 1,564 37

D14 Satellite Settlers 2,094 59

D15 Local Focus 3,712 76

D16 Outlying Seniors 5,327 96

D17 Far-Flung Outposts 0 0

E18 Legacy Elders 62 2

E19 Bungalow Haven 3,896 87

E20 Classic Grandparents 227 9

E21 Solo Retirees 335 13

F22 Boomerang Boarders 643 27

F23 Family Ties 385 19

F24 Fledgling Free 2,240 87

F25 Dependable Me 391 15

G26 Cafés and Catchments 0 0

G27 Thriving Independence 0 0

G28 Modern Parents 97 6

G29 Mid-Career Convention 774 33

H30 Primary Ambitions 271 12

H31 Affordable Fringe 1,518 70

H32 First-Rung Futures 1,858 74

H33 Contemporary Starts 800 41

H34 New Foundations 206 9

H35 Flying Solo 276 12

I36 Solid Economy 0 0

I37 Budget Generations 382 17

I38 Childcare Squeeze 1,092 43

I39 Families with Needs 2,186 81

J40 Make Do and Move On 503 17

J41 Disconnected Youth 729 26

J42 Midlife Stopgap 1,456 59

J43 Renting a Room 9,397 341

K44 Inner City Stalwarts 0 0

K45 Crowded Kaleidoscope 0 0

K46 High Rise Residents 0 0

K47 Streetwise Singles 344 7

K48 Low Income Workers 1,470 51

L49 Dependent Greys 381 5

L50 Pocket Pensions 1,906 22
L51 Aided Elderly 0 0

L52 Estate Veterans 948 30

L53 Seasoned Survivors 387 14

M54 Down-to-Earth Owners 247 8

M55 Offspring Overspill 775 29

M56 Self Supporters 984 39

N57 Community Elders 0 0

N58 Cultural Comfort 0 0

N59 Asian Heritage 0 0

N60 Ageing Access 0 0

O61 Career Builders 0 0

O62 Central Pulse 0 0

O63 Flexible Workforce 0 0

O64 Bus-Route Renters 264 10

O65 Learners and Earners 0 0

O66 Student Scene 0 0

Sub Total 54,929 1,685

297

-200

1,782
-1,040

742

Minus current membership number at Geoff Moulder Complex (approx.)

Add consideration for 15% of members from outside catchment

Estimate of Latent Demand for Health & Fitness

ESTIMATE OF LATENT DEMAND FOR HEALTH & FITNESS

BOSTON - NEW HEALTH & WELLBEING HUB - 15 minute drive

Minus consideration for competition / decay on catchment fringes

Estimate of Total Demand for Health & Fitness

Page 315



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

  102 
 

 

 

APPENDIX 6 – Competition Analysis – Commercial Facilities 
 

See separate document.  
 

  

Page 316



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

  103 
 

 

 

APPENDIX 7 – High Level Cost Estimate 

 

See separate document 

  

Page 317



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

  104 
 

 

 

APPENDIX 8 – Revenue Business Plan Assumptions, Benchmarking and Sensitivity 
Analysis 

 

Income Assumptions 
 

The key income assumptions are set out below. 
 
Table 24 – Key Income Assumptions 

Activity Area Income Projections – Mature Year 

Pricing and 
opening hours 

Pricing is based on current pricing, opening hours have been extending slightly into 
the evenings and later at weekends. 

Fitness Main membership income 
The business plan has been developed using the average yield of £21 (net of VAT), 
given current income and membership numbers. 
 
Attrition has been calculated at 5% per month and it is assumed that by the time the 
centre opens, in the region of 1,000 members would transfer. 
 
The total latent demand projection of 1,782 members has been taken into 
consideration and given levels of membership, pre covid, this has been achieved by 
the end of year 2. There is further growth considering the Mayflower building next 
door, with membership in year 5 projected at 1,833 members 
 

 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

Adult / concession 
Memberships  

1,581 1,774 1,804 1,822 1,833 

 
In total, it is projected that the membership base will generate income of £463k in a 
mature year. 
 
It is also projected that there will be casual use of the fitness facilities both by local 
residents and visitors to the area.  There will also be personal training available to 
both members and casual users.  Total casual income is projected to be £18k per 
annum. 
 
With two group exercise studios, a 45 class per week programme has been included.  
Average occupancy of classes is projected to be 50% for off-peak and 85% for peak 
classes.  Access to classes will be included within the all-inclusive membership.  It is 
projected that of all users, 15% will be casual, generating income of £26k per annum. 
 

Swimming 
Pool 

The pool programme remains similar to the current programme, however, with 
significantly improved entrance and village changing both casual and the swimming 
lesson programme is projected to grow. Links with the college will hopefully provide 
career links through to filling core skill gaps (lifeguards and swimming teachers), to 
increase capacities of the programme and provide for current levels of demand. 
 
As such casual swimming projected to grow over the initial three years by £70k. 
 
The swimming lesson programme is projected to grow from the pre-Covid pupil base 
of 600 pupils to just over 900 pupils. (Capacity has been reviewed by Swim England 
in a recent review of the programme). 
 
It is assumed that a strong community programme is developed, for older people, 
people with health conditions, disabilities etc. 
 
An off peak and peak aqua programme has been included. 
 

Page 318



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

  105 
 

 

 

Activity Area Income Projections – Mature Year 

Summary income in a mature year is projected as per the table below, as is the build-
up of income as usage grows over the first three years. 
 

TOTAL INCOME YEAR 1 YEAR 2 YEAR 3 

CASUAL 158,879 167,706 176,532 

LESSONS / COURSES 172,463 194,021 215,579 

POOL HIRE 101,940 101,940 101,940 

TOTAL 433,282 463,667 494,051 

 
 

Secondary From the current plans the reception desk and servery are linked, so that at quiet 
times, receptionists can serve drinks / pre-prepared snacks etc. Spend per head is 
set out below 
 

Spend per Head Year 1 

Per visit - F&B inc. vending £0.25 

Retail £0.05 
 

 

Other Costs 
 

The assumptions in relation to the expenditure are detailed in the table below. 
 

Table 25 – Expenditure Projections   
 

Activity Area Expenditure Projections – Mature Year 

Staffing  The current staffing base has been included, with savings of £56k re one 
reception. Additional staff are included to support the swim lesson programme 
and additional aqua classes. 
It is assumed that reception staff will also support the catering offer. 

Cost of Sales These have been included at 50% of secondary income for both food and 
beverage and retail. 

Utility Costs Utility Costs for the preferred facility mix have been included at £23 per m2 in 
year 1 with c.5% increase each year above inflation. This assumes 
improvement to consumption due to energy savings incorporated into the 
capital works. 

NNDR/Lifecycle 
Costs/Insurance 

It is assumed that NNDR will increase with the large footprint, a PC sum for this 
has been included, but will need to be verified. 
 
Overall Insurance costs have been included at slightly higher levels than 
previously to reflect the higher income of the centre. 
 

Repairs & 
Maintenance 

Repairs and maintenance costs have been included at £8 per m2. This is lower 
than standard, but assumes a central capital provision for larger items. 

Equipment 
 

Equipment costs have been included at £20k. 
 
This is to cover the replacement of loose equipment and consumables, 
including, for example, studio equipment and café consumables. 
 
It is assumed that fitness and ICT equipment are purchased as part of the fit 
out. These will need to be replaced from year 5 – 6 (and these costs are not 
currently included in the business plan.) 

Marketing Marketing costs have been included at 1% of income.  
An additional £10k has been included in year 1 for the launch of the site. 

Central Costs & 
Contingency 

No Central Costs have been allocated to this trading budget at this stage. 
No contingency costs have been included given the centre is currently 
operational. 

Page 319



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

  106 
 

 

 

Sensitivity Analysis 
 
The table below illustrates the impact of any changes in core income or expenditure 
on the deficit. A 10% reduction of income would increase the deficit to £262k per 
annum. Positive impacts on staff costs and / or increased income in the facility areas 
would reduce the deficit. 
 
Table 26 – Impact of any changes in Income and Expenditure 

AMENDMENT TO BASE PLAN 
Year 5 

Variance Income Exp Net 

Base Plan   £1,102,975 £1,254,721 -£151,746 

Increased Income (%) 10% £1,213,273 £1,254,721 -£41,448 

Reduced Income (%) 10% £992,678 £1,254,721 -£262,043 

Increased Health and Fitness Income 
per Station (£000) 

1000 £1,182,975 £1,254,721 -£71,746 

Reduced Health and Fitness Income per 
Station (£000) 

1000 £1,022,975 £1,254,721 -£231,746 

Increased Swimming Income (%) 10% £1,120,629 £1,254,721 -£134,093 

Decreased Swimming Income (%) 10% £1,085,322 £1,254,721 -£169,399 

Increased Expenditure (%) 10% £1,102,975 £1,380,193 -£277,218 

Reduced Expenditure (%) 10% £1,102,975 £1,129,249 -£26,274 

Increased Staff Costs (%) 10% £1,102,975 £1,337,992 -£235,016 

Reduced Staff Costs (%) 10% £1,102,975 £1,171,451 -£68,476 

Increased Utility Costs (%) 10% £1,102,975 £1,265,904 -£162,929 

Decreased Utility Costs (%) 10% £1,102,975 £1,243,539 -£140,563 

Increased Repairs and Maintenance 
Costs (%) 

10% £1,102,975 £1,257,921 -£154,946 

Decreased Repairs and Maintenance 
Costs (%) 

10% £1,102,975 £1,251,521 -£148,546 

 

Benchmarking 

The existing performance of the centre compared to a mature year of the new 

developed centre are both compared to the median Sport England National 

benchmarks for local authority managed centres. The improved usage and income will 

improve most of the benchmarks as set out in the table below.  

Table 27 – Benchmarks 

PERFORMANCE INDICATOR 
based on SENBS 

SENBS GLMC 
New Centre 

YEAR 5 In-house 
Median 

2019/20 

Surplus per visit -£1.17 -£2.54 -£0.67 

% Cost Recovery 66% 52% 88% 

Income per visit £2.72 £2.78 £3.16 

Secondary income per visit £0.09   £0.29 

Staffing costs as a % of income 77% 101% 75% 

Expenditure per visit £3.05 £5.33 £3.53 

R&M per m2 £14.00   £8.00 

Utility Costs per m2 £30.00 £45.00 £28.00 

Health & Fitness income per 
station 

£6,698 £5,759 £6,017 

Swimming income per m2 £776 £492 £790 

Page 320



Boston Borough Council – Boston Leisure Project Business Case – March 2022 

 

  107 
 

 

 

 

APPENDIX 9 – FBC Programme 

 
See separate Document  

Page 321



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 1 of 8 
Max Associates – Private & Confidential 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

Boston Borough Council 

GEOFF MOULDER LEISURE COMPLEX 

COMPETITION ANALYSIS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

February 2022 

 

 

 

Page 323



Boston – Commercial Leisure Competition Analysis 

 
Max Associates – Private & Confidential   Page 2 of 8 

 

CONTENTS 

 

1. Map of Soft Play within a 20 minute drive of Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex ....... 3 

2. Map of Ten Pin Bowling, Trampoline Parks, Indoor Climbing and Spas within a 30 

minute drive of Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex .............................................................. 4 

 

APPENDIX 1 – Soft Play ..................................................................................................... 5 

APPENDIX 2 – Ten Pin Bowling ......................................................................................... 6 

APPENDIX 3 – Indoor Climbing.......................................................................................... 7 

APPENDIX 4 – Spas ............................................................................................................ 8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

  

Page 324



Boston – Commercial Leisure Competition Analysis 

 
Max Associates – Private & Confidential   Page 3 of 8 

1. Map of Soft Play within a 20 minute drive of Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex 
 

1.1 The map below shows soft play facilities within a 20 minute drive time of the Leisure 
Complex. 

 
1.2 There are only two soft play facilities within 20 minutes, which is limited competition.   
 
1.3 Fuzzy Ed’s, the closest competition is a play area located inside a restaurant/pub. 
 
1.4 Play Towers is a larger five storey play facility, which is also home to other leisure 

activities including Boston Bowl and Krazee Klimb (detailed overleaf).  The centre also 
has ‘Battle Warehouse’ a laser tag facility. 

 

 

 

See Appendix 1 for more details 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 325



Boston – Commercial Leisure Competition Analysis 

 
Max Associates – Private & Confidential   Page 4 of 8 

2. Map of Ten Pin Bowling, Trampoline Parks, Indoor Climbing and Spas within a 
30 minute drive of Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex. 

 
2.1 The map below shows other commercial leisure competition within a 30 minute drive 

time of the Leisure Complex. 
 

2.2 Overall, competition is limited, with no indoor skate parks, trampoline parks or Tag Active 
facilities within a 30 minute drive time, meaning there is reduced competition for peoples’ 
leisure time in the area. 

 
2.3 There are no other indoor leisure pools within a 30 minute drive time, therefore the 

existing water facilities such as the 45m flume at Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex is a 
valuable attraction, which sets it aside from other traditional pools. 

 
2.4 Boston Bowl and Krazee Klimb (as well as Play Towers detailed previously) are all 

located within the same building, a nine minute drive from the Leisure Complex.  
 

2.5 The only other ten pin bowling facility in the catchment, Alley Catz in Spalding. 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
See Appendix 1 - 4 for more details 

  

Page 326



Boston – Commercial Leisure Competition Analysis 

 
Max Associates – Private & Confidential   Page 5 of 8 

APPENDIX 1 – Soft Play 
 

 Postcode Contact 
Details 

Drive 
Time 

Distance  Facility Mix 

Play Towers 
 
https://www.boston
bowl.co.uk/playtowe
rs 
 
 

Boston 
PE21 9RH 

01205 
359525 

5 mins 1,8 miles  5 storey adventure play 

 Separate Under 4s area 

 Interactive floor game 
system 

 Cafe 
 

Fuzzy Ed’s – Spirit 
of Endeavour 
 
https://www.sizzling
pubs.co.uk/findapub
/eastandwestmidlan
ds/spiritofendeavou
r/fuzzyeds 

Boston 
PE21 7QS 

01205 
356678 

4 mins 1.2 miles  Soft play for under 12s 

 Under 5’s area 

 Parties 

 

 

  

Page 327

https://www.bostonbowl.co.uk/playtowers
https://www.bostonbowl.co.uk/playtowers
https://www.bostonbowl.co.uk/playtowers
https://www.sizzlingpubs.co.uk/findapub/eastandwestmidlands/spiritofendeavour/fuzzyeds
https://www.sizzlingpubs.co.uk/findapub/eastandwestmidlands/spiritofendeavour/fuzzyeds
https://www.sizzlingpubs.co.uk/findapub/eastandwestmidlands/spiritofendeavour/fuzzyeds
https://www.sizzlingpubs.co.uk/findapub/eastandwestmidlands/spiritofendeavour/fuzzyeds
https://www.sizzlingpubs.co.uk/findapub/eastandwestmidlands/spiritofendeavour/fuzzyeds


Boston – Commercial Leisure Competition Analysis 

 
Max Associates – Private & Confidential   Page 6 of 8 

APPENDIX 2 – Ten Pin Bowling 
 

 Postcode Contact 
Details 

Drive 
Time 

Distance  Facility Mix 

Boston Bowl 
 
https://www.boston
bowl.co.uk/ 

Boston 
PE21 9RH 

01205 
359525 
 

5 mins 1,8 miles  12 lanes 

 Cafe 
 

Alley Catz Bowling 
Lanes 
 
http://www.alley-
catz.com/ 
 

Spalding 
PE11 2AF 

01775 
722211 

25 
mins 

14.7 miles  10 lanes 

 

 

Page 328

https://www.bostonbowl.co.uk/
https://www.bostonbowl.co.uk/
http://www.alley-catz.com/
http://www.alley-catz.com/


Boston – Commercial Leisure Competition Analysis 

 
Max Associates – Private & Confidential   Page 7 of 8 

APPENDIX 3 – Indoor Climbing 
 

 Postcode Contact 
Details 

Drive 
Time 

Distance  Facility Mix 

Krazee Klimb 
 
https://www.boston
bowl.co.uk/krazee-
klimb 

Boston 
PE21 9RH 

01205 
359525 
 

5 mins 1,8 miles  12 clip and climb walls 

 Leap of faith 

 Cafe 
 

 

  

Page 329

https://www.bostonbowl.co.uk/
https://www.bostonbowl.co.uk/


Boston – Commercial Leisure Competition Analysis 

 
Max Associates – Private & Confidential   Page 8 of 8 

APPENDIX 4 – Spas 
 

 Postcode Contact 
Details 

Drive 
Time 

Distance  Facility Mix 

The Grange Spa 
 
https://www.thegra
ngespa.co.uk/ 

Sleaford 
NG34 0NF 

01778 
440511 
 

30 
mins 

18.6 mile  Pool-waterfall – 12 m pool 

 Experience showers 

 Gem stone steam bath 

 Herbal bath 

 Aroma bath 

 Ice fountain 
 

Princess Royal 
Sports Arena 
 
https://www.1life.co
.uk/princess-royal-
sports-arena/ 

Boston 
PE21 7PB 

01205 
358666 

9 mins 2.8 miles  Swimming Pool 

 Jacuzzi 

 Steam room 

 Sauna  

PE21 9rh 

Page 330

https://www.thegrangespa.co.uk/
https://www.thegrangespa.co.uk/
https://www.1life.co.uk/princess-royal-sports-arena/
https://www.1life.co.uk/princess-royal-sports-arena/
https://www.1life.co.uk/princess-royal-sports-arena/


BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

LEISURE PROJECT

HIGH LEVEL ORDER OF COST ESTIMATE 070322

Q R T COMMENTS

SITE

CLEAR SITE GENERALLY (5325m2) 5,325 M2 1 5,325 Area Cost

REMOVE LOW LEVEL WALL TO FRONT OF SITE 1 ITEM 3,000 3,000 Site £20,325

REMOVE HARD PAVINGS 2,500 M2 4 10,000 Assume 50% of existing hard surface areas; 50% topped Demolitions and Alterations £207,105

REMOVE GRASS & PLANTED AREAS 500 M2 4 2,000 New Two-storey Extension £2,917,380

SUB-TOTAL 20,325 Refurbishment Works to Leisure Pool/Spa £1,127,500

DEMOLITIONS AND ALTERATIONS Refurbishment Works to Training Pool £418,500

Demolish existing single storey accommodation 1,890 M3 7 13,230 Includes disposal External Works £722,750

Demolish first floor pool mezzanine 300 M3 15 4,500 Includes disposal General £585,000

Demolish Training Pool Changing Block 1,200 M3 7 8,400 Includes disposal Consequential Improvement Costs £599,856

Remove existing 'corriodor area' roof 375 M2 15 5,625 Includes disposal & temporary works/protection Adjustment for Allowable CI Costs -£465,250

New roof & steel structure to 'corridor area' 375 M2 150 56,250 Assumes plant can sit on new roof structure Surveys and Fees £672,379

Form large openings between extension GF & pool 2 Nr 5,000 10,000 Includes steel goalposts Contingency/Price & Design Risk £340,277

Demolish first floor pool mezzanine 300 M3 15 4,500 Includes disposal Total Cost (excluding VAT) £7,145,822

Demolish Training Pool Changing Block 1,200 M3 8 9,600 Includes disposal

Form large opening between extension FF & pool 1 Nr 5,000 5,000 Includes steel goalposts Towns Fund £2,425,092

Temporary Changing & Reception Accommodation 1 ITEM 10,000 10,000 BBC £4,720,730

Decommission & relocate Bio-Mass Facility 1 ITEM 75,000 75,000 Specialist cost; £75k quote

Adapt enclosure/new slab for relocated Bio-Mass 1 ITEM 5,000 5,000 Adapt & re-use existing enclosure 

SUB-TOTAL 227,430 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total 

NEW TWO STOREY EXTENSION (2000 M2) Towns Fund          528,767  1,625,378      270,948   2,425,092 £0

SUBSTRUCTURES & FOUNDATIONS 970 M2 125 121,250 Suspended solution BBC          633,723  3,414,623      672,386   4,720,731 

PILING EO 970 M2 50 48,500 Assumed will be required Total       1,162,489  5,040,000      943,333   7,145,823 

GROUND GAS PROTECTION SYSTEM Excluded Assumed not required

SUBS DRAINAGE 970 M2 10 9,700 As previous projects       1,162,489  5,040,000      943,333   7,145,823 

CONTAMINATION EO Excluded Contingency item

FRAME - general steel 2,000 M2 125 250,000 Cost risk item - market place fluctuation

EO FRAME - fire protection 1 ITEM 5,000 5,000

UPPER FLOORS 1,030 M2 65 66,950 Assumes composite deck

STAIRS - MAIN DOGLEG; 2 FLIGHTS; 1 STOREY 1 ITEM 30,000 30,000 Functional with some betterment

STAIRS - SECONDARY; SINGLE FLIGHT; 1 STOREY 1 ITEM 25,000 25,000 Functional finishes

ROOF - Main Flat Roof incl. deck 1,030 M2 175 180,250 Assumes poured system

EO ROOF - Main Flat Roof Rooflights 103 M2 200 20,600 10% of new area

EO ROOF - parapet detail 91 M 150 13,650

EO ROOF - parapet & deep gutter pool connection 42 M 500 21,000

ENTRANCE STRUCTURE ROOF 1 ITEM 5,000 5,000 Not enclosed

RWP 1 ITEM 20,000 20,000 Non-syphonic

EXTERNAL WALLS - CLADDING 600 M2 325 195,000 Cost risk item - market place fluctuation

EXTERNAL WALLS - MASONRY PLINTH 20 M2 150 3,000

EXTERNAL WALLS - EO CURTAIN WALLING 220 M2 175 38,500 Cost risk item - market place fluctuation

EXTERNAL WALLS - EO PUNCHED WINDOWS 20 M2 100 2,000 Cost risk item - market place fluctuation

EXTERNAL WALLS - CLAD END OF TRAINING POOL 68 M2 100 6,800 Cost risk item - market place fluctuation

EXTERNAL WALLS - CLAD SIDE OF TRAINING POOL 144 M2 100 14,400 Cost risk item - market place fluctuation

SOFFIT CLADDING TO FIRST FLOOR PROJECTION 100 M2 50 5,000

BRISE SOLEIL Excluded Assumed not required

EXTERNAL DOORS - MAIN ENTRANCE 1 ITEM 5,000 5,000 Assumes not revolving door

EXTERNAL DOORS - PRIMARY GLAZED DOUBLE 5 Nr 2,500 12,500 Cost risk item - market place fluctuation

EXTERNAL DOORS - SECONDARY SINGLE 3 Nr 1,500 4,500 Cost risk item - market place fluctuation

INTERNAL PARTITION WALLS 1,335 M2 55 73,425 Assumes 80% masonry

EO - INTERNAL CORE WALLS 360 M2 45 16,200 Cost risk item - market place fluctuation

EO - INTERNAL GLAZED SCREENS 67 M2 145 9,715 Assumes 5 % of wall area are glazed screens

GLAZED SCREEN - café to reception 40 M2 200 8,000

GLAZED SCREEN - between extension & leisure pool 50 M2 200 10,000

INTERNAL FOLDING WALLS 40 M2 450 18,000 To first floor studios

INTERNAL LINING TO EXTERNAL WALLS 620 M2 40 24,800 Assumes dry lining

INTERNAL DOORS - SINGLE; glazed 6 Nr 1,500 9,000

INTERNAL DOORS - DOUBLE; glazed 6 Nr 2,500 15,000

INTERNAL DOORS - SINGLE; standard 20 Nr 1,000 20,000

INTERNAL DOORS - DOUBLE; standard 4 Nr 2,000 8,000

WALL FINISHES - SKIM & PAINT - INT PARTITIONS 2,670 M2 10 26,700

WALL FINISHES - SKIM & PAINT - EXT WALL LINING 620 M2 12 7,440

FLOOR FINISHES - SCREED 2,000 M2 15 30,000

FLOOR FINISHES - VINYL 1,500 M2 40 60,000 Assumes basic specification

FLOOR FINISHES - CARPET 500 M2 25 12,500

FLOOR FINISHES - ACCESS FLOORS Excluded

CEILING FINISHES - STANDARD SUSPENDED 2,000 M2 40 80,000

RECEPTION DESK & CAFÉ SERVERY UNIT 1 ITEM 10,000 10,000

RECEPTION TURNSTILES 1 ITEM 10,000 10,000

FITTINGS - GENERALLY Excluded

FITTINGS - LOOSE FURNITURE - generally Excluded Shelving to cleaners/office excluded

SANITARY FITTINGS 1 ITEM 50,000 50,000

SHOWER INSTALLATION FOR POOL/CHANGING 1 ITEM 10,000 10,000

CHANGING CUBICLES 45 Nr 500 22,500

CHANGING ROOM BENCHING 45 Nr 500 22,500

MECHANICAL SERVICES including BWIC 2,000 M2 300 600,000

ELECTRICAL SERVICES including BWIC 2,000 M2 300 600,000

ALLOWANCE FOR WORKS TO MAINTAIN SERVICES 1 ITEM 10,000 10,000

LIFTS 1 Nr 50,000 50,000 Assumes passenger lift

GYM FIT OUT Excluded

STUDIOS FIT OUT Excluded

WET CHANGING AREAS FIT OUT Excluded Cubicles & benching are included

DRY CHANGING AREAS FIT OUT Excluded Cubicles & benching are included

FIRST AID ROOM FIT OUT Excluded

CAFÉ FIT OUT Excluded

KITCHEN FIT OUT Excluded

IT Excluded

SUB-TOTAL 3,144,810

REFURBISHMENT WORKS TO LEISURE POOL/SPA

REFURBISHMENT OF EXISTING SPA/SAUNA/JACUZZI 1 ITEM 30,000 30,000

REMOVE & STORE EXISTING ROOF PV 1 ITEM 2,500 2,500

REMOVE EXISTING ROOFING 1,500 M2 4 6,000

REPLACEMENT ROOF WITH BETTER U VALUE 1,500 M2 100 150,000

EO - NEW ROOF FOR ROOFLIGHTS ; ANTI-GLARE 150 M2 250 37,500 10% of roof area

RE-INSTALL EXISTING ROOF PV 1 ITEM 5,000 5,000

REMOVE EXISTING WALL FINISHES 575 M2 5 2,875

NEW WALL FINISHES 575 M2 15 8,625

NEW CEILING WORKS 1,500 M2 20 30,000

ALLOWANCE CEILING LEVEL ACOUSTIC TREATMENT 1 ITEM 25,000 25,000

NEW M & E SERVICES including BWIC 1,250 M2 500 625,000 Replacement of existing; electric heating

ALLOWANCE FOR WORKS TO MAINTAIN SERVICES 1 ITEM 5,000 5,000

NEW POOL FILTRATION ETC EQUIPMENT 1 NR 200,000 200,000 Replacement of existing

REPLACEMENT POOL SLIDES/FLUMES Excluded

REPLACEMENT POOL EQUIPMENT/FITTINGS Excluded

SUB-TOTAL 4,272,310

REFURBISHMENT WORKS TO TRAINING POOL

REMOVE EXISTING WALL FINISHES 375 M2 5 1,875

NEW WALL FINISHES 375 M2 15 5,625

NEW M & E SERVICES including BWIC 612 M2 500 306,000 Replacement of existing; electric heating

ALLOWANCE FOR WORKS TO MAINTAIN SERVICES 1 ITEM 5,000 5,000

NEW POOL FILTRATION ETC EQUIPMENT 1 ITEM 100,000 100,000 Replacement of existing

REPLACEMENT POOL SLIDES/FLUMES Excluded

REPLACEMENT POOL EQUIPMENT/FITTINGS Excluded

SUB-TOTAL 4,690,810

EXTERNAL WORKS

SHARED EXTERNAL WORKS (refer to separate tab) 1 ITEM 540,000 540,000 50% cost contribution with BBC; 50% of £1,081,000

ELECTRIC CAR CHARGING POINTS 3 NR 10,000 30,000

EO - REMOVE/DIVERT EXISTING SERVICES Excluded Contingency cost item

EO - SITE CONTAMINATION MEASURES Excluded Contingency cost item

EO DRAINAGE - SURFACE WATER ATTENUATION Excluded Contingency cost item

EXCAVATE & DISPOSE SPOIL MOUND TO REAR 1 ITEM 7,500 7,500

NEW PERIMETER FENCING & GATES 100 M 100 10,000

SECTION OF FENCE TO REPLACE DAMAGED WALL 35 M 150 5,250

SITE ENTRANCE BARRIERS Excluded

EXTERNAL LIGHTING TO EXTENSION 1 ITEM 10,000 10,000

EXTERNAL CCTV TO EXTENSION 1 ITEM 20,000 20,000

ELECTRICS (excludes  substation) 1 ITEM 30,000 30,000 New substation is contingency risk

WATER 1 ITEM 15,000 15,000

FIBRE 1 ITEM 20,000 20,000

EXTERNAL BWIC 1 ITEM 20,000 20,000

OFF SITE HIGHWAYS Excluded

SOFT LANDSCAPING & TREES 1 ITEM 10,000 10,000

CYCLE SHELTER 1 ITEM 5,000 5,000

EXTERNAL FURNITURE Excluded

SUB-TOTAL 5,413,560

GENERAL

PRELIMINARIES - 60 WEEKS 275,000

ALLOWANCE FOR PHASING/SEGREGATION COSTS 10,000

OVERHEADS & PROFIT 250,000

CONTRACTOR DESIGN FEES 50,000 Architect/S&C Engineer post novation fees are at (1) & (2) below

SUB-TOTAL 5,998,560

CONSEQUENTIAL IMPROVEMENTS COST - 10% 599,856

SUB-TOTAL 6,598,416

ADJUSTMENT FOR ALLOWABLE CI COSTS (see tab) -465,250

FEES/SURVEY COSTS

DESIGN FEES

Architect 212,100 (1)

S&C Engineer 81,000 (2)

Services Engineer 91,203

Project Manager 46,065

Cost Consultant 41,435

Principal Designer 10,000

Admin Fee 21,576

Pool & Leisure Specialist 20,000

Sport England Specialist 15,000

Planning Assistance Service BBC Excluded

Planning Consultant 12,500 Based on shared cost with Boston College

Clerk of Works 15,000

Landscape Architect 15,000 Based on shared cost with Boston College

Fire Engineer 10,000

Acoustic Engineer 10,000

SURVEYS/INVESTIGATIONS

Site Investigation 15,000

Existing Services 6,000

3D Survey 10,000

Topographical Survey 2,000

R&D Asbestos Survey 5,000

STATUTORY FEES

Planning Fee 12,000

Other Planning Consultant Fees - Allowance 15,000

Approved Inspector (Building Control) 6,500

6,805,545

CONTINGENCY/PRICE & DESIGN RISK - 5% 340,277 Refer to all items allocated to contingency noted above

SUB-TOTAL  -  £ 7,145,822

VAT @ full rate 20% (see below) 1,429,164

ORDER OF COST ESTIMATE - TOTAL £ 8,574,987

BASIS OF ESTIMATE

See separate tab

ASSUMPTIONS

See separate tab

EXCLUSIONS

See separate tab

Page 331



This page is intentionally left blank



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL - LEISURE PROJECT 

PROGRAMME FOR FULL BUSINESS CASE SUBMISSION - March 2022

2022 2023 2024

Activity Start Time Finish MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP

Formal Approval & Project Kick Off 300322 2w 160422

Full Business Case Submission 300322 1d 300322

Full Business Case Review Period 010422 2w 150422

Towns Deal Board Full Project Approval 150422 1d 150422

Project Kick Off 160422 1d 160422

Formal Confirmation of Design Team 160422 1d 160422

Client Brief 160422 6w 310522

Client Project Briefing 160422 6w 310522

Design 160422 28w 311022

RIBA Stage 0 - Strategic Definition 160422 2w 300422

RIBA Stage 1 - Preparation/Briefing 160422 2w 300422

Full Design Team Kick Off Meeting 160422 1d 160422

RIBA Stage 2 - Concept Design 160422 2w 300422

RIBA Stage 3 - Spatial Co-ordination 010522 8w 300622

RIBA Stage 4 - Detailed Design for Tender 010722 8w 310822

RIBA Stage 4 - Detailed Design for Construction 010922 8w 311022

Surveys & Investigations 160422 8w 150622

Agree Survey & Investigation Scope 160422 1d 160422

Seek Quotations & Award 160422 2w 300422

Survey & Investigation Works On Site 010522 2w 150522

Site Investigation Output Information Deadline 150622 1d 150622

Planning 300422 21w 011022

Pre-Application Meeting 300422 1d 300422

Planning Consultant Quotations 010522 2w 150522

Planning Consultant Inputs 160522 4w 150622

Planning Consultant Outputs Deadline 150622 1d 150622

Planning Application 010722 1d 010722

Planning Period (13 weeks) 010722 13w 300922

Planning Determination 300922 1d 300922

Issue planning conditions to tenderers 011022 1d 011022

Tender 010622 23w 151122

OJEU - Issue of Contractor EOI 010622 1d 010622

OJEU - Issue of Contractor PQQ 010722 1d 010722

OJEU - PQQ Period (30 days) 010722 4w 300722

Assessment of Contractor PQQs 010822 2w 150822

Interviews & Confirmation of final tender list 160822 2w 300822

Tender Documentation Preparation 010822 4w 300822

Tender Issue 010922 1d 010922

Tender Period - 6 weeks (40 days) 010922 6w 151022

Tender Return 151022 1d 151022

Tender Assessment /Interviews 161022 2w 311022

Preferred Contractor Decision/Standstill Period 011122 2w 011122

Contract Award 151122 1d 151122

RIBA Stage 5 - Construction 161122 90w 310824

Contractor Mobilisation & Demolition Approval 161122 10w 310123

Construction Start on Site 010223 1d 010223

Temporary Reception Accommodation by BBC 161122 10w 310123

Phase 1A - Demolish Single Storey Accomm to Front 010223 3w 220223

Phase 1B - New Extension & New Plant Space (inc FO) 220223 53w 280224

Phase 1C - Front & Part Site External Works 010923 26w 280224

Handover of New Extension 280224 1d 280224

Phase 2A - Refurb of Leisure Pool (inc services & FO) 010324 10w 150524

Phase 2B - Re-Roofing of Leisure Pool 010324 10w 150524

Phase 2C - Relocate & Bio-Mass Facility 010324 10w 150524

Phase 2D - Remaining External Works (except Rowley) 010324 10w 150524

Handover of Refurbished Leisure Pool 150524 1d 150524

Phase 3A - Demolition of Training Pool Changing Block 160524 6w 300624

Phase 3B - Refurb of Training Pool (inc services & FO) 160524 10w 310724

Handover of Refurbished Leisure Pool 310724 1d 310724

Phase 4 - Rowley Road External Works 010824 4w 310824

Handover of Rowley Road Section 310824 1d 310824

RIBA Stage 6 - Handover/Fit Out 010924 1d 010924

P
age 333



New Facility Fully Operational 010924 1d 010924

RIBA Stage 7 - In Use / Defects 310825 1d 310825

End of Defects - Construction 310825 1d 310825

KEY

FBC Approval Period

Client Brief

Surveys & Investigations

RIBA Stage 1 - Preparation & Briefing

RIBA Stage 2 - Concept Design

RIBA Stage 3 - Spatial Design

RIBA Stage 4 - Detailed Design

Planning

Tender

Contract Award

RIBA Stage 5 - Construction

RIBA Stage 6 - Handover

RIBA Stage 7 - In Use/Defects

DfE Funding Process

P
age 334



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 30th March 2022 

SUBJECT: Towns Fund Business Cases 

KEY DECISION: 

 

PURPOSE: 

  

 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

Yes 

 

Approval of Towns Fund business cases to enable the Council to progress 
projects to the delivery stage and confirm funding. 

 

Cllr Nigel Welton 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: 

Lydia Rusling, Assistant Director Economic Growth 

 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY 

This report updates on the Towns Fund process for approval of the business cases; each project requires 

the Council to support the submission of the business case as the accountable body for the Town Deal. 

Boston has received a Heads of Terms offer from Government of £21.9m. To secure the Town Deal 

funding, the projects which formed part of the Town Investment Plan have to submit business cases for 

approval to Government to release the funding allocation. 

There are 7 projects as part of the Boston Town Deal, there are 6 projects which are externally led and 1 

project is led and supported by Boston Borough Council. For all projects, the Council is the accountable 

body and has developed a delivery team, delivery arrangements and agreements. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. That Cabinet approves the submission of the full business cases for the externally managed 

projects (attached as Appendices to this report):  Boston Railway Station and the Mayflower 

project.  

2. That Cabinet notes the submission of the following Towns Fund projects to the Department for 

Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC): St Botolph’s Library and Lighting, Blenkin 

Memorial Hall, Centre for Food and Fresh Produce Logistics, and Healing the High Street and 

Shodfriars. These projects have been approved by DLUHC.  

Page 335

Agenda Item 10



2 
 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

To enable the Council to progress the projects to the delivery stage and draw down the allocated project 

funding.   

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED: 

The Prospectus from DLUHC set out that agreeing a Town Deal with investment from the Towns Fund of 

up to £25m per place would be dependent on the government receiving high-quality proposals that meet 

the objective of the fund and follow the further guidance published. The Boston Town Deal Board and 

Council have approved the projects for submission following an extensive consultation and selection 

process. Failure to meet the agreed deadlines or submission of proposals or projects of insufficient 

quality, which do not meet the criteria and conditions, are likely to be deemed ineligible for this round of 

funding from the Towns Fund. It would also risk the positive working relationship established with 

Government departments. Without external funding these projects will not proceed as planned. 

 

REPORT 

1. Background 

The Towns Fund is part of the Government’s levelling up portfolio of interventions. Nationally it is providing 

£3.6 billion to drive the economic regeneration of deprived towns and deliver long term economic and 

productivity growth. 

In November 2019, the Council was invited to develop proposals for a Town Deal for Boston, to establish a 

Town Deal Board and develop a Town Investment Plan. 

The Boston Town Deal Board was established in January 2020. Cabinet approved the formation of the 

Board, its composition and Terms of Reference on 16th December 2019. 

The Council is the accountable body and has taken responsibility for ensuring that decisions are made by the 

Town Deal Board in accordance with good governance principles. As the lead council, Boston Borough 

Council has developed a delivery team, delivery arrangements and agreements to support the development 

of an evidence-based Town Investment Plan and engagement with stakeholders, businesses, and the local 

community. 

Following Full Council approval, the Town Investment Plan for Boston was submitted to the Ministry for 

Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) in October 2020 (now the Department for Levelling 

Up, Housing and Communities).  

The Town Investment Plan included proposals for up to £25 million to invest in regeneration, skills, and 

connectivity to secure transformational levels of economic growth. 

Boston was awarded up to £21.9 million for a total of 7 separate projects. There are 6 projects delivered by 

external partners and 1 to be delivered internally. In all cases, the Council is the accountable body and 

responsible for receiving and distributing the funding, whilst the Boston Town Deal Board is responsible for 

agreeing the schemes and the Business Cases and for overseeing compliance with the Heads of Terms 

Agreement with government. 

Page 336



3 
 

Following the Heads of Terms offers, the Town Deal Board set-up technical sub-groups to evaluate and 

scrutinise the business cases for individual projects; their recommendations are presented at the Boston 

Town Deal Board meetings. 

Full Council on 16th December approved all 7 projects for Boston, totalling £21.9m of net Towns Funding, for 

inclusion within the Capital Programme.  

Council approved the business cases for externally managed projects where the Council is the accountable 

body and included them within the capital programme. It also approved the submission of our own 

managed scheme to the Boston Town Deal Board, subject to Full Business Cases being finalised.  

This report seeks Cabinet approval for the submission of the business cases.  

2. Towns Fund Projects 

There are 7 projects forming the Town Deal in Boston. The table below lists the projects and the 

organisational lead for each project: 

BOSTON TOWN DEAL 

Project Lead Status 

St Botolph’s Library and Lighting St Botolph’s Approved 

Blenkin Memorial Hall St Botolph’s Approved 

Centre for Food and Fresh Produce 
Logistics 

University of Lincoln, National 
Centre for Food Manufacturing 

Approved 

Healing the High Street and Shodfriars Heritage Lincolnshire Approved 

Boston Railway Station EMR Attached to this report 

Mayflower Boston College Attached to this report 

Boston Leisure Boston Borough Council Separate report on this agenda 

 

Subject to the Boston Town Deal Board on 25th March 2022, they will be submitted to the Department for 

Levelling Up, Housing and Communities following approval by Cabinet on 30th March 2022. This report 

includes the following outstanding projects: 

• Boston Railway Station 

• Mayflower 

The Boston Leisure project and submission is covered in a separate report on this agenda. The business 

cases for each of these projects are attached to this report as Appendices.  

The Towns Fund Delivery Partner, appointed by Government, prepared a Business Case template for the 

Towns Fund programme. This template has been used to establish a sound structure for all our Business 

Cases in line with both government guidance and best practice. 

The Business Case is comprised of the Strategic Case, Economic Case, Financial Case, Commercial Case and 

Management Case. The business case sets out the required information to enable DLUHC to approve the 

funding allocated to this project and in line with our Council requirements and assurance processes. Once 

approved the Council will be able to draw down the funding required within the overall timeframe of the 

Towns Fund deal.  

It is important to note that the business case documents are not a delivery plan at this stage. There will be 

further development of the business case and other project milestones before commitment to the building 

contract. These future milestones will enable the Council to further review the overall development costs, in 

use revenue costs, and operating model for example.  

The Business Cases should be read in conjunction with the following documents to provide the overriding 

context for investment into the project and delivery of the stated objectives: 

Page 337



4 
 

• Boston Town Investment Plan 

• Boston Monitoring and Evaluation Plan; 

• Boston Communications and Branding Guidance.  

 

A summary of the two projects are: 

 

Boston Railway Station, externally led by EMR 

The total cost for the project is £2,686,800, 

 Towns Fund allocation is £2,500,000. 

Boston Station is a gateway into the town and in its current condition, both aesthetically and in terms of the 

facilities offered it does not reflect a station in a town that is economically thriving and a place for people to 

choose as a town to live and work in. Historically, there has been a lack of investment in the East for EMR 

stations which had only added to the deterioration of buildings and outdated station services, making the 

station powerless to compete with stations in larger towns and cities.  

The investment into the full refurbishment of the station creates a credible statement to make the town a 

more attractive option to work and live in, to provide for the needs of an aspirational, skilled and healthy 

population.  Government strategy for the Midlands is focused on growth, connectivity, skills, enterprise, 

innovation, trade, and quality of life. 

The development will enhance services and facilities at the station, playing directly into the Levelling Up 

agenda by paying attention to what the needs of the community are to enable them to better connect to the 

station, installing contemporary designs and new infrastructure to modernise the station whilst future 

proofing the enhancements offering an avenue for further development and investments, leading to a 

strengthened local economy.  

The vision is to create a modern railway station offering enhanced facilities to better connect the community 

to the station. Providing an overall better customer experience whilst maintaining high levels of security and 

safety. Creating a community hub and gateway to the town whilst preserving the historical features of the 

station.  

 

Boston Mayflower, externally led by Boston College 

The total cost for the project is £16,071,000 

Towns Fund allocation is £10,000,000 

Mayflower is an iconic building designed to welcome people into the college environment through a ‘non-

traditional education aesthetic. The space will offer our showcase hair and beauty salons, a digital skills hub, 

employability/business support services, entrepreneurial start up space and coffee and restaurant outlets 

for our award-winning hospitality and catering department. Mayflower will coexist in a wider development 

that regenerates an entire area and includes a health and leisure facility thus creating a ‘destination’ for the 

community. This mix of education, enterprise and entertainment will encourage access and participation in 

learning through its ‘soft’ approach in a welcoming and inclusive space. 

The Mayflower is part of the regeneration of the Rowley Road area of Boston, it links through 

improvements to public realm and accessibility to the re-modelled Leisure Centre – see image below, an 

artist’s impression of the Mayflower sited on the left and the new design for the Leisure on the right. 

Page 338



5 
 

 

 

 

With regards to the Boston Leisure project, led and supported by Boston Borough Council (Towns Fund 

allocation £2,500,000) see separate report on this agenda for the Full Business Case and associated 

recommendations. 

 

CONCLUSION 

The recommendations will support the aims and ambitions in terms of increased growth, prosperity, and 

well-being. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The financial implications are significant and have been detailed in the report. The 7 projects (including 
Boston Leisure subject to a separate report) will leverage in £21.9m of government funding along with 
match funding. It is anticipated that additional funding will be required to support the Boston Leisure 
Project and this has been covered in a separate report on this agenda. 
 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Procurement procedures will be followed for the delivery of buildings, services and goods – engagement 

with external experts is underway to ensure that these obligations are fulfilled. Boston Borough Council 

acts as Accountable body for all the funds and specialist funding agreements with external legal advice 

have been developed with regards to outside partners. Contracts will also be required with Government 

in terms of the delivery of the agreed projects and their planned outcomes.  

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

The Town Investment Plan demonstrated how projects aligned in terms of clean growth principles, 

namely: promoting better design and sustainable construction approaches, increasing energy efficiency 

Page 339



6 
 

(particularly in terms of housing), promoting low carbon transport and enhancing the effective use of 

natural resources. 

 

EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 

On submission of the full business cases to DLUHC each project is required to provide an Equality Impact 

Assessment which has been subject to review through the Councils internal programme board 

 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS  

This programme of activity will be transformational for the locality and aim to improve economic growth 

and improved outcomes for the Town and surrounding areas. 

 

CONSULTATION 

Significant consultation has taken place in respect of the projects selected. The final list has been selected 

and approved by the Boston Town Deal Board. 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Mayflower 

APPENDIX B Boston Railway Station 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Towns Fund Guidance https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/towns-

fund-further-guidance  

Town Investment Plan https://www.bostontowndeal.co.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2020/11/Boston-Town-Investment-

Plan-October-2020.pdf  

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

Name of body Date 

 16th December 2019: Formation of the Board, its 

composition and Terms of Reference 

Full Council 26th October 2020: Submission of a Town Investment 

Plan for Boston to Government. 

Page 340

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/towns-fund-further-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/towns-fund-further-guidance
https://www.bostontowndeal.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Boston-Town-Investment-Plan-October-2020.pdf
https://www.bostontowndeal.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Boston-Town-Investment-Plan-October-2020.pdf
https://www.bostontowndeal.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Boston-Town-Investment-Plan-October-2020.pdf


7 
 

Full Council (Delegated decision) 16th December 2021: Approval of all 7 projects for 

Boston, totalling £21.9m of net Towns Funding, for 

inclusion within the Capital Programme.  

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Lydia Rusling, Assistant Director for Economic Growth 

Signed off by: Michelle Sacks, Deputy Chief Executive 

Approved for publication: Cllr Nigel Welton 

 

 

Page 341



This page is intentionally left blank



1 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

T H E  M AY F L O W E R  
B U S I N E S S  C A S E
M A R C H  2 0 2 2

P
age 343



2 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

01
INTRODUCTION
PA G E  1 0

02
STRATEGIC
CASE
PA G E  1 3

03

ECONOMIC
CASE
PA G E  2 3

04
FINANCIAL
CASE
PA G E  2 9

05
COMMERCIAL
CASE
PA G E  3 0

06

MANAGEMENT
CASE
PA G E  3 5

07

C O N T E N T S

EXECUTIVE 
SUMMARY 
PA G E  0 3

P
age 344



3 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

01
E X E C U T I V E 
S U M M A R Y

P
age 345



4 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

In September 2019, the Government invited 101 places 

to develop proposals for a Town Deal, as part of the 

£3.6 bil l ion Towns Fund.  The Towns Fund is part of the 

Government’s plan for levell ing up the UK economy.  

The overarching aims are to deliver the sustainable 

economic regeneration of the towns to deliver long term 

economic and productivity growth through connectivity.  

In response to this opportunity, Boston College 

submitted a bid for Mayflower, a faci l i ty focused on 

ski l ls-delivery and enterprise, aspir ing to be pivotal 

to the sustainable economic growth and development 

of the town.  Boston was successful in the Town Fund 

award of £21.9m to invest into 8 projects, with an 

award of £10m for the development of Mayflower.  

4 T O W N  I N V E S T M E N T  P L A N  —  B O S T O N

E X E C U T I V E 
S U M M A R Y

Boston has long been characterised as part of a low skill, low wage, low aspiration economy and as a result, 
residents are significantly less qualified than the national average, earning around £450 per month less than 
the national average wage and in poorer health than the national average.  

The spark of enterprise in Boston has yet to be ignited. The town has a very low level of business births - 
just over 20 per 10,000 population – a third of the England average and has a very ‘static’ economy with a 
level of business ‘churn’ 50% less than the England average (ONS) 

However, times are changing and Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) research has consistently shown 
that the local economy will increasingly require people with at least Level 3 (technical) skills to meet local 
job requirements and satisfy the drivers of Industry 4.0. The development of UK Food Valley in South 
Lincolnshire and the increasing use of robotics and automation means that the need for low-skill work will 
dwindle. Mayflower will inspire the local community that it serves and engage people who previously felt 
excluded from college and education, empowering them with the skills that they need to fully participate in 
the local job market and determine their own futures. 

The Mayflower project will deliver:
• An enterprising culture that encourages businesses to ‘hatch’ and grow.  

• Space for employers, businesses and the voluntary sector to meet and 
connect in both informal and formal environments 

• Learning pods designed for adult learning access for digital upskilling 
and career-skills development.  

• Student-supported small retail outlet including coffee shops, bakery, 
health foods, crafts etc.  

• On-hand support and tuition provided in a low key, calm and spacious 
environment. 

• Health and well-being pods/outlets - with support to talk about mental 
health, nutrition and exercise advice, etc.

P
age 346



5 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

John Cridland CBE

 Director-General of the Confederation 
of British Industry from January 2011 

to Novemeber 2015

“The Mayflower proposal has the potential to better 
connect the worlds of education and business, and doing 
this is an exciting opportunity for Boston”  
 
“We need more focus on the business we have in Boston 
building better connections with schools and our college 
so our young people can see the jobs they can aspire to.”

National Policy Themes supported by this project:
• Industry 4.0 Strategy, Tourism Sector Deal Concept, DCMS Digital 

Connectivity Portal and Inclusive Economy Partnership: 

• Levelling up all regions - by enabling places to develop ambitious plans 
to drive economic growth. 

• Liveable places - providing crucial infrastructure to help individuals 
flourish and creating shared spaces that bring communities together. 

• Connected growth – digital, social and cultural connectivity to ensure 
the economy grows in a way that is strong and sustainable and makes all 
places viable for work in the global economy.  

• Enhancing the business environment – at national and local levels (e.g. 
technical education and training, Tourism Zones).  

• Flexibility – from the national level through to regional / LEP level to 
support innovation and ensure small towns and their rural hinterlands are 
able to contribute to, and benefit from, wider economic growth.

Regional bodies, such as Midlands Engine, are focused on supporting Government 
to deliver Inclusive growth – ensuring people everywhere can both contribute to, 
and benefit from, economic growth through supporting concrete actions that will 
create more jobs, export more goods and grow productivity.

Boston sits within the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan, within which the relevant 
local growth priorities are outlined as follows:  

• Sustainable development - with particular emphasis on balancing greenspace, 
flood-risk and social needs  

• Economy - diversifying and strengthening the economic base, vibrant historic 
town centres, supporting employment and business.

Mayflower is an iconic building designed to welcome people into the college 
environment through a ‘non-traditional education aesthetic. The space will offer 
our showcase hair and beauty salons, a digital skills hub, employability/business 
support services, entrepreneurial start up space and coffee and restaurant outlets 
for our award-winning hospitality and catering department. Mayflower will coexist 
in a wider development that regenerates an entire area and includes a health 
and leisure facility thus creating a ‘destination’ for the community. This mix of 
education, enterprise and entertainment will encourage access and participation 
in learning through its ‘soft’ approach in a welcoming and inclusive space.

P
age 347



6 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

1 D o  N o t h i n g

2 R e f u r b i s h  p a r t  o f  t h e  e x i s t i n g  c o l l e g e  b u i l d i n g s

3 U t i l i s e  e x i s t i n g  c o l l e g e  l a n d  a d j a c e n t  t o 
S k i r b e c k  R o a d  f o r  M a y f l o w e r

4 S w a p  l a n d  a d j a c e n t  t o  R o w l e y  R o a d  w i t h  t h e  c o u n c i l 
t o  c r e a t e  a  c o n t i n u o u s  c o l l e g e  e s t a t e  f r o m  R o w l e y 
R o a d  t o  S k i r b e c k  R o a d ,  d e m o l i s h i n g  G e o f f  M o u l d e r 
L e i s u r e  C e n t r e  t o  c r e a t e  s p a c e  f o r  M a y f l o w e r

5 D e v e l o p  t h e  “ I n g e l o w ”  s i t e  o p p o s i t e  t h e  G e o f f 
M o u l d e r  L e i s u re  C e n t re  f o r  M a y f l o w e r  a s  p a r t  o f 
a  p l a c e  i m p ro v e m e n t  s c h e m e  a t  t h e  e n d  o f  R o w l e y 
R o a d  a n d  b e t w e e n  t h e  t w o  s i t e s  ( I n g e l o w  a n d 
G e o f f  M o u l d e r )

A s  M a y f l o w e r  w i l l  b e  b u i l t  o n  l a n d  a l r e a d y  o w n e d  b y  t h e 
c o l l e g e ,  t h e  p r o j e c t  i s  l o w  r i s k  a l t h o u g h  s o m e  d e m o l i t i o n 
w o r k  w i l l  n e e d  t o  t a k e  p l a c e  o n c e  p l a n n i n g  i s  a p p r o v e d .

The  appra i sa l  cons idered  f i ve 
opt ions  fo r  th i s  p ro jec t . 

P
age 348



7 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

The total capital cost of the project is 
£10.525m including professional fees 
and VAT. The project will be funded with 
£525,000 from the College’s own reserves 
together with £10m awarded from the 
Boston Towns Deal.  

Some revenue is expected from the 
business start up space and the hiring of 
conference and meeting facilities as well 
as from the hair/beauty salons, the coffee 
outlet and the restaurant. Further revenue is 
expected from the courses that are planned 
to run in the space. The operational running 
costs over 5 years will total £5.546m and are 
match funding for the project.

A 5% contingency is included in the costings 
for the scheme. Boston College would 
expect the contingency to cover elements 
such as known and unknown risks, rising 
costs of materials and variations from 
tender responses. 

To mitigate risk and manage project costs, 
Boston College has worked with the 
appointed design consultants for RIBA 
Stage 2+, and a cost consultant to provide 
indicative costs within a cost plan to support 
this business case, for the full scope of 
works for Design and Build. This will allow 
an accurate reflection of costs for work, 
inflation and materials to ensure these meet 
the budget requirements.

Boston College has extensive experience 
of managing this type of building project 
as evidenced by recent builds: Engineering 
and Manufacturing Technology Centre, the 
Digital, Logistics and Transport Academy.

The largest contract will be for the 
procurement of the construction works 
contractor, who will be appointed using 
a JCT Design and Build DB16 Form of 
Building Contract. An open or restricted 
competitive tender will be used based on 
Public Procurement Regulations 2020. The 
College has experience of working under 
these regulations and will work with the 
internal procurement team to manage this 
process from end to end. The College’s 
tender strategy will include an expression 
of interest phase, a Pre-Qualification 
Questionnaire process, and an Invitation 
to Tender process. The final decision on 
construction contractor will be based on a 
combined cost and quality assessment. 
The future revenue projections are secure 
as they are based on existing activity and 
conservative expectations of increases as a 
result of the new environment. 

F I N A N C I A L 
C A S E

C O M M E R C I A L 
C A S E

P
age 349



8 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

Corporation Approval Mayflower build option 5 10th March 2022
Business Case submitted to Government 31st March 2022
Decision Case submitted to Government September 2022
Decant of Ingelow building September 2022
RIBA Stage 4 completed October 2022
Main contractor appointed. RIBA 5 commence November 2022
Site mobilisation January 2023
Demolition of Ingelow building January 2023
Start on site of main work February 2023
All buildings work complete June 2024
Mayflower building open to public and students September 2024

M A N A G E M E N T  C A S E
The Vice Principal, Finance and Corporate Services is overseeing the 
project to ensure all elements of the project meet the needs of the 
curriculum, managing the budget and cashflows and the reporting 
process. The Head of Estates will be working with the design and build 
team on site to ensure the build is completed on time, to specification, 
meets regulations and is on budget. The Principal is the Project Lead 
for the Boston Town Fund Board and will be liaison point between the 
College, the College Corporation and the Boston Town Fund Board for 
reporting on progress.  

We have external support for the management and delivery of this 
project. Our Architects, YMD Boon are working with CPW, specialists in 
creating sustainable and environmentally conscious education buildings 
and award-winning consulting civil and structural engineering practice, 
Price & Myers.  

The proposed phases of works will be carried out over 21 weeks of 
construction works, commencing in January 2023. A detailed programme 
of works will be provided by the constructors as part of their tender 
submissions. The key milestones in the timeline are shown here:

Summary of key milestones

Approach to project management
The College has delivered two new buildings and two substantial refurbishments 
in the last four years, demonstrating the competence and capability of the Estates 
and Finance teams to manage projects effectively and efficiently. The same teams 
remain in place for the delivery of Mayflower providing confidence over capacity and 
capability.  The project will be managed in line with the College’s financial regulations 
which provide a tested structure to all procurement and auditable activities. The 
College team will be supported by YMD Boon, Price & Myers and CPW alongside 
Thornton Firkin. 
 
Some of the key external stakeholders identified are: Lincolnshire County Council, 
with respect to the re-purposing of the highway, local residents of Manor Gardens 
and Rowley Road, Boston Borough Council and College staff and students. We also 
consider important stakeholder groups to include the wider local community, schools 
and community groups and the businesses and entrepreneurs of Boston. A detailed 
stakeholder engagement strategy is presented in the Management Case.
 
A risk register has been maintained and updated throughout the development of the 
scheme. The key risks are: 

• The rising costs of materials, this will be mitigated through using the contingency 
budget and the external Quantity Surveyor providing estimated costs for 
construction against the current market conditions and programme of works, 
regular cost checking, project scope trimming and VAT exposure to be assessed. 

• Change in the project scope – this will be mitigated by minimising change and 
ensuring briefing process is extensive. 

• Poor ground conditions, site contamination and flood risk are all high risks 
mitigated through early site investigations, assessments, and contingency 
budgets.

P
age 350



9 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

P R O J E C T  D E L I V E R Y B E N E F I T S
New Mayflower building with 
performance and meeting 
space, upgraded teaching and 
learning environments.

Gateway to Town 
Enhanced accessibility and connectivity 
Enhanced Learner Experience 
Increased Access to Skills 
Inclusive Growth

Place improvement and creation 
of a destination with Boston 
Leisure redevelopment and plaza 

Gateway to Town  
Enhanced accessibility and connectivity 

New low rent start up 
offices and business growth 
and continuity support 

Growth of local economy 
Connected Community 

New flagship restaurant and 
hair and beauty salon

Enhanced Customer Experience 
Growth of local economy 

Installation of sustainable and 
low carbon materials  
Installation of electric car 
charging points  
Improvements to 
energy efficiency 

Sustainable Economic Growth 
Better Quality of Life 

Project Interdependencies
The delivery of the Mayflower project is dependent on the following all being 
approved:

Benefits Realisation Plan

1 S u i t a b l e  a c c o m m o d a t i o n  b e i n g  p ro v i d e d  b y  t h e 
c o l l e g e  t o  f a c i l i t a t e  t h e  re l o c a t i o n  o f  S E N D 
l e a r n e r s  f ro m  t h e  c u r re n t  I n g e l o w  b u i l d i n g  s o  t h a t 
i t  c a n  b e  d e m o l i s h e d  t o  m a k e  w a y  f o r  M a y f l o w e r. 

2 P l a n n i n g  p e r m i s s i o n  b e i n g  g r a n t e d  f o r  M a y f l o w e r 
a n d  t h e  p ro p o s e d  p l a z a  l i n k e d  t o  t h e  re d e v e l o p m e n t 
o f  t h e  G e o f f  M o u l d e r  L e i s u re  C e n t re  i n c l u d i n g 
p e r m i s s i o n s  f ro m  t h e  H I g h w a y s  d e p a r t m e n t

3 To w n s  D e a l  f u n d i n g  b e i n g  a p p ro v e d  f o r 
b o t h  p ro j e c t s .  

4 M a y f l o w e r  n e e d s  t o  b e  c o m p l e t e d  b e f o re  t h e 
p u b l i c  re a l m  w o r k s  o n  t h e  p l a z a  c a n  b e  f i n i s h e d

P
age 351



1 0 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

02
I N T R O D U C T I O N

P
age 352



1 1 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

I N T R O D U C T I O N

This document is a business case outlining 
a project for funding in line with potential 
investment for Towns Fund. 

The objective of the Towns Fund is part of 
the government’s plan for levelling up the 
UK economy. Towns across England are 
working with the Government to address 
growth constraints and to ensure there is 
a course of recovery from the impact of 
COVID-19. The overarching aims of the 
Towns Fund are to drive the sustainable 
economic regeneration of towns to deliver 
long term economic and productivity 
growth.

Boston Towns Investment Plan will meet 
the objective of the Towns Fund by 
focusing on creating an entrepreneurial, 
connected, healthy, inclusive, and 
aspirational community (Appendix A). The 
Stage 2 process requires the submission of 
the proposed project to a full business case 

outlining the strategic, economic, financial, 
commercial, management case with Royal 
Institute of British Architects (RIBA) Stage 3 
designs.

The stage 2 process for the development 
of Mayflower has involved in depth design 
work and extensive consultations with the 
relevant curriculum areas and stakeholders 
to ensure that the proposal will meet 
current and foreseeable future needs 
leading to demonstrable improvement in 
the facilities and equipment available to our 
learners and local community.  

The scheme promoter is Boston College 
and the accountable body for the project is 
Boston Borough Council. 

T H E  P R O J E C T  -  M AY F L O W E R
To provide an inspirational learning space to raise aspirations and inclusion, boosting 
entrepreneurship and skills in the post 16 population of Boston and South Lincolnshire. 

An iconic and purposeful building for the town – a reason to come
Access to enterprise and employability to support – a reason to stay
Access to business support and facilities including superfast connectivity – a means to thrive
Access to a workforce, to ideas and to innovation – a means to flourish
Access to each other both real and virtual – a means for everyone to prosper

This business case presents the strategic imperative for action and what will be achieved through 
the investment in Mayflower. This includes the vision, objectives and programme of works to 
deliver the project.  The case has been developed in conjunction with the College’s internal and 
external key stakeholders.  An external Architect, YMD Boon, were appointed to deliver RIBA 
(Royal Institute of British Architects) Stage 3 drawings for Mayflower. 

The business case outlines the strategic, economic, financial, commercial and management case 
for the project.

T H E  B U S I N E S S  C A S E

P
age 353



1 2 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

ROWLEY ROAD

CO
LLEG

E LA
N

E

SKIRBECK ROAD

N
INGELOW CENTRE

FOOTBRIDGE

GEOFF MOULDER
LEISURE COMPLEX

ROCHFORD (MAIN CAMPUS)

UNIVERSITY CENTRE

Applicant: Boston College

Site Ownership: Boston College

L O C AT I O N

Ingelow Centre, Rowley Road, 
Boston PE21 6JE

P
age 354



1 3 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

03
S T R AT E G I C 
C A S E

P
age 355



1 4 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

Boston is a town with a hugely important 
economic history and the potential to have 
an impressive economic future.  However, 
this truth is not universally acknowledged 
and therefore to maximise the economic 
impact of the town, it is essential that 
we raise aspirations and ambitions across 
the Borough. Mayflower is critical to 
this, delivering an iconic building in the 
heart of the town, to provide a unique 
and inspirational learning, business and 
community space alongside both the 
existing college and a transformed leisure 
and health facility, Mayflower will provide 
access for skills training, especially for 
digital skills, for business development 
and support and as an attractive element 
of this ‘destination development’. 

S T R AT E G I C  C A S E
I N T R O D U C T I O N
The strategic case sets out the rationale for the 
proposed investment.  Much of this rationale has 
been set out in the Town Investment Plan (TIP) 
including evidence of need, key policy contexts, 
overall vision and objectives and how this project will 
help achieve the TIP’s objectives. 
There is a golden thread of evidence of need to the 
vision and objectives, the proposed investment and 
the project’s outcomes and impacts. 

C A S E  F O R  C H A N G E
The spark of enterprise in Boston is waiting to be 
ignited but currently Boston’s greatest challenge 
is low skills. It ranks lowest of all local authorities 
in England in terms of the skills domain within the 
2019 English Indices of Deprivation. The number of 
people qualified to NVQ3 and above in Boston is 
over 20% points lower than the national average. This 
tracks through into wages with the area having wage 
levels that are £130 a week lower than the England 
average (ASHE). The challenge remains to increase 
aspirations and engage people with upskilling, 
reskilling and lifelong learning. This reflects the 
high levels of deprivation in the borough and poor 
educational experiences over many years. Mayflower’s 
key purpose is to elevate skills and enterprise both 
visually and economically with a new and beautiful 
‘community and business face’.

The town has a very low level of business births: just 
over 20 per 10,000 population – a third of the England 
average and has a very ‘static’ economy with a level 
of business ‘churn’ 50% less than the England average 
(Business Demography 2018 - ONS). Boston is 18% 
points behind the national average when it comes to 
workers involved in Knowledge Intensive Businesses 
(KIBS).

Boston’s only public buildings of note in current use 
are the Boston Stump – St Botolph’s parish church 
and the Guildhall. This project will provide the people 
of the borough with an iconic building which will be 
a beacon of hope and change for the town. It will 

provide access to learning, to digital support and to 
entrepreneurial space. It will improve the learning 
space available to current and future students through 
redeveloping the public facing curriculum areas of 
hair, beauty and catering providing more real world 
working environments in which to practice their skills. 
As an adult-focused facility, Mayflower will provide a 
calm and curated environment for learning and skills, 
delivering opportunities from ‘employability to HE, 
from short entry courses to full degree programmes.

With the vast majority of the 2050 workforce 
already in work, the need for people to engage in 
continuous upskilling throughout their careers has 
never been more important to meet the challenges 
and opportunities of the 4th Industrial Revolution. The 
development of robotics and automation, particularly 
in industries which have traditionally offered more 
entry level jobs will require a rebalancing of the 
economy and the development of significant skills 
within the workforce.  This is particularly true for 
digital competencies and Mayflower will provide an 
adult focused space centred on improving these skills. 
Currently around 2% of Boston’s adult population is 
engaged in learning and our target is that Mayflower 
will double this to 3000 adult learners over the course 
of 5 years as shown in the output table. 

Mayflower will provide an employer-led, accessible, 
inspiring environment to facilitate the Industry 
4.0 Strategy’s foundations of productivity within 
Boston.  People will be encouraged to meet and 
share ideas, boosting innovation and enterprise in 
the area from informal meets to full-on conferences. 
Training for critical life and work skills will be made 
more accessible within a calm, shared environment, 
displacing the negative connotations of school 
for those who most need to access upskilling and 
support. Mayflower will encompass start-up business 
space with access to superfast broadband, resources 
and advice through the Business Lincolnshire team 
as well as on-site business development advisers, 
supporting the revival of Boston through new 
endeavour. 

P
age 356



1 5 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

P O L I C Y  A L I G N M E N T
National Policy Alignment
This project is part of the town’s Levelling Up proposals, 
although funding comes from the Towns Deal.  It reflects the 
crucial importance of Place and engendering pride in ‘local’. 
Mayflower will be an iconic building – a landmark in the town - 
highlighting the importance of skills but also very firmly based 
in its community and with an emphasis on accessibility and 
inclusive growth. Equally, the space will resonate a sense of 
openness and a welcoming, purposeful atmosphere.

The emphasis within the building on connectivity, with super-
fast broadband available throughout, a focus on developing 
digital skills alongside the social shared space available for 
formal and informal gatherings meets the national priority 
of connected growth, that is: digital, social and cultural 
connectivity to ensure the economy grows in a way that is 
strong and sustainable and makes all places viable for successful 
working in the global economy. 

The Lincolnshire Covid Revival Strategy identified the need for 
greater access to skills in Boston (part of Coastal Lincolnshire) 
and through the rural heartland areas.(p19).  Mayflower will 
provide training spaces and encourage engagement in adult 
skills such as technical education at level 3 and above but 
also providing the necessary pathways for adults to find their 
way back to education.  It will provide entrepreneurial space 
to support business growth and development in partnership 
with Business Lincolnshire and our own business development 
advisers, supporting economic growth throughout the area. 

Government strategy for the Midlands is focused on growth, 
connectivity, skills, enterprise and innovation, trade and quality 
of life. The Midlands Engine’s innovation strategy includes 
Future Food Processing as a key theme; given how important 
this sector is the region and the need for innovation and skills to 
drive sector growth it reflects how important it is to increase the 
skills levels available to match what is needed for this sector in 
the future. Mayflower links directly to the Town Deal supported 
project: Centre for Fresh Produce and Logistics and will facilitate 
the engagement of adults to meet the required skills outcomes.  
Mayflower supports the Midlands Engine’s aims through 
improving connectivity, growth, enterprise and innovation and by 
raising aspirations in one of the most deprived parts of the region 
the quality of life. Connectivity between the town centre, the 
leisure facility and learning is embedded into the proposition. The 
enhancement of public assets is designed to act as a magnet to 
further investment in the area.

The evidence for the developing Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) 
acknowledges the importance of the college for the area’s 
economic growth. The impact that deprivation, poor 4G coverage 
and slow broadband speed can have on the development of 
aspiration and economic enterprise is well-established and 
has been further demonstrated during the Pandemic.  The LIS 
contains an overarching strategic priority to: work together to 
make towns stronger, not individually but collectively and this 
investment in Boston will produce a remarkable building on 
the edge of one of the most deprived areas in the borough.  
Providing an inclusive, supportive environment, Mayflower will 
help to diversify the capability of the workforce to be more 
agile and participative in the face of the employment challenges 
to come both from Covid-19 and the 4th Industrial Revolution 
and inspire the local community to raise their aspirations for 

themselves and for their community.  
The LIS details a focus on inclusive growth (p68) which identifies 
that “Slow progress on inclusive growth in these most-deprived 
areas is a substantial challenge which must be addressed – this 
will in part be developed through the visitor economy priority 
but also through broader support around skills development 
and infrastructure.”  The strategy also references the need for 
higher levels of qualifications (a proxy for skills) stating that “A 
major challenge for the area is to find suitably qualified and 
resilient residents to fill over 207,000 projected job vacancies by 
2024. Greater Lincolnshire’s working age population is shrinking; 
upskilling and retraining of existing work force is imperative” 
(p71), and “In order to support lifelong integration of skills and 
development, new approaches to access training and skills are 
required” (p72).  Mayflower will support an improvement in 
educational outcomes for Boston and South East Lincolnshire, 
especially around level 3 and providing pathways to Level 3 
and beyond for the existing workforce. It will create a learning 
destination integrating a social space with coffee and catering 
outlets alongside a digital training hub with career advice and 
support available as well as more formal training spaces for adults. 
The creation of such an aspirational centre supports the pride in 
place that is such a feature of the #MyTown feedback of Boston’s 
residents.  

P
age 357



1 6 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

Mayflower is the embodiment of our commitment to lead a place-based 
business and skills revolution.  It will incorporate ‘public-interest’ curriculum 
such as hair and beauty and hospitality as both local services and realistic work 
environments for students.  This development will be a new build designed to 
create a landmark of learning to offer greater training opportunities, increased 
earning potential and create a supportive environment for businesses to 
flourish. The building will be a learning destination, fully accessible to all and 
without the negative undertones of school which inevitably disenfranchises the 
very working-age people we need to engage. The objective is to provide other 
reasons to visit Mayflower to boost community engagement with the college 
and then introduce training and development once people are more confident. 

Mayflower is the college’s vision for employer engagement on the scale 
envisaged by the new White Paper “Skills for Jobs: Lifelong Learning for 
Opportunity and Growth” (Skills for Jobs).  Employers are central to the 
development of Mayflower, the enterprise centre and the provision of 
employability support and digital learning.  The proposal demonstrates how 
ready and enabled the college is to contribute to the Local Skills Improvement 
Plans and ensure that the provision in Boston is what our local and regional 
employers need in order to thrive.  Engagement with Mayflower and its 
digital hub will lead effortlessly across the sites to signpost health, leisure and 
further learning. Our wide-range of skills training areas include, for example, 
the superbly equipped and industry standard Engineering, Manufacturing 
and Technology centre, the Digital Transport and Logistics Academy and 
the flagship Institute of Technology. Our focus is on improving local skills 
levels through collaboration on Local Skills Improvements Plans so that our 
community is ready for the jobs that will be available over the coming years, 
critical to the ongoing success of the town.  

Boston’s Towns Fund Vision is: “To define and deliver the investment in 
professional and technological support needed for strategic interventions 
that will shape the development of an aspirational, skilled and healthy 
population. To achieve sustainable economic growth and pride of place 
through bold urban design, digital solutions and connected communities. 
This will launch Boston into the future, build on its unique heritage 
and make our town an exciting place to live, work, invest and visit for 
generations to come.”

The Towns Fund Board’s plan for delivering this vision is built on three 
pillars: Skills and Aspirations, Sustainable Economic Growth and Pride in 
Place. The interplay of learning, heritage and the port come together in 
the Town Investment Plan (TIP), interlacing to provide a golden thread, 
sustaining the levelling up agenda. The central rationale for the Mayflower 
scheme as the flagship project is to build Boston’s aspirations and skills 
base, diversifying the capability of the workforce to be more agile and 
participative in the face of the employment challenges arising from the 
Covid-19 pandemic and Industrial Revolution 4.0.  Mayflower re-imagines 
the face of an FE College, focusing on promoting accessibility, inclusion 
and the college as ‘place-maker’ for the town, for businesses and visitors 
as well as learners, showcasing the interdependency at the Green Industrial 
Revolution’s heart. 

The Boston College Vision of: “Brilliant Today, Better Tomorrow, to inspire 
lifelong learning, growing people to be their brilliant best, energising our 
communities and brightening futures” reflects the focus on aspiration 
that is embodied by this project and its place within the Towns Fund 
programme.  The achievement of a truly ambitious community will be 
through the creation of a golden thread of learning between the schools, 
college and university to offer greater learning opportunities, increased 
earning potential and creating a supportive environment for businesses to 
flourish.  The radical, biophilic Mayflower building connects us with each 
other, with businesses, enterprise, innovation, new thinking and the natural 
world. It will provide space for Boston’s economic relaunch and tackle our 
communities’ embedded low aspirations and skills through innovative, 
living learning spaces enabling digital upskilling with on-hand support and 
demonstrates how the college and education in general is a haven for 
community hope and future prosperity.

V I S I O N  A N D 
O B J E C T I V E S

P
age 358



1 7 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

K E Y  I S S U E I N T E R V E N T I O N

P R O J E C T

O U T P U T O U T C O M E S

Very Low Skills; 

Low Levels of Economic 
Inactivity; 

High Levels of Youth 
Unemployment; 

Significant Capacity amongst 
active elderly

Skills Infrastructure

Mayflower

New biophilic learning destination with 
community hub.  

Repurposed Leisure and Learning 
Offer with pool as a key feature 

400m2 incubation and shared 
innovation facilities  
 
60m2 increase in capacity of new 
digital skills facilities 

Increase in the number of 
qualifications delivered; 

Engagement of new non-
traditional learners; 

Reduction in Economic 
Inactivity. 

P R O J E C T  O B J E C T I V E S
The Theory of Change
The Mayflower will deliver against the skills and aspirations theme of the Boston Investment Plan and this is reflected in the project objectives and smart output measures listed below.

The outcome and targets for the first five years following 
this Towns Fund investment were set out in the TIP and 
are shown in detail in the management case. It is a flagship 
statement and commitment to driving forward a learning 
and growth agenda for the Town in a most ambitious and 
engaging way.

An increase in the skills base and range of job opportunities 
enables Boston to approach parity with the average wage at 
a national level (ONS annual statistics).

£130
less than 

national average

Average salary is

 per week
10%
Lowest

in terms of
skills ranking across 

towns in England

30%
Boston in worst

of neighbourhoods in 
England in employment 

outcomes

P
age 359



1 8 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

T H E  P R O P O S E D  I N V E S T M E N T
The following is an overview of the list of options considered by 
the college as part of the application process. Each is a possible 
option which would achieve the project’s business needs, 
potential scope and service requirements to varying degrees.

1. Do Nothing – continue to deliver our current 
suite of qualifications using current equipment; not meeting 
local needs and key priorities

• No impetus to raise aspirations within the town 

• Reduced ability to improve estate, increased pressure on 
space, unable to expand to meet known demographic 
change 

• No employer hub or entrepreneurial space. No refreshed 
hospitality, hair or beauty trading spaces 

• Lack of public-facing frontage to encourage adult learning

2. Do Minimum - Refurbish an area of the current 
building to improve adult learning offer space

• No public-facing frontage therefore no appeal to the town, 
no refreshed hair or beauty or hospitality space 

• No additional space so unable to expand to meet 
known demographic change or include employer and 
entrepreneurial space. 

3. Mayflower Building Site 1 - Remodel and 
extend existing University Centre building  
• Iconic building built to meet present and anticipated future 

demographic needs – addressing estates issues with a 
public facing frontage to encourage adult learning and 
engagement with the college 

• Employer Hub and Entrepreneurial space and refreshed 
hospitality, hair and beauty trading spaces

• Would lose current teaching space, currently dedicated to HE. 

• This option secures the western end of the college estate and 
develops an iconic new building and an in-demand facility that 
will support current and future job creation through a focus 
on adult learning, allows the redevelopment of other parts of 
the campus in line with the estates strategy to meet learner 
numbers and learner expectations, supports the community 
through entrepreneurial space and enhances public facing 
curriculum areas to increase public use and income from 
associated retail outlets.  

• The building will be situated at the front of the college facing 
a main road into the town centre with significant travel from 
residential and industrial areas, complementing previous 
investment in the campus from the LEP in Engineering and 
Digital Technologies and the new public facing college 
entrance will work to raise the low aspirations of our local 
community by encouraging more people to feel included 
in the college’s activities.  It benefits from being the least 
disruptive option for our local community.  This option reduces 
risk as land is already college owned and it has been indicated 
that planning would be approved. Costs will be reduced in this 
option as ground levels are more suitable for building, there 
is no asbestos present in the existing building and there are 
reduced site preparation costs.  

4. Mayflower Building Site 2 - Demolish and 
rebuild at Geoff Moulder Leisure Centre

• Iconic building built to meet present and anticipated future 
demographic needs – addressing estates issues 

• Public facing frontage to encourage adult learning and 
engagement with the college, consolidating the college estate 
from Rowley Road to Skirbeck Road.  

• Employer Hub and Entrepreneurial space and refreshed 
hospitality, hair and beauty trading spaces 

• The college will gain a contiguous campus from Skirbeck Road 
to Rowley Road enabling a more logical development of the 
estate in the future. In addition, the new public facing college 
entrance will work to raise the low aspirations of our local 
community by encouraging more people to feel included in the 
college’s activities. However, the Council have indicated that 
they are not able to swop the site of the Leisure Centre for 
the Ingelow Centre site opposite and therefore this proposal 
cannot proceed. 

5. Mayflower Building Site 3 – Demolish and 
rebuild at Ingelow Centre

• Iconic building built to meet present and anticipated future 
demographic needs – addressing estates issues 

• Public facing frontage to encourage adult learning including 
degree-level courses and engagement with the college but not 
linked to the existing college site.  

• Employer Hub and Entrepreneurial space 

• Refreshed hospitality, hair and beauty trading spaces 

• This option links up with the proposed redevelopment of 
the Geoff Moulder Leisure Centre producing a statement 
public plaza between the two developments and providing 
a landmark destination within walking distance of the town 
centre. It will create an adult-focused building with public 
hospitality areas and salons to increase engagement with the 
college alongside business start-up space for entrepreneurs.  
The option reduces risk as land is already college owned and it 
has been indicated that planning would be approved. Costs will 
be reduced from the original prediction of £16 million+ in this 
option as ground levels are more suitable for building, there 
is no asbestos present in the existing building and there are 
reduced site preparation costs.

P
age 360



1 9 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

1. Do Nothing/
Business as Usual

2. Refurbish part of 
existing building

3. Mayflower 
Building Site 1 - 
University Centre

4. Mayflower 
Building Site 2 - 
Geoff Moulder

5. Mayflower 
Building Site 3 
Ingelow

What will be 
delivered?

Continue to deliver our current 
suite of qualifications using current 
equipment

Continue to deliver our current 
suite of qualifications using some 
new equipment

Iconic building. Brand new facilities 
and equipment enabling a revised 
curriculum and more real-world 
learning environments. Employer 
hub and entrepreneurial space. 
New reception at end of campus, 
improving security 

Iconic building linking into existing 
campus.  Brand new facilities and 
equipment enabling a revised 
curriculum and more real-world 
learning environments. Employer 
hub and entrepreneurial space. 
New reception at end of campus, 
improving security

Iconic building separate to existing 
campus.  Brand new facilities and 
equipment enabling a revised 
curriculum and more real-world 
learning environments. Employer 
hub and entrepreneurial space 

Project Completion 
Dates

As soon as possible 12 months September 2024 September 2024 September 2024

Project Funding 
and Financing - 
Who pays?

No additional investment required College investment and if possible, 
attract small grant funding  
Cost estimate @ £100,000

Towns Fund investment plus 
College funding  
Cost estimate @ £10,000,000

Towns Fund investment plus 
College and grant funding from 
more than one source  
Cost estimate @ £11,900,000

Towns Fund investment plus 
College funding  
Cost estimate @ £10,500,000

Strengths No additional spend required Relatively low cost 
Will provide some added value to 
the college’s offer  
Will provide some support for 
learners

Affordable option - smaller amount 
of funding required as no asbestos 
on site and land levels appropriate 
Site already owned by the college 
Specialist facilities with latest 
technology and qualified staff 
Will attract new learners and 
employers  
Dedicated space to ensure a good 
number of learners and employers 
are able to access facilities at the 
same time  
Landmark building at current site 
entrance, providing increased site 
security 
Will support career development 
and address local needs/priorities

Dedicated space to ensure a good 
number of learners and employers 
are able to access facilities at the 
same time  
Will support career development 
and address local needs/priorities 
Extensive additional specialist 
facilities for Hospitality, Hair and 
Beauty 
Landmark building with new 
reception space giving secure 
access to the rest of the college 
site.  
Secures college site from Rowley 
Road to Skirbeck Road

Dedicated adult space to ensure 
a good number of learners and 
employers are able to access 
facilities at the same time  
Will support career development 
and address local needs/priorities 
Landmark building as an integrated 
part of Council’s planned leisure 
redevelopment of Geoff Moulder 
site opposite

Weaknesses Not meeting local needs or 
priorities 
Does not improve college 
offer or community / employer 
engagement 
Does not meet requirement for 
additional space to meet known 
demographic change 

Quality of material and delivery  
Would not provide entrepreneurial 
space nor address local needs/
priorities 
Numbers/reach limited  
Does not meet demographic 
growth challenges 
Does not provide the step change 
in community aspiration

Numbers/reach limited due to size 
and resources available  
Will not provide landmark 
destination

Requires land swop with Borough 
Council 
Redevelopment of former 
swimming pool – site involves 
different land levels, asbestos risks 
and filling in the pool

Does not contribute to enhancing 
college site security.  
Requires relocation of SEND 
learners

S U M M A R Y  O F  O P T I O N S  C O N S I D E R E D

P
age 361



2 0 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

1. Do Nothing/
Business as Usual

2. Refurbish part of 
existing building

3. Mayflower 
Building Site 1 - 
University Centre

4. Mayflower 
Building Site 2 - 
Geoff Moulder

5. Mayflower 
Building Site 3 
Ingelow

Opportunity No new opportunities to develop 
income, or course offer.  
No spend would mean resources 
are diverted to other areas of the 
business

Relatively low-cost option which 
will not require significant funds – 
college resources diverted to other 
areas of the business 

Dedicated space which will 
support the development of new 
programmes for the future 
Increase in learners and employers 
engaged due to ‘new’ technology 
introduced 
Commercial/full costs 
opportunities including offering 
specialist training

Dedicated space which will 
support the development of new 
programmes for the future 
Increase in learners and employers 
engaged due to ‘new’ technology 
introduced 
Commercial/full costs 
opportunities including offering 
specialist training

Dedicated space which will 
support the development of new 
programmes for the future 
Increase in learners and employers 
engaged due to ‘new’ technology 
introduced 
Commercial/full costs 
opportunities including offering 
specialist training

Threat Other providers offering better 
facilities could reduce the college’s 
appeal for learners and employers 
– reduction in numbers due to 
competition.

Other providers offering better 
facilities which could reduce the 
college’s attractiveness to learners 
and employer – reduction in 
numbers due to competition 
No impetus to engage increased 
numbers of adult learners 
 
Does not meet the needs of the 
Town Deal Board

Other providers offering better 
facilities which could reduce the 
college’s attractiveness to learners 
and employer – reduction in 
numbers due to competition 
Potential loss of investment due to 
lack of interest from learners and 
employers 
Does not meet the needs of the 
Town Deal Board

Site ownership – not under our 
control  
Interdependencies of required land 
swap with Council could impact on 
existing learners 
Other providers offering learning 
with better facilities which could 
reduce the colleges attractiveness 
to learners and employer – 
reduction in numbers due to 
competition 
Potential loss of investment due to 
lack of interest from learners and 
employers 
Lack or loss of specialist staff

Other providers offering better 
facilities which could reduce the 
college’s attractiveness to learners 
and employer – reduction in 
numbers due to competition 
Potential loss of investment due to 
lack of interest from learners and 
employers

Strategic Fit

Potential Value for 
Money
Supplier Capacity

Potential 
Affordability
Potential 
Achievability
Summary Carry forward Discount Discount Discount Carry forward

S U M M A R Y  O F  O P T I O N S  C O N S I D E R E D  C O N T I N U E D

P
age 362



2 1 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

Project Risks and Constraints
During the development of the project, the risks have been 
regularly reviewed and re-categorised, some risks have been 
removed from the scheme as they are no longer relevant.  
The current risk register is included in the management case, 
together with details of how these risks will be effectively 
controlled and managed throughout the project. 

Project Interdependencies 
The delivery of the Mayflower project is dependent on the 
following all being approved:
1. Suitable accommodation being provided by the college to 

facilitate the relocation of SEND learners from the current 
Ingelow building so that it can be demolished to make way 
for Mayflower. 

2. Planning permission being granted for Mayflower and 
the proposed plaza linked to the redevelopment of the 
Geoff Moulder Leisure Centre including agreement for 
augmentation of current access road.

3. Towns Deal funding being approved for both projects. 

RIBA Stage 2+ design drawings are attached at Appendix A.

Stakeholder Engagement
Significant work has been undertaken by both Boston College, 
the Town Deal Board and the Borough Council with a wide 
range of stakeholders as this scheme has been developed. 
Due to Covid, much of this was online, but webinars with 
businesses and Business Lincolnshire members have been 
hosted by the Towns Deal Board and the college.  Information 
has been provided to College staff who will be affected 
by the development through in-person briefings ensuring 
opportunities to provide feedback are maximised.  Ideas and 
suggestions were gathered on the priorities for Towns Deal 
investment through the #MyTown consultation run through the 
website portal and Boston received the second highest number 
of comments and proposals from all 101 towns involved.  This 
demonstrates the passion and support for the town from its 
residents and the desire to see Boston succeed and grow. 
Feedback received included the following comments:

“Having multi use areas/buildings in the 
town centre that incorporate offices, culture, 
restaurants, leisure, learning hubs, residential 

units, open spaces and health facilities will 
attract people in and they will then use the 

shops more.“ 

“Provide co-
working space with 
excellent broadband 

and networking 
opportunities for start-

ups” 

“Our fantastic young people have one of 
the lowest aspiration rates in the region.  

We need more focus on the business 
we have in Boston building better 

connections with schools and our college 
so our young people can see the jobs 

they can aspire to.” 

“Central leisure 
complex, swim, 

gym, park 
food court, 

easy transport 
links, complete 

recreational 
area.” 

“Many start-up businesses struggle to get off the ground because of 
start-up costs, high rent and rates. Providing some small low cost units 
in a prominent location to allow businesses to test the market and take 

their first steps might help some flourish and then with confidence in the 
market move on to some of the many empty premises in the town.“

W H AT  O U R  R E S I D E N T S  S AY. . .

P
age 363



2 2 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

Stakeholders are clear that Boston has a problem with low 
skills and low aspirations despite repeated interventions over 
the last 20 years with New Deal for Communities, European 
funded projects addressing skills issues, Inclusive Boston 
(MCHLG funded) and many more.  This project aims to provide 
a community space to encourage and support the population to 
engage in skills and education by providing a non-threatening 
informal pathway to engaging with the college

Expected different impacts by 
protected characteristics and/or income 
groups
One of the main areas for design consideration has been to 
ensure accessibility for all is embedded throughout the design.  
This is demonstrated through the inclusion of two lifts, ensuring 
a back-up is always available.  Level access is prioritised 
throughout the building, with tactile signage planned meaning 
that disabilities will not be a barrier to participation. This 
includes consideration to floorings and spaces to support those 
with dementia and other more hidden needs. Pregnancy and 
maternity protected characteristics are provided for with baby 
change facilities and spaces for feeding within the restaurant 
and coffee shop areas. There is a designated Changing Places 
standard toilet included in the design as we recognise these 
are essential to allow everyone to benefit from the building’s 
amenities.  

The design team are very aware of the socio-economic profile 
of the local area and this is reflected in the building’s facilities.  
There will be showers and changing facilities to support those 
walking and cycling to the site and encouraging a reduced 
reliance on private transport.  The site is also situated on a 
main walking route to the town centre with easy access from 
public transport options.  The restaurant and hair/ beauty salons 
are able to offer a subsidised service, whilst still delivering 
excellence, which will support the local communities.  
Feedback received included the following comments:

P
age 364



2 3 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

04
E C O N O M I C 
C A S E

P
age 365



2 4 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

P
age 366



2 5 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

P
age 367



2 6 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

P
age 368



2 7 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

05
F I N A N C I A L 
C A S E

P
age 369



2 8 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

F I N A N C I A L  C A S E

The financial case outlines how the Towns Deal 
Fund will be used throughout the development 
and delivery of the project. It details how 
costs have been developed and assessed the 
affordability of the investment, identifying 
cost, revenue, and funding sources. It clearly 
sets out the contingencies in place for any risks 
or emerging issues to ensure that the project 
meets the programme of works within budget. 

Based on the information provided within 
the strategic case and economic case it 
shows there are clear benefits in making 
the proposed investment in the Mayflower 
building at the Ingelow site.
The business case sets out all of the 
opportunities the Mayflower will provide, 
Mayflower is critical to raising aspirations 
and ambitions across the Borough, 
providing an iconic building in the heart 
of the town, providing a unique and 
inspirational business and community 
space. 

A P P R O A C H  T O 
F I N A N C I A L  C A S E 
Various funding options have been 
explored, to support the costs of the 
Mayflower project. A pipeline bid to the 
GLLEP was submitted, however as there 
are currently no funds available with the 
LEP this has not been included within the 
business case. 

To ensure the Mayflower project is 
affordable alongside the Towns deal 
funding, a value engineering exercise was 
undertaken to scale back the Mayflower 
build, ensuring it would fit on the Ingelow 
site and continued to deliver on all of the 
outcomes as the preferred option for the 
Towns Deal funding. The rising costs of 
inflation are a major factor in the current 
economic climate, all costings have been 
undertaken with this taken into account. 

Boston College have funded the initial 
layout costs for the development of the 
business case of both site options up to 
RIBA stage 2+. Internal cash reserves have 
been used to fund the development of 
the plans, surveys and designs and Boston 
College will be reimbursed pending 
approval from Central Government. The 
amount of this is outlined within the 
financial tables in the cost section of this 
business case. 
 

F U N D I N G 
P R O F I L E

2 1 / 2 2 2 2 / 2 3 2 3 / 2 4 2 4 / 2 5 2 5 / 2 6 2 6 / 2 7 2 7 / 2 8 2 8 / 2 9 T O TA L

Capital £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Towns Fund 285 977 7,977 760 - - - - 10,000

Boston College - 66 419 40 - - - - 525

Total Capital

Funding 285 1043 8,396 800 - - - - 10,525

Revenue  
Boston College

- - - 724 1,241 1,241 1,241 1,099 5,546

Total Funding 285 1,043 8,396 1,524 1,241 1,241 1,241 1,099 16,071

S O U R C E S VA L U E 
£ ’ 0 0 0

U S E S

Towns Fund (public sector) 10,000 Capitol Costs and Management Fees

Boston College (private sector) 525 Capital Costs and Management Fees

Revenue - Boston College (private sector) 5,546 Operational Costs (5 year estimate)

Total Sources 16,071

The Town Investment Plan initially valued the project at £10.0m which was confirmed in the subsequent Heads 
of Term Offer in March 2021 and Project Confirmation Table submitted back to Government in May 2021. This 
was based on an estimate capital build cost of £10.5m, with a further five years revenue match of £5.546m.

Boston College have committed to providing £525,000 in capital co-funding towards the scheme and 
£5,546,000 in revenue costs over 5 years. The revenue match is based on the operational running costs of the 
Mayflower building over 5 years from opening in September 2024.

The table below outlines the funding sources and if this is private or public sector funding:

Revenue match funding costs consist of the annual running costs for the Mayflower building and include 
staffing, premises and consumables. 

F U N D I N G  P R O F I L E  A N D  S O U R C E S

P
age 370



2 9 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

The financial table below outlines the costs involved to develop the project to RIBA stage 
2+ for the full business case: 

D E V E L O P M E N T 
P H A S E

M AY F L O W E R 
P R O P O S A L  1 
I N C . VAT  £

M AY F L O W E R 
P R O P O S A L  3 
I N C .  VAT  £

T O TA L  F E E S 
I N C .  VAT  £

Architect RIBA stage 2+ 94,770 37,260 132,030

Project Manager 18,720 0 18,720

Cost Consultant 11,040 0 11,040

Services Engineer 29,640 10,831 40,471

Mechanical and Electrical 44,428 15,813 60,241

Principal Designer 4,860 2,268 7,128

Flood risk assessment 1,530 504 2,034

Additional framework fees 10,679 2,536 13,215

Total 215,667 69,212 284,879

The professional design team services were all purchased using the ESPO procurement 
framework which is compliant with our financial regulations.  

The capital project costs are based on the following capital estimates provided by Project 
manager and cost consultants Thornton Firkin as part of the RIBA stage 2+ design. 

I T E M £ N O T E S
Preliminaries 450,000 Main contractor staff, plant, welfare 

& accommodation

Abnormals (demolitions etc) 136,950 Site clearance, existing building 
demolition

Sub structure 419,000 Foundations

Super structure 2,908,875

Internal finishes 328,800 Floors, walls and ceilings

Fittings, furnishings and 
equipment

595,000

Services 2,020,000 Mechanical & electrical services and 
lift

External works 860,000 Includes 50% share of costs with the 
Boston Leisure project

Contingency and Design risk 442,259 5% of all costs including design fees

Contractor overheads and profit 300,000

Construction Cost Total inc. 
Design Contingency and 
Prelims

8,460,884

Professional and Design Fees 826,545 Includes statutory fees

Sub-Total Including Design 9,287,429

VAT 1,237,571 20% of all costs less an allowance for 
partial recovery of VAT

Total Including VAT 10,525,000

C O S T S

D E V E L O P M E N T  C O S T S C A P I TA L  C O S T S

The above capital costs and schedule of works will be reviewed and updated following 
completion of RIBA stage 4. The current cost plan includes a contingency allowance 
of £442,259 based on 5% of all costs, and an allowance for partial VAT recovery (to be 
approved by HMRC). Where the revised cost plan exceeds the approved cost envelopes for 
the capital works, this will be subject to the following options:

• Value engineer the scheme to meet available cost envelopes 
• Increase Boston College’s contribution following corporation approval 
• Seek additional grant funding 

The following table details the annual revenue operating costs associated with the 
Mayflower building once open, which have been used as match over 5 years post 
completion: 

I T E M P E R  A N N U M 
£ ’ 0 0 0

N O T E S

Pay Costs 1,141 Includes teaching and support staff

Premises costs 100 Estimate

Total Revenue Costs 1,241

R E V E N U E  C O S T S

P
age 371



3 0 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

06
C O M M E R C I A L 
C A S E

P
age 372



3 1 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

C O M M E R C I A L  C A S E

This section of the Commercial Case outlines 
how Boston College will procure all works 
and services required for the delivery of the 
Mayflower Building project and how it will 
enter formal contracts for the same. It will also 
detail the procurement process and proposed 
contractual arrangements for the construction 
works required by the new building. 

Boston College will procure all works and services required for the Mayflower 
Building project in accordance with all current public sector procurement 
regulations. The College has in-house procurement specialists within its finance 
team that are experienced in dealing with public sector procurement regulations 
and in ensuring that all projects/services are procured in line with procurement best 
practice. All works and services will be procured in accordance with the College’s 
own financial regulations and with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. 

In addition to in-house specialists, the College will appoint consultants with a proven 
track record of delivering services on similar public sector projects in accordance 
with public sector procurement best practice. In addition, and where necessary, the 
College will engage with external specialist procurement consultants following the 
College’s own financial regulations and Public Contracts Regulations 2015. 

P R O C U R E M E N T  S T R AT E G Y  F O R  T H E 
M AY F L O W E R  P R O J E C T

All procurement will be in line with the College’s 
financial regulations and procurement policy, this will 
be overseen by the College’s Vice Principal Finance 
and Corporate Services.

The College’s internal financial regulations and 
procurement policy require a competitive tender 
process for all works and services required by the 
project. This competitive tender process requirement 
can be satisfied by an open competitive tendering 
process and by using a nationally recognised 
framework agreement arrangement which has been 
established by competitive means.

All procurement required by the project will 
commence as soon as the project is ratified by the 
Boston Towns Deal board and the Department 
for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, all 
procurement activities will be completed in line with 
the requirements of the overall project programme. 

Where possible, the College will work with Boston 
Borough Council (in relation to the adjacent Leisure 
Project) and will jointly procure works and services 
if by doing so both parties receive time and cost 
benefit and best value for external funding. Areas of 
potential joint procurement benefit will be reviewed 
and discussed in detail in a joint procurement exercise 
to be held between both parties. This will include 
options for one construction contractor delivering 
both projects utilising one or two contracts. 

One potential area of joint benefit for both 
Boston College and Boston Borough Council is 

the appointment of the same design team and 
specialist consultants on both projects. It is likely 
that both projects will be designed, sent to planning 
and constructed at very similar times. Utilising the 
same design team & consultants will ensure cost 
betterment and design & interface synergies between 
projects. The College has decided to appoint the 
main members of the project design team using the 
ESPO Property and Buildings for the Rest of the 
UK Framework. This is a competitively tendered 
framework with rates sourced in open competition 
within the construction consultant marketplace. 

Other design team consultants and specialist 
consultants required for planning will be procured via 
a restricted competitive tender/quotation process. 
Tendering consultants will be identified based on 
suitable track record and available resource. 

Due to the likely value of the construction works, 
the College intends to procure the construction 
works contractor via either an open or restricted 
procurement procedure based on the requirements 
of The Public Procurement Regulations 2020. The 
process will include an expression of interest phase, 
a Pre-Qualification Questionnaire process, and an 
Invitation to Tender process. The final decision on 
construction contractor will be based on a combined 
cost and quality assessment. 

It is expected that the procurement of the main 
construction contractor will be completed by mid-
November 2022, and onsite works will commence on 
1st February 2023.

P
age 373



3 2 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

Works/Services Outputs Procurement Route

Main Design Team Design and services for RIBA 
Stages 0-7 

ESPO Framework

Other Design & Specialist 
Consultants  

Design for RIBA Stages 0-4; 
planning application services 

Competitive Tender/Quotation 

Site Clearance Site cleared Competitive Tender

Construction Works Completion of Design and 
Construction of Mayflower 
Building

Open or Restricted Competitive 
Tender based on Public 
Procurement Regulations 2020

Statutory Installations Statutory works/installations 
required by the new building 
including new electrical supply, 
new water connection and new 
fibre provision

Competitive Tender via 
Specialist Utility Consultant or 
Non-Competitive Order with 
Statutory Body

Purchase and Installation of 
Equipment and Testing

Equipment required by the 
new building including catering 
equipment, Hair & Beauty 
equipment, and other specialist 
installations 

Competitive Tender or CPC 
Framework

Purchase and Installation of IT 
Equipment and Testing

IT Equipment required by the 
new building

Competitive Tender or CPC 
Framework

Purchase and Installation of 
Furniture and Fittings

FFE required by the new 
building including loose 
furniture, lockers, vending, 
welfare installations and the like

Competitive Tender or CPC 
Framework

The following table summarises the above:
C O M M E R C I A L  D E L I V E R A B I L I T Y

Challenges
The key commercial challenges facing the Mayflower 
project will be caused by the current level of volatility 
within the construction marketplace and the wider 
economy. Recent and current marketplace volatility 
has led to and continues to lead to rising labour and 
materials cost, reduced availability of labour and 
materials, and considerable uncertainty which, in 
turn, leads to a reduction in cost competitiveness 
and a vastly reduced desire on the part of tendering 
companies not to make full allowance to cover all 
potential risks. Uncertainty inevitably leads to a 
considerable reduction in the number of tendering 
companies prepared to bid on competitive projects. 

In addition, the impact of another pandemic on cost, 
uncertainty and availability of companies willing to 
tender cannot be ignored. 

The College will take all measures, in conjunction 
with its consultants, to ensure that all potential risks, 
including those of a commercial nature, on the project 
are minimised or negated. Construction works will be 
as detailed as possible. Scrutiny on project tenderers 
will be tight and will include full financial and company 
robustness checks. Adequate time will be allowed for 
all elements of the project. Sensible and realistic cost 
and time contingencies will be put in place and all 
heads of risk will be assessed in full detail.

Contracts
Formal contracts will be entered into by the College 
and all consultants, construction works contractors, 
and equipment providers. 

Main design team members will be appointed using 
formal appointments recommended by the ESPO 
Framework. 

Other specialist consultants will be contracted with 
using industry standard forms of appointment. 

The construction works contractor will be appointed 
using a JCT Design & Build DB16 Form of Building 
Contract and all sub-contractors/suppliers working 
under the main contractor will be appointed using JCT 
suite documentation. 

Equipment providers will be formally appointed using 
forms of appointment recommended by the CPC 
Framework. 

Special provisions on the Mayflower Building project 
will include the use of apprentices, safeguarding and 
sustainable construction targets including minimising 
of waste and recycling of materials wherever possible. 

P
age 374



3 3 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

Name Job Title Role

Debbie Holland Vice Principal Finance and 
Corporate Services

Overall financial and estates 
accountability for the delivery 
of the project.  Project Link 
to the Corporation.  Member 
of the Executive Team for 
providing project oversight 
and monitoring. Chartered 
Accountant (CIPFA).  

Charlotte Robinson  Head of Finance  Responsibility for monitoring 
expenditure against cash flow 
and project plans.  Claiming 
funding. Procurement and 
audit responsibility. Tendering 
is managed through the 
CPC’s Multiquote system.  
Certified Accountant.  

Shawn Thomas  Head of Estates Overall responsibility for on-
time and on budget project 
delivery and management.  Will 
be accountable for site safety 
and contractor management.  
Has successfully managed 
similar projects in 20/21 and 
21/22 and has been in post 
for over 8 years; alongside 
substantial new build and 
renovation project management 
experience. 

Bill Weavin  Senior Maintenance Technician Will be managing the 
contractors and project 
progress on a day to day basis. 
Extensive experience of 
working with on site contractors 
and of the college’s policies and 
procedures.   

Pete Davy Head of Health and Safety  Responsibility for site wide 
health and safety.   

Commercial Risks
Key commercial risks include the marketplace volatility cost & resource 
availability issues noted above and the financial stability of the 
construction contractor. These risks can be controlled through regular due 
diligence financial and resource checks. A performance bond will be taken 
out for the construction works to provide protection in the event of the 
construction contractor’s insolvency.  

Commercial Organisation
The College has excellent and recent experience of managing and 
executing large scale projects of this size. Resource includes, financial 
planning and procurement, project management, digital infrastructure 
build experience, business and stakeholder engagement experience. 

For professional services the design team has been procured through the 
ESPO framework Architect and Project management fees. The College is 
working with highly regarded architects, YMD Boon, with vast amounts 
of experience within the field of education and with Boston College. The 
project management and cost consultancy is through Thornton Firkin, 
who are a leading project management and cost consultancy practice with 
over 65 years’ experience in the building and construction industry and 
also with vast amounts of experience within the field of education and 
with Boston College.

We have also engaged award-winning consulting civil and structural 
engineering practice, Price & Myers to provide advice and technical 
support to the project and CPW a leading environmental building services 
consultancy who will ensure the design meets the sustainability and 
carbon reduction targets that we want to achieve. 

Internal project resourcing roles and responsibilities are as follows:

P
age 375



3 4 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

P R O C U R E M E N T  S T R AT E G Y
Our Strategy
It is a requirement of the financial memorandum that the 
governing body of the college is responsible for delivering value 
for money from public funds. 

The National Audit Office (NAO) uses three criteria to assess 
the value for money of government spending i.e. the optimal 
use of resources to achieve the intended outcomes:
• Economy: minimising the cost of resources used or required 

(inputs) – spending less; 

• Efficiency: the relationship between the output from goods 
or services and the resources to produce them – spending 
well; and 

• Effectiveness: the relationship between the intended and 
actual results of public spending (outcomes) – spending 
wisely.

Consideration shall always be given to the need to purchase and 
to minimising any unnecessary expenditure.

The College shall maximise its resources wherever possible 
and utilise all resources offering economies of scale. Where a 
procurement need has been identified then: 

• the use of existing contracts will be considered to determine 
that the College has not already entered into an agreement 
for the provision in question, thereby ensuring that existing 
contracts and the realisation of anticipated benefits through 
such formal contracting arrangements are not compromised;  

• collaborative agreements with regional or national hubs 
such as CPC and ESPO will be considered as a solution to 
the procurement requirement in question, thereby deriving 
financial benefit from the economies of scale; or 

• Where options available above do not address the need, then 
the College will proceed with its own procurement exercise, 
using professional advisors Thornton Firkin (already procured). 

P
age 376



3 5 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

07
M A N A G E M E N T 
C A S E

P
age 377



3 6 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

The Management Case outlines Boston 
College’s approach to managing 
projects and processes that will be 
implemented to assist in the successful 
delivery of the Mayflower project.

M A N A G E M E N T 
C A S E

I N T R O D U C T I O N
This management case details the College’s approach to deliverability, an outline of Boston College’s 
experience in delivering similar projects and comprehensive information on our management and governance 
procedures and plans. It will share the Project Governance and processes in place to effectively management 
Scope, Programme, Risks, Opportunities, Issues and Change. Boston College’s project management strategies 
allow us to effectively plan, monitor and track project progress throughout the project life cycle. This case will 
detail the tools available to assist with the management of information and benefits realisation and will outline 
our stakeholder management processes and communications plan.

The project will be delivered by the existing in-house Estates team supported by other College staff notably 
the Vice Principal of Finance and Corporate Services and the Head of Finance. The College is supported by 
external specialists, notably our architects, YMD Boon and our project management and cost consultants, 
Thornton Firkin. This provides additional assurance over costs, design details, sustainability and future-
proofing of the project.

The College has significant experience of delivering substantial estates projects and has rigorous policies in 
place around procurement and financial activity to ensure probity and accountability within this project.  

In the last 4 years, the College has completed four major building and refurbishment projects, primarily 
through GLLEP and central government funding supported by match funding from the College. The 
Engineering, Manufacturing and Technology building was the first of the major building projects, a £4.2m 
project part funded by the LEP. The building was complete in 2020 and was managed by the inhouse estates 
team supported by external professional advisors Thornton Firkin. The second major building project was the 
Digital, Transport and Logistics Academy building, £3.3m project also part funded by the LEP. The building 
was complete in 2021 and was also managed by the inhouse estates team supported by Thornton Firkin. The 
final two projects are smaller refurbishment projects, the Institute of Technology refurbishment project valued 
at £1.2m and the Care CoRe project valued at £0.7m.

All of these building projects have been managed by the same in-house team that will be managing this 
project as outlined below. 

P
age 378



3 7 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

Boston College Corporation

Claire Foster 
Principal and CEO

Vicki Locke 
Deputy Principal

Debbie Holland 
Vice Principal Finance 

and Corporate Services

Adrian Humphries 
Executive Director, 
Business Innovation 

and Partnerships

Jen Durrant 
Executive Director 

People

Curriculum and 
Quality Staff

Shawn Thomas 
Head of Estates

Charlotte Robinson 
Head of Finance

External Contractors: 
YMD Boon, 

Thornton Firkin

Rebecca Clark 
External Funding 

Manager

P R O J E C T  O R G A N I S AT I O N  A N D  G O V E R N A N C E
The leadership and governance of the College and the Project is demonstrated in the following organogram.

The College is governed by the Corporation and led by the Executive 
Leadership Team, headed by Claire Foster, the Principal and Chief 
Executive Officer. 

The Corporation has responsibility for the financial management of the 
College within the statutory framework established by the Further and 
Higher Education Act 1992. The Corporation has ultimate responsibility 
for the management and administration of the College, exercising 
effective control to ensure that funds and assets are protected and legal 
obligations are met. The Corporation is responsible for overseeing the 
management of land and buildings, and for ensuring estates are used in 
the most efficient way for the benefit of students. All decisions around 
the College development plans, capital assets and use of public funds 
are the responsibility of the Corporation. The Corporation approved the 
Mayflower project on 10th March 2022, minutes are published on the 
Boston College website.

Claire, the Principal and Chief Executive Officer is the institution’s 
Accounting Officer, is a member of the Corporation and is responsible 
to the Corporation under the terms of the Financial Memorandum with 
the Education and Skills Funding Agency for the management of the 
College’s resources and the operation of financial controls. Claire has led 
on the Mayflower project since April 2020 and has been the Vice Chair of 
the Boston Towns Fund Board since September 2020.  

The Finance and Corporate Services directorate includes responsibility 
for Estates and Funding and is headed by Debbie Holland, Vice 
Principal Finance and Corporate Services. The Vice Principal Finance 
and Corporate Services’ responsibilities include the day-to-day financial 
affairs of the College and to develop and implement the College’s 
Estates strategy. Supported by Shawn Thomas, Head of Estates and 
Rebecca Clark, External Funding Manager the team have developed 
the Mayflower designs and business case completion for the project, in 
conjunction with the external professional design team.

P
age 379



3 8 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

In terms of the RIBA Plan of Work 2020 Overview (below), the Finance and Corporate 
Services team supported by YMD Boon architects and Thornton Firkin Project Manager 
will lead the commissioning of agreed work steps for the Mayflower build up to RIBA 
stage 6. 

From RIBA 7, post completion and handover from the main contractor, the College 
Corporation will operate the Mayflower building in its entirety. 

Tier Meeting Forum Frequency Owner Attendees

1 College Corporation Standard 
meetings 

Principal and CEO Governing body and senior 
staff

2 Executive Leadership Team Bi-weekly Principal and CEO Senior staff

3 Mayflower Progress 
meetings 

Bi-weekly Vice Principal Finance 
and Corporate Services

Design Team, contractor

4 Mayflower Technical 
meetings 

Bi-weekly Head of Estates Head of Estates, contractor, 
technical team

P R O J E C T  M A N A G E M E N T  A N D 
G O V E R N A N C E  A R A N G E M E N T S
Governance arrangements for the Mayflower project will follow the College’s established policy procedures for 
use of public funds, as outlined within the College’s constitution and financial regulations. This will ensure robust 
compliance with all relevant guidance and legislation, including the College’s adopted financial and contract 
procedures, audit, and governance structures. Delivery progress will be reported to the College’s Corporation, 
Executive Leadership Team, and College Leadership Team.

The Mayflower Design Team, consists internally of the Vice Principal Finance and Corporate Services and the Head 
of Estates and externally architects YMD Boon, project managers and cost consultants Thornton Firkin, structural 
engineers PriceMyers and mechanical and electrical engineers CPW. This team have met bi-weekly throughout 
the various option designs, and will continue to do so up until the contractor appointment and construction 
commencement. 

From contractor appointment and construction commencement meeting regularity and structures will be as follows:

P
age 380



3 9 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

T H E  P R O P O S E D  I N V E S T M E N T
The Mayflower technical meetings will be for technical items to be discussed, reviewed and 
escalated if required amongst the specialist technical teams, the contractor and Head of 
Estates.

The Mayflower progress meetings will be for updates and review of the build programme 
and to discuss any issues. It will be attended by the Vice Principal Finance and Corporate 
Services and the Head of Estates, ensuring there is an internal oversight of all project 
developments and early intervention can be made where budget or timeline is not 
compliant with the plans. 

Risks to the project will be visible and managed throughout, ensuring the integrity of the 
business is paramount and project vision is embraced by the organisation at all levels.

The allocation of resources will be optimised by efficiently and effectively utilising the skills, 
knowledge, and experience, of the College resource alongside external specialist resource.  

The project will be performance monitored in line with the project governance to ensure 
the objectives are achieved openly and transparently.

Any problems or issues arising from the project would be escalated through the tiers 
shown in the table, within approved tolerance levels. Any changes to the project will be 
managed through the project governance channels and agreed or otherwise at all levels 
before being actioned. 

Key Roles
• The College will act as Employer under the terms of the building contract
• The College will act as the Employer under the CDM Regulations
• The Principal Designer role under the CDM Regulations will be carried out by the College’s Architect
• The main contractor will act as Principal Contractor under the CDM Regulations.
• Thornton Firkin will act as the College’s Project Manager and will manager employer input and 

requirements throughout the project. The Project Manager will have responsibility for issuing 
instructions to the main contractor. The Vice Principal Finance and Corporate Services and Head of 
Estates will act as the liaison point between the project manager and Boston College.

• The College will appoint a consultant Clerk of Works to ensure the project is delivered in accordance 
with the contract requirements and is delivered to the correct quality level

• The College will appoint a Client Side Mechanical Services Engineer to act as Technical Advisor to the 
College on the services elements of the project

• The Main Contractor will allocate a Contracts Manager to the project who will be responsible for 
programme, procurement, and interface with the Employer.

• A Site Manager will be appointed by the main contractor. The Site Manager will have day to day 
responsibility for safely delivering the construction works and will be the day to day contact point 
between the Main Contractor and the Employer’s campus team.

Authorisation of payments will be in accordance with the College’s financial regulations, which requires all 
payments more than £8,000 to be authorised by a member of the Executive Leadership Team alongside the 
Head of Estates. All invoices will be accompanied by an approved certificate of works for the invoice period 
which will be verified by the Project Manager, Thornton Firkin. 

P
age 381



4 0 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

Corporation Approval Mayflower build option 5 10th March 2022
Business Case submitted to Government 31st March 2022
Decision Case submitted to Government September 2022
Decant of Ingelow building September 2022
RIBA Stage 4 completed October 2022
Main contractor appointed. RIBA 5 commence November 2022
Site mobilisation January 2023
Demolition of Ingelow building January 2023
Start on site of main work February 2023
All buildings work complete June 2024
Mayflower building open to public and students September 2024

P R O G R A M M E / S C E H D U L E 
M A N A G E M E N T

Programme and Principal Stages and Workstreams
Provided below is a summary of the pre-construction programme to progress the project 
through to start on site works on 1st February 2023, in accordance with the RIBA workplan:

Summary of key milestones

A detailed programme of works is included at Appendix B.

I S S U E S  A N D  R I S K 
M A N A G E M E N T

The table below provides a headline summary of the main project specific issues and 
risks. The main contractor will also maintain a separate risk register in relation to the main 
construction works, which will be reviewed at the Project progress meetings.

College Approach to Risk Management
The College follows and adopts good practice in the identification, evaluation, and control 
of risks to ensure that, as far as reasonably practicable, risks are avoided or reduced to an 
acceptable level: 

1. The College makes conservative and prudent recognition and disclosure of the financial 
and non-financial implications of risks. 

2. Senior and middle managers are responsible for ensuring good risk management practice 
within their designated managed area. 

3. Key risks will be identified by the Vice Principal Finance and Corporate Services and 
closely monitored regularly by the Executive Team. 

4. Where a risk outside of the College’s appetite is identified that cannot be mitigated 
within the policy, then the position will be regularly reviewed by the Risk Management 
Group.

P
age 382



4 1 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

No. Category Specific Risk Likelihood Severity Risk Score Mitigation Owner
1 FUNDING Failure to secure external funding & associated match 

funding; failure to meet funding application timelines
2 5 10 Ensure funding application process is fully 

adhered to and deadlines are met
BC

2 LEGAL Failure to secure legal agreement with BBC regarding 
shared space; failure to agree other legal issues

2 5 10 Ensure liaison and communication between 
College and Council legal advisors is done & 
concluded early

BC

3 COST Exceeding Project Budget 5 5 25 Ensure regular cost estimating and cost 
checking is undertaken from the start of the 
project; arrange regular formal cost review 
meetings; project scope to be trimmed 
and adjusted where possible to assist with 
keeping project within budget; alternative 
specifications/materials to be  considered on an 
ongoing basis; scope to be rationalised where 
possible without affecting building quality 
and function; design team to be  instructed to 
design/specify with project budget limitations 
in mind; VAT exposure to be assessed

BC/DTM

4 TIME Failure to meet project delivery programme and failure to 
meet funding deadlines

3 5 15 Regular monitoring of programme; early 
notice of any delays; immediate delay 
mitigation option discussions; re-draw 
programme in response to impacting issues; 
regular assessment of project cashflow 
forecast; mitigation of potential underspend; 
investigation of early order materials

BC/DTM

5 BUSINESS 
OPERATION 
DISRUPTION

Negative Impact on Continuing Operation of College and 
ability to deliver education

2 5 10 Ensure clear separation between construction 
works and College operations; ensure no 
critical services serving the existing College 
accommodation is not impacted.

BC

6 SCOPE OF 
PROJECT WORKS 
& PROJECT BRIEF

Failure to confirm Project Brief in terms of time, cost, 
quality, accommodation etc; failure to confirm detailed 
brief in time

3 5 15 Client Brief defined by LC Management/
Estates/Building Users/Curriculum early 
(DONE); designs reviewed early & scope etc 
approved (DONE); ongoing

BC

7 CHANGE Change in Project Scope 5 5 25 Minimise/eliminate any change; College to be 
vigilant in not changing requirements; ensure 
briefing process is extensive

BC

8 STATUTORY 
APPROVAL

Failure to secure Planning Consent & Building Regulation 
Approval

2 5 10 Engage with planning department; appoint 
specialist planning consultant; seek planning 
department opinion on likelihood of consent; 
arrange pre-application meeting; identify key 
issues and take action to attend to & minimise 
impact

BC

P
age 383



4 2 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

No. Category Specific Risk Likelihood Severity Risk Score Mitigation Owner
9 PROJECT 

DELIVERY TEAM
Failure to appoint competent delivery team with necessary 
resources to comply with time constraints

1 4 4 Ensure competent and suitably experienced 
design team & consultants are appointed; 
monitor DTM performance; ensure adequate 
response time & resource allocation

BC

10 ECONOMY Economic Uncertainty, impact of BREXIT and on-going cost 
volatility of construction sector

2 4 8 Ensure that existing market behaviour is 
analysed; ensure good understanding of 
current construction & other sector costs and 
availability of companies willing to enter into 
competitive tender; allow sensible contingency 
sums in overall project budget; consider early 
purchase of key materials/equipment; minimise 
specification of overseas sourced equipment

BC

11 PANDEMICS Impact of Covid-19 or other unforseen pandemic 2 4 8 Ensure that pandemic prevention measures are 
taken as required by all parties

ALL

12 HEALTH & SAFETY Compliance with CDM Regulations 2015 & Other Health & 
Safety Legislation

3 2 6 Appoint Principal Designer; appoint competent 
designers; appoint Competent Contractor; 
confirm Contractor operates acceptable H&S 
compliant procedures/systems

ALL

13 HEALTH & SAFETY Ensuring safety of existing campus users; protection; 
segregation

2 5 10 Ensure constant vigilance and commitment 
to site specific H&S measures; ensure liaison 
with College, Estates & end users; ensure 
procedures are in place in Construction 
Management Plan

CTR

14 HEALTH & SAFETY Protection of adjacent users from site set up/compound/
contractor access & ingress; external highways

2 5 10 Ensure competent Contractor with suitable 
health & safety experience and management 
systems etc is appointed; ensure construction 
site areas, access & egress routes do not 
impact on College users; ensure separate 
pedestrian routes

CTR

15 ABNORMALS Early identification of project abnormals 3 5 15 Ensure assessment of site abnormals is carried 
out very early on the project; carry out all 
necessary site surveys & investigations early.

BC/DTM

16 POOR GROUND 
CONDITIONS/SITE 
LEVELS

Poor ground conditions requiring abnormal (and costly) 
substructure & foundation solutions; need for retaining 
structures

5 4 20 Ensure early site ground investigation is carried 
out on the site

BC/DTM

17 SITE 
CONTAMINATION

Presence of site contamination necessitating expensive 
disposal or treatment and potential risk to construction/
maintenance operatives

5 4 20 Ensure early contamination & site investigation 
and associated WAC testing is carried out on 
the site

BC/DTM

P
age 384



4 3 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

No. Category Specific Risk Likelihood Severity Risk Score Mitigation Owner
18 SITE FLOOD RISK Requirement for new development to be constructed in 

line with flood prevention regulations
5 4 20 Ascertain if site is in designated flood zone; 

ensure that design of building/substructures 
comply with current flood regulations; 
commission detailed FRA (Flood Risk 
Assessment) and drainage/flood strategy

BC

19 EXISTING SITE 
SERVICES 
PROVISION & 
DIVERSION

Capacity of electric, gas, water, fibre, drainage; risk of SW 
attenuation; requirement to divert or relocate existing 
below ground services to facilitate construction of new 
building

4 4 16 Carry out survey of existing below ground 
services & drainage; arrange for any existing 
services to be re-directed/diverted etc in 
advance of construction works commencing

BC

20 EXISTING 
DRAINAGE & 
ASSOCIATED 
EASEMENTS

Existing sewer & easements; existing drainage 4 4 16 Carry out survey of existing below ground 
drainage; make early contact with AWA & 
ascertain all restrictions and easements etc 
which may impact on new building

BC/DTM

21 ADJACENT DYKE; 
EASEMENTS

Existing water course/dyke to side of development site 4 4 16 Make early contact with Internal Drainage 
Board & ascertain all restrictions and easements 
etc which may impact on new building

BC/DTM

22 HEALTH & SAFETY Safe Construction Site & Operations 2 5 10 Ensure appointment of competent Contractor 
with suitable health & safety management 
procedures in place; ensure appointment of 
contractor experienced in working adjacent 
to live College facilities; ensure safeguarding 
measures are in place; ensure DBS qualification 
of key contractor team members; ensure 
regular health & safety liaison between 
contractor & College; ensure constant vigilance 
and commitment to site specific H&S measures

CTR

23 CONTRACTOR 
FAILURE

Financial failure/insolvency 2 5 10 Ensure robust financial checks are carried out 
on any contractor being considered for tender/
appointment; Instigate performance bond; 
monitor site performance; avoid over-claiming 
& over payment; monitor eg site resource 
reduction

CTR

24 CONTRACTOR 
FAILURE

Failure to perform on site 2 4 8 Ensure any contractor appointed has adequate 
suitable & competent resource; monitor 
site performance; interrogate non or slow 
performance; use contract where necessary

CTR

P
age 385



4 4 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

No. Category Specific Risk Likelihood Severity Risk Score Mitigation Owner
25 MAJOR 

SUBCONTRACTOR 
OR SUPPLY CHAIN 
FAILURE

Financial failure/insolvency 3 4 12 Ensure robust financial checks are carried out 
on any subcontractor being considered for 
tender/appointment; Instigate performance 
bond; monitor site performance; avoid over-
claiming & over payment; monitor eg site 
resource reduction

CTR

26 MAJOR 
SUBCONTRACTOR 
OR SUPPLY CHAIN 
FAILURE

Failure to perform on site 3 4 12 Ensure regular assessment of site progress 
against programme; identify delay issues early 
& insist on early mitigation measures

CTR

27 QUALITY Site Workmanship Quality 3 3 9 Ensure project specification is adequate in 
terms of requesting suitable quality standards; 
appoint Clerk of Works on both building 
& services elements to ensure quality of 
construction works.

CTR/DTM

28 MATERIAL 
UNAVAILABILITY

Inability to procure materials/equipment required for the 
works

2 4 8 Check availability before specifying; consider 
bulk up front purchasing

CTRP
age 386



4 5 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T 
A N D  T H E  S Y S T E M S 
O F  I N T E R N A L 
C O N T R O L
The College’s system of internal control incorporates risk 
management. This system encompasses a number of elements 
that together facilitate an effective and efficient operation, 
enabling the College to respond to a variety of operational, 
financial, and commercial risks. These elements include:

(a) Policies and procedures
The College has a series of policies that underpin the internal 
control process. The policies are set by the Corporation through 
its committees and implemented and communicated by senior 
management to managers and staff. Written procedures 
support the policies where appropriate.

(b) Regular reporting
Regular reporting is designed to monitor key risks and their 
controls. Decisions to rectify problems identified are made 
at regular meetings of the Risk Management Group, relevant 
committees of the Corporation e.g. Audit, Finance and 
Resources and, if appropriate, of the Corporation itself.

(c) Strategic planning and budgeting
The strategic planning and budgeting process is used to set 
objectives, agree action plans, and allocate resources. Progress 
towards meeting planning objectives is monitored regularly. 

Business Plans are reviewed by the Risk Management Group 
to ensure that material risks identified by departments are 
considered as part of the whole College risk review process. The 
strategic Risk Register is aligned to the strategic objectives and 
KPIs.

(d) Self-assessment and Customer Excellence 
Framework
The College Self-Assessment and Customer Excellence 
Framework processes identify weaknesses which will in turn 
identify risks.

(e) Risk management assessment
The Risk Management Group will identify risks to the College 
meeting its strategic objectives, budget and key funding targets 
on an ongoing basis. All risks identified by the group will be 
assessed, taking into account the likelihood and the impact of the 
risk occurring. Strategic risks assessed as either high or medium 
risks will be included in the Risk Register. A senior manager will be 
allocated as Risk Owner for each risk to co-ordinate the actions to 
manage the risk and report on progress to each meeting of the 
group. The Risk Register will be formally reviewed annually but 
emerging risks are added as required, and improvement actions 
and risk indicators are monitored at least termly by the group.

(f) Directorates and Cross College responsibilities of 
management 
Management are required to develop and use this approach to 
ensure that significant risks in their directorates and area of work 
are identified, assessed and monitored through each directorate’s 
business plan and self-assessment process. 

(g) Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee in their report to the Corporation on internal 
controls will alert the Corporation to any emerging issues. In 
addition, the committee oversees internal audit, external audit 
and management as required in its review of internal controls. 
The Committee is therefore well placed to provide advice to the 
Corporation on the effectiveness of the internal control system, 
including the College’s system for the management of risk. 

(h) Internal audit programme: 
Internal audit is an important element of the internal control 
process. Apart from its normal programme of work, internal audit 
is responsible for aspects of the annual review of the effectiveness 
of the internal control system within the College. 

(i) External audit: 
External audit of the financial statements provides feedback to 
the Corporation on the operation of the internal financial controls, 
including risk management; reviewed as part of the annual audit. 

(j) Third Party Reports
From time to time, the use of external consultants will be 
necessary in areas such as Health And Safety and Human 
Resources. The use of specialist third parties for consulting and 
reporting can increase the reliability of the internal control system

I S S U E S  M A N A G E M E N T
Issue management is approached using the project governance 
arrangements, which allows for quick escalation of issues to the 
Executive Leadership Team and Corporation, dependent upon 
level of tolerance allowing for effective resolutions to be agreed. 
Regular reporting to the Accountable body of the Towns Deal 
Fund would also be incorporated.

P
age 387



4 6 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

Who is your audience? Why is information necessary? What information is needed? How will information 
be shared?

When is 
information 
needed?

Funding and Delivery partners
- HM Government 
- Boston Borough Council

To provide local assurance and governance on 
project delivery. To monitor and approve agreed 
expenditure and activity in line with contractual and 
adopted procedures.  

Full Business Case (Stage 2) Funding Heads 
of Terms Council/Board approvals Payment 
Certificates/Invoices Site Photography 
Evidence of outputs Financial monitoring 

Progress updates via Email Boston 
Borough Council/Towns Fund 
Board Reports  
Site ceremonies  
Ministerial visits 
Audit reports 

Monthly and when critical 
decision points/key milestones 
occur 

Staff and Students To engage staff and students early and throughout 
the project 
To keep staff and students up to date with the works 
Curriculum development 

Site visits 
Construction updates 
Interactive displays and technologies 

Bespoke correspondence 
Community engagement events 
Social Media 
Website Updates Community 
Newsletters 
Representation to local meetings 

Monthly and when critical 
decision points/key milestones 
occur

Local Residents and 
Businesses

To keep local communities aware, informed and 
interested in delivery of main works and to maintain 
support for the new buildings and improved 
facilities. To be aware of new business opportunities 
to generate increased footfall locally. 

Updates on construction timeline. When 
individual elements are likely to be completed 
and available for use. 

Bespoke communications plan to 
include Site Boards, regular press 
releases, community newsletters, 
websites and use of different social 
media platforms. 
Interactive displays/information in 
shop frontages (high street) and 
community centre. 

Monthly and when critical 
decision points/key milestones 
occur 

Main and Sub Contractors To deliver main construction works in accordance 
with TIP objectives and outcomes and all relevant 
legislation. To monitor, track, direct and promote 
on-site delivery and mitigate all construction risks 
appropriately. 

JCT Contract; 
Early Warning Notices; Minutes of project 
meetings; Evidence of physical delivery; Site 
logistics plan; 
Health and Safety plan; On site signage. 

Via direct correspondence and 
design team/site meetings 

At critical decision points 

Local schools, community 
groups, volunteers 

To engage local residents and community/voluntary 
representatives in the build programme. To facilitate 
engagement activities to learn more about the 
project design and delivery  

Site visits 
Bespoke competitions Interactive displays and 
technologies 

Bespoke correspondence 
Community engagement events 
Social Media 
Website Updates Community 
Newsletters 
Representation to local meetings 

At start of project, at key 
milestones and at the end of 
the project / opening of the 
building.  

Local business community and 
start ups 

To engage local businesses and entrepreneurs with 
the opportunities available in Mayflower

Updates on construction timeline. Information 
on what is planned to support their businesses.  
When individual elements are likely to be 
completed and available for use.

Bespoke correspondence 
Engagement events organised by 
the College, Business Lincolnshire 
and Federation of Small 
Businesses.  Social Media 
And Website Updates  
Community Newsletters 
Representation at local networking 
meetings

At start of project, at key 
milestones and at the end of 
the project / opening of the 
building.

S TA K E H O L D E R  E N G A G E M E N T
The table below identifies a list of key audiences who will have an interest in the project and how their engagement, interest and 
influence will be managed throughout the scheme, in addition to general publicity and PR arrangements delivered on the project.

P
age 388



4 7 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

Outputs 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 Future Years 
Target (per 
annum)

Creation of new community hub, spaces linked to inclusive growth (m2) 600 - - -

New Commercial Floorspace (m2) 400 - - -

New training / learning space constructed (m2) 2,722 - - -

Increase in capacity of digital skills facilities 60 - - -

Increased collaboration with employers visits per annum 20 20 20 20

New jobs created - 5 - -

Number of jobs safeguarded - 3 - -

Number of businesses assisted to improve performance 8 8 8 8

Number of learners graduating or completing courses at new or 
improved training or education facilities, or attending new courses

1,100 1,300 1,450 1,500

Number of people supported to develop business related digital skills 
per year targeting increased productivity and efficiency

100 100 100 100

Number of potential entrepreneurs assisted to be enterprise ready by 
2030

20

Number of start-ups and/or scaleups utilising business incubation, 
acceleration and co-working spaces by 2030

20

The College has been open and transparent in its communications with all stakeholders including the public over the plans for Mayflower. 

The College publishes all committee minutes (except where confidential information prevents this). The Boston Towns Deal also publishes all 
minutes on their website. 

B E N E F I T S ,  M O N I T O R I N G  A N D  E V A L U AT I O N
The college will ensure the project will meet and adopt the monitoring, post implementation and evaluation requirements as set out in the 
Towns Fund Local Assurance Framework. 

The monitoring and reporting of performance metrics will be collected to ensure the effective management of our projects and to ensure that 
Government funding targets are met. 

The Vice Principal of Finance and Corporate Services, supported by the External Funding Manager, will monitor outputs and outcomes in 
accordance with the Monitoring and Evaluation framework. The following targets are set for the outputs from the Mayflower project:

P
age 389



4 8 T H E  M A Y F L O W E R  B U S I N E S S  C A S E  -  B O S T O N  C O L L E G E

The outputs will be measured by: 
• Tangible and core quantifiable deliverables, e.g. new floorspace 

created and new jobs created;
• Core outputs which can be assessed via measurement e.g. number 

of learners completing courses, number of people supported with 
digital skills;

• Interactions with businesses via the Customer relationship 
management system  e.g. number of businesses assisted to 
improve, number of start-ups 

This will ensure the project is monitored to ensure that the approved 
funding and subsequent initiatives we develop lead to the delivery of 
our stated outputs and outcomes. 

Quarterly reporting will include:  
• Expenditure
• Progress against milestones
• Project management arrangements
• Communications activity
• Risk register
• Output and outcome delivery
• Overall RAG rating 

Post-project completion report: 
 
The college will produce a post-project completion report which will 
ensure the college and subsequently Boston Borough Council as the 
accountable body follows best practice using recognised project and 
programme management techniques to ensure sound decisions have 
been made. The project’s evaluation report will be defined by the 
outputs and outcomes delivered as a result of this project. Post-project 
completion report will be completed by the college project group. 

P
age 390



 
Towns Fund Stage 2 Business case guidance Annex C: Summary Document template 
Towns must: 

• Submit a completed Summary Document for each project to Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) as soon as they are ready and within 12 
months of agreed Heads of Terms.  

• Where towns require funding in 2021/22 then Summary Documents must be 
submitted to MHCLG by 14 January 2022. 

• Note that in the event of late submission of Summary Documents (SD), MHCLG cannot 
guarantee payment. If there is a risk of late submission, towns should promptly liaise with 
their MHCLG local leads.  

• With the first Summary Document, include Part 2: Town Investment Plan (TIP) 
conditions (where applicable). 

Please note: MHCLG will use the financial profile (Annex A-1) submitted previously to make any 
payment. 
Programme-level update 
Where not submitted today, the remaining Summary Documents submission timings.  
Project name Month/Year 
1.  
2.  
3.  
4.  
5.   
6.   
7.   
8.   
9.   
10.   

  

Page 391



Part 1: Project Summary Document 
Towns should complete this for each project.  

Summary Document table 
1. Project name: Boston Train Station 
2. Heads of Terms project conditions 

- Actions taken to address any conditions attached to the project in the Heads of Terms, 
where applicable. 

- Where the condition was to provide a delivery plan please input in the section below 
(no.9) and/or attach to this document. 

• Email sent to EMR re outputs for sustainable travel. 
• EMR to provide £80k of match funding (see full business case for details) 

 

3. Business case appraisal  
Provide details of how the business case has been appraised including: 

- business case type  
- any internal or external assurances 

The Boston Town Deal Board unanimously agreed to the operation of the local assurance 
framework as set out below 
 
Stage 1 – Capacity of each project to progress to a Full Business Case considered based on 
the Outline Business Case 
form through a dialogue with the Towns Fund staff 
Stage 2 – Agreement with project of the process to achieve the Full Business Case 
Stage 3 – Engagement of specialist agency to support completion of technical aspects of the 
Business case particularly 
the Benefit Cost Ratio element working with the Towns Fund staff 
Stage 4 – Presentation of Full Business Case to Boston Town Board Sub-Group (using the 
same groups which assessed 
the OBC forms) 
Stage 5 – Agreement of FBC via Board 
Stage 6 – Full Council and sign off by Section 151 Officer 

Page 392



 
 
 
 
 
4. MHCLG capital (CDEL) 5% payment  
Main activities, if applicable: N/A 

•  
•  
•  
•  
•  

5. Quantified benefit-cost ratio/value for money (e.g. Benefit Cost Ratio or Net Present 
Social Value)  

A quantified benefit-cost ratio should be provided. If it has not been generated, a summary of 
evidence used by the S151 Officer to demonstrate value for money should be stated.  
 
BCR = 1.9 
 
The analysis undertaken in this Economic Case was consistent with HM Treasury’s Green Book 
and other departmental guidance.  For the Boston Station project there a smorgasbord of 
benefits.  The costings have been calibrated for Optimism Bias at 10% and discounted using 
HMT’s 3.5%. 
 
The provisional BCR = 1.54 provides an “acceptable” value for money.  (MHCLG Appraisal 
Guide classes a BCR greater than two as ‘high’ value for money and between one and two as 
‘acceptable’).  
 
A value engineering exercise as part of the finalisation of the Economic Case has been 
undertaken and has identified a saving of potentially £156,521 which allied with 20% 
contingency of the build budget of £375,594 means the actual delivery cost is likely to be 
£2,267,885 which will deliver an ultimate BCR of £1.9 

Page 393



 
 
 

6.  Deliverability 
Will this project still be delivered within the Towns Fund timeframe? (Y/N)  
Yes 

7.  Delivery plan  
Including details of: 

- timescales and key milestones 
- partnerships 
- interdependencies 
- risks and mitigation measures (if not provided above). 

 
 

 
Below outlines the key milestones for the project. 

 
 
 

Key Dates  Milestones  
April 2021 Submission of Lite Business Case for Council Approval  
7th May 2021 EMRs presentation to FDWG 
31st May 2021 Council Submission of Lite business case to Government  
27th May 2021 Tender Review for Design Partner  
August 2021 Contract with Design Partner  
October 2021 Option Selection  
December 2021 Design consultants to deliver RIBA Stage 3 
14th January 2022  Business case submitted with designs and indicative QS costs to the 

Council. 
14th January 2022  PQQ issued to the Construction market for 30 days 
11th February 2022  Short list PQQ 
14th February – 8th April 2022 Tender Process for Design and Build Contract 
3rd March 2022  Business Case submitted to Central Government 
15th April 2022 Government Decision  
6th May 2022  Identify preferred contractor 
1st June 2022  Sign Heads of Terms 
1st June 2022  Appoint chosen contractor 
1st June – 31st August 2022  Detailed design, NR Engineering Assurance, Site Set Up 
September 2022  Construction Commences 
September 2023 Construction Completes  
October – November 2023 Snagging, handover and project completion 

Page 394



Partnerships: 
Network Rail 
 

 
Interdependencies: 

 
This is a self-contained project from the perspective of delivery with no interdependencies. 
 
Risks and Mitigation 

Risk Owner Probability Impact Mitigation 

Current market conditions 
for obtaining materials for 
construction work is limited 
and costs are increasing. 
Further increases in costs of 
materials are expected in 
2022. 

EMR 
/Contractor  

High Medium  A 20% contingency has been 
allocated to the scheme which 
provides some mitigation against  
rising material costs.  
 
The tender pack will be requesting a 
fixed price against the scope of 
works.  
 
External Quantity Surveyor working 
throughout development and 
delivery phase to provide estimated 
costs and manage construction 
costs against current market 
conditions.  

Contractor quote will only be 
fixed for a certain amount of 
time (Estimated a max of 90 
days). A delay in decision 
from Central Government 
could result in invalidation, 
of the quotes received, 
resulting in a further tender 
exercise.  

EMR/ 
Contractor  

Low  Medium  EMRs revised procurement process 
has allowed for an adequate 
amount of time to allow for a 
decision from Central Government.  
 
The quotes are expected to be valid 
until a least early June 2022, in line 
with the anticipated response from 
Central Government. 
 
Quantity Surveyor providing 
indicative costs for full scope of 
work for full construction. Allowing a 
more accurate reflection of costs for 
work and materials to meet budget 
requirements.  
 

Costs and delays being 
incurred due to the impact of 
Coronavirus on safe working 
practices. 

EMR / 
Contractor  

High High EMRs procurement team will work 
diligently to manage the contracts 
can  control this risk. Identifying long 
lead times for materials and working 
effectively with suppliers will reduce 
this risk. PQQ for Tender requesting 
resource plans from Contractors in 
the event of Coronavirus impacts.  

Works on site impact the 
operational running of the 
station, impact on staff and 
customers. Included the 
additional impact over the 
summer period of increase 
passengers.  

EMR 
/Contractor  

Medium  Low A proposal for the phasing of works 
has been developed to reduce 
impact to customers and on the 
operational running of the station 
and are included within the tender 
packs.  

Page 395



 These will be further enhanced 
through the responses received 
when during the Tender process.    

The project plan will have control 
over site access, management of 
deliveries/contractors, method of 
works, work package plans, line 
block possessions required for 
bridge works. This information is 
also contained within the Pre 
Construction Information (PCIP) 
included within the tender pack.  

Design constraints due to 
conservation status and 
history of the building 
 

EMR/Heritage Low Low Boston Station is not a listed 
building, although the community 
and The Railway Heritage Trust 
(TRHT) have always seen this as 
historical building and have a 
vested interest in retaining the 
heritage of the station. To mitigate 
any potential issues, the project has 
consulted and engaged with 
(TRHT) throughout the 
development of the designs. 

Limited land allowance for 
site set up 
 

EMR / 
Contractor 

Low Low During the development of the 
project, we have identified areas 
within the Asda car park and two 
areas near the staff car park owned 
by  Network Rail that can be utilised 
for site set up. Discussions have 
been initiated to review which option 
is best for the scheme.  

Associate costs and impact 
on programme to acquire 
Network Rail Line Blocks / 
Possession 

Network Rail  Low Medium  The requirement for line block 
possession for works to the bridge 
have been built into tender pack 
with the obligation for the contractor 
to initiated and plan accordingly. 
These are also items discussed with 
Network Rail and ASPRO in the re-
occurring stakeholder meetings 
during the development of the 
scheme.    

Closure of overbridge when 
works are taken place, 
impact on passengers and 
staff 

EMR/NR High  Low The project team have identified a 
additional step free  access route to 
the platforms if works require the 
bridge to be closed for a period of 
time. The communication plan will 
engage with the appropriate groups 
to ensure notification of any 
changes are delivered in a timely 
manner.  

Works taking place in a 
railway environment risks of 
injury for contractor or 
railway users  

EMR/Contractor  Low  High EMRs chosen procurement process 
will have Pre-Qualification 
Questions (PQQ) built in at the 
beginning of the Tender process, 
this will enable EMR to outline key 
requirements from Contractors, 
relating specifically Railway 
experience, DPE, CRM and CEM 
qualifications with Network Rail 
approval for the Contractor.  

Working at height and 
scaffolding requirements, 

EMR/ 
Contractor  

Low High The controls in place will be formed 
as part of the Work Package Plan 

Page 396



injury from working at height 
or items being dropped from 
height 

(WPP) and Risk Assessment 
Method Statement (RAMS) for each 
stage in conjunction with health and 
safety regulations.  

Risk of being unable 
identifying a tenant and 
arrange leasing agreements 
for commercial spaces 
(community café and SME 
spaces) 

EMR/ASBV Low  Medium  EMR work with Abellio Service 
Business Ventures who manage the 
lease of commercial spaces. 

Inadequate resources to 
develop and deliver scheme  

EMR Low  High Town Deal Funding will fund EMR 
and NR resource costs. Internal 
EMR review of resource available to 
project manage the scheme.  

Reputational risk of the 
Archco areas of Boston 
Station (Thai Restaurant) 
remaining in disrepair)  

EMR Medium  Low Engagement will continue with 
Archo to acquire funding and 
permission to bring the unit into 
scope of works. 

Lack of community 
engagement, impacting on 
the reputation of the scheme 

EMR Medium  Low An EMR workstream has been set 
up dedicated to input in the 
communication strategy. Focus 
placed on internal, external, 
community engagement through 
various means i.e. post code drop, 
face to face engagement, social 
media and EMRs website. The 
project will create supporting visuals 
and have aligned the comms plan 
with the council in line with Central 
Government guidelines.   

Adverse weather impacting 
on delivering project 
milestones  

EMR/ 
Contractor 

Medium  Low  Awareness of long term changing 
weather forecast patterns to inform 
changes to construction delivery 
programme. Contractor to make 
suitable provisions to deal with 
adverse weather.  

 

 
 
 
8. Town Deal Board Chair name & signature  
Name of the Town Deal Board:Boston 
 
 
Chair’s name and signature: Neil Kempster 
 
 
 

                                                    Date: 
9. By signing, I agree that: 

1. The business case, in a proportionate manner, is Green Book compliant. 
2. The 5% early capital (CDEL) has been included in the Town Fund project costs across 

the programme. 
3. This project and expenditure represent value for money, including the 5% early capital 

(CDEL) provided. 
4. Project-level Equality Impact Assessments such as Public Sector Equalities Duty 

and/or Environmental Impact Assessments have been undertaken. 

Page 397



5. For final submission - programme-level Public Sector Equality Duty assessment has 
been undertaken by the accountable body. 

 
Name of the lead Local Authority and signature of the Chief Executive Officer or S151 
Officer 
Name of the lead Local Authority:Boston Borough Council 
 
Job title: Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate Development) and S151 
 
 
Name and signature: Christine Marshall 
 
 
 
 

                                                Date: 
  

Page 398



Part 2: Town Investment Plan (TIP) conditions 
Towns are only required to submit this with the first batch of Summary Document if any TIP 
conditions are listed in the Heads of Terms. All TIP conditions must be met before funding can 
be released.  

TIP conditions table 
1. TIP improvement condition 
Set out TIP improvement conditions as agreed in Heads of Terms 
 
1.Confirmation of £30k funding contribution from East Midlands Railway  
2. Provide quantified outputs and outcomes in particular ones related to sustainable 
travel - cycling, walking etc.  
 
2. Evidence  
Provide evidence of how conditions have been addressed  
East Midlands railway have agreed to contribute £80k. 
Email sent to EMR re outputs for sustainable travel. 
 
 
3. Name of the Town Deal Board Chair & signature  
Name of the Town Deal Board: Boston 
  
Chair’s name and signature :Neil Kempster 
 
 
 

                     Date: 
4. Lead Local Authority's name & signature of the Chief Executive Officer or 

S151 Officer. 
Name of the lead Local Authority: Boston Borough Council 
 
Job title: Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate Development) and S151  
 
Name and signature: Christine Marshall 
 
 
 

                      Date: 
 
 
Total project value (£) 
 
£2,662,048 
 
Towns Fund project value (£):   
 
£2,475,248 
 
 

Page 399



Match-funding (Private or Public) 
Provide the total (£) and breakdown of sources 
Public match funding - £ 186,800  

Nominal financial profile (£)  
 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26 
Towns Fund       
CDEL  -     1,485,148 990,100     -   - 
RDEL  - - - - - 

 
  

Page 400



Annex: submission checklist 
Use this as guidance when submitting the Summary Documents.  
Items Checked Qty 

 first submission  
1. Programme-level update  1 
2. Part 1: Project Summary Document   1 
3. Part 2: Town Investment Plan (TIP) conditions  1 
4. Final Monitoring & Evaluation (M&E) plan  1 
5. Any other documents  1 

 all other submissions  
1. Programme-level update   
2. Part 1: Project Summary Document table   
3. Final M&E plan   
4. Any other documents   

 
 

  

Page 401



BOSTON TRAIN STATION 
EAST MIDLANDS RAILWAY 

BUSINESS CASE 
  

Page 402



1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

In September 2019, the government invited 101 places to develop proposals for a 
Town Deal, as part of the £3.6 billion Towns Fund. The Towns Fund is part of the 
government’s plan for levelling up the UK economy. The overarching aims are to 
drive the sustainable economic regeneration of the towns to deliver long term 
economic and productivity growth through connectivity.   

In response to this funding opportunity East Midlands Railway (EMR) submitted a 
bid in support of sustainable economic growth, for the redevelopment of Boston 
Train Station. Boston Town was successful in the Town Funds award of £21.9m to 
invest into 8 projects, with an award of £2.5 million for the redevelopment of Boston 
Train Station. 

1.1 STRATEGIC CASE 
 
1.1.1 Boston Station is a gateway into the town and in its current condition, both aesthetically and in 
 terms of the facilities offered it does not reflect a station in a town that is economically thriving and 
 a place for people to choose as a town to live and work in. Historically, there has been a lack of 
 investment in the East for EMR stations which had only added to the deterioration of buildings and 
 outdated station services, making the station powerless to compete with stations in larger towns 
 and cities.  

The investment into the full refurbishment of the station creates a credible statement to make the 
town a more attractive option to work and live in, to provide for the needs of an aspirational, skilled 
and healthy population.  Government strategy for the Midlands is focused on growth, connectivity, 
skills, enterprise, innovation, trade, and quality of life.  

1.1.2 Boston Towns Investment Plan objective is to create an entrepreneurial, connected, healthy, 
 inclusive, and aspirational community (Appendix A). This development will create 
 improvements to connectivity for the community by redeveloping and refurbishing the station to 
 attract more users to opt for using train journeys. Using more sustainable  materials within the 
 proposal and fully utilising vacant station rooms to repurpose to serve the  community, leading to 
 creating opportunities and providing a better quality of life.  

The development will enhance services and facilities at the station, playing directly into the 
Levelling Up agenda by paying attention to what the needs of the community are to enable them 
to better connect to the station, installing contemporary designs and new infrastructure to 
modernise the station whilst future proofing the enhancements offering an avenue for further 
development and investments, leading to a strengthened local economy.  

1.1.3 The vision is to create a modern railway station offering enhanced facilities to better connect the 
 community to the station. Providing an overall better customer experience whilst maintaining high 
 levels of security and safety. Creating a community hub and gateway to the town whilst preserving 
 the historical features of the station.  
1.1.4 EMR have employed a design consultant who have used space utilisation plans to reconfigure the 
 station layout to provide the best use of space to serve the community and station users, which 
 have been developed in conjunction with stakeholder feedback. Based on the engagement the 
 project will create the opening of redundant spaces and repurpose areas to create new services 
 and facilities.  

The project will construct, a new Community Café, two Enterprise Start up Offices, a new 
Community Room, a parent and baby room, and enhanced waiting and toilet facilities. Upgrades 

Page 403



to CCTV, fire alarm provisions, lighting, cycle storage, accessibility, signage, waste management, 
improvements to mechanical and electrical provisions will be delivered as part of this project. 

1.1.5 There are no current interdependencies that would halt or severely impact this scheme, however 
 we will work closely with Network Rail as the landowners and other key stakeholders who are 
 affiliated with the station to ensure we remain up to date with current and future aspirations for 
 the area.      
 

 
1.2 Economic Case  

The analysis undertaken in this Economic Case was consistent with HM Treasury’s Green Book 
and other departmental guidance.  For the Boston Station project there a smorgasbord of benefits.  
The costings have been calibrated for Optimism Bias at 10% and discounted using HMT’s 3.5%. 

  
The provisional BCR = 1.54 provides an “acceptable” value for money.  (MHCLG Appraisal Guide 
classes a BCR greater than two as ‘high’ value for money and between one and two as 
‘acceptable’).  

 
A value engineering exercise as part of the finalisation of the Economic Case has been undertaken 
and has identified a saving of potentially £156,521 which allied with 20% contingency of the build 
budget of £375,594 means the actual delivery cost is likely to be £2,267,885 which will deliver an 
ultimate BCR of 1.9 

 
 

1.3 Financial Case 
 

1.3.1 The Towns funding award for the redevelopment of Boston Station is £2,500,000. The co-
 funding in place for the scheme secured through East Midlands Railway is £80,000, £100,000 
 from The Rail Heritage Trust (TRHT), £3,250 from Community Network Rail, and £3,550 from 
 Lincolnshire County Council. The total cost for the project is £2,686,800. One percent of the town 
 deal funding award has been allocated to the business case development support, with a remining 
 sum of £2,662,048. £6,800 of the co-funding has been spent towards the scheme, prior to Stage 2 
 of the Towns Funding process. Leaving an available development and delivery total project budget 
 of £2,655,248. 

The cost of the development phase is £89,381 which includes a contingency of 10%. The remaining 
budget for the delivery phase is £ 2,565,867 

1.3.2 The revenue assumed from the lease agreements from the commercial spaces; the Café and the 
 two Enterprise Offices is estimated at £8,000 per annum.  
1.3.3 The revenue benefits calculated using the industry recognised Passenger Demand Forecast 
 Handbook (PDFH) (For information relating to PDFH see Appendix C) shows revenue uplift 
 benefits from year one of construction works completed, followed by year-on-year revenue 
 benefits.   
 The National Industry revenue uplift (Appendix B) based on PDFH is forecasted to be a total of 
 £500,000 by 2026/2027.  
 Of the total Industry revenue, the East Midlands Railway Revenue uplift (Appendix D) taken form 
 the National Industry Revenue total is forecasted to be a total of £304,000 by 2026/2027  
1.3.4 A 10% contingency has been allocated for the scheme and will not be shared with the contractor. 
 The estimated costs as outlined in Make Consulting’s cost plan includes a 20% risk contingency.  
 EMR would expect the contingency to cover elements such as, known and unknown risks, rising 
 cost of  materials and variations from tender responses.  
 It is anticipated that the contractor quote for post RIBA Stage 3 (Design and Build) may only be 
 valid for a maximum of 90 days, which could result in invalidation of the quotes if the overall 

Page 404



 business case approval is formally received outside of this time, which would result in a further 
 tender exercise. Therefore, to mitigate this risk and manage project costs EMR have worked with 
 the  appointed design consultants for RIBA Stage 3, Quantity Surveyor to provide indicative costs 
 within a cost plan to support this business case, for the full scope of works for Design and Build. 
 This will allow an accurate reflection of costs for work, inflation, and materials to ensure these 
 meet the budget requirements (For detailed costs refer to Boston Project Pack Appendix F). 

 
1.4 Commercial Case  

 
1.4.1 EMR have extensive experience in the lease of retail units and the associated contracts as 
 evidenced through commercial units across the EMR route. The project will see the development 
 of a new Community Café and two start up Enterprise Offices.  

EMR work with Abellio Services Business Ventures (ASBV) who arrange and manage for the lease 
of commercial spaces at EMR stations. ASBV will initiate conversations for the lease of the café 
and will arrange for the relevant contracts to secure a suitable tenant, who can provide the right 
offering for the Boston community and station users.  
Boston station managers will audit certain processes to ensure tenants meet the safety and security 
requirements for operational running of the railway in line with EMRs existing tenant processes. 
EMR are consulting with key stakeholders on the arrangements for the management of the 
Enterprise Offices to provide the best options for the local community.  

1.4.2 The largest contract will be for the procurement for the Design and Build contract under the Utility 
 Contracts Regulations 2016. This process provides EMR with a documented fair and transparent 
 procurement process which represents best practice and aligns with the Public Contracts 
 Regulations 2015. EMR have experience of working under these regulations and will work with 
 their internal procurement team to manage this process from end to end.   

EMRs strategy to tender will include an initial pre-qualification questionnaire (PQQ) to vet 
responses and ensure the adequate qualifications and experience required is met and then offer 
the tender for Boston Station redevelopment with Skegness Station redevelopment (refer to 3.12 
for further information regarding Skegness Town Deal) as one tender package with two lots. 
Suppliers will be invited to bid either for individual lots of the combined package giving EMR the 
flexibility to identify any cost advantages in appointing a single contractor but not excluding any 
smaller suppliers from the process. 
 

1.4.3 There is a requirement to have agreements in place as part of the Station Change Process, this  
 will be led by EMRs internal Regulatory Contracts and Access Management team and will take into 
 account all asset changes, they will inform and formally consult regulatory bodies and other 
 stakeholders prior to changes taking place.  
 
1.4.4 As part of this scheme EMR propose to acquire a strip of land, owned by Network Rail adjacent to 
 the staff car park and bring this into the station lease area. The project is not reliant on acquiring 
 this land, however having it within EMRs lease area does future proof the station for future 
 expansions/initiatives and can be used during the scheme for contractor site set up and then 
 final phase will use this area to install a new secure waste compound.  
 
1.4.5 Agreements will be drafted for all new on going maintenance costs which will be incorporated into 
 the contract EMR have in place with Vinci services to manage reactive maintenance.  
 
1.4.6 Following a competitive tender exercise, Make Consulting architectural designers were appointed 
 in August 2021 to develop RIBA Stage 3 designs and Quantity Surveyor (QS) indicative costs for 
 full design and construction works.  
 
1.4.7 The project proposes to keep Make Consulting on for the client-side support during the Design and 
 Build stage, this will take the form of Employees Agent Consultant and Quantity surveyor 

Page 405



 support to be the gatekeeper for Design and Build phase, to ensure the delivery phases meets our 
 requirements, and to provide cost management and technical query support. 
 
1.4.8 The proposed phases of works will be carried out over 52 weeks of construction works, 
 commencing early September 2022. Detailed programme of works will be provided by contractors 
 as part of their tender submissions. 
 
1.5 Management Case  
 
1.5.1 An EMR Development Project Manager has been appointed from the Infrastructure and Property 
 Projects team to lead on the development of this scheme. The Project Manager is supported 
 by an internal Principal Construction Manager, Development Strategy Manager and Development 
 Project Manager with experts within the business forming the key stakeholder Boston Meetings.  
1.5.2 EMR have a Project Management Office (PMO) who provide a governance framework for all 
 projects across the business.  PMO will assure, report, support , standardise and govern projects. 
 This includes audits of the internal electronic project toolkit, documentations, milestones, 
 timescales, reports and ensure projects at each stage follow the correct operating procedure.  
1.5.3 When a project enters the delivery phase, the Project Manager must report every four weeks on 
 the progress of the project against the original baseline established by the Business Case. This 
 involves key updates on Time, Cost, Risks and other key indicators. Reports are reviewed centrally 
 by the PMO team and responses collated into a central reporting document which is shared with 
 the business at a senior level.  
1.5.4 A project RACI model has been used to establish the level of roles and responsibilities required for 
 this scheme. The output has defined attendees for the project meetings and workstreams, and how 
 information has been  shared with stakeholders. The information from the project is stored  
 electronically on EMRs project toolkit.  
 Some of the key external stakeholders identified are: Network Rail, Network Rail ASPRO, The 
 Railway Heritage Trust, Lincolnshire County Council, The Department for Transport,  and Boston 
 Borough Council.  
 
1.5.5  The current programme timeline is outlined below: 
 

   

Key Dates  Milestones  
December 2021 Design consultants to deliver RIBA Stage 3 and costs for work 
14th January 2022  Business case submitted with designs and indicative QS costs to the 

Council. 
14th January 2022  PQQ issued to the Construction market for 30 days 
11th February 2022  Short list PQQ 
14th February – 8th April 2022 Tender Process for Design and Build Contract 
3rd March 2022  Business Case submitted to Central Government 
15th April 2022 Government Decision  
6th May 2022  Identify preferred contractor 
1st June 2022  Sign Heads of Terms 
1st June 2022  Appoint chosen contractor 
1st June – 31st August 2022  Detailed design RIBA Stage 4, NR Engineering Assurance, Site Set Up 
September 2022  Construction Commences 
September 2023 Construction Completes  

October – November 2023 Snagging, handover, completion of scheme.  

Page 406



 
1.5.6 A risk register has been maintained and updated throughout the development of the scheme. The 
 key risks are:  

• The rising costs of material, this will be mitigated through using the contingency budget and the 
external Quantity Surveyor providing estimated costs for construction against the current 
market conditions and programme of works.   
 

• The impact of coronavirus on safe working practices is a risk to the project. To manage this risk 
the Pre-Qualification Questions (PQQ) as part of the Tender process will request for contractors 
to declare their internal resource plans that demonstrates how they effectively manage the 
impact of coronavirus. EMRs procurement team will work diligently to manage the contracts. 
The identification of long lead times for materials and working effectively with suppliers will 
support to mitigate this risk.   
 

• Works taking place in a railway environment have risks of injury for contractor and or railway 
users, this will be mitigated by EMRs chosen procurement process having a PQQ built in at the 
beginning of the Tender process, this will enable EMR to understand the level of railway 
experience held i.e Personal Track Safety qualifications and for contractors to declare - 
previous incident records, qualifications, policies and other vital details to aid the selection 
process.  
 

• Working at height could result in injury or items being dropped from height. The controls in 
place will be formed as part of the Work Package Plan (WPP) and Risk Assessment Method 
Statement (RAMS) for each stage in conjunction with all other relevant procedures including 
health and safety regulations.  
 

• A possible risk is inadequate resources available to project deliver the scheme, this will be 
controlled by EMR and NR resource costs being funded through the scheme and an internal 
review of resource available to project manage the scheme. 

 
1.5.6  Benefits from the scheme:  
The table below outlines an overview of the key elements of the redevelopment and what benefits are 
anticipated.  
 

Page 407



Project Delivery Benefits 
Re-modelling of station layout, better utilisation of overall 
space, modernising infrastructure, new signage, enhanced 
provisions for IT, Lighting, M&E, CCTV, taxi rank, cycle 

storage and accessible layout. Full renovation to create new 
waiting rooms, additional toilet provisions and a new parent 

room.

• Enhanced customer experience 
• Gateway to the town 

• Enhanced accessibility and connectivity 

New self-contained Community Café
Bookable Community Room
New low rent Start up Offices
Opening of redundant spaces

• Connected Community 
• Enhanced Customer Experience

• Central Hub 
• Gateway to Town 
• Better Quality Life

• Growth of Local economy  
• Employment Benefits

Restoration of the building and disused rooms, repaint, 
repair, and replace fixtures and fittings.

• Gateway to Town
• Central Hub

• Enhanced Customer Experience 
Installation of sustainable and low carbon materials

Installation of electric car charging and reusable energy
Upgrade of thermal performance of the building fabrics 

Improvements to energy efficiency 
Landscaping and new green areas

Secure waste compound

• Sustainable Economic Growth 
• Better Quality of Life

Page 408



2. INTRODUCTION 

This document is a business case outlining a redevelopment project for funding in 
line with potential investment for Towns Fund.  

2.1 Introduction 

The objective of the Towns Fund is part of the government’s plan for leveling up the UK economy. 
Towns across England are working with the Government to address growth constraints and to 
ensure there is a course of recovery from the impact of COVID-19. The overarching aims of the 
Towns Fund are to drive the sustainable economic regeneration of towns to deliver long term 
economic and productivity growth.  

Boston Towns Investment Plan will meet the objective of the Towns Fund by focusing on creating 
an entrepreneurial, connected, healthy, inclusive, and aspirational community (Appendix A).  The 
Stage 2 process requires the submission of the proposed project to a full business case outlining 
the strategic, economic, financial, commercial, management case with Royal Institute of British 
Architects (RIBA) Stage 3 designs. 

2.2 The scheme promoter for the project is East Midlands Railway (EMR) with Network Rail (NR) 
supporting the project. EMR have led on the development of this scheme and will continue to lead 
this through delivery and into business-as-usual activities.  

 
2.3  The Project - Redevelopment of Boston Railway Station 
 
 The project will redevelop Boston Railway station to create a gateway to Boston town. The designs 

have created community spaces, enhanced the provisions and appearance at the station to deliver 
commendable rail transport. The project will see the redevelopment and improvements to the 
heritage building including but not limited to the creation of community small to medium enterprise 
spaces, café/retail facilities, improved waiting facilities, ticket hall and toilet facilities. We have 
worked with and consulted The Railway Heritage Trust to implement improvements to the external 
façade of the property and regarding the heritage elements of the station. Works will be undertaken 
to make improvements to windows, doors, waiting shelters, and the building exterior. 

 
 

                                              
                          

Page 409



2.4     This Business Case 
 
 This business case outlines EMRs plans, vision, objectives, and programme of works to deliver the 

enhancements to Boston Train station. The case has been developed in conjunction with EMRs 
internal and external key stakeholders. An external design consultant ‘Make Consultants’ were 
appointed in August 2021 following a competitive tender exercise and appointed to deliver Royal 
Institute of British Architects (RIBA) Stage 3 spatial coordination drawings for the renovation of the 
station. 

 
2.5 The business case outlines the strategic, economic, financial, commercial and management case 

for the redevelopment project. 
 
 
 

                        
 
 
2.6 Location:   Boston Railway Train Station, Station Approach, Boston PE21 3RN
 Applicant:   East Midlands Railway – Transport Operator  
 Site Ownership: Network Rail under lease to East Midlands Railway  
 

                                        

 

Page 410



STRATEGIC CASE 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
        

PRACTICE NOTES 
 
 
The Strategic Case sets out the rationale for proposed 
investment.  
 
A lot of the information relevant for the Strategic Case will 
have been set out in the TIP, including: 

- Evidence of need 
- Key policy context 
- Overall vision and objectives 
- Option for investment and how it was identified 
- How option will help achieve objectives 

 
The information from the TIP relevant to this project should 
feed into the Strategic Case, focusing on the aspects unique 
to the project.  
 
Note that specific project objectives will need to be identified 
in this business case (in addition to the TIP vision and 
objectives). 
 
This case should state the key stakeholder groups and 
particular business partners and how they’ve influenced, 
shaped, and supported project scopes. 
 
The Strategic Case should clearly demonstrate a golden 
thread of evidence of need  vision and objectives  
proposed investment  outcomes and impacts.  
 
 
 
 

Page 411



3. STRATEGIC CASE 

Boston Railway Station is the gateway to Boston Town, and in its existing condition 
is uninviting and lacks the visual elements and amenities to attract visitors to the 
station; it does not represent a vibrant town with investments into infrastructure. 
This could restrict new investment into the area and have a negative impact on the 
public’s perception of Boston being a Town to live and thrive in, resulting in poor 
economic regeneration for the town. 

3.1  Introduction: 

Part of the Town Deal Funds strategic objective was to encourage businesses to make long term 
investments into towns. Where these businesses are growing and are significant in the town 
economy, local leaders should support them to grow further and invest into the workforce. By 
engaging with their supply chains, towns can diversify the economy and bring new opportunities to 
the area.  

Boston Railway Station project will complete a full redevelopment of the station, with upgrades to 
current facilities. The project will open and renovate redundant spaces within the station to provide 
community spaces. The aim of this is to encourage and attract more visitors to the station, not just 
for those who require to use the station for train journeys but also to encourage the community and 
non-railway users to the station. Making the station a community hub and leading to overall 
improvements to connectivity.   

3.2  Case for change: 
 
Boston Railway Station became an active railway station on 17th October 1848, the station was a 
hub of activity and vitally important to the town and its community, this project is designed to revive 
the station, improving the station’s standing in the local community and the visitor economy.  
Modernising the station bringing the facilities up to the same standards as those in larger towns 
and cities.  
The current challenges for the station, is that it does not meet the expectations of what would be a 
gateway to the Town. The station lacks facilities that would be seen at other stations across the 
country and those facilities needed to align with the agenda of levelling up our towns. On average, 
in its peak, 220,000 journeys are made to and from Boston a year and these passengers fail to 
benefit from quality provisions they would expect to see at a mainline station.  

 
3.3  Current Station Plan:  
 

Existing station plan displaying the current layout of the station building, vacant rooms, wellbeing 
facilities, station operational areas and staff facilities. 

Page 412



 
 
 
3.4  Current challenges: 

 
• There are no provisions for refreshments and food for station users 
• The station building requires restoration work to meet the standards of the heritage of the station and 

the Town.  
• Damp throughout parts of the building  
• Deterioration to the building and main overbridge  
• Restoration required to sash windows 
• Visible cracks to walls and ceilings within the vacant spaces 
• Foliage growing through vacant rooms causing breakage to the flooring   
• Uninviting waiting room located far from the main entrance  
• Accessible toilets located far from the main entrance   
• No community meeting hubs 
• Vacant and underutilised rooms within the station  
• Traditional operational station layout, lacking in community facility  
• Inadequate utilisation of overall available space and vacant rooms 
• Poor quality wayfinding and signage, both for the station and external local destinations  
• Archaic provisions for waste management   
• Continuing to bring customers back to the railway post the impact of coronavirus  
 

                           
 
 
 
 

Page 413



3.5  Current Station Conditions:  
 
The station building and entrance is worn and tired and does not represent the heritage nature of this 
building or an inviting station. The vacant rooms show signs of cracks to the ceiling, repair works 
required to the walls, foliage growing through the floors and needs restoration.  

                              

                       
 
3.6 There is an opportunity to utilise the space available at the station to invest in a café providing 

refreshments for the community, providing the community with a place to meet and for those 
wanting to use the railway services. The opening of this new café will help drive the economy 
forward, placing additional employment opportunities at the station and encourages community 
networking.  

 
 
 
 

Page 414



3.7  Build back better  
 
 The East of the region has seen little investment over the years and as a result is seeing social 

and commercial economic challenges. Boston station offers regular train services to Skegness and 
Nottingham, however with the current low skills challenge in Boston, Boston Town being rated 
within the lowest 10% in terms of skills ranking across towns in England (Appendix A). There is a 
requirement to enhance the provisions at the station to attract new users to make onward 
connections to support the growth of those skills, either through training or employment. The 
provisions of the Community Room and enterprise offices proposed in this case will aid the growth 
and training of skills. 

 In May 2022 there are plans to strengthen the train services for Boston to an additional 5 trains on 
the Nottingham to Skegness route on Saturdays, matching the volume of services during the 
weekday, which has been driven by stakeholder aspirations to strengthen the services at the 
weekend. The increase in services forms part of a contractual requirement which was originally 
due to be implemented in the December 2021 timetable but has been significantly delayed due to 
the impacts of the pandemic.  

 The increase in services are expected to naturally cause an uplift in passenger journeys and 
support to ease the peaks in travel, whilst reducing the growing isolation of Boston. The enhanced 
provisions at the station will provide the additional passengers with the much-needed amenities at 
the station. 

 
TSR1 May 2021 

 

 
TSR2 May 2022 

 
From  To  M-F Sat Sun From To M-F Sat Sun 

Nottingham Skegness 14 9 8 Nottingham Skegness 14 14 8 
Skegness Nottingham 15 10 9 Skegness Nottingham 15 15 9 

TRS1 May 2021 EMR train timetable.  

TRS2 uplifts and planned date for May 2022 EMR train timetable. 

 
 
3.8 The challenges faced by the station during the coronavirus pandemic led to a reduced level of 
 travel across the railway and low confidence in travel.  In order to bring customers back and re 
 connect our communities, EMR train teams have implemented a strong programme of increased 
 cleaning and enhanced safety/hygiene controls.  EMR are also carrying out regular swab testing 
 on the most commonly touched areas such as ticket machines, door handles and toilet flush 
 buttons. To date they have seen zero positive results from these swabs. The swabbing project is 
 part of a detailed plan that EMR have put in place to help travel with confidence. EMR are  
 employing more cleaners using powerful disinfectant products and using specialist fogging 
 cleaning equipment.  

The proposed investment into the station building and the programme of works outlined in this 
business case will further encourage and provide confidence to our passengers and the community 
to continue to come back to the railway, demonstrating how significant the train station is to the 
community and their needs. Our programme of works will improve accessibility and connections 
with the community to enable them to access new jobs and training. 

3.9  EMRs Revenue Analysis team have forecasted the future travel rates for Boston Station over the 
next 10 years, which has been developed based on the current infrastructure at the station 
(Appendix E). This data contains Coronavirus recovery rate, data supplied through government 
Office of Rail and Road (ORR) station entries and exits, EMRs May 2021 timetable improvements 
versus 2019, Coronavirus recovery rates versus 2019 which have been sourced from the most 
recent calculations from Abellio Group model of 01st September 2021.  

Page 415



The data shows that in 2018 there were a total of 224,773 journeys (total journeys originating and 
destination Boston). In 2019 there has been a decline to 219,282 journeys and this was further 
reduced by 59% to 89,823 in 2020, essentially owing to the impact of Coronavirus.   
EMR have seen patterns of travel change as passengers return to the railway, which is understood 
to be because of the variations to the requirements of working in the office. EMR are seeing journey 
numbers gradually increase particularly for leisure travel and there is an opportunity to maximise 
on these changes in travel to benefit those groups.  
This data predicts an increase in journeys only based on the current facilities available at the station 
and does not take into account the proposed redevelopment plans. The current future forecast 
predicts an 83% increase in passenger journeys from 2021 to 2025 with a 2% year on year increase 
in journeys from 2026.  
To increase the station usage EMR need to build back better and make significant improvements 
to the station. The Towns Fund provides an opportunity to accelerate the number of journeys by 
attracting more visitors to the town through investing in the advancements to services at the station, 
leading to regeneration of the town and further encouraging inward investment.  

 
The increase in footfall will then further enable the rail network to continue its onward investment 
in this station and other stations in the region, by utilising the increase in revenue generation, 
creating a positive cycle of investment for the future. The overall recipient base is those living in 
Boston and those working/commuting to Boston . 
 
East Midlands Railway franchise has committed in delivering improvements to the On Train 
experience by introducing new rolling stock and by increasing train capacity (all trains are a 
minimum of 2 carriages as of May 2020). Investment into the station environment is needed to 
continue that improvement throughout the entire railway journey experience.  

 
3.10  Passenger Demand Forecast Revenue  
3.10.1 EMRs revenue team have analysed and provided data to predict the revenue uplift expected for 

the industry (over a circa of the next 5 years) as a direct result of the enhancements due to be 
delivered from the works within this scheme.  

 This concentrates on evaluating those services that do not currently exist at the station against the 
proposals to add new provisions . The data shows a staggered increase of revenue benefits across 
the next five years and the prediction works on user benefits increasing over time, with some 
revenue benefits seen in year one of project completion.  The revenue uplift has been developed 
by using the model within the industry recognised Passenger Demand Forecast Handbook 
(Appendix C).  

 The analysis for the industry shows a revenue uplift of £53,000 in year one of construction 
 completion (2023), with increased revenue throughout the years and a total revenue uplift of 
 £500,000 by 2026/2027 (Appendix B) 
 
 EMRs revenue taken from the predicted industry forecasted amount, following year one of 
 construction completion is £32,000 with a total of £304,000 by 2026/2027 (Appendix D)  
 
 These  calculations demonstrate how the project positively impacts the industry’s financial profile 
 and  EMRs revenue.  Leading to growth of the economy, following the Towns Fund proposed 
 investment. This is in  addition to the overall benefits to the customer experience and community 
 integration. 

 
3.11  Passenger Accident Data 
 Passenger accident information has been supplied by EMRs Safety Team and shows the total 

number of accidents reported from 2018 for Boston Station, which includes journeys to and from 
Boston. Numbers reported have been relatively low with a total of 6 reported accidents. Of these 
50% were related to a fall using the station overbridge, linking the platforms. The scheme proposes 

Page 416



to make improvements to the bridge tread, reduction to the surface water, lighting and CCTV 
provisions will be incorporated into the project as a further control to support safety measures.  

 
3.12 EMR and Town Deal Schemes 
 

EMR are also working on developing the business case for the redevelopment of Skegness Station 
in line with the Town Deal Funding. The project team have worked on creating synergies across 
both schemes to ensure enhancements are relative and aligned for both stations providing the 
most modern infrastructure, services and provisions for both developments. The project has utilised 
learnings to adapt each scheme and save costs through the development stage whilst maintaining 
the quality.  
 
This has been observed through the appointment of the design consultant who  have provided a 
discount for being awarded both schemes. Stakeholder discussions and decisions have been 
developed with an understanding of both station developments in mind to ensure consistency at 
the stations for communities and for EMR passengers. A further example of this is the collaborative 
working between EMRs project team, Network Rail and the Councils delivery team across both 
schemes.  

 The Town Deal fund for Staffordshire County Council for the outline proposals for options to  
redevelop Kidsgrove station is currently underway and is being developed in conjunction with EMR 
and Network Rail. The project proposes a new car park, possible building extension, refurbishment 
to the building and bringing back redundant spaces to be used by the local community.  

 EMRs project teams work closely together to align proposals to ensure they are consistent for the 
railway user and offer the best provisions possible. The internal stakeholder views obtained for the 
Boston and Skegness schemes, have been shared with this project which provides consistency for 
passengers, our partners, and investors. This will further strengthen the publics perceptions about 
the consistency of facilities at stations.    

 
 
3.13 Policies  
 

EMR has reviewed the local, regional, and national policies to ensure the delivery of the project 
objectives and visions align with those strategies.  The redevelopment consists of enhancements, 
repairs and upgrades to the station building and environment, which will have a positive impact on 
the Town and the local community and complement the policy visions.  

 
 
3.13.1 Local policy context (Appendix A)   

 
Transport: improving accessible, sustainable and affordable transport for all and to enhance 
efficiencies for business.  
 
Project Alignment: 
The project will improve connectivity for Boston Town, providing the community with more attractive 
provisions and facilities, encouraging travelling by train. The redevelopment will use modern and 
sustainable methods of construction to enhance the quality of life in Boston. The project proposes 
to create new community facilities and remodel the station to integrate the community and improve 
accessibility and networking, leading to reduction in isolation for the Town.   

 
3.13.2 Regional policy context (Appendix A)  
 

Government strategy for the Midlands is focused on growth, connectivity, skills, enterprise and 
innovation, trade and quality of life. Improving connections between towns and cities in the 
Midlands to support clusters to grow. The coast as an economic engine that could support thriving 

Page 417



businesses and communities. Improving connections between towns and cities in the Midlands to 
support clusters to grow. 
 
 
 
Project Alignment:  
The development will see significant changes to the provisions at the station, the introduction of 
the new community café, will not only bring new employment to the area but will add growth to the 
economy by enticing users to the station and the café helping them to use the station as a means 
to access larger towns or cities.    
 

 
3.13.3 National Policy context (Appendix A) 
 

• Enhancing the business environment – at national and local levels (e.g. technical education and 
training, Tourism Zones. 

 
• Levelling up all regions - by enabling places to develop ambitious plans to drive economic growth.  

 
• Liveable places - providing crucial infrastructure to help individuals flourish and creating shared 

spaces that bring communities together.  
 

• Connected growth – digital, social and cultural connectivity to ensure the economy grows in a way 
that is strong and sustainable and makes all places viable for work in the global economy. 
 
Project Alignment: 
The project will upgrade the infrastructure at the station providing opportunities to the local 
communities through providing spaces for new business facilities, training and educational 
initiatives with the development of a new Community Room and Enterprise Offices.  
 
The new proposed facilities are predominantly only available at mainline stations, improving the 
overall standard of the station, in turn levelling up the town.  A vision for the project is to create a 
gateway to Boston Town, redeveloping the station to make it more accessible, improve connectivity 
and providing places for the community to unite. 
 
The proposal is aimed at maximising all benefits of available space, relocating facilities to better 
integrate the community and to aid passenger flow. Adding in provisions to serve Boston Town 
making it a leading visitor destination.  
 

3.14 Visions and Objectives: 
 

Page 418



       
3.14.1 EMRs vision is for the train station to provide a greater sense of arrival and a gateway into Boston 

Town. The project aims to bring the customer spaces together ensuring that the facilities are easily 
utilised by customers, with accessibility enhancements, connectivity and improvements to the 
overall customer experience being at the forefront of the projects aim.  

  
 This intervention is proposing to improve the customer satisfaction of station users. To support this 

business case, EMRs Customer Experience team have supplied recent customer survey data for 
Boston, for a period of over 24 months (January 2020 to December 2021). The Customer 
satisfaction result for Boston was 73.6% with a Net Promoter Score of 76.2%. The project will also 
evaluate the results from the Independent National Rail Passenger Surveys (NRPS) to determine 
the impact of the enhancements. (For more information about customer satisfaction see Section 7 
of this document). 

 
This vision has been achieved by carrying out space utilisation evaluations to detect how best to 
exploit available areas across the entire station. Recognising rooms that best serve as new 
community spaces and retail units, taking into account the general pedestrian flows, entrances and 
exits at the station.  The evaluations have identified vacant spaces which will be repaired and 
refurbished to be used as a bookable Community Room and Enterprise Offices, included within 
those areas will be independent welfare facilities.  
Incorporated into the designs are a full remodelling and relocation of the existing facilities 
considering the best use of space and station user requirements. It has also enabled the design 
plans to develop a new parent and baby room, an additional accessible toilet, improvements to the 
cycle storage provisions, a full refurbishment of all rooms with new wayfinding signage.  
A proposal for the phasing of works has been developed to reduce impact to customers and on the 
operational running of the station, these options will be available as part of the tender for 
construction, with the opportunity available to further enhance this through innovation from 
contractors, detailed within the responses received. The current programme of works is set to start 
detailed design RIBA stage 4 on 01st June 2022. 
The result of these developments will therefore attract more users to the station and establish that 
sense of arrival into Boston, creating a better overall customer experience, tracked through 
customer experience results. The redevelopment then allows the station to compete with other 
stations in larger towns and cities. This will assist the community to connect to the culture of Boston 
whilst creating new employment opportunities. The new facilities offered will bring the station in line 
with those provisions offered at mainline stations. 
 

Vision 

• Enhanced customer experience 
• Gateway to the town 

• Enhanced accessibility and connectivity 

• Connected Community 
• Enhanced Customer Experience

• Central Hub 
• Gateway to Town 
• Better Quality Life

• Growth of Local economy  
• Employment Benefits

• Gateway to Town
• Central Hub

• Enhanced Customer Experience 

• Sustainable Economic Growth 
• Better Quality of Life

O
bj

ec
tiv

es

Increase in customer experience results/NRPS
Sustainability improvements

Increase in station footfall / journeys
Development of new local businesses

Increase in employment 
Evaluation of revenue uplift  

New community schemes initiated 
Track and monitor community room usage and purpose 

Page 419



3.14.2 An objective of the station redevelopment is to encourage non rail users to the station and to 
integrate the community with the station. This will be achieved by providing additional services for 
the community which are currently unavailable.   
 
To meet this objective the plans include the restoration of a vacant and disused room of 
approximately 56m2 which is suitably positioned towards the main entrance of Boston Station and 
will be transformed into a new Community Café including toilet provisions, (the cafe can be 
available for users outside of the booking office opening times) operated as a self-contained area, 
offering a safe, secure, and friendly meeting place for visitors and businesses, coupled with 
bringing in new employment opportunities for those managing the café. In addition to this, the 
proposal includes a new Community Room available for the public to book for various initiatives 
such as, educational, fitness or community led programmes.  
 
The lease agreements for the cafe will be managed by EMRs Retail Management, Abellio Services 
Business Ventures (ASBV). Community Room usage can be tracked and  monitored, to 
demonstrate how the redevelopment has resulted in integrating the station with the community. 
These will also see added benefits to the towns local economy and improve the experience of 
those visiting the station. The programme of construction phases for these rooms are available in 
the Boston Project Pack (Appendix F) 
 

3.14.3 Improving the overall customer experience and security at the station is a vital component of the 
project. Making changes to prevent anti-social behaviour, crime and to provide continued support 
for the prevention of suicides on the railway.  
 
The project will incorporate new and improved CCTV units throughout the station, providing extra 
station coverage and allowing the station managers to have sight of any known exposed areas. 
This will be achieved by installing new LED lighting, which casts less shadows and enriches images 
on CCTV units by reducing glare. The project will deliver additional constant lighting to illuminate 
darker areas, having a positive effect on the overall feel of the station acting as a further deterrent 
for anti-social behaviour. For details of the full scope of works and timescales refer to Boston 
Project Pack (Appendix F). 
 
The independent National Rail Passenger Surveys and EMRs internal customer survey results will 
demonstrate the satisfaction of the proposed enhancements. EMR anticipates these 
enhancements will  result in the overall feeling of an increased security for station users, improving 
their experience and safety, leading to creating a safer environment for all. EMR can monitor 
passenger accident & incident data post project completion.   
 

3.14.4 Future proofing the station building/layout to make it viable to serve the community and future 
demands whilst delivering sustainable economic growth is a crucial goal of this project.  
 
An independent report has been produced to identify the sustainability benefits that this programme 
will produce (Appendix G). The statistics will be monitored throughout the delivery of the scheme 
and evaluated post project completion. 
 
The project will use more sustainable materials, reusable energy sources and the inclusion of 
electrical vehicle charging provisions, a new secure waste compound all in the aim of working 
towards the principles for BREEAM and reducing the carbon footprint. Restoring the station 
building using lime render, refresh and repaint the building, replacements of the sash windows 
using modern materials whilst being sympathetic to the heritage of the structure and surrounding 
buildings in the Town.   
 
Resulting in reduced building maintenance, reduction in the carbon footprint, increased durability 
of the enhancements and future proofing the station to deliver consistent and reliable services to 
the local community and railway users. The overall results will be achieved following full 
construction completion with some benefits achieved throughout the programme as phases of 
works are completed. See Boston Project Pack (Appendix F) for programme of works. 

Page 420



 
3.14.5 One of the objectives of the redevelopment is to support local ventures to better ingrate the station 

with the Town. This will be achieved by the creation of  two start up Enterprise Offices to assist 
new businesses and provide them with a suitable space to develop their businesses and further 
support the local community integrating with the station.  
 
The office spaces will be available to lease at a low rent for a period of 12-18 months to help kick 
start small to medium local businesses. This medium-term lease agreement will then provide 
opportunities for a continuous cycle of new ventures using the facilities.  
 
Resulting in providing affordable, attractive employment opportunities to the local community, 
reducing the skills and unemployment gap. It will encourage an entrepreneurial spirit within the 
community and as these businesses tend to play a large role in other community schemes, it will 
add to making Boston a great place to live and work.    
 

3.14.6 The project team have consulted with key stakeholders to share the objectives and visions for the 
station and the aim to better integrate the community with the station. The discussions and 
agreements have formed the final option selection of the RIBA 3 drawings of the station. For full 
drawings refer to Boston Project Pack (Appendix F). 
 

3.15  The Proposed Investment: 
The table below outlines the options that have been considered to enhance the station facilities and 
provisions. Setting out missed opportunities in line with; continue as business as usual, do minimum and 
the preferred option.  
 

Options Aims Missed Opportunities  

Business 
as usual 

If funding is not 
provided, then the 
station redevelopment 
would not be able to 
proceed.  The station 
redevelopment is 
heavily reliant on the 
Town Deal funding to 
cover the costs of 
redesigning, 
consultation works, 
SME support, Network 
Rail expertise, and full 
re - construction 
requirements.  
 

• This would lead to missed 
opportunities to highlight Boston 
Train Station as a gateway to the 
town, and the prospect to provide 
an enhanced accessibility and 
connectivity for commuters and 
visitors to the Town.  

• Missed opportunity to fully 
redevelop the station and utilise 
any vacant spaces to support 
economic growth.   

• Unable to improve the 
community’s facilities.  

• Missed opportunities to increase 
productivity, growth, and 
resilience by restoring rail 
services and revitalising town 
centres. 

• Missed opportunity to benefit from 
modernisation and investments 
into the Uk infrastructure. 

• Unable to compete with larger 
cities to aim for levelling up.  

• Missed opportunity in offering a 
better first impression for 
customers travelling to the station 

Not 
Recommended 

Page 421



and in turn providing the best 
experience.  

• Not being in a position to provide 
a better customer retail offering.  

Do 
Minimum 

This option would only 
see maintenance 
carried out at the 
station and would see 
the implementation of 
current plans for EMRs 
committed obligations, 
work to toilets and 
waiting rooms.  

• As above  Not 
Recommended 
 

Preferred 
Option  

Full redevelopment, 
redesign and 
modernisation of 
station. 

 Recommended 
 

 
3.16  Risk Register: 
 During the development of the project the risks have been regularly reviewed and re-categorised, 

some risks have been removed from the scheme as they are no longer relevant. The current key 
risks identified are listed below, included are the details of how these risks will be effectively 
controlled and managed throughout the project: 

 For information relating to the Designers Risk assessments, refer to Boston Project Pack for 
 Make Consulting’s - Designer Risk Register (Appendix F) 
 

Risk Owner Probability Impact Mitigation 

Current market conditions for 
obtaining materials for 
construction work is limited 
and costs are increasing. 
Further increases in costs of 
materials are expected in 
2022. 

EMR 
/Contractor  

High Medium  A 20% contingency has been 
allocated to the scheme which 
provides some mitigation against  
rising material costs.  
 
The tender pack will be requesting a 
fixed price against the scope of works.  
 
External Quantity Surveyor working 
throughout development and delivery 
phase to provide estimated costs and 
manage construction costs against 
current market conditions.  

Contractor quote will only be 
fixed for a certain amount of 
time (Estimated a max of 90 
days). A delay in decision from 
Central Government could 
result in invalidation, of the 
quotes received, resulting in a 
further tender exercise.  

EMR/ 
Contractor  

Low  Medium  EMRs revised procurement process 
has allowed for an adequate amount 
of time to allow for a decision from 
Central Government.  
 
The quotes are expected to be valid 
until a least early June 2022, in line 
with the anticipated response from 
Central Government. 
 
Quantity Surveyor providing indicative 
costs for full scope of work for full 
construction. Allowing a more 
accurate reflection of costs for work 

Page 422



and materials to meet budget 
requirements.  
 

Costs and delays being 
incurred due to the impact of 
Coronavirus on safe working 
practices. 

EMR / 
Contractor  

High High EMRs procurement team will work 
diligently to manage the contracts can  
control this risk. Identifying long lead 
times for materials and working 
effectively with suppliers will reduce 
this risk. PQQ for Tender requesting 
resource plans from Contractors in 
the event of Coronavirus impacts.  

Works on site impact the 
operational running of the 
station, impact on staff and 
customers. Included the 
additional impact over the 
summer period of increase 
passengers.  
 

EMR 
/Contractor  

Medium  Low A proposal for the phasing of works 
has been developed to reduce impact 
to customers and on the operational 
running of the station and are included 
within the tender packs.  

These will be further enhanced 
through the responses received when 
during the Tender process.    

The project plan will have control over 
site access, management of 
deliveries/contractors, method of 
works, work package plans, line block 
possessions required for bridge 
works. This information is also 
contained within the Pre Construction 
Information (PCIP) included within the 
tender pack.  

Design constraints due to 
conservation status and 
history of the building 
 

EMR/Herita
ge 

Low Low Boston Station is not a listed building, 
although the community and The 
Railway Heritage Trust (TRHT) have 
always seen this as historical building 
and have a vested interest in retaining 
the heritage of the station. To mitigate 
any potential issues, the project has 
consulted and engaged with (TRHT) 
throughout the development of the 
designs. 

Limited land allowance for site 
set up 
 

EMR / 
Contractor 

Low Low During the development of the project, 
we have identified areas within the 
Asda car park and two areas near the 
staff car park owned by  Network Rail 
that can be utilised for site set up. 
Discussions have been initiated to 
review which option is best for the 
scheme.  

Associate costs and impact on 
programme to acquire Network 
Rail Line Blocks / Possession 

Network 
Rail  

Low Medium  The requirement for line block 
possession for works to the bridge 
have been built into tender pack with 
the obligation for the contractor to 
initiated and plan accordingly. These 
are also items discussed with Network 
Rail and ASPRO in the re-occurring 
stakeholder meetings during the 
development of the scheme.    

Closure of overbridge when 
works are taken place, impact 
on passengers and staff 

EMR/NR High  Low The project team have identified a 
additional step free  access route to 
the platforms if works require the 
bridge to be closed for a period of 
time. The communication plan will 
engage with the appropriate groups to 

Page 423



ensure notification of any changes are 
delivered in a timely manner.  

Works taking place in a railway 
environment risks of injury for 
contractor or railway users  

EMR/Contr
actor  

Low  High EMRs chosen procurement process 
will have Pre-Qualification Questions 
(PQQ) built in at the beginning of the 
Tender process, this will enable EMR 
to outline key requirements from 
Contractors, relating specifically 
Railway experience, DPE, CRM and 
CEM qualifications with Network Rail 
approval for the Contractor.  

Working at height and 
scaffolding requirements, 
injury from working at height or 
items being dropped from 
height 

EMR/ 
Contractor  

Low High The controls in place will be formed as 
part of the Work Package Plan (WPP) 
and Risk Assessment Method 
Statement (RAMS) for each stage in 
conjunction with health and safety 
regulations.  

Risk of being unable 
identifying a tenant and 
arrange leasing agreements 
for commercial spaces 
(community café and SME 
spaces) 

EMR/ASBV Low  Medium  EMR work with Abellio Service 
Business Ventures who manage the 
lease of commercial spaces. 

Inadequate resources to 
develop and deliver scheme  

EMR Low  High Town Deal Funding will fund EMR and 
NR resource costs. Internal EMR 
review of resource available to project 
manage the scheme.  

Reputational risk of the Archco 
areas of Boston Station (Thai 
Restaurant) remaining in 
disrepair)  

EMR Medium  Low Engagement will continue with Archo 
to acquire funding and permission to 
bring the unit into scope of works. 

Lack of community 
engagement, impacting on the 
reputation of the scheme 

EMR Medium  Low An EMR workstream has been set up 
dedicated to input in the 
communication strategy. Focus 
placed on internal, external, 
community engagement through 
various means i.e. post code drop, 
face to face engagement, social 
media and EMRs website. The project 
will create supporting visuals and 
have aligned the comms plan with the 
council in line with Central 
Government guidelines.   

Adverse weather impacting on 
delivering project milestones  

EMR/ 
Contractor 

Medium  Low  Awareness of long term changing 
weather forecast patterns to inform 
changes to construction delivery 
programme. Contractor to make 
suitable provisions to deal with 
adverse weather.  

 
 
3.17  RIBA Stage 3 Designs: 
 Below is a high-level summary of the main proposed changes for Boston station. See Boston 
 Project Pack to see the full plans (Appendix F).   
 

Page 424



 
 
 
 
 
 
 Sustainability and Environment: 
 
 The project will make significant improvements to energy efficiencies through the upgrades to the 
 fabrics of the building and incorporating the principles of breeam. The proposal will include an 
 Electrical vehicle charging point, LED lighting and new green areas.  and use sustainable materials 
 to reduce carbon footprint. As part of the development of this project EMR have instructed a report 
 to be written outlining the key energy benefits with the associated statistics. For the full report on 
 the sustainability benefits see (Appendix G) 

 
 Ticket Office/Waiting Room: 
 The proposal will complete a full renovation of the station entrance area which will see the waiting 
 room, ticket office and community café being brought together to provide a user-friendly gateway 
 into the station. Ticket office will be refurbished, and an additional accessible toilet facility is also 
 proposed for this area. 
   
 The Community Café:  
 The community café will occupy the vacant space adjacent to the Thai restaurant. This has a vacant 
 space of 56m2. With a seat occupancy of 17, this room will provide a community hub to 
 encourage non railway users to the station, the café can be access from both the platform side 
 and the public side.   
 The room requires full restoration, and the final product will comprise of cafe tables, worktops with 
 plugs and sockets, arrivals and departure display boards. bar stool seating, sandwich chillers a 
 serving and preparation area, with a serving hatch leading onto the platform.  
 The café will be linked to the waiting room area through a new opened arch way and the cafe has 
 been designed with toilet facilities which will allow the cafe to run as a self-contained unit, outside 
 of the ticket office opening hours. 
 
 Community Room: 

Page 425



 The Community Room dimension of 23.10m2. will provide a bookable space for use by local groups 
 of up to 10 – 15.  We  envisage this would be a popular space for local community groups, such as 
 schools, local  workshops run by the community rail teams or supported charities, educational 
 learning groups, art groups, mother and baby groups, fitness room and also by local businesses 
 as a meeting space.   
 Our aspirations are that the proceeds of the rent will be used to support local community initatives. 
 The fit for the room with be designed as a meeting  room/conference room with a number of fold 
 away chairs and tables, to allow users to also benefit from utilising the full floor space.  
 As referenced earlier in this business case, EMR are working on developing the business case for 
 the redevelopment of Skegness Station in line with the Towns Funding. Proposals within the 
 Skegness case are to convert spaces at the station to better serve the community. The proposal 
 at Skegness is to convert one of the rooms into a bookable community room with additional new 
 start up offices similar to the plan for Boston station.  
 At EMRs Sleaford Train Station a new community room is currently being developed which has 
 already seen positive engagement and demand for this space. This has been developed with the 
 collaboartive  workings between EMR, NR The Railway Heritage Trust and with The Community 
 Rail Partnerhip.  This  project has the option to utlise the existing model to secure bookings for 
 Boston Community Room. 
 

Start Up Offices: 
Two start up offices with neutral branding will be developed to provide new local businesses with 
a low cost space to develop their business. We would anticipate that the leasing term will be limited 
to 12-18 months to allow multiple start up business to benefit from this offering. The area available 
for each room is approximately 12m2. 
The indiviual rooms will be fitted out with a desk, chair and plugs. The surrounding area will provide 
a commual walfare facilities including a tea point, sink, storage and toliet facilities that will also be 
shared with the community room. 

 Parent and Baby Room: 
A new parent and baby room will be installed and can be accessed via platform one of the station. 
This will be refurbished to the standard of the EMR branding palette and provide a fold down baby 
changing unit a toilet and sink.  

 Toliets: 
The former waiting room will be converted in to male toilets and female toilets as per EMR brand 
designs. The project considered a gender neutral toilet facility provision however, a traditional 
layout was identifed as a preference after consultation with British Transport Police and other key 
stakeholders. 

 
 Store: 

An idntified vacant space will be converted into stoage space for the commnity café, additional 
storage spaces have been allocated for station items. There is also an allocated space for a 
cleaning store and a secure room to house lost property. A separate plant room will house plant 
equipment, IT servers, distrubution boards etc.  
 

 Back of house area: 
 All back of house areas will be refurbished to refresh those rooms to show consistency 
 throughout the building and to provide the adequate facilities for staff.   

 
 Platform furniture and improvements: 

Page 426



The scheme has reviewed the locations of all existing furniture provision and will replace all 
benches, shelters and waiting areas with modern sustainable products, adding additional 
provisions where needed.  The scheme is still in discussions with NR to determine the scope of 
any platform improvements that would be delivered under this scheme.  The current condition of 
the platforms are considered satisfactory and would not be considered for significant upgrades until 
future NR control periods (post 2024). However, the scheme are aware of a NR tactile paving 
initiative  and aspirations, which could provide up an opportunity to work collaboratively to allow 
this scheme to deliver tactile paving within this programme.  

 
 Cycle Provisions: 

The project intends to remove the current cycle pods from the station platform and to provide a 
robust cycle storge unit by the station entrance.  This new unit will be covered by CCTV to provide 
additional security. 

 
 Waste/Storage Compound: 

The scheme will create a secure compound adjacent to the staff car parking areas, to house winter 
weather provision and wheelie bins that are currently loose around the station. This structure will 
be set on a concrete plinth to provide a level ground with louvered aluminium panels providing 80% 
visual screening, this will include a water provision to allow cleaning of the unit.  This compound 
will be large enough to hold the existing 3 bins and an additional two more for the commercial units. 
 
During consultations with Network Rail regarding this scheme, an opportunity for EMR became 
available to take additional land into EMRs lease area. This additional land is located adjacent to 
the staff car park and this would facilitate the space required for the construction site and open up 
the opportunities for the location of the new bin compound. Acquiring the land from NR will form a 
lease contract and EMR and NR have experience in this process. Acquiring this land is a 
betterment to the programme and the programme is not dependent on obtaining this, but it allows 
the station to have future provisions for car park extensions or other schemes.  
   

 
 Bridge Works: 

Refurbishment of the bridge will be carried out, with additional measures put in place to prevent 
sitting water, adding in heavy duty anti slip treads with additional CCTV and lighting installed to 
cover hidden areas of the bridge and effectively making the condition of the bridge safer. Art work 
is planned for the bridge to welcome people to Boston Station and to create a feature that 
showcases an unique identity for the station. The scheme will work with the Poacher Line 
Community Railway Partnership to achieve this.  

 
 Main Station Building: 

Significant improvements will be made to the main station building. External improvements will 
include render with lime mortar to protect the brick, restored sash windows, new lighting, and 
repointing and general tidy up to improve the aesthetics of the building and surrounding areas.  

 
 Signage: 

A wayfinding study has identified the need for station signage to be reconfigured to be aligned with 
the station proposals to enable station users to move more effectively around the station. This will 
include improved accessibility information and will be assessed during RIBA stage 4 to provide the 
best solution.   
 
Canopies: 

 Work will be undertaken to repair the pigeon netting and paint the canopies and make aesthetic 
 improvements.   
 
 Accessibility: 

The scheme will improve accessibility provisions at the station, all spaces will be DDA compliant 
with a range of seating heights provided. The ticket office counter will have a lowered level, tactile 
signage, the design concept for areas have been consulted with EMRs accessibility panel to ensure 

Page 427



the needs of all station users are met. The design has incorporated an additional accessible w/c 
provision.  

 
 Lighting: 

External lighting has been reviewed and LED solutions will be installed to provide a more energy 
efficient provision.  Additional lighting will be strategically placed to improve visibility and security 
across the station environment. Improvements to the emergency lighting and linking this to the 
adjacent train crew building.  

 
 Landscaping:  

Improvements will be made around the staff car park area to provide step free access to the new 
waste compound and car park from platform 1 via a ramp. Car park lining will be reconfigured to 
allow for waste compound, accessible bay, electrical vehicle charging point and a new safe walking 
route to protect pedestrians from moving vehicles. Landscaping will also take place around the 
front of the community rooms to make the area more welcoming and aesthetically pleasing.  
 

 Taxis: 
The scheme will improve the current taxi rank by installing seating provisions and improved lighting, 
to make this an official taxi point.  

 
 M&E 

The proposal will see new heating systems, ventilation, new re wiring where required, new air 
conditioning units, additional and improved CCTV provisions, electronic access controls, fire 
alarms system upgrades and enhanced intruder alarm system.   

 
 IT:  

Modernised IT infrastructure including improved station WIFI system. New interactive customer 
digital information systems to provide up to date journey and onward travel information.  
 

 Additional Improvement Works & Investment   
 
 The project will where possible continue to make improvements to the programme of works 
 which can be taken forward into RIBA Stage 4 designs. Any remaining contingency funds will be 
 used on additional enhancements to the station.   
 
 EMR will continue to engage with third parties to seek to secure further investment for the scheme 
 during the life of project and to stay up to date with any current or future developments proposed. 
 EMR are aware that Network Rail have a programme of works planned to pilot LED lighting column 
 scheme at Boston, which is expected to be installed in 2022/2023.   
 
 Network Rail have a strategy in place to review improvements required for stations across the 
 network. No significant works are planned for Boston with in NR current control period 6 up to 
 March 2024, but we are working with NR to understand any future planned works.    
 
3.18 Accessibility Panel: 

EMR has held consultation workshops with our established accessibility panel, to develop design 
concepts for station areas. The principles following the consultation have then been applied 
throughout this scheme. Choice of floor spec, tactile signage, colour scheme, alternative height 
seating options. The final product will provide an environment fit for all station users.  

 
3.19 Stakeholders: 
   The project has identified the key external stakeholders and completed a RACI model to identify 
 each individual’s role and input towards the scheme and the appropriate level of consultation and 
 sharing of information required. 
 

Page 428



Below are key external stakeholders identified:   

Organisation Role  Interest in this Project  

Make Consulting Managing Surveyor Lead design consultant for RIBA Stage 3 drawings 

Network Rail Station & Depot Portfolio Surveyor Station lease plans and Station Portfolio management 

Network Rail Senior Asset Engineer (Building 
Fabric) Regulation of building works 

Network Rail Senior Asset Engineer (Building 
Services) Management of Mechanical and Electrical Systems 

Network Rail Project Sponsor Accountability for Network Rail led activities  

Network Rail ASPRO  
Any works that are carried out on or near the railway line are 
assessed for safety and adherence to procedures by the 
Asset Protection Optimisation Teams (ASPRO) 

Department for Transport Commercial Manager Sign off for EMR for the development of the project 

East Lindsey District Council Strategic Funding Manager Council Town Delivery Team 

East Lindsey District Council Assistant Director Assistant Director of the Towns Fund 

MP Boston & Skegness Member of Parliament - Digital, 
Culture, Media & Sport End product delivered against wider strategical policies  

The Railway Heritage Trust Executive Director Designs to compliment the historical status  Boston Station 
and providing match funding.  

Lincolnshire County Council Community Rail Officer - Poacher 
Line Community aspirations and providing match funding  

Network Rail Town Planning Manager Advise on any local planning consents required  

Boston Borough Council Transformation Officer Boston Borough Council Town Delivery Team 

Lincolnshire County Council Sustainability Team Improvements to Walking and Cycling 

Archco Landlord of Thai restaurant unit  Building connected to Boston Station, leased from Network 
Rail by Archco 

Amion Associate Director Economic Business Case development 

Distract  Head of PR Appointed by the Council for the communication of the 
Towns Fund programme  

Boston Borough Council  Operations Manager  Recycling and reusing redundant furniture  

Sustrans  Secretary to the Cycle Rail Working 
Group Cycle Storage facilities and standards  

Asda Asda Representative  Car Parking  

 
 
 
3.20 Key External Stakeholders: 

Key Stakeholder Boston Meeting 
Identified key external stakeholder who attend a fortnightly progress meeting where project 
milestones and designs are consulted, and status updates shared.  
 
Actions Tracker Update, progress update, scheme/workstream update, latest drawings reviewed, 
progress against milestones, review of project risks and next steps. The notes and supporting 
documents from the meeting are distributed.  
 
In addition to the above the three following work streams have been set up throughout the project 
development: 
 

 Network Rail/ ASPRO meeting 
Fortnightly meetings in place to discuss the detailed design requirements and NR work stream. 
These meetings ensure that the design requirements meet NR standards, in order to aid the 
engineering assurance process. 
 

Page 429



Community Engagement 
EMR have a dedicated Community Engagement Team developed to lead on all aspects of 
engagement with the community to enhance our stations. The Poacher Line Community Railway 
Partnership works closely with EMRs Community Ambassadors for developments along the 
Nottingham to Skegness route.  
 
EMR hold quarterly meetings with the Community Railway Partnerships and Network Rail to 
discuss station aspirations, developments in progress and agree actions to initiate projects. 
Meetings are formally tracked and minuted to help create a guide for station developments along 
the route. Aspirations for Boston Station have formed part of the development of this project.  
 
Boston in Bloom have formed a partnership with EMR and the Community Railway Partnership 
focused on developments and improvements to Boston Station. Some of the proposals discussed 
in 2017 were regarding improving the aesthetics of the station building, adding in new planters with 
the support of the station adopters and the creation of a new Community Room.  
 
Boston in Bloom have been very supportive of the creation of a Community Room, that they 
envisage can be used as a provision to facilitate the Boston in Bloom tours. The room can be used 
to hold the annual judging events, notably as the station is seen as a gateway to Boston Town.    
 
One of the proposals within this business case is to arrange for artwork to be added to the station 
footbridge as a welcome to Boston. EMR have now progressed conversations with the Community 
Railway Partnership to identify a suitable local artist and complete a survey for Boston residents to 
understand what artwork they would wish to see on the station footbridge.  
 
Council Engagement  
Periodic meetings have been in place to discuss the development and submission requirements of 
the business case and government requirements for scheme. These meeting have been utilised to 
seek feedback throughout the development phase, draft versions of the business case and 
presentation of information i.e., financial profile, designs and to consult on our identified 
procurement and communication strategy.  
 
Design Meeting 
Fortnightly meeting with Make Consulting our chosen designer and the core EMR project team. 
This forum is used to discuss all elements of the scheme and requirements, discuss action tracker, 
progress update, latest drawings reviewed, progress against milestones, review of project risks, 
financials, tender documents, and next steps.  
 

3.21 Ad hoc consultations  
Additional engagement has taken place throughout the development of the scheme with various 
external stakeholders to ensure all requirements have been gathered and scheme update shared 
as per our communications plan.  
 

3.22 Internal stakeholders Engagement  
Comprehensive consultations have taken place internally with EMRs stakeholders throughout the 
development of this business case, further details are provided in the project management section 
of this business case.  
 
All of the above stakeholder engagement has been monitored, captured and tracked as part of 
EMRs electronic project toolkit, and work stream documentation. During the requirements 
capturing phase of the scheme, detailed consultations were undertaken with internal and external 
stakeholders to ensure that the proposals benefits would meet the needs of all parties involved. 
These consultations then allowed us to identify the following deliverables / themes as a priority: 
 

3.23  Stakeholder viewpoint: 

Page 430



Listed below is a summary of the stakeholder viewpoint of the project and how it has influenced 
the strategic case. 

• Reconfigure the station layout to best utilise the space and bring vacant areas into use. 
• Retail offering and sourcing tenants for the café unit 
• Provisions required for refreshments  
• Better internal signage and signage to sign post Boston town and the walking/cycling route 
• Grouping passenger facilities together to improve passenger experience and accessibility  
• Creating a gateway to Boston Town through changes to the aesthetics of the building 
• Integration with the local community through using local artists for art work and upkeep of 

landscaping    
• Modernising the provisions of the station to bring in line with the rest of the industry 
• Enhanced security and safety with improvements to CCTV, lighting, fire alarms and access 

controls 
• Improvements to energy efficiency status and reduction in carbon footprint through the 

implementation of improvements to M&E, IT, waste facilities and inclusion of electrical vehicle 
charging located in staff car park.  

• Upgrades to overall station facilities  
• Improvements to external seating 
• Type and specification for cycle provisions. 

 
The viewpoint of stakeholders across the board have been positive and that this scheme offers a brilliant 
opportunity for the station and surrounding areas.  

Page 431



ECONOMIC CASE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 432



4  ECONOMIC CASE 

4.1 INTRODUCTION 
 
The purpose of the Economic Case is to identify the proposal that delivers best public value to society, 
including wider social and environmental effects.  
 
4.2 APPROACH TO ECONOMIC CASE 
 
The Economic Case assesses the economic impacts of the Boston Station project and whether value for 
money for the public sector is optimised.  This initially involved developing a long-list of options, with the 
options qualitatively assessed to identify a shortlist.  A quantitative comparison of the shortlisted options 
and the Base Case is then set out to identify the preferred option. Sensitivity analysis follows to test the 
quantitative findings of the preferred option. 

The assessment of economic benefits for this Towns Fund scheme has been undertaken in full 
compliance with the latest HM Treasury Green Book (2020) and relevant Departmental guidance, such 
as Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG). 

There are a number of overarching assumptions which apply to the value for money assessment (unless 
otherwise stated): 

• all short-listed options have been appraised over a 30-year period, consistent with appraisal 
guidance for the refurbishment of existing assets. 

• where Present Value figures are presented, cost and values have been discounted at 3.5% 
• all monetised costs and benefits have been converted to 2021/22 prices, with general inflation 

excluded. 
• the costs and benefits of the intervention options are presented in net terms and relative to the 

Base Case.  Adjustments have also been made for additionality e.g. leakage, displacement and 
multiplier effects where appropriate (as detailed below). 

• Optimism Bias of 10% has been calculated using HM Treasury methodology and included in the 
value for money analysis. 

The framework for assessing the economic benefits of the Boston Train project has been developed 
having regard to the HM Treasury Green Book, MHCLG, BEIS and DCMS guidance. As set out within the 
MHCLG Appraisal Guide, projects should be appraised on the basis of a Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR).  
The calculation of costs and benefits has accounted for latest recommendations from MHCLG in relation 
to the Towns Fund, as well as other recent publications for regeneration and cultural projects. Reflecting 
the diverse nature of the interventions and their expected impacts, as well as the existing conditions within 
Boston and Skegness, a wide range of external benefits have been assessed in accordance with guidance 
as set out in the Economic Benefits section below. 
 
4.3 ADDITIONALITY 

Of key importance in assessing the impact of the proposals on the local economy is the extent to which 
new activity is truly additional, in other words it does not simply displace existing activity.  Furthermore, it 
is important to understand who is likely to benefit from the impacts generated and the degree to which 
further demand and investment is stimulated.  

 

Page 433



To assess the net additional impact of the proposals and overall anticipated additionality of the proposed 
project options, the following factors have therefore been considered: 

• Leakage – the proportion of outputs that benefit those outside of the project’s target area or group 
 

• Displacement – the proportion of project outputs accounted for by reduced outputs elsewhere in 
the target area. Displacement may occur in both the factor and product markets 
 

• Multiplier effects – further economic activity associated with additional local income and local 
supplier purchases  
 

• Deadweight – outputs which would have occurred without the project (Base Case)  

The approach to assessing the net additional impact of a project, taking into account the above 
adjustments, is shown diagrammatically below. 

 
 
For the economic modelling, we have assumed a composite additionality factor of 80% 
 
4.4 ECONOMIC BENEFITS 
 
The economic modelling included a number of monetised benefits, consistent with governmental guidance.  
These included (i) land value uplift; (ii) educational (iii) welling of residents into work; (iii) labour market 
entrants; (iv) productivity; (v) crime reduction; and (vi) distributional. 
 

      Intervention options         Reference case        Net additional impact 

 

Page 434



The proposal will have positive distributional effects, by encouraging investment within Boston, and 
helping to re-balance the economy away from London and the South East.  The approach used to calculate 
these effects is that set out in the HM Treasury Green Book, based on equivalised disposable household 
income and welfare weights (“estimate of the marginal utility of income”).  The generalised marginal welfare 
weight after housing costs established for Boston by AMION is 1.37 which provides a reflection of the 
positive effects on net disposable income.   
 
These benefits are outlined in more detail below 
 

Towns Fund 
investment 
theme 

Key benefits Wider social and economic benefits  Key guidance to 
model and 
monetise 
benefits 

Skills 
infrastructure 

• Educational  • Increased employment and income  
• Attraction of businesses interested in the 

skills offered by the new infrastructure 

BEIS  

Enterprise 
infrastructure 

• Residents into work • Increased employment and income  
• Better wellbeing 

MHCLG  

Enterprise 
infrastructure 

• New entrants • Increased employment and income  
• Improved wellbeing 

MHCLG  

Skills 
infrastructure 

• Distributional • Levelling up 
• Assisting relatively deprived areas 

HMT, MHCLG 

Regeneration, 
planning and 
land use 

• Land value uplift • Increases in local values associated with 
investment 

MHCLG 

 
 
4.5 ECONOMIC COSTS 
 
The financial costs of the proposed intervention have been developed by the Boston Station Project 
Team, drawing on significant experience of delivering similar projects across the local authority areas.  
The nominal financial costs in the Financial Case have been converted to economic costs in line with the 
Green Book approach by using the HM Treasury’s GDP deflator index to convert estimates of future costs 
to Constant (2021/22) prices.  The constant price costs have been adjusted to present value costs by 
applying the Treasury’s Social Time Preference discount rate of 3.5% per annum. Public capital 
expenditure within the programme is expected to run until 2022/23, in line with the Towns Fund guidance.  
  

 

4.6 VALUE FOR MONEY ASSESSMENT 
 
A bespoke economic model was created to calculate the Benefit Cost Ratio, BCR of the proposed 
intervention.  The results are summarised below 

Type Source Total Amount  
Public sector cost (undiscounted) Local Authority £2.7 million 
Public sector cost (discounted) Green Book STPR £2.5 million 
Optimism Bias AMION £0.3 million 
Public sector cost (with OB) - £2.8 million 

Page 435



 
From Green Book (2020) guidance (p. 40): When considering proposals from a UK perspective the relevant values are viewed from the perspective of UK society as a 
whole. Where appraising a place based policy or a UK wide proposal with place based effects the relevant values include effects in the place of interest and similar nearby 
travel to work areas. The relevant costs and benefits which may arise from an intervention should be valued and included in Social CBA unless it is not proportionate to 
do so. The priority costs and benefits to quantify are those likely to be decisive in determining the differences between alternative options. The appraisal of social value 
involves the calculation of Net Present Social Value (NPSV) and Benefits Cost Ratios (BCRs) the ratio of benefits to costs. 
 
 
4.7 SUMMARY 
 
The analysis undertaken in this Economic Case was consistent with HM Treasury’s Green Book and other 
departmental guidance.  For the Boston Station project there a smorgasbord of benefits.  The costings 
have been calibrated for Optimism Bias at 10% and discounted using HMT’s 3.5%. 
 
The provisional BCR = 1.54 provides an “acceptable” value for money.  (MHCLG Appraisal Guide classes 
a BCR greater than two as ‘high’ value for money and between one and two as ‘acceptable’).  
 
A value engineering exercise as part of the finalisation of the Economic Case has been undertaken and 
has identified a saving of potentially £156,521 which allied with 20% contingency of the build budget of 
£375,594 means the actual delivery cost is likely to be £2,267,885 which will deliver an ultimate BCR of 
£1.9 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Value for money assessment 
(£M, discounted, 21/22 prices) 

 Core scenario Sensitivity test 1 
No distributional  

Sensitivity test 2 
OB at 20% 

 
Economic benefits 

    

Land value uplift  £0.01 £0.01 £0.01 
Educational 
Residents in work 

 £0.4 
£0.03 

£0.4 
£0.03 

£0.4 
£0.03 

Labour market entrants  £0.3 £0.3 £0.3 
Productivity 
Crime reduction 
Distributional  
Total economic benefits 

 
 
 

(A) 

£1.4 
£1.0 
£1.2 
£4.3 

£1.4 
£1.0 

- 
£3.2 

£1.4 
£1.0 
£1.2 
£4.3 

 
Economic costs     
Towns Fund (B) £2.6 £2.6 £2.8 
Co-funding (C) £0.2 £0.2 £0.2 
Total public sector  (D) = (B) + (C) £2.8  £2.8 £3.0 
     
Benefit Cost Ratio (A) / (D) 1.54 1.18 1.41 
     

Page 436



FINANCIAL CASE 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PRACTICE NOTES 
 
 
The Financial Case assesses the affordability of the 
investment, identifying cost, revenue, and funding sources.  
 
Note the level of detail should be proportionate to the size of 
the project.  
 
If you are developing a programme case, each project 
should have its own financial profile within this section. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 437



5 FINANCIAL CASE 

The financial case outlines how the Towns Deal Fund and any co- funding will be 
used  throughout the development and delivery of the project. It details 
organisations that have provided funding and how costs have been developed. It 
clearly sets out EMRs contingencies in place for any risks or emerging issues to 
ensure that the project meets the programme of works within budget.  
 
5.1  Introduction:  

Based on the information provided within the strategic case and economic case it shows there are 
clear benefits in making the proposed investments to the station for a full redevelopment. The 
business case sets out all the opportunities that have been identified to enhance the overall 
customer experience of railway users, provide better connectivity and accessibility, integrate the 
community with the station to create a gateway to the town, to make Boston a more attractive 
choice to live and work in, resulting in better quality of life and economic growth.  
The historical lack of investment into the station has only further added to the requirements to 
modernise and enhance the facilities to bring it into line with larger towns and cities. Providing 
Boston with a Train Station fit to service the local community.  
With a predicted increase in journeys over the years and potential increase to weekend leisure 
travel (without any station enhancements), these stations users will be able to benefit from the 
redevelopment and the expectation is that this will attract more users to the station, easing the 
congestion on the roads.  

5.2  Approach to Financial Case: 
EMR assessments have shown that a significant amount of investment is needed to enhance the 
station to bring it to the level and standard of other stations. The project has reviewed other funding 
streams available to make the required level of enhancements to meet the objectives of the 
redevelopment. However, without the Towns Fund investment these enhancements would be 
limited and only stretch to EMRs committed obligations for upgrades to toilets and waiting room 
facilities.  

EMR have and will continue to explore additional funding during the development of this project to 
support the scheme and on joint ventures to ensure enhancements are consistent i.e., 
improvements to the Archco areas of Boston Station and additional funding through Network Rail.  

EMR have funded the initial layout costs for the development of the business case and designs up 
to RIBA Stage 3 including resources costs for EMR. This internal funding has been obtained by 
prioritising this scheme over other EMR schemes, allowing the project team to fully develop this 
business case and focus on the scheme. EMR will be reimbursed these development costs pending 
approval from Central Government. The amount of this is outlined within the financial tables in the 
cost section of this business case section ref 5.5. 

5.3 Funding  

EMR have committed to providing £80,000 in co-funding towards the scheme.  EMR are currently 
within an Emergency Recovery Measures Agreement (ERMA) which has been extended until 
October 2022, this is a contractual agreement with the Department for Transport.  The funding 
obtained through EMR would be classed as public funding until such time we have exited the 
ERMA.   

The Railway Heritage Trust (TRHT) have been on the journey with EMR in developing the plans to 
make the enhancements at the station, they have committed to providing funding of £100,00 to be 

Page 438



used in addition to the Towns Funding. Formal letter of this funding has been received by EMR 
(Appendix H).  The funding from TRHT will be used towards building restoration works and repairs 
to the historical features at the station.  

Community Rail Network have funded the scheme for £3,250, towards installing large decorative 
planters, to create a grand entrance to the station.  

Lincolnshire County Council have supported the scheme through funding the initial RIBA Stage 1 
and 2 concept designs for the station at a cost of £3,550.  

The project has a total of £186,800 which has been sourced as co- funding in addition to the 
Towns Funding of the proposed £2.5m investment. This brings the overall total budget to 
£2,686,800 derived from the public sector.  

5.4  The table below outlines the funding sources and if this is private or public sector 
 funding: 

 
* EMR are currently in an ERMA until at least October 2022, therefore funding from EMR would be 
classed as public sector funding. 
 

 
*Reduced by 1% for business case development  
** Total co-funding of £186,800, of which £6,800 has been spent pre 2022 
*** Total cost of scheme less the amount for business case costs 
**** Remaining project budget for development and delivery of the scheme 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Type Source                                   Total Amount  
Public sector Towns Fund £2,500,000 
Public sector  Community Rail Network  £3,250 
Public sector Lincolnshire County Council  £3,550 
Public sector* East Midlands Railway  £80,000 
Public sector  The Rail Heritage Trust                                                           £100,000 
Total                                          £2,686,800 

Boston Town Deal Funding Amount  Co- Funding  Total Project Cost  Project Budget  
£2,475,248* 

 £186,800** £2,662,048*** £2,655,248**** 

Page 439



 
 
5.5 Development Costs: 
 

The financial table below outlines the costs involved to develop the project to RIBA Stage 3 
including EMRs resource. A total development project cost of £89,381 with a development 
contingency of 10% (£8,126) of the total development amount.   
 

Development Phase  Dec-21 Comments 
Consultant Fees RIBA Stage 3  £27,375 Design fees up to RIBA stage 3  

Surveys £9,180 
Example, M&E Condition, CCTV drainage 
surveys 

3D Renders  £2,500   
QS Costs  £3,200 QS support throughout the Tender process  
Sustainability Report  £4,000   
EMR Resource Project 
Resource  £35,000   
Development Contingency  £8,126 10% of scheme  
Total  £89,381   

 
 
5.6 Delivery Costs: 
 

The table below outlines the remaining budget after all known development and delivery costs have 
been deducted. It shows a 20% contingency for the scheme, and assumed a Design and Build 
contract value of £1.8 million.   

 
 Delivery Phase  Amount  Comments 
 Budget £2,565,868   
Legal fees  £5,000 Solicitor Fees for commercial lease arrangements x3 
External Resource  

£67,013 
Network Rail Sponsor , Make Consulting (post contract, 
Tender support) ,ASPRO, ASBV 

EMR Project Resource Delivery 
 £129,940 

 

Network Rail Engineering Assurance  £60,270  
Design Stage SBEM £1,650 To be confirmed  
CEM/CRE/DPE Approval for 
drawings £11,140 

 

Contingency 10% £256,587 10% contingency for delivery phase held back from contractor 
Subtotal  £531,600  Subtotal for known delivery costs  
Remaining Budget £2,034,268   
Estimated Cost of delivery   £1,877,747 Please note that this includes a 20% risk/contingency budget 
Potential Under Spend *  £156,521 

 

 
*The potential underspend will be ring fenced for further enhancements to the scheme/increased 
scope/contingency. Please also note that there are some minor elements of this scheme that will 
be fully defined at detailed design stage (External elements of Archo unit, level of platform 
resurfacing works), which could utilise these costs.   

 
 
5.7 Estimated Quantity Surveyor Costs: 
  
 Estimated costs to deliver Boston redevelopment as per RIBA Stage 3 designs have been 
 calculated by Make Consulting QS to be £1,877,747.  Please refer to Appendix F for cost 
 breakdown plan. 
 

Page 440



 
 
5.8 Resource: 

 
The total resource costs for the delivery of the Boston redevelopment are estimated at £196,953. 
This is broken down into internal and external resource costs. Please see Boston Project Pack 
Appendix F for detailed breakdown of resource costs. 

 
 
5.9 Contingencies: 
 

A 10% contingency has been allocated for the scheme and will not be shared with the contractor.  
 
The estimated costs as outlined in Makes cost plan includes a 20% risk contingency.  We would 
expect the contingency to cover elements such as, known and unknown risks, rising cost of 
materials and variations from tender responses.  
 
All contingency amounts remaining from the Development stage and during the Delivery stage will 
be used towards enhancements for the station.   

 
5.10 Breakdown of deliverables of development phase: 

 Consultant (Development) 

• Review of existing designs and redraw to match current standards. 
• Creation of Tender pack and support through the Tender process 
• Visual designs for consultation purposes 
• Ground surveys 
• Utility surveys 
• M&E evaluations 
• Structural engineering services – full process 
• Architectural design services – full process 
• Design works RIBA stage 2 – 3 inclusive for Boston. 
• In situ 3D render drawings to easily visualise proposals in EMR space for use in external and 

internal promotion 
• Interior Design Proposals for East Midlands Railway (EMR) back of House areas, EMR Ticket 

office and Waiting Area, Internal concourse areas, Customer Toilet areas and Community Café / 
meeting / training areas. 

• Technical specification to include all fixtures & fittings e.g.  tables, seating type, picture walls, 
lighting effect, light fittings etc, 

• Product proposals with longevity that can be easily replicated in future projects.  
• Diversity & Disability impact assessment on the final designs, 
• Budget costs for all elements 
• Resource internally to manage project through full development stage. 

 EMR Project Resource (Development) 
 

• EMR resource in advance of the construction works to manage the design consultants,  
• Initiation and set up of project including all relevant documentation and tool kit 
• Periodic status reports  
• Day to day management of project documentation and internal governance  
• Effective handover to delivery  
• stakeholder consultations, overall engagement 
• delivery of Stage 2 Business Case document. 
• Development of Tender process   

Page 441



• Leading of Design and Build Tender process 
• EMR IT resource costs  
• Engagement with key stakeholders including securing third party funding.  
• Engage with NR to define engineering assurance process and approval requirements 
• Asset Protection and Optimisation (ASPRO) engagement  
• Submission of EMR internal business case 

 
 
5.11 Breakdown of deliverables: 
 
 Project Resource (Delivery Phase) 
 

• EMR project delivery 
• RIBA 4 detailed design works  
• Approval sought through NR Engineering Assurance Process 
• Network Rail project support for delivery elements & technical expertise 
• Contract management including cost management 
• Stakeholder / consultation management 
• Media management 
• HSSE management (including environmental and quality management) 
• Ensuring scope of works are delivered against contractor 
• Make contract working with EMR to act as a gatekeeper for stage 4 designs  
• Ensure designs meet EMR requirements  
• Managing changes  
• Quantity Surveyor in place to assist with cost management, variations, and finance reporting 
• ASBV – management of tenant contracts 
• Initiation and set up of project including all relevant documentation and tool kit 
• Periodic status reports  
• Day to day management of project documentation and internal governance  
• Effective handover to business as usual 

 
 Legal  

• New tenancy agreements (including Community agreements) 
• Any additional tripartite lease agreements / Station change alterations. 

 
 Construction   

 
• Delivery of full refurbishments as per design pack, please refer to Boston Project Pack (Appendix 

F) 
• Site Queries 
• Design alterations as required by on site activities. 
• Applications for approvals  
• (As built drawing completion 
• ORR & DfT Management (Derogations) 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 442



 
 

 

5.12 The below funding profile table sets out the co -funding in place and the anticipated spend 
for the project over the financial years: 

 

Funding Profile 
 Previous 

years 
Year 1 

2020/21 
Year 2 

2021/2022 
Year 3 

2022/23 
Year 4 

2023/2024 
Year 5 

2024/2025 
Total 

Capital        
Towns Fund £0 £0 £0 £1,485,148 £990,100 * £2,475,248 
Public  -  Rail 
Heritage 

£0 £0 £0 £0 £100,000 £0 £100,000 

Public – EMR £0 £0 £0 £80,000 £0 £0 £80,000 
Public - 
Community 
Rail 
Partnership 

£0 £0 £3,250 £0 £0 £0 £3,250 

Public - 
Lincolnshire 
County 
Council 

£0 £3,550 £0 £0 £0 £0 £3,550 

Private £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 
Total Capital £0 £3,550 £3,250 £1,565,148 £1,090,100  £2,662,048 
        
Revenue 
Costs 

£0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 

Total revenue £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 
        
Total Project 
Costs 

£0 £3,550 £3,250 £1,565.148 £1,090,100  £2,662,048 

Total Towns 
Funding 

     £0 £0 £0 £1,485,148 £990,100  £2,475,248 

 

*A 5% construction retention cost will be retained by the project and be paid 12 months post 
practical completion date. 

 
5.13  Revenue Uplift: 
 
      National Industry Rail Revenue Uplift impact:   
  

• The revenue uplift earned based on the Passenger Demand Forecast calculations (Appendix C) 
takes into account the proposed enhancements to facilities at the station and is staggered over the 
course of the future years, in accordance with passenger usage increasing over time. £53,000 
Industry Revenue uplift is expected by 2023/2024. The scheme will see a total Industry Revenue 
uplift of £500,000 by 2026/2027 (Appendix B). This calculation is based on provisions that do not 
currently exist or are significantly improved and includes the creation of the new Community Café, 
renewal of lighting to LED, improvements to customer information and additional waiting / seating 
provisions.  

 
 
 

Page 443



 
 
       EMR Revenue Uplift:  
 

• Taken from the calculated Industry Revenue forecast, EMR will see revenue uplift of £32,000 
(taken from £53,000) in year one 2023/2024 with a total of £304,000 (taken from £500,000) by 
2026/2027 (Appendix D)  
  

 Revenue from lease agreements for new rooms: 
 

EMR work with Abellio Services Business Ventures (ASBV) who arrange the lease of commercial 
spaces at EMR stations. They play an important role of understanding the retail needs and 
requirements at the station to provide the best fit retail offering. This is done by using various data; 
from journey information, traveller type and understanding the local community needs and the  
revenue is forecasted on unit space available.  
 
ASBV will arrange the relevant contracts for the lease of the Community Café and work on securing 
a suitable tenant that can provide the right offering for Boston community. Boston station managers 
will audit certain processes to ensure tenants meet the safety and security requirements for 
operational running of the railway in line with EMRs existing tenant processes. 
 
ASBV have calculated the revenue expected from the lease from the Community Café based on 
pre covid footfall data. The Community Café offering a space of approximately 56m2 (including the 
w/c provisions) would be forecasted to have a rental amount of £3,000 per annum.  
 
ASBV anticipate to fully testing the market by preparing formal marketing details, advertising the 
opportunities on both Advance Ventures website and LinkedIn and then inviting expressions of 
interest before a formal tender process.  Tenants would then be invited to submit proposals for a 
Minimum Guaranteed Rent with a turnover top-up. The turnover mechanism is where Compliant 
bids must provide for an annual Minimum Guaranteed Rent (MGR) supported by a proposal for a 
turnover rent sales percentage.  

 
EMR envisage that any additional revenue (minus operational running costs) received from the 
new Community Room will be put back into the community and used for community led initiatives. 
These projects are likely to further promote economic growth and improve the standard of living in 
the town.  
 
EMR will continue consulting with key stakeholder on the arrangements for the management of the 
enterprise offices to provide the best options for the local community. The revenue from x2 
enterprise offices offered at a low rental amount to encourage and support new business ventures. 
The revenue income anticipated from these rooms, per room is estimated at £2,500 per annum. 

 
Revenue from bookable Community Room:  
 
The lease for the new Community Room at Boston station will be offered at a low rate to support 
local initiatives. To ensure that the room is used appropriately, these groups/individuals will be 
vetted and will be provided with all relevant safety briefs in line with EMRs current procedures. 

Page 444



COMMERCIAL CASE 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PRACTICE NOTES 
 
 
The Commercial Case assesses the commercial viability of 
the investment.  
 
Note the level of detail should be proportionate to the size of 
the project.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 445



6 COMMERCIAL CASE 

6.1 The Commercial Case outlines how EMR will gain and enter into the
 contracts required for the project. These include the lease of the Community 
 Café and the Enterprise Start-up Offices. This section will detail the 
 Procurement Process for Construction works  required to meet the 
 redevelopment and other contracts or agreements that will be established. 

6.2  Introduction  
 

EMR have a Procurement Team and a Regulatory Contracts and Access Manager who work within 
the industry guidelines to ensure that contract management is fair and consistent in accordance 
with the relevant procedures. EMR work with ASBV who arrange the lease of Retail units across 
the EMR network.  

 
 
6.3 The commercial objective is to agree a lease rental contract for the following spaces: 
  

X2 Enterprise Offices  and X1 Community Café and W/C 
 
6.4 Contract and Procurement agreements:  
 

• EMR have arranged and deployed a competitive tender exercise to select and appoint a design 
consultant to develop the project to deliver RIBA Stage 3 designs. Following the evaluations of all 
responses this contract was awarded to Make Consulting, who were appointed in August 2021.  
  

• The project proposes to keep Make Consulting on for the client-side support during the Design and 
Build stage, this will take the form of Employees Agent Consultant and Quantity surveyor support 
to be the gatekeeper for Design and Build phase, to ensure the delivery phases meets our 
requirements, and to provide cost management and technical query support.   
 

• Agreements will be developed for all maintenance obligations that are required for the 
developments at the station. EMRs maintenance team have been on the journey during the 
development of the project and have been consulted in relation to the designs and specifications 
of assets to ensure they are cost effective, low maintenance and more environmentally friendly. 
EMR have a contract in place with Vinci Facilities, the team provide hard and soft facilities 
management  services such, on-going maintenance for M&E (mechanical and electrical), planned 
and reactive fabric maintenance, minor works and some trackside operations as well as cleaning 
services (including deep cleaning, in transit and turnaround cleaning), pest control and vegetation 
management at stations across the EMR network. EMRs internal business case will detailed the 
future operational costs anticipated from the uplifts of work. 
 

• EMR have a Regulatory Contracts and Access team who will develop all Station Change plans 
where the project adds any fixed assets to the property, removes or close items i.e., benches or 
ticket offices.  This team will notify the relevant organisations who include The Department for 
Transport, Other Train Operating Companies and key stakeholders that are affiliated with the 
station. This process allows for a formal notification of changes taking place and a 40-calendar day 
consultation process. It is anticipated that there will be minimal deviations from the proposed project 
following this process as key stakeholders have been informed and consulted on the scheme 
during the development stages, however this allows for consultation on the final proposals.  
 
 

Page 446



• Network Rail ASPRO have been on the development journey for this project to support Engineering 
Assurance and the delivery stage. A draft Basic Asset Protection Agreement (BAPA) has been 
received for this scheme.  
 

• A JCT, Design and Build contract under the Utility Contracts Regulations 2016 will be in place for 
the largest contract as part of this project, further details are below section 6.6. 

 
• A lease agreement will be developed for the land alterations with Network Rail. The project 

proposes to obtain additional land that is currently owned by Network Rail, which is adjacent to the 
staff car park at the front of the station. This additional land will be moved into the lease for EMR 
and used initially for the construction site set up and then the Waste Compound will be created in 
this area. Securing this additional land will also allow EMR to future proof the station to open up 
options for future investments and plans to further develop the station.   

 
6.5 Abellio Services Business Ventures (ASBV)  
 

• EMR work with Abellio Services Business Ventures (ASBV) who arrange for the lease and 
management of commercial spaces at EMR stations. A rental contract will be in place for the 
Enterprise Offices and the Community Café. ASBV will arrange the relevant contracts for the lease 
of the cafe and work on securing suitable tenants who can provide the right offering for Boston 
Station and the local community.  

 
• During the course of the development of this project ASBV have been a key stakeholder and have 

consulted on designs and initiated discussions with potential lines of enquires to fill the commercial 
units.    

 
• The two new Enterprise start up offices will have a rental contract in place, EMR will continue 

consulting with key stakeholder on the arrangements for the management of the enterprise offices 
to provide the best options for the local community.   
 

• ASBV have extensive experience in the setting up and fulfilling the management of retail lease 
contracts, evidenced through other units across the EMR network route.  

 
6.6 Procurement Strategy for Design and Build 
 

The Procurement will be conducted under the Utility Contracts Regulations 2016. This process 
provides EMR with a documented fair and transparent procurement process which represents best 
practice and aligns with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. 
 
It is anticipated that the works will be awarded under a JCT Design and Build Contract. This 
standard form of contract is well understood by the industry and clearly sets out the responsibilities 
of all parties within the construction process and their obligations, so it is clear as to what work 
needs to be done, who is doing it, when are they doing it by, and for how much. 

 
As it is anticipated that the contractor quote will only be fixed for a certain amount of time (estimated 
a max of 90 days). A delay in a decision from the Central Government could result in invalidation 
of the quotes received, resulting in a further tender exercise. Therefore, following consultation with 
the Council, EMRs revised procurement process has permitted for an adequate amount of time to 
allow for a decision from Central Government. Based on this the quotes are expected to be valid 
until a least early June 2022, in line with the anticipated response from Central Government. 

 
 
To manage costs within this scheme, Make Consulting Quantity Surveyor has provided indicative 
costs for the full scope of works. For more information about delivery costs, see section 5.6. (For 
full cost break down and scope of works refer to Boston Project Pack Appendix F). This will allow 
a more accurate reflection of costs for work to deliver the programme.  
 

Page 447



The method of tender will be Negotiated Procedure with prior call for competition. This allows EMR 
to open the competition to the whole of the supply chain and enter into a dialogue with the identified 
tendered to ensure that EMR/ the governments requirements are met in full. 
 
The anticipated procurement timeline is as follows: 
 
1. Contract Notice issued on Find a tender service 
2. 30 calendar days to request and respond to a PQQ 
3. Supplier selection process 
4. 40 working days to respond to a full ITT 
5. Supplier presentations 
6. Contract negotiation 
7. DFT approval 
8. Stand still period 
9. Contract Award 

 
Both schemes (Skegness and Boston) will form one tender package with two lots. Suppliers will be 
invited to bid either for individual lots of the combined package giving EMR the flexibility to identify 
any cost advantages in appointing a single contractor but not excluding any smaller suppliers from 
the process. 

 
The Invitation to tender (ITT) pack will contain the following information:  
 

• Drawings and plans 
• Room Data Sheets 
• Contract 
• Preliminaries 
• Costs 
• Pre-Construction Info Pack  
 
The PQQ will request for contractors to share their polices for sustainability goals, waste 
management, system to address sustainability, if the company has measured it carbon footprint 
and has the company been formally recognised for this.  The PQQ will also request information 
about policies in place for human rights promotion, company statement for human trafficking / 
slavery, any breaches in labour laws, social and ethical requirements.   
 
Following the 30 calendar days from the ITT, EMR will score and evaluate the response received. 
Successful candidates will be invited to interview. EMR anticipate identifying the preferred 
contactor by 6th May 2022. Anticipate that the Heads of Terms with the  projected start date for the 
contractor of 1st June 2022. Three months has then been allocated to allow for RIBA Stage 4 
designs with work to start on site September 2022.  
 
The construction market at this time is complex and in a state of flux. EMR aim to manage this by 
having open dialogue and working with suppliers in collaborative way. EMR have sought to ensure 
that the tender is attractive to potential supplies by including the following: 

  
Clear and unambiguous scope  
Realistic time scales 
Fair share of risk 
Clear and fair contract terms 
 
EMR have experience of working under these regulations. The challenge around tender process 
is that the construction sector is currently very demanding. By offering the work as lots we have 
improved access for medium to small businesses. The project could be delivered as a single 
package but combining the two works gives a more attractive tendering opportunity for a number 
of companies. 

 

Page 448



MANAGEMENT CASE 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PRACTICE NOTES 
 
 
The Management Case assesses the deliverability of the 
investment, identifying timescales and project 
responsibilites. 
 
The questions set out below are intended to help you to 
think through a number of aspects which will help to ensure 
your project is successful. Whilst this may look quite detailed 
compared to some of the other cases, it will be important for 
you to think through each of these elements so you can be 
in the best place possible as you look ahead to project 
initiation and project delivery. 
 
The management case should build on the delivery plan 
outlined in the TIP for this specific project.  
 
From a stakeholder engagement perspective, it’s important 
to identify the key stakeholders and include a strategy and 
plan laying out a programme of stakeholder engagement 
activities that will help deliver the project. 
 
Note the level of detail should be proportionate to the size of 
the project.  
 
 
 
 

Page 449



7 MANAGEMENT CASE 

The Management Case will outline EMR’s approach to managing projects and 
processes that will be implemented to assist in the successful delivery of this 
scheme. 
 

7.1 Introduction  

EMR have extensive experience in project management and construction management evidenced 
through works completed across the network. Our portfolio of successful projects has been 
achieved through partnerships with Industry stakeholders such as Network Rail and through 
collaborations with external third Parties. This management case will share the Project Governance 
and processes in place to effectively manage Scope,  Programme, Risks, Opportunities, Issues 
and Change. EMR Project management strategies allow us to effectively plan, monitor and track 
project progress throughout the project life cycle. This case will detail the tools available to assist 
with the management of Information and benefits realisation and will outline our Stakeholder 
management processes and communications plan.  

 
7.2  Project Organisation and Governance  

 
The Project Management Office 
 
EMR have a dedicated Project Management Office (PMO) who provide a project governance 
framework across the business to aid in the successful delivery of projects.  
The five core elements of the PMO are as follows: 

        

      
                                                                             

• Assure 
 Ensure quality control is in place for all project documentation, change management and project 
 impact assessments. 

 
• Report 
 Provide reporting to all levels of the organisation on projects, before, during and after project 
 delivery. 

 
• Support 

Provide support, training and coaching to the EMR project management community. 
 

• Standardise 

Page 450



Define and maintain a set of processes across the business ensuring all projects are carried out in 
the right way and in the right order. 

 
• Govern 

Support the business to deliver projects in line with the correct operating procedures, following the 
correct approval route at all times. 

 
 
 
 Project Lifecycle 
 
 All projects follow the EMR Project Lifecycle, which has six defined gates to ensure that key 
 activities relating to projects happen at the right time, and in the right order.  
 

 
 Key Elements of the Lifecycle are as follows:  
 
 Gate 3 – Approval  
 
 This gate ensures that Business Cases for project delivery follow a structured format, including 
 the following key areas: 
 

- Options Considered 
- Proposal 
- Deliverables and Milestones 
- Financial Summary 
- Risks and Opportunities 
- Benefits 

 An EMR Business Case is only approved following review by key internal stakeholders and 
 appropriate delegated authorities, allowing for full oversight at a senior level of the plans for the 
 project, its proposed benefits and delivery plans. For this project a Project Initiation Document 
 has had approval at the authorised levels at EMR, which will be followed by an internal business 
 case submission.  
 
 Gate 4 – Delivery 
 
 Project Status Reporting, escalation of risks and issues and tiered governance structure. 
 
 Once Projects enter their Delivery Phase, the Project Manager must report every four weeks on 
 the progress of the project against the original baseline established by their Business Case. This 
 involves key updates on Time, Cost, Risks and other key indicators. Reports are reviewed centrally 
 by the PMO team and responses collated into a central reporting document which is shared with 
 the business at a senior level.  
 
 Periodic governance meetings (below) are established for the escalation of risks and issues 
 highlighted as part of this reporting cycle and allow for key project decisions to be made efficiently.  
 

Page 451



Tier Meeting Forum Frequency Owner 

Exec EMR Exec Periodic EMR Exec 

1 Programme Board Periodic Transition and Projects Director 

2 Programme Review Board Periodic PMO 

2 Functional Programme 
Meetings Periodic Business Sponsors/ Heads of 

3 Project Management 
Meetings Weekly Project Manager 

 
If a Project is identified as changing from the established baseline, there is a Change Process to follow 
which outlines the reason for the change and the requested change. This is reviewed by stakeholders 
and approved in accordance with delegated authorities. 
 
Project toolkit 
 
The project toolkit is used to capture, monitor and track all areas of project management and 
includes the following sections: 
• Stakeholder RACI matrix 
• Communications plan 
• Risk/ opportunities register 
• Issues register 
• Benefits 
• Dependencies 
• Work Breakdown structure 
• Programme of works 
• Project finances 
• Allocated actions 

  
The content of the toolkit feeds into the Periodic Status report that the Project Management Office 
uses to track and monitor the progress of all projects within the business.  
 

  Project Assurance  
 

EMR Assurance guidelines consist of monitoring and evaluating the project against the following 
procedures:  

 
• EMRs Health and Safety procedures, 
• Key stakeholder engagement list,  
• Formal approvals required, 
• General legislations,  
• Project Specific legislation,  
• EMR procedures & policies,  
• Handover provisions and project close out requirements.  

 
 The assurance process will review and evaluate the project to ensure that it is implemented into 
 the business effectively 

Page 452



 The Infrastructure and Property (I+P) Team 
 
EMR have an Infrastructure and Property (I+P) projects team who are a dedicated resource 
committed to delivering projects for the Business. The Infrastructure and Property Projects team at 
EMR is divided into 3 sub teams with field experts across the structure. The teams are, the 
development of new projects, the delivery of projects and assurance of projects. Projects will start 
with the development team and will move through to the Delivery and Assurance teams during the 
project lifecycle. Subject matter experts will be consulted throughout all stages of the scheme to 
deliver the best solutions and programme of works. 
 

 
This scheme will be delivered by EMR’s Infrastructure and Property projects team. The allocated 
Project Development Manager and Project Manger will manage the project through its lifecycle 
adhering to the governance framework and processes outlined in this management case. 
 

      
7.3       Scope Management  
 

The scope of this scheme has been defined during the development programme and through 
careful consultation with key internal and external stakeholders.   
The objectives of the scheme are defined in the project mandate which can be referred to 
throughout development to ensure the project remains on track.  This document also outlines any 
elements to be excluded from the scheme. 
The project team held a series of workshops, interviews and focus groups to collate requirements 
for each scheme which were then individually assessed and prioritized. The final set of deliverables 
formed the requirements schedule and this information has then been replicated onto detailed data 
sheets for each station area.  The content of the requirements schedule helped to form the work 
breakdown structure and identified where additional work streams and focus groups were needed 
to further define requirements and specifications.  
The requirements were agreed and signed off with subject matter experts and representatives from 
functions across the business. The project allowed for a 6 weeks requirements gathering phase 
and the output fed into production of the concept designs and layout options. Any amendments to 
the requirements post approval have been made in writing and any variations have been assessed 
to understand the impact on the wider scheme and the project appetite to make the change. The 
fortnightly stakeholder meetings have been used to communicate any scope and requirement 
amendments during the development phase.  

 
7.4 Programme Schedule: 
 

Below outlines the key milestones for the project.  

Key Dates  Milestones  
April 2021 Submission of Lite Business Case for Council Approval  
7th May 2021 EMRs presentation to FDWG 
31st May 2021 Council Submission of Lite business case to Government  
27th May 2021 Tender Review for Design Partner  
August 2021 Contract with Design Partner  
October 2021 Option Selection  
December 2021 Design consultants to deliver RIBA Stage 3 

Page 453



EMR will request as part of the ITT process where possible innovations for a betterment to this 
programme of works, which currently see construction complete by September 2023.   
 
• There are no current interdependencies that would halt or severely impact this scheme, 

however we will work closely with Network Rail as the landowners and other key stakeholders 
who are affiliated with the station to ensure we remain up to date with current and future 
aspirations for the area.      

 
Development Milestones 
 

• Submitting  lite business case April 2021 
• Acquiring EMR and third party match fund funding 
• Seeking approval from DfT to proceed with the development of the scheme 
• Setting up all project documentation and toolkits as per EMR process 
• Periodic project reports updating on status and progress of schemes against baselines. 
• All areas of project management including cost management, risk management, programme 

management, change management as per EMR process. 
• Completion of full tender exercise to award Design works to Make consulting 
• Full project development including requirements gathering, work breakdown structure, 

programme , communications plan, stakeholder matrix etc 
• Development of designs from concept through to RIBA 3 
• Regular consultations with Key stakeholders 
• Submission of Full business case 
• Creation of full tender pack for Design and Build contract 
• Full Design and Build Tender process to identify and award to contractor 
• Submission of Internal EMR business case 

 
A full procurement process was undertaken to identify our preferred designer , Make Consulting to 
undertake the RIBA 3 design works.  Six contractors were invited to tender for the works and the 
responses were evaluated and scored based on Quality, Cost, Make Consulting were awarded 

  
The development of design was broken down into RIBA stages and the structure of this has allowed 
for stage gates of approval to be applied after each phase. Approval was sought from key 
stakeholders prior to proceeding to the next design phase. Fortnightly meetings with the Network 
Rail ASPRO team has allowed Network Rail to be fully sighted of the proposals as they develop. 
Full signoff and approval from Network Rail will be sought during the engineering assurance 
process in RIBA 4 stage (post business case) 

 
A design freeze was applied after RIBA 2 stage after the preferred layout option for each station 
was identified. This allowed the detailed design phase to progress without risk of further layout 
changes being made. 

14th January 2022  Business case submitted with designs and indicative QS costs to the 
Council. 

14th January 2022  PQQ issued to the Construction market for 30 days 
11th February 2022  Short list PQQ 
14th February – 8th April 2022 Tender Process for Design and Build Contract 
3rd March 2022  Business Case submitted to Central Government 
15th April 2022 Government Decision  
6th May 2022  Identify preferred contractor 
1st June 2022  Sign Heads of Terms 
1st June 2022  Appoint chosen contractor 
1st June – 31st August 2022  Detailed design, NR Engineering Assurance, Site Set Up 
September 2022  Construction Commences 
September 2023 Construction Completes  
October – November 2023 Snagging, handover and project completion 

Page 454



 
The RIBA 3 design phase output feeds into the final development pack and includes a full suite of 
drawings for each scheme comprising:  structural drawings , elevations, M+E layouts , fire strategy 
and  phasing plans. 

  
The schedule for tender process is based upon our procurement strategy working within the Utility 
Contract regulations (due to the combined value of the schemes).  This involves a 30day Pre-
Qualification Questionnaire (PQQ) phase to notify and attract contractors to our tender process. 
Through a series of questions we are able to shortlist interest parties to ensure they have the right 
level of skills, experience and credentials to proceed to the Invitation to tender (ITT) Stage. The 
ITT phase is required under the regulations to be a minimum of 30 days. EMR as has allowed 40 
working days for this phase due to the size of the schemes. 

 
The EMR Procurement Manager will release the PQQ and ITT information to the market via 
the Find a Contract system which is the Government portal..The TDF schemes will be advertised 
as two schemes under one lot. Interested Partis will be able to submit responses to one or both 
schemes. Reduction of costs and further efficiencies can be expected from parties interested in 
both schemes. This approach allows EMR the flexibility to split the schemes across two contractors 
if preferred and allows mitigation in the event that funding is awarded to one scheme only. 
 
A further 20 working days have been allowed post ITT for queries, scoring , shortlisting and 
interviews with a preferred contractor expected to be identified by 6.5.22 and Head of Terms for a 
JCT design and build contract expected by 1.6.22. 

 
 

Delivery Milestones 
 
Following approval of the Business case and the award of funding the TDF schemes will move into 
the Delivery phase and the works will be awarded via a JCT Design and Build Contract. The 
Delivery phase is broken down into three stages – Detailed (RIBA 4) Design, Construction and 
Handover.Key milestones include: 
 

• Progression of drawings to RIBA stage 4 detailed construction drawings 
• Network Rail Engineering Assurance process for approval of designs 
• Management of Site Set up and commencement of works 
• Management of contractors throughout construction phase 
• Periodic project reports updating on status and progress of schemes against baselines. 
• All areas of project management including cost management, risk management, programme 

management, change management as per EMR process. 
• Snagging, handover and sign off of completed works 
• Transition of project deliverables into Business as Usual activities 
• Closure of project. 

 
  
The detailed design phase will progress the plans created to Construction level drawings and see 
them through the Network Rail Engineering Assurance consent process. 12 weeks have been 
allowed for this phase. 
  
Site setup is expected end of August with works on site commencing 2.9.22 and lasting for 52 
weeks. Refer to Boston Project Pack (Appendix F) for details of proposed phasing of construction 
works for the scheme.  This programmed and phasing of works has been estimated by Make 
Consulting. Completion dates for the scheme estimate completion and handover of works 3.11.23. 
  
EMR will request possible innovations for a betterment to this programme of works as part of the 
ITT process. A Detailed programmed of works will be defined by contractors as part of their tender 
submissions. 
 

Page 455



Phasing 
  
The Boston Scheme will split the Main Station building refurbishments into three construction 
phases to allow for operation of the station to continue whilst works progress.  The External works 
will take place alongside the station building works. 
  
Phase 1 will convert the vacant Unit into a temporary ticket office and WC facility. This phase will 
also convert the two SME office units and begin Mechanical and electrical alterations in the plant 
room facility. This phase is expected to last 19 weeks. 
  
Phase 2 works will focus on renovation of the current waiting room and ticket office and Back of 
House area. This phase is expected to take 8 weeks and during this time customers will use the 
temporary ticket office facilities completed during phase 1. 
  
Phase 3 works will convert the temporary ticket office unit into the new community café and the 
final Back of house, cleaning storage and SME office facilities. This phase will also reconfigure the 
ladies , gents, accessible and parent and baby facilities bringing them all together in one area of 
the station. The final stage of this phase will convert the current gentlemen toilets into the bookable 
community space – this allows for sufficient toilet facilities to be available to customers throughout 
the proposed phased works. 
  
Constraints 
 

• The Station will need to remain operational throughout works 
• The ticket office team will require access to their safe (for cash handling regulations) throughout 

Phase 2 works 
• Access between platforms will be required throughout works  - any temporary restrictions on 

access and walking routes will need to be carefully communicated to Train crew teams. 
• There is limited space available for Contractor compound and vehicle space  - delivery and removal 

of materials from site will need to be carefully considered. 
  

 
7.5  Risks, Issues and Opportunities Management 
 

 
Risk Management 
 
Effective management of risks is embedded in EMR and applied effectively across our business 
through standard EMR/SMS/020 . This procedure explains how EMR identifies, assesses and 
controls  the  significant  risks  to  which  its  staff,  contractors  and  passengers  are exposed. This 
includes: 

 
• The process for identifying hazards and ranking risks; 
• The process for identifying, evaluating and implementing control measures to 
•     The process to reduce the risk of injury or ill health to as low as reasonably practicable; 
• The process for producing written assessments of the risks in a consistent manner 

  
 
Project risks are identified early on during project conception and are collated through various 
forums including workshops, consultation with end users, stakeholders and subject matter experts 
and by analysing previous projects and applying lessons learnt.  
 
Hazzard identification workshops are used by EMR as an effective forum to identify risks to a 
scheme. Risk management continues throughout the project lifecycle and are used to effectively 
identify and manage risks to all areas of a project e.g. budget, programme, scope.  The 
identification of budget risks allow the scheme to effectively allocate contingencies to areas of 
known risks and unknown risks. 

Page 456



 
The project toolkit is used to capture and score risks and also allows for efficient tracking and 
monitoring of any mitigations in place and identification of action owners. 

 
Internal reporting measures are in place to ensure that top risks to schemes are captured in periodic 
status reports that are collated by the Project Management Office and cascaded to the wider 
business and escalated through appropriate channels when required. Risk scores are calculated 
in a Qualitative method using the probability and impact matrix outlined below: 

  

 
  
  

For details of the key risks identified for this scheme refer to section 3.16. 
  

Issues management 
  

Issue management is approached in a similar way to risk management within EMR and is captured 
both on the project toolkit and the periodic report. Project governance is in place for quick escalation 
of issues to heads of and director level to allow effective resolutions to be agreed: 

  

 
  

Management of Opportunities 
 

Effective management of opportunities allow the project to recognise and capitalize on 
opportunities to increase project success. 
 
The project toolkit is used to capture potential opportunities and calculate the expected positive 
outcome or deliverable. The toolkit will also identify any barriers that need to be overcome for the 
opportunity to be realised and to identify action owners. 
 

Page 457



This scheme has allowed EMR to undertake a collaborative approach by working closely with local 
councils, network rail and other key stakeholders. This not only strengthens these working relations 
but allows efficiencies of time and cost, opens up future opportunities and allows a joined up 
approach to deliver significant improvement to the local community.   

 
 

 
7.6 Project information management (storage, management of documentation) 
 

The Project communications plan outlines different type of information required by stakeholders 
and the forum and frequency of information shared.  
For this scheme the project has sourced a range of data from various functions across the business 
to support in the development of these proposals and this business case. This ranges from 
customer feedback on current provisions through to anticipated footfall and leisure travel data. Data 
is collated, categorised, analysed and converted into useful information to aid in successful delivery 
of the project.  
EMR have a company wide Sharepoint site, a secure web based platform used internally to store, 
collate , access and share company information and updates. The EMR Infrastructure and Property 
team have a dedicated section of the site where we store information for all projects in a structured 
filing system that allows internal colleagues to identify and review project documents quickly.   
Project information can be shared internally through this system via document links. 
Each project manager is responsible for information management and within EMR we are 
encouraged to regularly archive and update our project folders to ensure information is easily 
accessible and up to date. This cycle continues thoughout the life of the project. Version controls 
are used to track updated documents with older versions archived for future reference if required. 
External parties do not have access to the EMR sharepoint but documents can be shared externally 
as outlined in the projects communications plan. Due to the size of this scheme and the level of 
external engagement a separate sharing page has been set up to allow external sharing of 
documents via links. The development manager has control over who can access the files on this 
page and can manage each individuals access levels accordingly to dictate those who can view / 
edit / download etc.  
At project close there are certain element of project documentation that is collated by Project 
Management Office to aid in future schemes and to ensure future reviews take place to analyse 
the realization of project benefits.  
 

7.7 Change management 
 

Effective management of risks is embedded in EMR and applied effectively across our business 
through standard EMR/SMS/011 – Change Management and Validation of change for HSSE 
impact. This procedure explains how EMR manages the  introduction  of  new,  or  changes  to;  
existing  rolling-stock,  infrastructure, working  practices  and  organisational  structure   that may  
have the  potential  to  import health,  safety,  security  and  environmental risks to  the  business  
unless  suitable and sufficient control measures are identified and implemented. 
It is essential such changes are identified, evaluated and introduced in a controlled manner  so  
that  any  risks  associated  with  the  change  are  controlled  to  a  level  as low as is reasonably 
practicable (ALARP).This procedure  explains  how  EMR identifies  the  appropriate  change  
control process to be applied for each type of change proposed. 

Page 458



The EMR Safety Validation process is applied to each project as standard and will assess the level 
of process required to ensure changes created through project activities and deliverables are 
effectively managed and incorporated into Business as usual activities.  

 
7.8 Stakeholder Engagement  
 

The project has been managed through a series of regular workstreams who will meet to discuss 
the details of the designs, options and raise any risks. The project team monitor and track the 
output of the meetings and provide feedback to develop the station designs.  
A RACI project model has been used to establish the level of roles and responsibilities required for 
this scheme. The output has defined attendees for the project meetings and workstreams, and how 
information has been shared with stakeholders. The information from the project is stored 
electronically on EMRs project toolkit. The core workstreams are defined as: 

• Communication 
• Construction  
• Operation Impact to Station & Train Crew with assurance  
• IT  
• Commercial  
• Procurement  
• Safety and Security  
• Finance  
• Project Management 
• Council / Business Case  
• Network Rail & ASPRO 
The table below sets out the core roles within EMR who have developed the scheme and will initially 
continue to lead into the delivery of the project: 

 
Role Project Influence  
Project Development Manager Development Project Lead 

Transitions & Projects Director  EMR Director and Project Sponsor 

Customer Service Director  Consultation 

Customer Services - Head of Stations  Consultation 

Head of I&P  Project Governance 

Customer Services - Station Manager  Core stakeholder group. Operational Impact workstream attendee 

Assets & Facilities Senior Asset Manager Core stakeholder group. Vinci Contract Management 

Finance Business Partner Core stakeholder group. Finance workstream 

Franchise Delivery Manager Relationship with The Department for Transport 

Project Manager TBC Project Delivery Manager Post Business Case Approval 

M&E Engineer EMR M&E workstream 

Principal Construction Manager Core stakeholder group. Construction workstream 

Principal Commercial Strategy Manager  Core stakeholder group, Revenue Analysis workstream. 

Crime Prevention and Security Manager  Core stakeholder group. Security workstream. 

ASBV Senior Portfolio Manager  Abellio Services Business Ventures/ Implementation of commercial contracts - 
New Station Developments 

Head of Security Core stakeholder group 

Integration Support Manager Core stakeholder group. Communication workstream 

Business Integration Manager Project Assurance 

Senior Retail Systems Manager Core stakeholder group 

Internal Comms Core stakeholder group. Communication workstream 

Infrastructure and Property Projects Development Assistant Project Development Team. Core stakeholder group 

Page 459



Accessibility & Inclusion Manager Core stakeholder group. 

External Communications Manager  Core stakeholder group. Communication workstream 

On Train Depot Manager Core stakeholder group. Operational Impact workstream 

IT Core stakeholder group.  

Regulatory & Access Manager  Station Change Process and Contracts Management  

Procurement Manager  Procurement of Services  

Systems Manager Core stakeholder group 

Development Strategy Manager  Project Development Team. Business Case. 

 
 

Key Stakeholder Boston Meeting 
A key stakeholder fortnightly project meeting is held to where the core project milestones and 
designs are consulted, and status updates shared. Action tracker updated, progress updates, 
scheme/workstream updated, latest drawings reviewed, progress against milestones, review of 
project risks and next steps. The notes and supporting documents from the meeting are distributed.  

 
Communication Strategy: 
 
An EMR communications workstream has been set up to agree the strategy for this scheme. 
Regular meetings have been held to discuss and agree the vision and update the group on key 
milestones for the programme.  
.  
The project team attended the Council led Communications and Engagement Workshop to further 
support the development of EMRs strategy. The workstream participants have been on the journey 
of the development of this scheme and will work within the Government Comms and Branding 
guidelines. The team represent the following areas: External Comms (including press releases and 
media management), Marketing – EMRs external website and social media, Internal Comms, 
Project Comms, assurance and visuals/branding.  
The strategy has focused on the key areas:  
 
External Communication: 
 

• Station presence upon announcement of Government decision to discuss the proposals with the 
community and businesses  

• Supported by Director level and other key partnerships – Council & Network Rail. 
• Press Release Documents will be pre prepared  
• Artistic Impressions of the proposal to share   
• Social Media Updates and External Website Updates  
• Train Running Performance Control Team to support communications received  
• Customer Experience Team to support communications received  
• Engagement with the media – Press, Radio 

 

 Internal Communications: 
• Station Management Team to be formally updated on the Government decision to support 

customer queries  
• Sharepoint Site Updates  
• Newsletters  
• Internal Website and Communication  

 
 Retailers/Residents/Local Community : 

Page 460



• Engagement Sessions with visuals  
• Post Code letter drop  
• Continued engagement  
• Formal updates to businesses  

 
During Construction, Completion and Post Construction: 

• Posters, leaflets  
• Post code letter drop  
• Government approved Branding for Hoarding  
• Artistic Impressions  
• Launch Event  
• On going updates throughout snagging period 

 
Following consultation with the Council, EMR have agreed to minimise public communications 
regarding the designs until a formal outcome has been obtained from Central Government. This is 
to reduce reputational risk and public inconvenience. Upon receipt of the outcome, EMR have a 
communication strategy which can be deployed to communicate a successful or unsuccessful 
funding outcome. EMR have extensive experience in providing communications to the public, with 
support from EMRs Communications Manager.  

 
7.9  Benefits, Monitoring and Evaluation  
 
 The below table details the benefits that will be provided following the programme of works and 
 how EMR can evaluate those benefits.  
 
         
  

 

 
 EMR will track evaluations through the following methods:  
 

• Customer Satisfaction results will be tracked through EMRs post travel survey data and the 
independent National Rail Passenger Survey (NRPS) which is conducted twice a year by Transport 
Focus, an independent customer body. It measures passenger satisfaction with railways across 
Great Britain.  
 

• EMRs Customer Experience team have supplied internal post travel survey data, taken from the 
past two years January 2020 to December 2021. The customer experience results are based on 

Page 461



customer survey responses about the overall journey experience for passengers who travel to and 
from Boston. The overall results for 24 months are detailed below:  
 

                
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

• EMR envisage that the overall customer satisfaction results will improve based on the full 
redevelopment programme of works.  Some examples have been selected below to demonstrate 
how those results can increase: 

 
• Station information improvements will be achieved through the new interactive information screens 

and new train information screens, strategically placed for overall effectiveness, including the 
improvements to wifi and the IT infrastructure. Coupled with the section of works to be completed 
to reconfigure, re write and add additional wayfinding signage for the station and for the Town. 

 
• Improvements to the satisfaction results for toilets will be evidenced through the solutions adopted 

by the remodelling of the station and opening up of the redundant spaces. This has allowed for 
additional w/c facilities;  new accessible w/c close to the main entrance, which is adjacent to the 
waiting room, a new w/c contained within the café, a parent and baby room with toilet provisions 
and grouping together the remaining ladies and gents w/cs will provide a better usage of the space 
and more coherent arrangements of facilities.  

 
• EMR will compare the results from this data to those that are received post project completion to 

understand the impact the development has had on the passenger experience. The project is 
exploring avenues to conduct a deep dive analysis by creating a bespoke survey, pre and post 
project completion to truly understand the impact of the enhanced provisions.  

 
• Footfall impact information will be taken from Office of Rail and Road (ORR) data issued annually 

enabling the mapping of passenger increase to be demonstrated using government approved data, 
this data feeds into EMRs revenue data to provide the National Industry Revenue uplift information 
and journey data will be tracked through EMRs ticket sales.  
 

• An independent report was conducted to demonstrate the forecasted statistical improvements to 
sustainability and energy, as a result of the proposed enhancements to the station (Appendix G), 
The project will track and compare the details within this report to the output following full 
construction. This will demonstrate the actual energy efficiencies created as a direct result of the 
redevelopment. 
 

• Economic benefits will be evaluated and monitored against the Benefit Cost Ratio calculations to 
understand the value for money based on this intervention.  

 
• Evidence for retail jobs created will be gathered through outputs from rental units and employment 

numbers for SME/ Café units, this will be tracked through EMR and Abellio Services Business 
Ventures (ASBV)  

EMRs post travel survey - Boston  Result out of 100% 
Customer Satisfaction 73.6% 
Net Promoter Score  76.2% 
Value for Money  70.2% 
Station Information  70.1% 
Comfort 56.0% 
Cleanliness 70.5% 
Way Finding  13.3% 
Staff Availability  61.9% 
Toilets  61.7% 

Page 462



• New community initiatives and usage of the new Community Room can be tracked internally with 
support from EMRs Community Engagement Team.  

 
• The floor space layout demonstrates the optimum value received by utilisation of floor space. 

Refer to Boston Project Pack for full dimensions (Appendix F) 
 

• The project will also look to receive press coverage before, during and after construction and will 
be submitted for awards such as rail heritage and possibly Lincolnshire construction awards in 
order to receive recognition externally. 

 
The project will achieve the following outputs: 
 

Forecast Outputs 
 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Future 

Years 
Total 

        
Local Strategic 
Outputs 

       

Commercial floorspace 
refurbished/constructed 
and occupied (m2) 
(Café) 

0 0  Circa 56m2 0 0 Circa 56m2 

Number of businesses 
assisted to improve 
performance (x2 
Enterprise Offices) 

0 0 0 2 0 2 2 every 18 
months  

Number of learners 
supported 

0 0 0 45 45 45 per year 135 

Number of new 
businesses created 

0 0 0 3 0 2 per every 
2 years 

 

        
Others         

Community spaces 
created (m2) 
(Community Room) 

0 0 0 Circa 23m2 0 0 Circa 23m2 

Passenger satisfaction 
scoring 

0 0 0 2% 2% Maintained 4% uplift 

Industry Passenger 
Demand Forecast Uplift 

   £53,000 £174,000 £272,000 £500,000 

Energy & Sustainability 
EPC Rating 

 Current 
EPC 
rating G 

 Proposed 
EPC rating 
C 

   

Sustainable Travel - 
Cycling 

   One new 
enhanced 
cycle 
storage 
shelter with 
CCTV, 
relocated 
towards the 
main station 
entrance on 
Platform 1. 

  1 

Sustainable Travel - 
Walking 

   New station 
signage to 
improve 
wayfinding. 
Sign 
posting key 
sites within 

  Full redesign & 
reconfiguration  
of all station 
signage. 

Page 463



the town. 
Signage to 
provide 
walking 
times to 
allow 
passengers 
to make 
informed 
decision on 
duration to 
destination. 

Sustainable Travel - 
Interactive Screen 

   Two new 
Interactive 
Screens to 
include 
details of 
local 
cycling 
routes, 
cycling 
apps and 
walking 
routes. This 
to include 
onward 
travel 
information. 

  2 

Sustainable Travel - 
Trains 

   Overall 
remodelling 
of the 
station, 
creating 
new 
facilities, 
grouping 
together 
provisions 
and 
including 
additional 
accessible 
toilets, 
provides 
increased 
accessibility 
and makes 
travelling by 
train more 
sustainable. 

  Full re-model 
of station 

 
• 4 new employees to manage the new café 
• 2 employees to occupy the two enterprise offices  
• 15 pupils per visit with assumed 3 visits per year (mix of primary/high school/college use) 
• 3 new business created (2 enterprise offices and 1 Café business created) 
• Turnover of 1 small / medium enterprise per year after initial 12 -18 month lease with the business 

moving in to larger facilities following initial development term with station facilities, releasing space 
for new business each year 

• We would expect a large scale project of this size to support the construction industry in retaining 
jobs to deliver works undertaken during the construction period.  

Page 464



• For further details on dimensions and building internal/external layouts, refer to Boston Project 
Pack (Appendix F) 
 

 
      Summary: 
 

It is anticipated that the information within the management section provides reassurance and 
confidence that EMR have the required level of expertise, skills and project management 
experience to successfully deliver this scheme.  

Boston Stage 2 Business Case Appendices  
  
Appendix  Title  Revision  

  
Appendix A  Boston Town Investment Plan      

Appendix B  National Industry Revenue Uplift Forecast      

Appendix C   Passenger Demand Forecast Document    

Appendix D  East Midlands Railway Revenue Uplift      

Appendix E  Future Journey Rates     

Appendix F  Boston Project Pack     
  

  
  

F1 Boston Cost Plan and Scope of Works    

F2 Proposed Phasing Plan  A(002)  

F3 Main Station Building Layout  
  

E  

F4 Proposed External works (1)   
  

A  

F5 Proposed External Works (2)   
  

A  

F6 Proposed External Works (3)  (DRAFT to be updated)  A  

F7 Delivery Resource Costs    

F8 Designers Risk Assessment  (M+E)    

F9 MEP Project Risk Register (M+E)    

Appendix G  Sustainability Benefits Report  (Due by 31.01.22)    

Appendix H  The Railway Heritage Trust Co Funding letter      

   
M+E drawings and detailed specification available on request  

  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 465



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PROPORTIONALITY GUIDE 

You should consider the following questions and prompts to help guide the level 
of detail required for your business case. Ultimately, this is a question for your 
local assurance processes and your Town Deal Board.  

GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Key questions to consider the level of detail and effort required for your business case as a whole 
include: 

• Is your project large (smaller projects – e.g. <£1m – require less detail compared to larger 
projects – e.g. projects over £25m)? 

• Is the project of regional or national significance? 
• Is it a complex or innovative project? 
• Is this the first time you have delivered a project of this kind? 

 
If you answer ‘Yes’ to one or more of these questions, you will need to produce a more detailed business 
case. 
 
Ultimately, you should follow any guidance on the level of detail required for business cases 
based on your local assurance processes. 
 
For each of the five cases below, we set out key questions and considerations to help you gauge the 
level of detail required for your business case.  
 
At the end of this document, you can use the Proportionality Tool to assess where each business case 
falls on the scale of these key questions, which should help you understand the level of detail required 
for your business case. 

 
 
STRATEGIC CASE 
 
Key questions to consider the level of detail and effort required for your Strategic Case include: 
 

• Is the project a key enabler for other projects or programmes?  Is it part of a set of projects to 
achieve more transformational change? 

• Is there a complex stakeholder or policy challenge which requires further evidence or articulation 
of wider strategic alignment? 

• Does the project or its theory of change have any dependencies on other projects or activities? 
 
 
ECONOMIC CASE 
 

Page 466



Key questions to consider the level of detail and effort required for your Economic Case include: 
 

• Is the project in any way high risk or/and new and novel?  Are the benefits of this type of project 
well understood and is there evidence that they are likely to be achieved? 

• Is the “Do something” well-articulated – or does it need further refinement? Are the scenarios 
easily defined? 

• What is the level of certainty around the costs and benefits?  Is the BCR or NPV calculation 
particularly sensitive to any of the variables or assumptions?  

• Is there any interrelationship or complexity between costs, benefits etc.?  For instance, prices or 
costs impacting on demand? 

• Are the costs and benefits dependent on the commercial or financial deal? 
• Are there any significant dis-benefits? 
• Is the case dependent on significant benefits which are difficult to monetise? 
• Is the project likely to have a different impact on different groups (e.g. age, income)? 

 
 
FINANCIAL CASE 
 
Key questions to consider the level of detail and effort required for your Financial Case include: 
 

• What are the various sources of co-funding and commitment levels, and are there key 
uncertainties around those?  

• Are there any foreseen Capital or Revenue constraints? 
• What are the key assumptions that will impact the financial viability and what sensitivities do you 

plan to run? Are there any key financial risks to the project? 
• Has there been consideration of tax and accounting treatment with your local assurance owner / 

accounting buddy? 
 
 
COMMERCIAL CASE 
 
Key questions to consider the level of detail and effort required for your Commercial Case include: 
 

• What is the commercial strategy underpinning delivery of the project?  
• Which party owns which risk and the basis for the risk allocation? To what extent is there 

opportunity for suppliers to bear risk? Where suppliers are able to take risk how will the pricing 
mechanism reward/penalise them?  

• Does the project involve partnering with multiple bodies and, if so, how will agreements be 
negotiated?    

• Does the scope of the project require specialist input and are there any specific challenges or 
risks? 

• Is the market understood and is the project likely to result in competitive tender(s)? 
• Are there any specific challenges in deciding the procurement route to market? To what extent 

can existing processes for procurement and contract management be used? Do you have 
experience with this type of procurement? 

• To what extent can the project be delivered as a single package or are multiple packages 
required? 

• Can social value be delivered through procurement? 
 
MANAGEMENT CASE 
 
Key questions to consider the level of detail and effort required for your Management Case include: 

• Does the accountable body have an existing and proven approach for the delivery of projects and 
how will that be applied to the delivery of the project? 

• What is the scale and complexity of the project?  

Page 467



• What are the key risks, who are the owners and how will they be managed? 
• Is this an innovative project and does the project sponsor have experience in delivering similar 

projects? 
• How many organisations will be involved in the delivery of the project and have they worked 

together? 
• Does this project require complex delivery arrangements and are the roles and responsibilities 

clear and agreed? 
• To what extent is the project dependent on projects by others and how will interfaces be 

managed? 
• How many stakeholders will need to be engaged during development and delivery stages and 

how will this be achieved? 
• What is the basis for the workstreams/activities in the proposed delivery schedule and the 

confidence in achieving key milestones?  
• To what extent are there existing processes and procedures for project controls and how will 

these be applied? 
• Who requires to assured, about what, to what level of detail and to what extent can existing 

arrangements be adapted and used? 
• Is benefits realisation dependent on other parties, behavioural change, or additional enablers 

such as training or programming? 
• How many outcomes and outputs will need to be monitored, and is there an established method 

for monitoring the outcomes and outputs that have been identified? 
 
 
  

Page 468



PROPORTIONALITY ASSESSMENT TOOL 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 469



 
 
 

Page 470


	Agenda
	A MINUTES
	3 SELCP COMMUNITY LOTTERY SCHEME
	4 EXTENSION OF LINCOLNSHIRE HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH SLEEPER STRATEGIES
	5 NET ZERO ACTION PLAN
	Appendix A - Boston Carbon Reduction Plan
	Appendix B - Net Zero Action Plan

	6 ADOPTION OF CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY
	Appendix A - Climate Change Strategy

	7 GREEN HOME GRANTS
	8 Q3 PERFORMANCE, FINANCE AND RISK
	Appendix A - Q3 Performace
	Appendix B - Project Updates
	Appendix C - Finance

	9 BOSTON LEISURE PROJECT - FULL BUSINESS CASE FOR TOWNS FUND
	Boston Leisure Project Business Case
	Appendix 6 -  Geoff Moulder LC Competitor Analysis
	Appendix 7 - High Level Cost Estimate
	Appendix 9 - FBC Programme - March 2022

	10 TOWNS FUND BUSINESS CASE
	Appendix A - Mayflower Building Business Case
	Appendix B - Boston Station Business Case
	1.1 Strategic Case
	4.1 Introduction
	4.2 approach to economic case
	4.3 ADDITIONALITY
	4.4 economic benefits
	4.5 economic costs
	4.6 value for money assessment
	4.7 SUMMARY
	GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS
	For each of the five cases below, we set out key questions and considerations to help you gauge the level of detail required for your business case. 
	At the end of this document, you can use the Proportionality Tool to assess where each business case falls on the scale of these key questions, which should help you understand the level of detail required for your business case.
	Strategic Case
	economic Case
	financial Case
	commercial Case
	management Case
	Proportionality assessment tool



